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. THE QUATUOR CORONATI LODGE No. 2076, LONDON,
O . was warranied on the 28th November, 1884, in order :

1.:.—To provide a centre and bond of union for Masonic, Students.

.2—To attract intelligent Masons to its meetings, in order to imbue them with a love for Masoni

3.—To submit the discoveries or conclusions of students to the judgment and criticism of thseoirrncfefﬁ;s»?;rcbh'
as of papers read in Lodge. { 4
4.—To submit these communications and the discussions arising therefrom to the general body of th i
ishing, at proper intervals, the Transactions of the Lodge in their entirety. i <
5.—To tabulate concisely, in the printed Transactions of the Lodge, the progress of the Craft throughout the
1d. :

6.—To make the English-speaking Craft acquainted with the progress of Masonic study abroad, by translations
whole or part) of foreign works. , J ;

7—To reprint scarce and valuable works on Freemasonry, and to publish Manuscripts, &c.

8.—To form a Masonic Library and Museum. : X ; \

9.—To acquire permanent London premises, and open a reading-room for the members.

The membership is limited to forty, in order to prevent the Lodge from becoming unwieldy

No members are admitted without a high literary, artistic, or scientific qualification. :

The annual subscription is two guineas, and the fees for initiation and joining are twenty guineas and five
eas respectively. P i : '

The funds are wholly devédted to Lodge and literary purposes, and no portion is spent in refreshment. The
1bers usually dine together after the meetings, but at their own individual cost. Visitors, who are co'rdially
:ome, enjoy the option of partaking—on the same terms—of a meal at the common table.

The stated meetings are the first Friday in January, March, May, and October, St. John’s Day (in Harvest)
the 8th November (Feast of the Quatuor Coronati). . :

At every meeting an original paper is read, which is followed by a discussion.

The Transactions of the Lodge, Ars Quatuor Coronatorum, contain a summary of the business of the Lodge
full text of the papers read in Lodge together with the discussions, many essays communicated by the brethrer;
for which no time can be found at the meetings, biographies, historical notes, reviews of Masonic publications
's and queries, obituary, and other matter. ; , . 3
The Antiquarian Reprints of the Lodge, Quatuor Coronatorum Antigrapha, appear at undefined intervals

consist of facsimiles of documents of Masonic interest with commentaries or introductions by brothers weli
rmed on the subjects treated of. 3 : v J :

The Library has now been arranged at No. 27, Great Queen Street, Lincoln’s Inn Fields, London, where
nbers of both Circles may consult the books on application to the Secretary. :

To the Lodge is attached an outer or 3

% CORRESPONDENCE CIRCLE,

This was inaugurated in January, 1887, and now numbers about 3000 members, comprising many of the
st distinguished brethren of the Craft, such as Masonic Students and Writers, Grand Masters, Grand
retaries, and nearly 300 Grand Lodges, Supreme Councils, Private Lodges, Libraries and other corporate
ies. !

The members of our Correspondence Circle are placed on the following footing:—

1.—The summonses convoking the meeting are posted to them regularly. They are entitled to attend all
meetings of the Lodge whenever convenient to themselves, but, unlike the members of the Inner Circle, their
sndance is not even morally obligatory. When present they are entitled to take part in the discussions on the
yers read before the Lodge, and to introduce their personal friends. They are not visitors at our Lodge
etings, but rather associates of the Lodge. y

2.—The printed Transactions of the Lodge are posted to them as issued.

3.—They are, equally with the full members, entitled to subscribe for the other publications of the Lodge,
‘h as those mentioned under No. 7 above.

4 —Papers from .Correspondence Members are gratefully accepted, and as far as possible, recorded in the
insactions.

5.—They are accorded free admittance to our Library and Reading Rooms.

A Candidate for Membership in the Correspondence Circle is subject to no literary, artistic, or scientific
alification. His election takes place at the Lodge-meeting following the receipt of his application.

Brethren elected to the Correspondence Circle pay a joining fee of twenty-one shillings, which includes the
)scription to the following 30th November. 3

The annual subscription is only half-a-guinea (10s. 6d.), and is renewable each December for the following
ar. Brethren joining us late in the year suffer no disadvantage, as they receive all the Transactions
aviously issued in the same year.

It will thus be seen that for only a quarter of the annual subscription, the members of the Correspondence
rcle enjoy all the advahtages of the full members, except the right of voting in Lodge matters and holding office.

Members of both Circles are requested to favour the Secretary with communications to be read in Lodge and
bsequently printed. Members of foreign jurisdictions will, we trust, keep us posted from time to time in the
rrent Masonic history of their districts. Foreign members can render still further assistance by furnishing us -
intervals with the names of new Masorfic Works published abroad, together with any printed reviews of
ch publications. j -

Members should also bear in mind that every additional member increases our power of doing good by
blishing matter of interest to them. Those, therefore, who have already experienced the advantage of association
th us, are urged to advocate our cause to their personal friends, and to induce them to join us. Were each
ember annually to send us one new member, we should soon be in a position to offer them many more advantages
an we already provide. Those who can help us in no other way, can do so in this.

Every Master Mason in good standing throughout the Universe, and all Lodges, Chapters, and Masonic
braries or other corporate bodies are eligible as Members of the Correspondence Circle.
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BEING THE TRANSACTIONS OF THE

Quatuor Coronati Lodge of A.F. & A.M.. London,

No. 2076.

VOLUME XLVITI.

FRIDAY, 4th JANUARY, 1935.

HE Lodge met at Frecemasons” Hall at 5 p.m. Present:—DBros.
W. J. Songhurst, P.G.D., W.M.; Rex. W. K. Firminger, D.D).,
P.G.Ch.,, I.P.M.; W. J. Williams, .M., as S.'W.; Douglas Knoop,
M.AL T W, Rev. W: W. Covey-Crump, M.4., P.A.G.Ch., Chap.;
Lionel Vibert, P.A.G.D.C., P.M., Secretary; George Elkington,
P.A.G.Sup.W., S.D.; F. W. Golby, PAGD.C., 1.G.; J. Heron
Lepper, P.G.D., Ireland, P.M.; Rew. H. Poole, B.4., P.Pr.G.Ch., Westmorland and

Cumberland, P.M.; H. C. de Lafontaine, P.G.D)., P.M.; Lewis Edwards, M.4.; and

Wm. Jenkinson.

Also the following members of the Correspondence Circle: —Bros. E. Eyles, K. M.
Hamilton, R. A. Wall, Col. F. M. Rickard, P.G.S.B., A. G. Hooper, A. J. Freeman.
‘C. A. Melbourne. P.A.G.R., Geo. C. Williams, James Wallis, J. W. G. Cocke, H. B. Q.
Evans, Percy Webber, William Story, J. R. Clarke, Col. Cecil Powney, P.G.D., Augustus
Smith, W. Morgan Day, T. Lidstoue Found, Harry Bladon, P.A.G.D.C., L. G. Wearing,
W. S. Rountree. Ed. M. Phillips, Comdr. S. N. Smith, John R. Cross, G. W. Bullamore,
R. W. Strickland, C. F. Syvkes, Barry S. Anderson, H. 'G. Warren, F. Addington Hall,
. R. Radice, Wm. Smalley, R. J. Sadleir, P.A.G.St.B., J. H. Smith, A. Thompson,
A. F. Cross, H. S. Bell, Wm. Lewis, F. Lace, P.A.G.D.C., H. J. Deane. 8. 8.
Huskisson, IFrank E. Lemon, R. Girdlestone Cooper, Jas. J. Cooper, Lieut.-Col. G. D.
Hindley, . W. Davy, P.A.G.Reg., Chas. S. D. Cole, G. C. Parkhurst Baxter, J. R.
Cully, A. M. Krougliakoff, H. D. Elkington, Henry S. Phillips, H. L. R. Matthews,
and A. Y. Mayell.

Also Bro. W. H. Hobday, London School Lodge No. 2611, Visitor.
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Letters of apology for non-attendance were reported from Bros. David Flather,
P.A.G.D.C., P.M.; B. Telepneff, S.W.; R. H. Baxter, P.A.G.D.C.,, P.M.; Cecil
Powell, P.G.D., P.M.; Gordon P. G. Hills, P.A.G.Sup.W., P.M., D.C.; John Stokes,.
P.G.D.. P.Pr.AGM., W. Yorks., P.M.; George Norman, P.G.D.,  P.M.; Ivor
Grantham, V.4, P.Pr.G.W.. Sussex; Major C. C. Adams, M.00., P.G.D., Stew.; and
J. P. Simpson, P.A.G.Reg., P.M., Treas. 4

One Lodge, one Chapter, two lLodges of Instruction and forty-nine Brethrem

were admitted to membership of the Correspondence Circle.

The Report of the Audit Committee, as follows, was received, adopted, and

ordered to be entered upon the Minutes:—

PERMANENT AND AUDIT COMMITTEE.

The Committee met at the Offices, Noa. 27, Great Queen Street, London. om

© Friday, January 4th, 1935.

Present:—Bro. W. J. Songhurst in the Chair, with Bros. J. P. Simpson, W. W..
_ Covey-Crump, H. C. de Lafontaine, H. Poole, W. J. Williams, W. K. Firminger, D..
Knoop, F. W. Golby, Lionel Vibert, Secretary, and J. H. McLeod. Auditor.

The Secretary produced his Books., and the Treasurer's Accounts and Vouchers
Y1 »

which had been: examined by the Auditor and certified as being correct.

The Committee agreed upou the following

REPORT FOR THIE YEAR 1934.
BRETHREN,

Tt is with deep regret that we have to report the death, during the vear. of three
members of the Lodge. Bro. Edward Conder, L.R.. Master in 1901, died on 27th July.
He was well known as the historian of the Masons Company of London. Bro. James.
Edward Shum Tuckett, Master in 1920, was Past Assistant Grand Sword Bearer; he:
died on 18th August. Bro. Sydney T. Klein, L.R., who at the time of his death was
our senior member, had been Master in 1897; - he died on October 8th. The valuable:
services rendered to the Lodge by these Brethren are recorded in the Transactions.
. During the year Bros. Lewis Edwards and William Jenkinson have been elected to full

membership, and the total membership is now 26.
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We have once more to report a reduction in the membership of the Correspon-
dence Circle during the year. On the 30th November, 1933, we had a total of 3,259.
One hundred and thirty were removed from the list for non-payment of subscription,
108 resigned, and we lost 58 by death. On the other hand, the number added during
the year was only 227, a loss on balance of 69, making the total to carry forward
3.190. We can only repeat what we said last year as to the very difficult position in
which we are placed by this continual shrinkage, but we venture to hope that in the

coming year, which is the Jubilee of the Lodge, the tide may turn.

During the year Parts ii. and iii. of Vol. xliv. were issued. Part i. of Vol. xlv.
has now been distributed and the other parts will, we hope, follow it shortly. In
the accounts now presented to the Lodge approximately £1,200 each has been reserved
for Vols. xlv., xlvi,, and xlvii.  Subscriptions amounting to £519 0s. 8d. are still
owing, but, as was the case last yeal:. a considerable proportion of this amount is held
at our credit in Australasia but cannot be remitted home at the present rate of exchange

without serious loss.

There has also been issued a third Q.C. Pamphlet. This is the Prestonian
Lecture for 1933, by Bro. H. Poole. It deals with the Old Charges in Eighteenth
‘Century Freemasonry, and includes a full transcript of the text of the recently
discovered Fortitude MS. with four photographic reproductions. The sale has been
quite satisfactory. The Committee has under consideration the publication of two
more Q.C. Pamphlets, dealing respectively with the Legend of the Quatuor Coronati,
and the Schaw Statutes. A brief statement of the activities of the Lodge during the
vear has been drawn up and circulated to all members; it also includes a complete

list of Local Secretaries.

We desire to convey the thanks of the Lodge to these Brethren who continue to
do much good work. In East Lancs., Bro. Horatio R. Wood, nwiﬁg to his many other
Masonic activities, found it impossible to give to the work the time it needed. and
Bro. C. V. Jarvis has kindly taken his place. At Senekal Bro. W. G. P. Moyses has
succeeded Bro. J. G. Clarke, who in his turn has taken over Natal from Bro. T. J.
Harding, who had been our Local Secretary for many years but found himself unable
to continue. In Gloucester Bro. B. A. Tomes has been appointed, and there has also
heen a new appointment in Egypt and Palestine, where Bro. Squadron Leader Ivor
Grantham has very kindly undertaken to look after our interests. But as the printed
list now circulated will show there are still a great many areas where we are not

represented except Dby individual members of the Correspondence Circle.
For the Committee,

W. J. SONGHURST,

in the Chair.
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RECEIPTS AND PAYMENTS ACCOUNT

for the year ending 30th November, 1934.

RECEIPTS. € s d. EXPENDITURE. £ s d.
To Cash in hand ... 68 0 3| By Lodge .. 52 9 8
,» Lodge ... 6916 6| ,, Salaries, Rent, Rates, and
Joining Fees .. 106 1 0 Taxes L. 7711 2
,» Subscriptions: 1934 ... 1091 12 8| ,, Lighting, Heating, Clean-
,, do. 1933 L. 12114 9 ing, Insurance, Telephone,
,, do. 1932 ... 2413 6 Carriage and Sundries ... 126 5 11
,, do. 1931 313 6| ,, Printing, Stationery, etec. 514 3 0
,, do. 1930 10 6| ., Medals .. 2315 0
,, Cash in advance for sub- ., Binding .. 28 19
seriptions, and unappro- .. Sundry Publication ... 106 810
priated ... 5419 2| .. Library .. 1511 3
,, Medals ... 25 311| ., Postages ... 14416 10
,, Binding ... 44 010]| ., Local Expenses ... 2 6 4
,, Sundry Publications ... 182 0 8| ,, Cash in Bank .. 213 5 9
,, Sale of £300 Consols ... 226 4 0
., Interest and Discounts ... 31 9 1
5, Publication Fund 8 6 0
£2058 5 6 £2058 5 6

The. Seerkrany drew attention to the tollowing

EXHIBITS : —
By Bro. F. W. Davy, P.A.G.Reg.
Centenary medal. Provincial G.L. of Lincolnshire. Silver. Grantham 1892.
Portrait of W. H. Smyth, P.G.M. Ob. Coat of Arms and Garter, com-

bined with Square and Compasses. Fngraved on edge:—*“T. D. Davy,
P.M. 1447, Prov. G.S.W.” Presented to the Lodge.

By Bro. the Itex. W. W. Covey-Crump.

Oddfellows Apron. Oval, with two .semicircular flaps. Stars and tassels, in
heavy gold lace. Printed device of coat of arms and supporters, with
text: —‘ Independent Order of Qddfellows .

By Bro. AvvingroNn HALL.

Apron, Antients, printed and hand-painted on silk. By Berring of Greenwich.

By Bro. W. JENKINSON.

Seal Matrices. Priestly Union Band. 39 Armagh. President’s Seal.
Red Cross 623.
Craft, Armagh 695.

Calendar, G.I. of Treland, 1850.

A cordial vote of thanks was passed to those Brethren who had lent objects for
exhibition and made presentations to the Lodge.

Bro. Dovucras Knonopr read the following paper:—
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THE LONDON MASON IN THE SEVENTEENTH

CENTURY.

BY DOUGLAS KXOOP, M.A., AN¥D (. P. JONES, M.A.

SUMMARY OF CONTENTS.

Introduction. Growth of London. Prosperity and Depression. Importance of
nobility, gentry and commercial classes as huilders. Effects of changes in style.
The Great Fire. The Rebuilding Statutes. St. Paul’s. The problems of
monopoly and industrial regulation. Pages 3-7.

Sources. Building Accounts. Records of the Masons’ Company. Pages 7-9.

The Masons’ Company. 1. The Monopoly of Trade: °‘ foreign masons’’, masons
free of other Companies, clash with Plasterers, ‘‘intermeddling’’. 2. The
search for false work. Pages 9-18.

Classes of Masons. 1. ‘‘ Shopkeepers’’ and Statuaries. 2. Stone merchants:
kinds of stone used, stone at St. Paul's, imports of stone. 3. Overseers:
partners in lieu of overseers, superintendents or foremen, King's Master Masons,
Chief Bridge Masons. 4. Mason-contractors: (i.) municipal contractors (ii.)
parish church contractors (iii.) St. Paul's contractors (iv.) contractors on
Roval Works. The financing of contracts. Contemporary opinion of contract
system. Types of contract. 5. Journeymen. 6. Apprentices.  Pages 18-66.

Short Bibliography. Pages 66-67.

Appendices. A. General Search of April, 1678. B. List of Foreigners, 1686.
C. General Search of September, 1694. D. Act of Common Council, 11th
September, 1694. K. General Search of May, 1696. F. List of Members
made free by Redemption, 1670-1694. G. List of ‘‘ Foreign Members.”” H.
Stone imported into London. J. Statistics of Journeymen. K. Statistics of
Apprentices. Pages 67-92.
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HE subject of the present paper differs in some important respects
from those to which we have previously called the attention of
the Lodge. In the past we dealt with particular building
operations in some detail, but now we are concerned with the
building industry generally in the whole of London. Our
period, also, is no longex' the era of Gothic, but the rapidly
changing and much more modern age of the Renaissance and
the revival of classical architecture. ~We shall attempt to show,

later, that though the mason’s craft may have altered but little in itself, its
practitioners using the same tools with the same skill to carve designs in a different
taste for buildings in a different style, the environment of the craft changed
greatly and that new divisions and differences appear and disturb the relatively
simple organisation of medieval times. In order that these new developments
may be seen in their context, it is desirable to make some general observations
on conditions in London in the seventeenth century. ’

In the first place, it may be remarked that, despite repeated outbreaks
of the Plague, the century saw a growth, to some observers alarming, in the
populution of London, and an expansion of built-up areas. Much of the domestic
building, being of brick, required little help from the mason, though it may have
offered a chance to some masons to profit by small building speculations. The
extensive use of brick in larger houses and public buildings, even when they were
faced with stone, also tended to the same result, viz., a comparative decline in
the proportion of stone masons to other craftsmen in the building industry. That
does not mean that the number of masons did not increase; in the last third of
the century it must have grown immensely; but, taking the century as a whole,
the number probably increased less rapidly than that of brickmakers and brick-
layers, whose business benefited by two circumstances, the growing demand for
houses and a plentiful supply of clay close at hand.

Secondly, the century, taken ns a whole, was one of increased prosperity,
much of it associated with expanding overseas trade, which centred far more in
London than elsewhere. This no doubt enabled the receivers of East India
Company dividends and other similar incomes to spend money on building. It
is true that such incomes were not confined to city merchants and that rich
citizens might display their wealth in building country houses, where they resided
occasionally and where their sons, forsaking the daily cares of business, lived as
country gentlemen. In this century, as in others, the activity of trade was
subject to interruption through political, currency and other factors' and it is

! The later part of Klizabeth’s reign had been a time of deep depression, but
ainder her successor from 1604 onwards there was a revival of trade, increasing customs,
a growth in population and a rising standard of living, trade being particularly active
between 1613 and 1615. By 1620 the cloth trade was depressed and bankruptcies were
frequent; the harvests of 1622 and 1623 were poor, and there was an outbreak of
Plague in 1625. Signs of improvement were visible in the summer of that year., but
a variety of causes hindered it, and, though there were further indications of improve-
ment in 1630, the personal government of Charles I. tended to check prosperity. There
.was widespread depression, and another outbreak of Plague, in 1687. The crisis
prolonged itself to the eve of the Civil War, which prevented recovery, and, though
there were some signs of better times about 1650, the Protéctorate ended in bankruptcy
and depression. With the Restoration there was recovery, but the Dutch War, the
Plague and the Great Fire checked it, and there was panic in 1667. The Exchequer
stop, in December, 1671, brought ruin to many bankers in 1672: business was unsettled,
and depression lasted until 1674. The remainder of the century, though it had some

ull times, and saw a crisis in 1696-1697, was more prosperous, especially towards 1678,
1683-1695 and 1697-1700. [See W. R. Scott, Joint Stock Companies, i., 130, 167, 180,
186-7, 199, 204, 217, 245, 261, 278-9, 287-8, etc.]
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possible that the trade cycle, though less marked than in modern times, could, if
we had sufficient data, be traced in the building industry. It does not, however,
follow that years of bad trade saw little or no building,! since wealth gained in
good times might be spent years later. The Crown, too, did not confine its
building to prosperous periods: the Banqueting ITall at Whitehall was erected,®
at a cost of more than £15,600, between 1619 and 1622, a period of marked
-depression. Still, the money available for building must ultimately have had
some relation to the prosperity of trade and agriculture, and the rate at which
the Crown could build was limited by its revenue, which depended largely on
customs duties, and by its credit. In practice, there were many difficulties in
paying for royal building, as our sources show, which both retarded the operations
and caused great inconvenience, and at times even suffering, to the workmen.

Thirdly, attention may be drawn to somie changes regarding the character
of demand in the stone-building industry. Broadly speaking, the medizval demand
had been for castles and ecclesiastical buildings, and the chief employers were
the Crown and the Church. There was also a demand for churches in London
in the later part of the seventeenth century, but that was the result of accident,
the Great Fire, though the maintenance and repair of Old St. Paul’s would in
any event have required considerable outlay and the growing population would
gradually have caused the building of new churches and of meeting houses for
Dissenters. As for the Crown, it was still of considerable importance as an
employer. The Tower, St. James’s Palace, Hampton Court and other buildings
erected in previous centuries were maintained and extended, and new ones were
built, the work being done or directed by the Office of Works with its head-
quarters in Scotland Yard. But in and about London, possibly, and in the
country, certainly, the Crown was becoming comparatively less important and
the nobility, gentry and commercial classes more important, as builders.® For
them were erected houses and palaces in which, by the eighteenth century,
comfort and convenience tended to give way to magnificence in a more or less
pure classical style. The change in style is outside our province, but it may be
noted that with the advent of continental and classical fashions, obtained either
by travel or from books, the union of architect and craftsman in the same person,
common in the Middle Ages, becomes less and less frequent. The difference in
taste is also traceable in monuments, more numerous than those of the Middle
Ages, enriched with urns and statuary, and in elaborate chimney pieces, some-
times in foreign marbles. The designing of these was, doubtless, easier than the
planning of a building, and the capital required for the making of a small
monument or chimney piece was less than that needed in order to take a building
contract at Greenwich Hospital or at St. Paul’s. It is thus possible that the
‘“storied urn or animated bust’’ gave an opportunity of independence to some
masons who could not have acquired it as contractors or as architects. In such
craftsmen as lived chiefly by this work we may see the successors of the medieval
carvers and intailers, often chiselling, at this period, symbols derived from a
pagan tradition though used to adorn Christian temples.

1 A glance at the list of houses dealt with by J. Alfred Gotch in The Growth
of the Emglish Ilouse (pp. 305-6) will show that building went on, in the country
generally, in times of depression and disturbance as well as in times of prosperity.

2 Public Record Office, Declared Accounts No. 3391. As Bro. C. F. Sykes
points out, the sum of £15,600 includes some £700 spent on the erection of a new
pier at the Isle of Portland for conveyance of stonc to Whitehall.

3 This makes our study of the period difficult and necessarily incomplete since
the accounts of buildings erected for private persons have not survived or are not
easily accessible. '
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By far the most important circumstance comnected with employment in
the building trades was the Great Fire in 1666.' Its calamitous effects* may
be summed up very briefly by saying that it laid waste about 440 acres, destroyed
over 13,000 houses and 89 churches and chapels, rendered homeless about 200,000+
people and, altogether, caused losses variously estimated at between £9,900,000
and £10,788,000. On the other hand, by burning down some insanitary nurseries.
of the Plague, it contributed to the improvement of public health, the future
increase of population and, consequently, of housing, and it presented an
opportunity for the rebuilding of a planned, dignified and salubrious capital.
The work, possible only as trade slowly revived, required government encourage-
ment and control, lest the unregulated activity of individuals should jeopardise
the plan being elaborated by the authorities. Sir. Christopher Wren’s project
of re-shaping the whole City was not adopted, and the problem of reconstruc-
tion was dealt with, in part, by the use, on a large scale, of means already in
practice. Four years before the Great Fire a commission had been set up to
deal with a variety of problems, including the repair of highways and the
widening of particular streets.® The commissioners, of whom the King's Surveyor
of Works was to be one, were appointed under the Great Seal and with ‘them
were associated, for the purpose of street widening, the Lord Mayor and
Aldermen. This body had power to réceive subscriptions and to negotiate with
the owners of property to be demolished:- should such owners be unwilling or
unable to come to terms, the sheriffis of London were to empanel a jury to assess
the 'value of the premises and the payment of the sum thus deétermined sufficed
to give the commission possession. of the property required. —Where houses were
pulled down and other houses, behind them, or on the opposite side of the street,
were improved in value, an annual rent, on account of this amelioration, became
payable to the City and was to bhe used for further street improvement. This
experiment in administration and finance, devised in 1662 to bring about gradual
improvements in London, was unexpectedly called upon to serve as a model for
dealing with the urgent problems raised by the need for rebuilding most of the
city within a period of a very few years.

In the main, the rebuilding of London was governed by three statutes,
two passed in 1666 and one in 1670.* The first established tripunals to deal
with disputes regarding rent payments and obligations in respect of houses
destroyed in the fire. The second, amended in some respects by the third, was
the fundamental act regulating the rebuilding. It may be summarized under
four main heads: construction, administration, economic conditions and finance.

(i.) The purpose of the Act being to avoid the peril of fire in future,
and to secure gracefulness and uniformity in building, it was provided that
houses should be built of brick or stone or both, and should be arranged in streets
and lanes marked out by the City authorities. Houses and thoroughfares were
graded : the largest houses were to be of four stories, others were to be of three

1 The effects of the Great Plague of 1665 on the building industry must have
been considerable. In connection with the erection of Clarendon House, Sir Roger
Pratt, the architect, wrote on 13th February, 1665/6, of * two of our master brickmakers
dying successively of the Plague and many other of their Servants,” which apparently
caused the cost of the bricks to rise from 8s. 6d. to 15s. per 1,000. Referring to the
Carpenters, he wrote. ‘‘at this time the town was highly infected, the workmen
everywhere died.”” This, in conjunction with the rise in the price of timber, due to
the Dutch War, caused the master carpenter to be utterly undone and to refuse to go
forward with the contract. (Gunther, Architecture of Sir Roger Pratt, 149.)

2 See Memoirs of John Ewvelyn, ed: Bray, 318; Terney Memoirs (1904), ii., 259;
and Bell, The Great Fire of London, especially 223-224, 275.

3 14 Charles II., ¢. 2. Hvelyn, tllle diarist, was a member of the Commission.

418 and 19 Charles II., ¢. 7; 18 and 19 Charles T1., c. 8: and 22 and 23
Charles 11., ¢. 11. Tn addition. 22 and 23 Charles TI., c. 16, and 22 and 23 Charles
IT.. e. 17, relate to the same subject.
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or two, the largest houses being in the most- important and widest streets, the
others in the less important streets, lanes and by-lanes.

(ii.) The Lord Mayor, Aldermen and Common Council were empowered
to elect surveyors to see that these regulations were observed, and might require
rebuilding to be commenced within a stipulated time, or alternatively might have
the value of a site not built upon assessed and sell it to a person guaranteeing
Lo build, the sale price being given to the owner. Besides marking out streets,
the City authorities were to enlarge some particular thoroughfares and might,
at their discretion, widen streets previously less than fourteen feet across.

(iii.) In order that building materials, despite the great demand, might
be had at reasonable prices, any two or more judges of the King’'s Bench were
empowered to fix the prices of bricks, tiles, lime and their carriage, should the
City make a complaint of their dearness. Similarly, should the City authorities
complain, the same tribunal might defeat any combination of workmen and
labourers by fixing time and piece wages. The Statute also took steps to increase
the supply of labour by suspending for seven years, or as long as might be
necessary, the local monopoly of trade, and by encouraging the influx of workmen
from outside. With the effect of these steps upon the mason’s trade we shall
be concerned later.

(iv.) The Act provided one source of revenue for the improvement of
the City in the payments on account of amelioration by those who got the
advantage, but the main source was a duty of 12d. per chaldron or per ton of
coal brought to London, the proceeds of the duty to be used for street widening.
The Act of 1670 added a further duty of 2/- on coal, one quarter of the money
received to be used for street widening and three-quarters for church building.
From 1677 to 1687 the two duties of 12d. and 2/- were to be merged into one
duty of 3/-, half the receipts to be used for street widening and half for church
building. Of the money available for church building, a quarter, at the
discretion of the Archbishop of Canterbury, the Bishop of London and the Lord
Mayor, might be used for St. Paul’s. The number of parish churches to be
rebuilt’ was fixed at fifty-one, their names being set out in the Statute. By an
Act of 1685 (1 James II., ¢. 15) a duty of 18d. per chaldron or per ton of coal
brought to London was imposed, as from 29th September, 1687, when the old
duty expired, to 29th September, 1700, the proceeds to be placed at the disposal
- of the Archbishop, the Bishop and the Lord Mayor for church building, an
amount not exceeding one-fifth to be appropriated to finishing the parish churches,
the remainder being used for St. Paul's.! The coal duty was again continued in
1696-97 (by 8 and 9 William IlI., c. 14) for a further period of sixteen years
from 29th September, 1700, at the rate of 12d. per chaldron or per ton, one-sixth
of the receipts to be used for the repair of Westminster Abbey and the balance
for the completion of St. Paul’'s. An additional duty of 2s. per chaldrou or
per ton was in force for eight years from 15th May, 1708, by an act of 1702.
(1 Anne stat. 2, c. 12.) The proceeds were entirely for the finishing of St. Paul's.
There were other renewals later.

It will be uoted that the sums assigned to St. Paul's were very large.
That immense undertaking, carried on by a special commission, with Wren, the
King’s Surveyor-General, as architect, and built at a cost of about £750,000,*
was by far the most considerable of the buildings paid for out of the coal duty,

! From the original Coal Duty between 1st May, 1670, and 29th September,
1687, St. Paul’s received £88,468.14.3, and the parochial churches £264.206.2.9. From
the new Coal Duty between 29th September, 1687, and 29th September, 1700, St. Paul's
received £247.674.17.4, and the parochial churches £53,300. (‘‘ Account of Rebuilding
the Cathedral Church of St. Paul's,” printed in 4.Q.C., xvii.)

2 Ellis, St. Paul’s Cathedral, 179.
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and from the accounts relating to it' we have gathered much of our information
about the more prominent mason-contractors of the age. The sanre men, in the
main, organised the supply of stone and labour for the other city churches and
for the commemorative column in New Fish Street Hill; and it is part
of our object in this paper, without detracting in the least from the just
fame of Wren, to make some record of the mén without whose services he could
not have carried out his great design. It is also part of our purpose to consider
their workmen, who gained neither glory such as Wren's iior ‘profits such as
Strong’s, and whose reward was about half-n-crown a day and the risk of accident,
disease and early death. The surviving accounts t€ll us little about them
individualiy and their names are for the most part unknown, but without their
industry aud skill neither architectural genius nor commercial shrewdness would
have availed to build St. Paul's: it.is, in. one sense, not Wren’s monument only,
but theirs.

The last general observation we desire to make about the seventeenth
century is that in its course the questions of monopoly and industrial and
commercial regulation were hotly debated and, in part at least, settled.
Differences similar to those that divided the supporters and opponents of the
Last India Companies and the Merchants Adventurers were to some degree
evident in the masons’ craft as well. The problem after the Great Fire differed
in intensity, rather than in nature, from that existing in the earlier part of the
century: fundamentally, the question was whether a corporate institution could
elfectively regulate the industry, harmonise the interests of journeymen and
employers and settle differences with allied crafts, without using privileges in ‘a
way oppressive to individuals and hirmful to the public. ‘The existence of the
Masons’ Company and the assistance sometimes given to it by the City authorities
prove the continuance of the traditional belief in regulation by men of the
trade, but the Act of 1666 testifies to the belief that privileges must yield to
sudden or great necessity. It will be shown also that in practice the authority
of the Company could be evaded and that, especially towards the end of the
century, industrial and technical matters were ceasing to be its main objects.

SOURCES. ;
The bulk of the sources used in the preparation of this paper? can be
divided into two main classes, namely:—(i.) Building Accounts and -(ii.) the

1 For a list of them see Historical MSS. Commission, Nith Report, MSS. of
the Dean and Chapter of St. Paul's, pp. 59-60. We have, so far, only been able to
examine a selection of the Accounts numbered W.A. 1-55 and the two Acquittance
Books, 1683-1697. The Accounts, made up monthly as a rule and bound in volumes
novering a year, though rich in names of carpenters and bricklayers, rarely mention
the names of masons, and, when going into detail at all, give only the number of
days' work charged in_ the contractor’s bill. The Acquittance Books consist of signed
receipts: they throw light on the way in which the mason-contractors received their
money. We understand that the Wren Society has in hand the publication of two
volumes of extracts from the St. Paul’s Accounts.

2 Qur thanks are due to the trustees of the late Lord Leverhulme, whose
generous grant of research expenses to one of us made possible the examination of
manuscripts and greatly facilitated this and other investigations; to the Court of
Assistants of the Worshipful Company of Masons for permitting us to examine and
to print extracts from the records of the Company, which constitute the main founda-
tion of this study, and to Mr. H. M. Clowes, Clerk to the Masons’ Company, for help
in arranging our researches; to the Corporation of the City of London for permission
to use their records; to the Dean and Chapter of St. Paul’s for permission to examine
the building accounts, and to Mr. Gerald W. Henderson, the sub-librarian and
archivist, for his assistance with that work; to the Bank of England and to Messrs. -
C. Hoare and Co. for giving us access to their old ledgers, and to Messrs.
Glyn Mills and Co. for allowing us to examine the early ledgers of Childs’ Bank; to
Mr. Eagleton, -Clerk to the Haberdashers’ Company, for information about Fulkes "and
Rawlins, and to Bro. W. J. Williams for abstracts of the Wills of Thomas Strong and
Thomas Wise. We have also to thank Miss E. Jeffries Davis of University College,
University Reader in the History and Records of London, for very kindly reading the
first proofs of this paper and making various hclpful suggestions; Mr. W. D. Carde
for drawing our attention to certain peints which we had overlooked; and Bro.
W. W. Covey-Crump for his valuable assistance in proof correcting.
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records of the Masons’ Company. The former may be further sub-divided as
follows: —(a) Mere statements of moneys received and spent, with little or no
detail about the ultimate distribution of the money paid out. The accounts in
the Public Record Office relating to the rebuilding of London (Ezchequer K .R.,
474/30 and 475/1 to 8) ave of this kind : they tell us, e.g., that on May 20th, 1672,
Joshua Marshall was paid £200 on account of the Fire Memorial column, but we
do not know how much of the money went in wages, or to whom. (b) General
Accounts, such as the Surveyors’ and Paymasters’ Accounts in the Public Record
Office (e.g., Declared Aeccounts 3391), or the St. Paul’s Accounts referred to
above, which give information about the sums paid to various contractors and
frequently go into detail about payments for stone and contract prices for
particular pieces of building wark, but do not give the numes of the masons
employed by the contractors. (c) Edward Strong’s  Account Book ' (Guildhall
Library MS. 233) which, for part of the period to which it relates, gives the
names of the men employed, but for the remainder gives only the number of
days charged for. (d) Among the ‘ Bills paid to artificers . . . after the
Great Fire’ in the Guildhall Library (/8. 323, Nos. 1-62) are several accounts
drawn up by Nicholas Duncombe, clerk of the works, for work done at the
Guildhall dnd elsewhere: these give the names and earnings of the masons
employed. So also do the volumes of Office of Works Accounts in the British .
Museum (Harleian MSS. 1618, 1657 and 1658) and, of course, the volumes of
Weekly Payments by the wardens of London Bridge.

The three principal sources of information among the records of the
Masons’ Company are (a) the first two Court Books, (b) the first deccount Book,
and (c) the Quarterage Book.

(a) The Court Books, 1677-1694, and 1695-1722, are the most valuable
source: they contain not merely minutes of the meetings of the Court of
Assistants, which enumerate, inter alia, the apprentices presented, the freemen
admitted and the moneys received for quarterage and fines, but also miscellaneous
information affecting the Court, such as statements of moncy owing to the
Company, lists of members’ subscriptions for special objects, and records of such
general searches as the Court ordered to be made.!

1 8o far as we are aware, the Court only commenced its official existence in
December, 1677. According to a municipal ordinance of 1481 [Letter Book L., fos.
165 seq., printed in full in The Medi@val Mason, pp. 251 seq.] the government of the
Mistery was vested in two wardens elected biennially by the freemen of the cratt.
In 1607 a new municipal ordinance [Letter Book CC., fo. 235, printed in full
Appendix to Bro. Willams, 4.Q.C., vol. xlv.] provided that the government of the
Company should be vested in a Master and two Wardens elected annually by those
in the Livery. It was not until 1677, when the Company was incorporated by Royal
Charter [printed in full in 4.¢Q.C., vol. xliii., pp. 117 seq.] that the control was vested
in a Master, two Wardens and 24 (or more) assistants. Although the Court of
Assistants probably did not begin its official existence until the Charter was granted
on 17th December, 1677, the first meeting of the Court entered in the Court Book was
held on 27th March, 1677. Prior to that date there certainly appears to have been
an inner circle within the members of the Livery, even if there was no Court of
i&ﬁs&i;stémﬁlts, for the first entries in the Quarterage Rook set out the membership 1n

us:—

Mr Thomas Shorthose, Master
Mr Stephen Switzer |W lens
Mr Thomas Shadbolt ardens

Mr Edward Marshall -
. [14 more names]

The Rest of the Livery
Mr Henry Banks
Mr Joshua Marshall
[25 more names]

The Yeomanry
John Hownsell
Enoch Wyatt
[141 more names|
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(b) The first decount Book commences with the year 1619-20 and ends
in 1706. For some years the. entries seem to be very incomplete, but for
others, and more especially for the earlier years, fairly full particulars are
given concerning the binding of apprentices, the admission of .freemen and of
liverymen, and the fees collected in respect of fines and of the search of stone.
Most of our information concerning the Company in the second and third quarters
of the seventeenth century is derived from entries in this Account Book.

(¢) The Quarterage Bool: contains, inter alia, the names of the Master,
Wardens, Assistants, Liverymen and Yeomen, together with the quarterages paid
by each, for every year from 1663 to 1676 inclusive, and agaia for 1696, 1697,
1698 (Assistants only) and 1700; the admissions of freemen and the presentments
of apprentices from 1663 to 1694 (these being continued in the Freedom Book,
1694-1780, and the Bool of Apprentices. 1694-1856); lists for 1696 and 1697
of ‘“foreign members’’ and of widows entitled to bind apprentices at Masons’
Hall,! and an alphabetical account of what is due to the Company from the
Liverymen, Yeomen, Foreign Members and Widows at Michaelmas, 1701.

The records of the Masons’ Company were examined some forty years ago
by two former Past Masters of the Lodge, the late Bro. Edward Conder and
the late Bro. W. Harry Rylands (both members of the Masons’ Company) whilst
collecting materials for the history of the Company published by Bro. Conder
under the title The Hole Craft and Fellowship of Masons. Their pioneer work
has considerably facilitated the preparation of this paper, and we have gladly
availed ourselves of it whenever possible. On the other hand, the Masons’
records contain numerous matters of great interest to us, which they passed over
as too detailed, or too trivial, for the purpose of writing a general history of the
Company. Thus our paper in many ways supplements the account of the Masons’
Company given in the Hole ('raft, but, as the reader will discover for himself,
it makes no pretence at presenting a complete history of the Company in the
seventeenth century.

THE MASONS’ COMPANY.

.In the seventeenth century the Masons’ Company was still discharging
trade functions which it had inherited from the old mistery or craft gild. These
mainly centred round (1) the search for false work and (2) the preservation of
the monopoly of trade in the city. We feel little doubt that it was the problem
of the monopoly of trade which interested the Company most, more especially
towards the end of the century, and we propose to discuss that first.

In later years, the expression ‘ The Livery '’ is used instead of ¢ The rest of the
Livery,” but so far as we observed, nowhere in the Quarterage Book from 1663 to
1676 is the term ¢‘ Assistants ’’ or ‘‘ Court of Assistants '’ used. On the other hand,
almost the first entry in the earliest Court Book reads '‘ Names of the Company of
Masons who are in arrears for quarterage at Ladyvday 1677.” the names being arranged
under three headings: —

¢ Assistants ’ (27 names)
‘* Liverymen "’ (44 names)
“ Yeomanry "’ (162 names)

In the first Account Book, however, there are earlier and specific references to
Assistants and Court of Assistants. On 26th May, 1630, Mr. Shuttleworth, Mr. Richard
Llewellyn, Thomas More and Mr. Dorbarr each paid 40s. on being ‘‘ made one of the
Assistants,” and during the year 1630-31 Mr. Daniel Chaloner paid 40s. ‘¢ for his
admission into the Assistance.” _

1 Women appear occasionally to have been members of the Company. In the
list of Yeomanry of 1663 there occurs the name Margaret Wild, widow. In the
Court Books we have found one case of a girl apprentice: —

“ This day [12th February. 1713/4] Mary Banister, daughter of Geo Banister
of Barkin in the County of Essex, Barber, do put herself an apprentice to
John Sumner, citizen and mason, for the term of 7 years from this day and
paid to the Company 5s.7?
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1. The Monopoly of Trade.

The problem at this period may be said to have been of a fourfold
character:—(i.) To restrain, if not entirely prevent, ‘‘ foreign’ masons, ¢.c.,
masons who were not freemen of the city, from carrying on their trade in
London. (ii.) To discourage masons from obtaining their freedom otherwise than
through the Masons’ Company. (iii.) To challenge any company which appeared
to hinder necessary masons’ work from being done. (iv.) To stop intermeddling,
i.e., mason's work being done by men of other trades.

(i.) The question of foreign masons- was an old one, which had gladually
changed in character and become the most acute problem -confronting the
Company. In order to understand the position, it is necessary briefly to trace
its development. An article of the Masons’ Ordinances of 1481 forbade freemen
of the craft from enticing ‘‘ foreyns’’ from other freemen of the craft,! which
implies that it was then permissible for members of the Fellowship to employ
foreign masons. By 1521, the attitude of the Fellowship had apparently under-
gone some modification, as the Masons’ Ordinances approved in that year ? not only
provided that a foreign mason was not to take up work for himself, but that he
was not to be employed by a mason freeman so long as sufficient qualified freemen
were available. If a foreigner were employed, he was to contribute 3d. quarterly
to the common-box like freemen masons. In 1548 ‘ foreign’ handicraftsmen of
the building trades were authorised by Act of Parliament?® to work in any city,
borough, or corporate town; there can be little doubt that this Act was passed '
with the object of defeatmg the supposed conspiracies of workers to raise wages
at a time when prices were rising rapidly, and it should not be regarded .as an
attempt on the part of the Government permanently to weaken local monopolies
of trade.! In any case, it was repealed the following year,” and the position
with regard to foreigners continued as before. That the Masons’ Company feared
the extended use of foreigners in the early seventeenth century is shown hy
petitions in 1621-22 to the Bishop of London, the Lord Mayor and the Commis-
sioners, praying that the intended work at St. Paul’s might be given to freemen
of the city. That the Company had ground for its fears is shown by money
being spent in 1641-42 regarding intended action in Parliament about foreigners
working at St. Paul’'s.  Prior to that, in 1628 the Masons had joined forces
with the Bricklayers in trying to prevent the employment of foreigners by the
Earl of Devonshire. It would appear, however, that notwithstanding such eflorts,
foreigners did work in the city more or less on suffrance, for at a general search
in 1640-41, and again in 1642-43 and in 1644-45, money was. received from
““sundry free members of the company and other artisan masons foreigners and
.aliens.”’

A new chapter of the ¢ foreigner’’ problem opened in 1666 with the
Great Fire. In order to facilitate the rebuilding of the city, Parliament enacted
‘that such masons, bricklayers, carpenters, etc., as were not freemen of the city,
might work there until the rebuilding was completed and further that, if they
worked at such rebuilding for seven years, they were to enjoy the same liberty
-as freemen for their natural lives.® At the moment, with the fire hardly
extinguished, the adoption of this ‘‘ open-door *’ policy does not appear to have
-excited an outery, but as soon as building became brisk, about 1670, protests
began. The Carpenters averred that foreign artisans who had not served a

251 ! Letter Book L., fols. 165 seq., printed in full in The Medicval Mason, pp.
1251 seq.
2 Letter Book N., fols. 175 b, seq., printed in full in The Medireval Mason, pp.

3 2 Edw. VI,

4 See The Mcdzaa'val Mason, 207, 227.
33 Edw. VI.. ¢. 20.

6 18 and 19 Charles IT., c. 8, sec. 16.
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seven years’ apprenticeship in accordance with the Statute of Apprentices, 1563,
were working in the city,! an assertion also made in the Masons’ Company's
Charter of 1677, which refers to the deceits practised by sundry persons who
never duly served as apprentices to the Art or Mistery of a mason.? It was
apparently on this point that the Masons joined the Carpenters, Bricklavers,
Joiners and Plasterers in a petition to the Court of Aldermen,® but there is no
evidence to show that the companies obtained effectual redress. It is probable
that the Masons took other steps regarding foreigners about this time, but it is
not until the records of the Court of Assistants are available, from the spring
of 1677, that the story can be unfolded. On 27th April, 1677, the Court
ordered the clerk to present all foreign masons, in order to constrain them to
take their admittance of the Company and City. In April, 1678, a general
search was made and the record of that searcl, entered in the Court Book, gives
an admirable survey of the masons then at work in London. The list of names
is printed in Appendix A, and we shall have occasion to refer to it more fully
in another connection. Here it may be noted that it contains the names of
many men described as ‘‘ not free’’ or as ‘‘ foreigner,”’ as-well as those of sundry
aliens and of various members of other London companies. The search cannot
have shown a very satisfactory position from the Masons' point of view, and
pressure was apparently exerted to try to make some non-members join. Twenty-
seven men appeared at the Court on 25th April, 1678, and desired

‘“that they might be admitted as foreign members of this Company and
therefor gave their several bills for payment of their fees to the
"Company, and upon payment thereof are to be admitted and sworn
members. "’ 1 '

We have endeavoured to trace these twenty-seven applicants in the books of the
Company but have failed to find that a single one of them was ever admitted,
so presumably the fees were not paid. and it is by no means impossible that the
men were merely bluffing the Company when they applied for admission.®
Seventeen months later (12th September, 1679) the Court ordered that a restraint
be put upon foreigners working or taking work within the city and that .any
freeman working for such foreigner should be presented for his offence, but there
is nothing in subsequent Court Minutes to show that this was more than a pious.
resolution. .

In April, 1686, there must presumably have been another general search,
to which we can find no direct reference in the Court Boolk, because under the
date of 29th April, 1686, there is a list of 52 foreign masons who were summoned.
to appear and to be sworn of the Company. In the list (printed in Appendix B),
the phrase ‘‘ gave a note and was admitted '’ appears behind 10 of the names, but
we have not been .able to trace any of these men.in the lists of freemen and have-
our doubts whether they ever paid. Nor do subsequent Court records make-
any reference to any of those marked ‘‘to appear next Court.”” The only
foreigner of whose admission at this period we feel sure is Thomas Neale, who.
“refused’’ in April but was admitted by order of the City Chamberlain in.
December, 1686.

1 Jupp and Pocock, History of the Curpenters’ Company, 282.
2 4.Q.0., xliii., 128.

3 Jupp and Pocock, 282, 283.

4 See list printed at end of Appendix A.

5 Although the entry in the Court Book runs

“ the several foreigners here under named appeared at this court and desired
that they might be admitted as foreign members,”

yet one of the names is that of Nathaniel Rawlins, a member of the Haberdashers, as.
shown in the record of the search, and a freeman of the City (see below).
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Towards the end of the century the position apparently underwent a
change. Very possibly the Company came to realise, on the one hand, that
its old monopoly of trade could not be recovered, and, on the other, that the
admission fee of 36s., equivalent to about 2} weeks’ wages, was a serious impedi-
ment to an ordinary journeyman who might otherwise be willing to take up the
freedom. If he could neither be prevented from working nor induced to join.
the Cempany, it would be hetter to collect sixpence quarterage from him as a
contribution to the common-box, rather than collect nothing at all. Thus on
3rd December, 1690, we find the Court ordering that no member of the Company
was to employ any freeman or foreigner unless such freeman or foreigner
had paid all such quarterages as he owed, under penalty of the employer
becoming responsible for the amount. This attempt to collect quarterages from
foreigners, as well as from freemen, was a return to a practice permitted by the
Ordinances of 1521, as previously mentioned. The Company, however, would
doubtless be very unwilling to allow all foreigners to work on these conditions.
Admission fees (raised from 23s. 10d. to 36s. in 1673), together with stewards’ fines.
(raised from £6 to £10 about 1695), Livery fines (raised from £3 to £5 in 1673)
and Assistants’ fines (£3) were a very important source of revenue to a company
which, to judge from its A4ccount Book, was never in a very prosperous financial
position during the seventeenth century. In some cases the obstacle of the:
admission fee was overcome “by the mason-contractor who employed the foreigner
making himself responsible for the fee. Thus, for example, on 30th August,
1692, six masons were admitted and sworn as ‘‘ foreign members,”’ Mr. Strong
engaging to pay the fees in each case.

Once the ‘“ foreigner ’ question had been largely reduced to one of pounds,.
shillings and pence, it tended to merge itself in a second aspect of the problem:
of the monopoly of trade, which was raised when foreign masons obtained their-
freedom otherwise than through the Masons’ Company. That Company clearly
suffered a financial loss when men who were masons by trade joined other
companies and in due course bound and made free their apprentices in such
companies. On l4th February, 1693/4, the Court decided to present a petition.
to the Lord Mayor, Aldermen and Common Council, asking for an Act of
Common Council to redress this grievance. The petition and the Act which -
was ultimately passed can best be considered in the next section, but an attempt
has still to be made here to estimate the success of the Company’s attitude towards.
the foreigners who were permitted to work on the rebuilding of the city under:
the Fire Statute of 16686.

The general impression derived from noting the successive steps taken by-
the Court, and following up their result, if any, undoubtedly is that the efforts.
_of the Company to induce foreigners to take up their freedom were not very
successful, though we incline to think that the results were not so unfavourable-
-as might appear at first sight. During the fifteen years 1670-1684, forty or-
forty-one men can be traced as having been admitted to the Company by
redemption. A list of the names of the masons so admitted, with the dates of’
their admission, is printed in Appendix ¥. 1In all the earlier cases, they were-
also admitted to the freedom of the City by the Court of Aldermen. Only the-
-date of the order is entered in the Masons' books, but most of them can be-
traced in the Repertories of the Court of Aldermen. The entry relating to-
William Pagett, who was made free of the ‘Company on 28th May, 1673, on
payment of £1.16.0, may be quoted as an example, as the entry happens to be-
specially detailed : —

1 See below.
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17 April, 1673 Upon the humble peticion of W™ Paggett mason, who hat
served to that trade for the terme of seaven yeares and since the late
dismall fire imployed himselfe in rebuilding of this citye and intends
(as hath been.suggested unto this court) to take an house & inhabite
in the new buildings of the City: It is ordered that the said William
Paggett after he shall have taken an house for his inhabitacion in the
new buildings as aforesaid, shal bee admitted into the freedome of
this City by Redempclon in the Company of Masons, paylng to Mr
Chamberlein to the Cityes use the summe of xlvis. viiid.

Full freedom by redemption involved a double payment—a fee to the City of
46s. 8d., or more in some cases, and a fee to the Company of 36s. (23s. 10d.
prior to 1673), or some 83s., or more, in all, equivalent to the wage of a
journeyman for approximately six weeks. As a consequence, it could hardly
apply to the ordinary craftsmen. Regarding the earlier men admitted . by
redemption, we have sufficient information to know that some at least were
mason-contractors, e.g., Christopher Kempster, Thomas Strong and Thomas Wise.
Other men in the list who either were, or shortly became, coniractors, were
‘Thomas Hill, William Kempster, Edward Strong and Dphmm) Beauchamp.. A
few whose names appear towards the end of the list were admitted according
to the Act of Parliament for rebuilding the city,”” and in two or three of these
cases either no fee,! or only a reduced fee,2 was paid to the Company and very
possibly no fee to the city. We assume that these masons were ordinary journey-
men. Some of the others in the list may have been the same, receiving possibly
some assistance from their employers in the payment of the necessary fees. On
the other hand, they may have been ‘‘ shop-keepers’’ or contractors who do not
happen to have been parties to any transactions we have traced. In any case,
we feel that freemen able to pay the Stewards’ fine of £6 and the Livery fine
of £3 within a year or so of being admitted by redemption must have been men
of some substance and standing, and that applies to Michael Todd, Daniel Norris,
John Woodroffe and Henry Pagett.

We are inclined to think that the Company did not experience .any great
difficulty about the more prominent foreign members of the craft, except in so far
as some of them found their way into other companies, to which reference will
be made shortly, but rather with such members of the journeymen class as were
xever likely to rise above the position of wage-earners. 1In their case, quite
apart from the question of the cost of entry, it is not very clear that they could
-derive much benefit from membership. There were, however, iwo other ways in
which masons who were ‘ foreigners ~’ or ‘‘ not free.’’ might obtain their freedom.
Firstly, a few were admitted as ‘ foreign members.”” The Quarterage Book
gives for 1696 and 1697 a list of ‘‘ foreign members,”’ containing the names of
nine men, eight of whom we can trace as admitted in 1691 or 1692, and one,
who heads the list with a ‘M*’ in front of his name, we cannot trace at all.
'On the other hand, the name of one man admitted as a foreign member in 1692
is not on the list of 1696 or 1697. Thus in all we are able to trace ten foreign
members belonging to this period, whose names are printed in Appendix G.

As to the exact status of ‘‘ foreign members,”’ we are not very certain.
‘We cannot find them referred to in the Charter or Bye-laws. An entry in the
Court Book under the date of 13th September, 1712,® implies that they might
be *‘ country members,”’ but we are disposed to think that most of those on our

1 E.g., Thomas Facer and Edward Bl‘]dﬂ'efOOte

2 E.g., John Phillipps paid 20s.

3 ¢ Mr Craven, one of the Court of Assistants now 1nfm'mmg this Court that
one Arthur Morris a mason by trade living at Lewes in Sussex and son of
Arthur Morris of the same place, also mason, was desirous to be admitted
a foreign member, It was agreed upon the question being put that he be
admitted accordingly upon the usual fine of thirty six shillings.”
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Iist were foreigners resident and working in London, as in the case of six of them
Mr. Strong engaged to pay their fees, which seems to indicate that they were his
employees. A ‘‘ foreign member ’’ seems to have been a foreigner who had been
made free of the Company but had not been admitted to the freedom of the
City by the Court of Aldermen.! ‘

Secondly, others who were ‘‘ not free’’ (ex-apprentices, not ‘‘ foreigners ’)
having been bound to a member of the Company without taking up their freedom
at the expiration of their indentures, might be induced to join. Z.g., on 23rd
August, 1694, Thomas Hollis, late apprentice to Thomas Todd by an indenture of
22nd October, 1670, was admitted and sworn on payment of the normal fee of 36s.
‘Without a very large amount of labour, it would be impossible to trace how many
years had elapsed since each mason admitted to freedom by service had com-
menced his apprenticeship, and there might,.in some cases at least, be special
reasons why unusual delays had occurred. Consequently, we have made no
attempt to draw up a list of what may be described as delayed freedoms
ultimately taken up as a result of special efforts by the Court of Assistants to
eliminate this particular type of ‘‘ unfreeman,”’ but there undoubtedly were some
ccases. .

(ii.) The question of discouraging masons from obtaining their freedom
otherwise than through the Musons’ Company, became closely associated with the
problem of foreign masons at the end of the seventeenth century, if it had not
already been so associated at an earlier date. The subject may be introduced by
referring more fully to the petition which, as mentioned previously, the Masons’
Company decided in February, 1693/4, to present to the Lord Mayor, Aldermen
and Common Council. The petition is not entered in the (‘ourt Book, so we
have to rely for this part of the story on the Repertories of the Court of -
Aldermen. There we learn, under the date of 5th April, 1694, that the humble
petition of the Master, Wardens and Assistants of the Masons’ Company of
London was read. Its purport may be summarised as follows:—

After the late dreadful fire great numbers of foreign workmen resorted
hither; they could become free of the city and ‘‘ very many Masons-
floreyners for inconsiderable fines procured their freedoms of this-city " ;
some are free of other companies, not by force of the said art, and
yet use the trade of masons and refuse to be governed by the Masons’
Company. Several members of the petitioners’ company ‘‘ for some
time past have privately procured masons, firee of other companies, to
bind apprentices, especially their sons, for them, & turn them over
again unto them, but for what reasons your petitioners cannot say "’
unless it be.to avoid being governed by the charter and laws of the
Masons. These practices tend to the impoverishing and almost utter
ruin of the Masons’ Company, which is incapable of assisting poor
members and widows as heretofore, ‘‘ having now but few free of their
said company in comparison of former times, for the reasons aforesaid.”’
They ask for an Act of Common Council that all apprentices of masons
free of other companies and masons bringing up their sons in the same
trade, henceforth be presented bound and made free of the Masons’

Company; those already bound and not made free, to be made free
of the Masons.

1 On 16th October, 1700, the following entry occurs in the Court Book:—
¢ This day Jonathan Challinor was admitted unto the freedom of this company
by Order of the Court of Aldermen dated 11 Jan 1699 [1700] and one pound
sixteen shillings was remitted him because he paid the same when made a
foreign brother.” .
We cannot trace the original order making Challinor a foreign brother, but it
probab]y¢1-an like that relating to Thos. Bird on 30th August, 1692,

¢ who was this day admitted and sworn as a foreign member of the company.”
without any reference to the City authorities.
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Very similar complaints and language occur in petitions of the Joiners and
Carvers and of the Plasterers. A committee was appointed to consider the
petition, and in due course an Act was passed by the Common Council. That
Act of 11th September, 1694, which gave the Masons practically what they
wanted, is printed in Appendix D.

Cases of masons by trade who were free of other companies had
- occurred from' time to time long before the rebuilding of London after the
Great Fire led to an extension of the practice. Thus, for example, William
Suthes [Suthis], who was King’s Master Mason at Windsor from 1610 to 1625,
was a citizen and Goldsmith of London and an Assistant of that Company.!
Edward Pierce [Pearce], the sculptor and mason-contractor, belonged to the
Painter Stainers, of which his father had been a member. He was ‘‘ chosen of
the Livery’’ in 1668.2 Caius Gabriel Cibber [Cibert], the sculptor, the one
time foreman of John Stone’s workshop in Long Acre, became a Liveryman of
the Leathersellers’ Company in 1668.3 '

" Cases of non-masons in the Masons’ Company probably also existed at this
period. Referring to Masons’ Hall, Bro. Conder says ‘‘ the work of rebuilding
was done by members of the company, some of whom were carpenters by trade.”” *
We are not clear on what authority he makes this statement; in 1670 there were
amongst the Livery an Edward Ellen, a Robert Brittain and an JEdward
Sleamaker; whether these were the same as the Mr. Ellen who was paid £217
for the bricklayer’s bill, the Mr. Brittain who was paid £137 for the carpenter’s
bill, and the Mr. Sleamaker who was paid £147 for the joiner’s bill we do not
know, but it is quite possible. °

With the influx of masons and other craftsmen into London when re-
building operations became active about 1670, some at least of the more substantial
men were probably desirous of becoming freemen. On a single day in
October, 1670, thirteen were admitted to freedom by redemption, including
Nathaniel Rawlins, Thomas Gréy and William Bleay, masons.> One would
naturally expect that masons would be admitted in the Masons’ Company, but
that was by no means always the case.  Of the three just named, only Bleay
joined the Masons. Rawlins joined the Haberdashers and Grey the Cordwainers.
Another mason admitted in this way, who later, like Rawlins, rose to the front
rank in his trade, was Samuel Fulkes, who on 1st September, 1671, was admitted
to the freedom of the Haberdashers’ Company by redemption.® On what
principle, if any, foreign masons were alloted to companies when obtaining
freedom by redemption we do not know—on no principle at all, we are disposed to
think. If the List of Masons working in London, when the search of 1678 was.
made (Appendix A), id examined, it will be seen that it includes the names of

5 members of the Haberdashers’ Company (including Fulkes and Rawlins)
3 members of the Joiners’ Company

2 members of the Clothworkers’ Company

1 member of the Stationers’ Company

1 member of the Fishmongers’ Company

1 member of the Vintners’ Company

1 member of the Barber Surgeons’ Company

1 member of the Weavers’ Company ,

1 member of the Tallow Chandlers’ Compan

4.Q.c., xlii., 74.
Rachel Poole, Edward Pierce, the Sculptor (Walpole Society, 1922-3)., 33, 34.
Harald Faber, Caius Gabriel Cibber, 6 and 17.
Hole Craft, 190.

5 Repertories of the Court of Aldermen, 27th October, 1670.

¢ Information kindly supplied by the Clerk of the Company. The arder of the
Court of Aldermen is contained in the Repertories under the date 10th August, 1671.

L )
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together with that of an apprentice bound at Joiners’ Hall. Even so, the
information on the subject is not complete, for there is no entry behind the
name of Mr Sybert [Cibert or Cibber] or that of Mr Pierce, although we know
that the former was a Leatherseller and the latter a Painter Stainer.

It would be a mistake to think that all masons belonging to other
companies were necessarily hostile to the Masons' Company. The books of the
Masons' Compuany show that on 6th July, 1680, William Beard was bound to
‘“ Edward Pearce, citizen & Painter Stainer,”’ and the fee of 5s. paid. In 1685
Mr. Fulkes gave £5 towards defraying the charges of obtaining the Masons’
new charter,’ and in 1691 he lent money to the Masons’ Company.? It
would equally be a mistake to infer from the petition of 1694 that, prior to
masons joining other companies in considerable numbers after the Great Fire,
the Masons' Company experienced no difficulty in governing the trade. In
October, 1664, on the complaint of ‘‘ the Master and. Wardens of the Company
of Freemasons London ’’ that divers persons that were free of the said Company
were refractory and refused to obey the orders and ordinances of the Company,
a warrant was issued at the Old Bailey for their arrest.®

The Act of Common Council having been passed on 11th September, 1694,
the Company decided to take a census of masons working in London. This was
done on September 26th, 1694; the lengthy list, printed in Appendix C, shows
numerous foreigners and members of other companies at work as masons. The
Company’s next step was to ordeir a copy of the Act of Common Council to be
delivered ‘‘ to all that keep shop & exercise the trade of a mason’’ within the
limits of the Charter. . The following November, copies of the Act were sent to
52 companies set out by name® (see Appendix D), but whether all these
companies had one or more masons by trade amongst their members we are
unable to say. A further search was made in May, 1696, in accordance with
an order of the Court dated 14th January, 1695/6.5 It will be noted that the
record, printed in Appendix E, is much shorter than that of September, 1694,
" principally because nobody is entered as employed at St. Paul’s.®

In March, 1696/7, the Court of Assistants passed a resolution calling upon
masons working in the city who had not taken up their freedom, though entitled
to do so by service, patrimony, or in virtue of the late Act of Common Council,
to do so forthwith, and at the same time ordered masters not to employ them until
they had taken up their freedom. Several foreigners responded, including
Humphrey Highgate, late apprentice to Nathaniel Rawlins, citizen and Haber-
dasher, and John Mason, late apprentice to Samuel Fulkes, citizen and Haber-
dasher. In 1697 the Court reported seven muasons to the city authorities as
working in the city though not free, and in September, 1699, they ordered the
arrest of William Robinson (a muson by trade though not of the Company) for

1 List of Subscriptions in Court Book under date 26th October, 1685.

2 Court Book, 18th October, 1691. TFollowing the entry of Sam. Taylor being
admitted and sworn a freeman is written:—

“ Memorandum that the money for this freeman was not paid but allowed
to Mr ffulkes for money he lent the Company.”’ .

3 The Warrant is preserved by the Masons’ Company (Box 6, Bundle 46).

4 Court Book, 1677-94, fo. 169.

5 Ordered that the persons who made the last search for this company or any
three of them be a committee to repeat the same search and report what defects they
found either in stone, workmanship, persons working without being free, persons
entitled to their freedom and have not taken it up and all other matters that are
proper for this court to take cognizance of . . .

t To judge by the St. Paul's building accounts, work was going on there more
or less as usual in 1696, notwithstanding the financial crisis, and we know no reason
why St. Paul’'s was excluded from this search although included in 1678 and 1694.
Perhaps it was included but not recorded separately; in any case, it will he noted
that the apprentices of such mason-contractors as Edward Strong. Rawlins, Fulkes
and Beauchamp are included in the list without any indication as to where they were
employed.
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emyloying Joseph Vincent, a foreigner (‘‘ an unfreeman and one that did never
serve any apprenticeship to any mason whatsoever '’), and likewise of Mr. Baker,
a member of the Court, for employing Peter West, a foreigner (an ex-apprentice
who had not taken up his freedom). After a little delay, Mr. Robinson made
his submission and Mr. Baker paid the necessary 36s. fee for Peter West, who
was in due course admitted to the freedom.! On the whole, the Court’s efforts
continued to be crowned with more success than formerly, and various ex-
apprentices joined the Company by virtue of the Act of Common Council of
11th September, 1694.

(iii.) The Masons, in their efforts to preserve their monopoly of trade,
clashed with the Plasterers, whom they accused of covering up with plaster old
and defective stone work in certain public buildings, thereby preventing it from
being renewed with wrought stone. 1In The Iole Craft, references to this
quarrel are quoted from the Account Book for 1623, 1628, 1631, 1637 and 1641.2
A little more information can be obtained from an Order about the Plasterers
and Masons of 22nd November, 1637, which has been preserved amongst the
Company’s records.® In 1637 the Freemasons complained to the Privy Council
that, notwithstanding previous orders of his Majesty’s Commissioners for Buildings
prohibiting plasterers from over-laying rotten and decayed stonework in churches
and other public places with lime and hair, the plasterers. nevertheless kept
on doing it. The matter was referred to Henry Spiller, Kt., Inigo Jones,
Surveyor of H.M. Works, Alderman Garreway and Lawrence Whittaker, Com-
missioners for Buildings. They met at the Guildhall and called before them the
Plasterers and Masons. The Masons brought their complaints which were all
abundantly and clearly proved. It was also proved on the part of the Plasterers
that they had been hired and agreed with by some of the Company of Freemasons
who were undertaking the repair ‘‘ by the great’’ of the said churches. The
referees ordered that no mason or plasterer should undertake to repair any
church, chapel or public place, until at least two of H.M. Commissioners for
Buildings (of whom Inigo Jones was to be one) had specially directed and given
particular order what stonework was to be done in London and within 3 miles
from the gates. Thus it would seem that all the fault was not on the side of
the Plasterers.

(iv.) References to intermeddling are not frequent. The complaints of
the Masons against a carver named Sampson or Simpson, about 1626 or 1628,
will be found in Bro. Conder’s book and in an extract from the Kepertories of
the Court of Aldermen printed in the Appendix to Bro. Williams’s paper.? A
much later example occurred in 1697, when the Court decided.to prosecute Mr.
Richard Theobalds, by trade a carpenter, who had agreed to do the mason’s
work at the repair of the Church of St. Olave; Southwark.”

2. The search for false work.

There were two types of false work which it was the business of the
Company to try to suppress—bad workmanship and the use of defective materials.
So far as we can judge, relatively little attention was devoted to the first type.

Bro. Conder ® noted one man fined 6s. 8d. ‘ for misdoing his work ’’, two
others fined 6s. 8d. each ‘‘for faulty workmanship’’ and one occasion when
several were called before a meeting ‘‘ for defective work.” We have come

across one other case in the Accounts for 1637, where Richard Bancks was fined

v Court Bool entries of 6th September, 12th October, 18th October, 1699, and
16th January, 1699/1700.
See The Medieval Mason, 228.
Box 6, Bundle 63.
See The Medi®eval Mason, 227.
Court Book, 3rd August, 1697.
Hole Craft, 148, 151, 164.
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14s. “‘for faulty workmanship’’' about the Church of St. Botolph without
Aldgate. In going through the Court Books from 1677, we found only one
definite reference to this type of false work: the Search Committee appointed
on 14th January, 1695/6, was ordered to report what defects were found either
in stone or workmanship. On the other hand, there are more references to
search of stone in the Court Book, and the Account Bool has numerous entries
showing that the search of Purbeck, in particular, was a not unsubstantial source
of revenue to the Company, thanks to the fact that all stone arriving in London
had to be passed before it was taken away,! and that the importers concerned
had to pay a search fee. The Freemasons’ Ordinances of 1509-102 defined the
proper length, breadth and thickness of freestone, marblestone and hardstone of
Kent, and orders for the Company of Freemasons, 1580, lay down special
provisions regarding Purbeck stone and Purbeck paving, the use of which was
rapidly expanding. Ill-wrought and undersized stones were forfeited and broken
by the officials of the Company. Thus, after the general search of November,
1701, which was ordered to be made throughout_the trade ‘‘ for correction of
abuses now used therein,”’ it is reported in the Court Boolk that several Reigate
stones were broken for being too thin. A few weeks later, presumably as a
consequence of the same search, the clerk was ordered to write to various persons,
including ‘“ the marblers of Swanage’’ and Mr. Gilbert and Mr. Tobey at
Portland, with regard to the badness and undersize of the stones sent by them,
and the Company’s resolution to break the same whenever they find it.

Another general search was held in 1704, as a result of which a small
quantity of stone was broken and one or two workmen were reported for not
being free. We have not found the record of any further general search and
we are disposed to think that the trade functions of the Company may be regarded
as of relatively little importance after the close of the seventeenth century.

CLASSES OF DMASONS.

The records of the Masons’ Company, as already indicated, generally divide
masons into three classes, apart from apprentices, viz., Assistants, Liverymen and
Yeomen. They also show that various freemen of other ILondon Companies
and numerous ‘‘ foreigners '’ were at work as masons in London. Whilst this
classification throws light on the mason’s status, so far as citizenship and
administrative responsibilities are concerned, it tells us very little about their
economic position, apart from the probability that a member of the Court of
Assistants, or of the Livery, was wealthier than a member of the Yeomanry, or
he could never have paid the heavy fines and fees involved on being admitted
to the Clothing.

In the Middle Ages masons were generally grouped, according to the
operations they performed, into two principal classcs—hewers and layers. At
the head of each building operation there would be a master mason or a mason
contractor, according as the job was being done Ly ‘direct labour' or by
contract. On the bigger jobs, tuere was probably an intermediate class of
wardens or overseers. IFor the seventeenth century we can find little or no
information which will enable us to divide working masons into hewers and
layers.* A working mason is either an apprentice or a journeyman, and we
cannot get behind' these words to discover exactly what work he did. More light,

1 E.g., Thomas London was fined 6s. in 1622 ¢ for taking stone unsearched.”
Hole Crajt, 149,

2 Letter Book M., fols. 168-9. Text printed in Appendix to Bro. Williams,
4.Q.C., vol. xlv.

3 Letter Book Z., fol. 57 b. 'l'ext printed in Appendix to Bro. Williams.

4 According to a Winchester Palace Contract of 1683 the contractors were
required to employ so many ‘' masons and setters’’ and so many ‘' sawyers and
labourers.”” [Wren Society, vii., 37.]
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however, is available regarding what we may call the business end of the stone-
building industry. The ‘‘direct lubour’’ system, so common in the Middle
Ages,! was rapidly disappearing. The erection > of the Banqueting House in
Whitehall in 1619-22 is one of the last cases of its kind with which we are
acquainted in London; the contract system was almost universal there in the
seventeenth century. Tf the fourteenth century was the age of great Master
‘Masons end Masters of the Works, such as Walter of Hereford and Henry
Yevele, the later seventeenth century was the age of great mason-contractors,
such as Joshua Marshall, the Strongs, the Wises and the Kempsters.

In addition to the mason-contiractors, on the one hand, and the journcymen
and apprentices on the other, three classes of masons—‘‘ shopkeepers,’’ stone
merchants and. overseers—can be distinguished, though the classes are by mno
means mutually exclusive and some masons discharged more than one function
simultaneously. ~ With this reservation in mind, we propose to discuss the
London Mason under the six following headings:—(1) ‘‘ Shopkeepers '’ including
Statuaries; (2) Stone Merchants; (3) Overseers and Foremen; (4) Contractors;
(6) Journeymen; {(6) Apprentices.

»

1. ““Shopleepers’’ and Statuaries.

At a meeting of the Court of Assistants of the Masons’ Company held on
17th September, 1686, when every member was taxed towards raising money for
the payment of a debt, the following scale was fixed upon:—

For Members of the Court, each £1.10. 0
For Liverymen 1. 5.0 -
- For Shopkeepers 0.15. 0
Others of the Yeomanry 0.10. 0

’

This scale, considered by itself, would seem to imply that ‘‘ Shopkeepers
part of the Yeomanry; but we are satisfied from other evidence that. members of
the Court and of the Livery frequently had shops or yards, whilst Yeomen
seldom had. From the Company’s point of view, however, they were considered
as Assistants or Liverymen and assessed as such at 30/- or 25/-, and only Yeomen
keeping shops were treated as ‘* Shapkeepers '’ assessed at 15/-. For our present
purpose, however, we can ignore the Company’s classification and turn our attention
to all masons who kept shops, regardless of their status in the Company.
In the Court Book, immediately before the record of the General Search
of April, 1678, there occurs the following entry:—
Money received of several persons upon Account of a search made at
their several houses.
Then follows a list of 29 names (see Appendix A) which, on the one hand,
includes some names which do not appear in the more comprehensive record of
the general search immediately following, e.g., the names of Mr. Strong and Mr.
Kempster, and, on the other hand, omits several names, e.g., those of Mr. Latham
and Mr. Thompson,® who do appear in the list of the general search, and were
certainly contractors, if not shopkeepers. The majority of the men whose names
appear among the twenty-nine were Assistants or Liverymen of the lasons’
Company,* a few were members of other companies® and the others we cannot
trace. In any case, their names are not in the Lists of Assistants, Liverymen
and Yeomen for 1676, nor do they appear to have been admitted to the Company

1 See The Medival Mason, chapter iii.

2 See Public Record Office, Declared A/cs., No. 3391.

3 For Strong, Kempster, Latham and Thompson see helow.

4 Wm, Hamond, Thos. Strong, Jme. Young, sen., Thos. Cartwright, Thos. Wise,
Abraham Story and Wm. Stanton were Assistants; Wm. Payne, Chris. Kempster, Jno.
ffetch, Rob. Beadles, Peter Powell, Edw. Mitchell, Peter Roberts and Dan. Norris were
Liverymen

5 Mr Sybert [Cibert] was a Leatherseller. Mr [Nicholas] Lampen a Haber-
dasher, Mr. [Edw.] Pierce a Painter Stainer.

were -



The London Mason in the Seventeenth Century. 23

between 1676 and 1678. We can only conclude, therefore, that they were either
freemen of other companies or foreigners.! We are not satisfied, however, that
all the Assistants and Liverymen included amongst the twenty-nine could be
described as ‘‘ Shopkeepers,’”’ although search is stated to have been made at
their houses. That might in some cases have been for apprentices, who probably
lived with their masters, rather than for workmen actually employed on the
premises. Thus we doubt whether either Thomas Strong or Christopher Kempster
kept a ““ shop’’ in London, though there is some ground for thinking that ‘‘ St.
Bennet Paules Wharfe '’ listed in the search was Thomas Strong's wharf,® in
which case, us two masons were apparently employed there, some stone may have
been dressed at the wharf. .

Whilst we cdn trace no Yeoman of the Company amongst the twenty-nine,
we have found two who were apparently ‘“ Shopkeepers '’ when the general search
was made in 1678, viz., Mr. Robert Smith,® and Mr. Lathum,! the former of
whom employed one man and the latter three. To judge by the Search of
1678, the biggest establishment, as distinct from a contracting job, appears to
have been that of Mr. Stanton, at whose ‘‘ house and yard’ nine men were
employed. In the search of 1694 (Appendix C) eight men were employed ‘‘at

1 The ‘“ Mr Kerne ' at whose house a search was made on 16th April was
presumably the same as the Mr Andrew Kerne, who was one of the foreigners
appearing before the Court on 25th April. Andrew Kerne, a German sculptor [then
written Andreas Kearnes], married Nicholas Stone's sister in 1627 and did some work
for Stone. In the Masons’ Account Book for 1628-29, under the heading ‘ old debts,’
there is an entry ‘‘ Andreas Kerne, iiis. vid.,”” which presumably represented arrears
of a foreign mason’s contributions to the Common-box. It is not inconceivable. that
the ‘‘Mr Kerne’” was the same man, though he would be over 70 in 1678. He
might be a son, though the only son who has been traced was named Thomas (see
Spiers, Nicholas Stone, 31). The ¢ Mr Mathews’’ at whose house a search was made
was very possibly the ‘“ Mr Mathews, Londoner ’’ to whose rates for Ketton stone
Sir Roger Pratt refers in a memorandum of July, 1663. (Gunther, 223.)

2 In July, 1691, when Edward Strong jun. was apprenticed to his father,
Edward Strong sen. -is described as mason and citizen of London of Bennet Paules
Wharfe, and it is likely that he succeeded to his brother Thomas’s wharf as well as to
his contracts at the time of his death. On the other hand, Thomas Strong is said to
have begun the church of St. Bennet, Paul's Wharf, in 1677 (Clutterbuck 1., 168 n.),
so that it may be the church which is referred to in the search.

3 Robert Smith, son of Luke Smith of East Greenwich, .Kent, gentleman, was
apprenticed to Abraham Story 10th January, 1664/5, and made free 16th January,
1671/2. His name appears in the Yeomanry List of 1676 and in the Assistants List
of 1696. The search of 1694 (Appendix C.) shows that Mr. Robert Smith in Pell Mell
emploved two apprentices and four journevmen. At the search of 1696 (Appendix E)
he had two apprentices and three journeymen. His name appears in the Assistants
List of 1698 with ¢ mort’ behind it.

4 Jasper Latham [Lathum], whose name appears in the Yeomanry List of 1663,
still belonged to that grade in the spring of 1678, as it was not until October. 1678,
that, at his own request, he came on to the Livery and Court of Assistants. He was
the mason-contractor at the rebuilding of St. Mildred, Poultry, 1670-79, receiving
£2.910 in cash and Portland stone to the value of €824 in part payvment. (Weaver,
18.) In the 1680’s he was one of the mason-contractors at St. Paul’s. (Halley, 57.)
E. Beresford Chancellor (Lives of the British Sculptors, 71) describes him as ‘‘an
obscure sculptor ”’ who executed work at Wilton and erected a white marble monument
(in conjunction with one Boune) in Croydon Church teo Archbishop Sheldon (died 1667). -
(His authority is Walpole, Anecdotes of Painting, where it is stated the monument
was ‘‘ by Latham, the City Architect, and Boune.””) An apprentice named Jas. Burne,
son of Thos. Burne, of Madeley, Staffordshire, mason, was bound to Latham on
29th July, 1668, and it' is possible that he, or his father, was the ‘ Boune’ of ‘the
Sheldon monument. TLatham was Warden of the Masons’ Company in 1689, and an
apprentice was bound to him on June 25th of that year. He is said to have died
about 1690. (Halley, 58.) Tt 1is conceivable that he was the Jasper Latham
apprenticed to James Gilder in 1620-21, but is more likely to have been a son of
that Jasper. On the other hand, notwithstanding an apprentice being bound to him
in 1689, it is possible that he was Gilder’s late apprentice, and consequently over 80
years of age in 1689, for Wren in January. 1689/90 ‘‘ objects against Mr Latham for a
madman >’ in connection with a certificate relating to some new building at Hampton
Court. (Cal. Treasury Books. 1689-92, p. 355.) If this was our Jasper Latham as
we think probable, possibly his faculties were by then impaired, although previously
lll)e l;ad worked as a mason-contractor under Wren at St. Paul’s and at St. Mildred’s

oultry.
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Mr Stanton’s shop in Holborn,”’ so that he was still one of the biggest men, if
not the biggest man, in his line.! Other ‘‘ Shopkeepers’’ in 1678 were Abraham
Story? who employed eight men, Mr. Pierce® and Mr. Sybert® who employed
five men each, Mr. Thompson® four men, Mr. Wyman three men, Mr. Tuffnell
and Mr. Edgerly two men each, besides several who employed one man each. The
List of the Search has been so printed in Appendix A as to reproduce, as nearly as
possible, the lay-out as it appears in the Court Book—apart from certain foot-
notes which we have added by way of explanation. The same is true of the List
relating to the Search of September, 1694 (Appendix C) and the Search of May,
1696 (Appendix 13).  Exactly how some of the lines are to be read, we cannot
'say with certainty. We have re-examined the original when in doubt, but would
not like to assert that our interpretation is always correct.

1 Most information concerning the three generations of Stantons connected with
the Masons’ Company is contained in Mrs. Esdaile’s paper,, ‘' The Stantons of
Holborn,”” Arch. Journal, vol. 85, 1928. In particular, she has utilised the Stanton
MS.. written by Edward Stanton, preserved among John Le Neve’s MSS. (B.M.
Harl. MSS. 3605-16) which served as a basis for his Monumenta Anglicana. We rely

chiefly on Mrs. Esdaile, supplemented by the Masons’ Company records and Wren
Soc., x. and xi. :

Thomas Stanton, late apprentice of Christopher Kingsfield, was made free of
the Masons’ Company 1lst February, 1630/1; he was Warden in 1658 and Master in
1660. He was a monumental mason, his best known work probably being a tomb, for
Dame Jane Bacon, erected in Culford Church, Suffolk, in 1657-8, for which he received
£300 f[fliii‘it' MNS. Comm. Verulam MSS., p. 54]. He died 24th May, 1674, at the
age of 64. :

William Stanton, born 6th April, 1639, son of Edward Stanton, was apprenticed
to his uncle, Thomas Stanton, and was made free of the Masons’ Company
on 30th June, 1663. He . was admitted to the Livery on 22nd June, 1668,
and to the Court of Assistants during the year 1674-75. He was Warden in 1681
and 1684, and Master in 1688 and 1689. He erected numerous monuments and mural
tablets. Some of his letters regarding the Hatton monuments are preserved in the
B.M. and are printed by Mrs. lisdaile. His agreement to erect the Sherburne altar
tombs, for £253, is printed in Whitaker, History of Whalley. 1In the 1680’s he was
the mason-contractor at the building of Belton House, near Gainsborough, for which
he received £4,921.6.6. [¢f. Lady Elizabeth Cust, Records of the Cust Family, Second
Series, 1909, p. 145]. He was associated with Edward Pierce in the mason’s contract
of 1684 for rebuilding St. Andrew’s Holborn for a sum of £4,050 [Wren Soc., x., 95-98].
At the time of the 1696 Search (Appendix E) he appears to have employed only three
apprentices. e died 30th May, 1705.

Edward Stanton was apprenticed to his father, William Stanton, 19th June,
1694, and was made free of the Masons’ Company 15th June, 1702. He was Warden
in 1718 and 1716 and Master in 1719. In the ten years after his father’s death, in
1705, he produced over 140 monuments, according to his own statement incorporated
in Le Neve, so that the shop in Holborn must have been exceedingly busy.  That
continued to be his place of business for many years, for when his second wife died,
in 1730, the St. James’ Evening Post referred to him as ‘“ Mr. Stanton, a great stone-
cutter by St. Andrew’s Church, Holborn.” Like his father, he executed masonry
contracts in addition to his monumental work, being masonry contractor at West-
minster Abbey and at Westminster School at various dates between 1722 and 1733
Wren Soc., xi., 28, 30, 43, 44]. His first wife, who died in October, 1712, was a
aughter of Sumuel Fulkes (see below). He was still alive in 1737.

2 Abraham Story worked at London Bridge in October, 1652, at a wage of
18d. a day, which was the rate commonly paid in respect of an apprentice, so that it
is not improbable that he was bound to Henry Wilson, the chief bridge mason. He
was admitted to the Livery of the Masons' Company in 1662-3. In the same year he
received £39 for stone supplied to St. James’s Palace. (Harl. MS., 1657.) He was
paid £2,884 for the masons’ work at St. Edmund the King, 1670-79, and £1,632 for
the masons' work at St. Peter’s, Cornhill, 1677-87. [Weaver.| He apparently had
a contract at St. Paul’s in April, 1678, as the search of April 22nd (Appendix A.)
shows that he was employing 20 men there. 'We have failed to trace his name in
the St. Paul’s Adccounts for 1677-78, and think it likely that he was acting on behalf
of Joshua Marshall’'s executors, Marshall having died on April-16th. Subsequently
Edward Pierce took over Marshall’s work [Halley], but at least until September,
1678, Marshall’s executors were paid for materials and workmanship at St. Paul’s. and
Abraham Story may well have been their deputy or overseer. Story was Warden of
the Masons’ Company in 1673 and 1677 and Master in 1680. He died about 1696.
[Quarterage Book.]

3 For Pierce, Sybert and Thompson, see below.
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Unfortunately, not very much information is availuble concerning the
character of the work executed in the masons’ ‘* shops.”” If the ‘‘ shopkeepers ™’
took building contracts, some of the necessary stonework may well have been
prepared in the shops; there was probably also an market in dressed stones of
" standard sizes, as well as a demand for more elaborate finished articles such as
chimney-pieces and monuments. The Marblers’ Company having been merged in
the Freemasons’ Company in 1585 ! some of the leading tomb makers and statuaries
were undoubtedly members of the Masons’ Company in the seventeenth century
and no hard and fast line, apparently, was drawn between masons on the one
hand and sculptors and statuaries on the other. A leading sculptor such as
Nicholas Stone more than once acted as master mason, whilst KXdward Pierce, like
Jasper Latham, combined a large business as a building-contractor with his work
as statuary, and the same was true of Joshua Marshall.

Although Nicholas Stone, as a very prominent sculptor and tomb maker
in the first half of the seventeenth century, can hardly be regarded as typical of
his class,? yet his career is deserving of study on account of the light it throws
on the organisation of the mason’s trade during the period.® 1lis first important
contract after he had established himself in Long Acre in 1613 was in June, 1614,
and during the next twenty-seven or twenty-eight years he executed and erected
numerous monuments, tombs, tablets, chimneypieces, etc., in various parts of the
.country.* In one of his earliest commissions, the Northampton monument in
Dover Castle, for which he received £500, he toock Isaac James, his former master,
as partner; in the same year, 1615, he colluborated with ‘M. Janson of
Southwork '’ in setting up for £400 a tomb for Mr. Sutton in the Chapel of the
Charterhouse. These are the only cases of partnership or collaboration which we
have traced; at a later period Stone made not infrequent use of sub-contractors
for part of his work, but there can really be no question that throughout his active
career as ‘‘ carver and tomb-maker '’ (to quote his description from an agreement
of 1628) he must have employed various apprentices and journeymen in his shop
in Long Acre to do the bulk of his work. He appears to have had two apprentices

1 Letter DBook, etc., fol. 57, printed in Appendix to Bro. Williams.

2 Edward Marshall (see below), another prominent tomb-maker who was some
ten years Stone’s junior, also had a large practice (see D.N.I.), but, so far as we are.
aware, less is known about his transactions, and we can form no opinion as to the
relative importance of the undertakings of Stone and Marshall.

3 His Note Book enumerating the monuments and other work which he did
from 1614 to 1641 and his Account Book giving financial and opher information from
1631 to 1642, have heen printed by the Walpole Society (vol. vii., 1919) with an
introduction and notes by W. L. Spiers. This volume is our chief source of informa-
tion concerning him. We have also referred to the Masons’ Company’s records, Mrs.
Esdaile’s article on him in The Architect, 8th July, 1921, and Bro. Williams’ paper
The King's Master Masons in 4.Q.C., vol. xliii., 110 seq.

Nicholas Stone is said to have been born at Woodbury, near Ixeter, in 1586.
He served two years of his apprenticeship and one year as journeyman with Isaac
James, a London monumental mason, to whom he had presumably been ¢ turned over ”’
from some other London mason. From 1607 to 1613 he worked in Amsterdam with
Hendrik de Keyser, whose daughter he married in April, 1613. Tn the civil marriage
register he is described as Nicholas Stone of Exeter, England, sculptor; his father’s
consent was attested by the Vicar of Sidbury, Devon. This association with Sidbury,
together with the fact that at least two of his apprentices came from Sidbury, suggests
to us the possibility that he was born at Sidbury, and not at Woodbury, where the
researches of Mr. Spiers have not led to any very satisfactory confirmation of George
Vertue's statement about his place and date of birth. Shortly after his wedding
he returned to London and took premises in Long Acre. In order to set up
in trade he probably at once took up his freedom of the Masons’ Company; in any
case, in a receipt of 2nd November, 1615. he is described as citizen and freemason of
London. The fact that one of his apprentices, John Spicer, was admitted to the
freedom of the Company in 1622-23 points to Stone being a member of the Company
by 1613, or at the latest by 1614, as otherwise he would have had one apprentice too
many in 1620. He was Warden in 1627 and 1630 and served as Master in 1633 and
'1631464" His active career as a mason appears to have ceased about 1642, and he died
in 1647,

4 A complete list. arranged geographically, will be found in Spiers, 148-150.
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from 1620 onwards (to which he would be entitled as a Liveryman) and three
apprentices: from 1630 onwards, for some years at least (to- which he would be
entitled when he had served the office of Warden twice). In the Company’s
books, we can partly trace ten of his apprentices between 1619 and 1638, and
to judge by the dates of their indentures it would seem possible that about 1630
he had five at once. As the Masons’ Ordinances of 1521, provided that
a mason who had twice served the office of Warden was entitled to three
apprentices but no more, the presumption is that two of the five apprentices in
question had died, or had their indentures cancelled, or had heen ‘‘ turned over
to some other master.> The only evidence we have regarding the extent of his staff
in Long Acre is that provided by his will? made in January, 1640/1, when he
was no longer as busy as he had been. By that will, he gave to his servants,
Robert Parke,’ Thomas Morlin, Anthonie Ellis,® Iisias Usher,” 20s. each and
to every other servant 2s. 6d. each at'the discretion of his wife. He also gave to
Nicholas Hill,® ‘“my poor boy servant and godchild,”” £10 to be paid him at
the expiration of his apprenticeship, provided he served out his time faithfully
and well. Thus at the beginning of 1641, Nicholas Stone had a staff of at least
five, of whom we know for certain that two were apprentices.

With regard to his having work done for him by sub-contract, his Account
Book contains various agreements of this nature. During the period 1632-42
he contracted for I{umphrey Mayer® [Moyer] to finish an effigy, for Anthony-
Goor 1° and Harry Ackers!! to carve cornerstones and achievements, for Richard

1 Letter Book N., fols. 175 b, seq., printed in The Medicwval Mason, 256-8.

2 [.g., one of the five was John Netherclyffe, son of John Netherclyffe, late of
the city of Westminster, Bricklayer, deceased, bound to Nicholas Stone 10th October,
1626, for seven years from Christmas then following. In his case we are disposed to
think that the indentures were cancelled after a probationary period, as on 24th June,
1627, John Nethercliffe, son of John Nethercliffe late of the Parish of St. Martin's in
the Fields, County Middlesex, Bricklayer, was apprenticed to John Lea for seven years,
and it was John Nethercliffe, late apprentice of John Lea, who was admitted to the
freedom on 3rd July, 1634.

3 Printed in Spiers, 144-147.

4 We are disposed to think that Robert Parke was the same as Rahert Pooke,
whose name occurs frequently in Stone’s Account Book from 1632 onwards as a man
with whom Stone entered into agreements or bargains. We cannot trace the name of
either Parke or Pooke in the Company’s records, but that is no proof that he was not
a member, as the records are very imperfect from 1619 to 1663.

5 We lknow nothing of Morlin, but assume he was a journeyman as his name
appears before that of the apprentice Ellis.

6 Anthony Ellis was apprenticed to Nicholas Stone in 1634-35. He was a witness
to agreements of Stone in 1638 and 1639 and to his will in 1640/1. He was in the
employ of John Stone about 1652 after the death of Nicholas Stone. When the
Quarterage Book opens in 1663, we find him a member of the Yeomanry. Thomas
Vaughan was bound to him as apprentice on 6th February, 1663/4. He was invited
to join the Clothing in September, 1667, but apparently did not accept, as his name
continues to appear amongst the Yeomanry until 1671, when the word ‘‘ dead’ is
written behind it.

7 We cannot trace Usher, but as his name appears last, after that of the
apprentice Ellis, we are disposed to think that he also was an apprentice.

8 We think it not unlikely that Nicholas Hill was the same as John Hill, son
of Christopher Hill, late of Siseter, Gloucestershire, husbandman, who was bound
to Nicholas Stone on 4th July, 1638, for eight years from the previous Christmas. The
name Nicholas Hill appears in the Quarterage Book amongst the Livery in 1663, 1664
and 1665, *‘ dead ”’ being written behind his name in 1665.

9 Humphrey Mayer, late apprentice of Thos. Kingfield, was admitted to the
freedom of the Masons’ Company in January, 1626/7, and to the Livery in 1633-34.
He was Warden in 1645 and 1649 and Master in 1653. He apparently died before
1663, as his name does not appear in the Quarterage Book commencing that year.

10 Anthony Goor [Gower. Goar, Gore] owed a debt of 1lls. to the Masons’
Company in 1621-22 and of 5s. in 1624-25, in which year Charles Taylor, son of Henry
Taylor, was apprenticed to him. An un-named apprentice was bound to him in 1636-37.

11 Ackers we cannot trace.
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White ! to carve one effigy and John Hargrave 2 two effigies, for Jan Schoerman 3
to carve an achievement, for Andrew Kerne* to carve two figures, and for Robert
‘Flower ° on several occasions to polish marble. Most of the bargains and agree-
ments were with Robert Pooke for working, polishing, or setting up masonry, and
we feel that he was in a different position from those previously mentioned to
whom work was given out only on odd occasions; we are disposed to think that
Pooke was regularly employed by Stone, being sometimes by agreement paid piece
wages of so much per foot for polishing, or task wages of so much per tomb for
setting up a monument, frequently at a considerable distance from London. We
think he was probably the same as the Robert Parke described as one of his
servants in his will.

Nicholas Stone’s activities were by no means limited to the tomb-making
and carving business in Long Acre. He served from 1619 to 1622 as master
mason under Inigo Jones at the erection of the Banqueting llouse in Whitehall,
and probably in the same capacity under the same architect at the erection of
the portico at the West End of Old St. Paul's in 1633. He acted as
architect or surveyor at the erection of three gateways to the Physic Garden,
Oxford, in 1632-33, at the building of Cornbury House, Oxfordshire, in 1632-33,
where Timothy Strong, of Little Barrington and Taynton, was probably the mason-
contractor,® and at the rebuilding of the Goldsmith’s Hall, London, in 1634. In
1626 he was appointed Master Mason and Architect for Windsor Castle, and in
1632 he was further appointed Master Mason to the Tower and other places in
England. As King’s Master Mason he supplied stone to Windsor Castle and
executed certain works there as well as others at Somerset House, Oatlands and
Greenwich.. When carrying out work at these royal residences, and at Oxford
and Cornbury, he appears to have employed his cousin Gabriel Stacey either to
supervise the work for which he was responsible, or occasionally to execute the
work as a sub-contractor. Thus, like some distinguished predecessors and
successors, he managed hy one means or another to fulfil several functions at the
same time.

At Nicholas Stone’s death in 1647, the trade and premises in Long Acre
‘were inherited by his sons Henry Stone (died 1653) and John Stoie (died 1667),
and they provide us with an example of how the sculptor's profession could be
sufficiently commercialised to be conducted by persons who were not brought up
to the business, Ilenry Stone having been trained as a painter and John Stone
having been educated for the Church. John Stone, who supplied various
monuments between 1653 and 1660, appears to have employed Anthony Ellis, his
father’s former apprentice, as a workman and C. G. Cibber,” the sculptor, as his
foreman. On one occasion at least, in 1652, Henry and John Stone employed
Thomas Burman ® to finish some work for them.

1 Richard White was bound apprentice to Nicholas Stone in 1629-30. We can-
not trace when he became free (no names are given in the Account Book for 1637-38),
but he was doubtless out of his time when in October, 1638, he agreed to carve a lady
in white marble for £15. His name appears amongst the Yeomanry in the lists of
1663, 1664 and 1665, with ‘‘ dead ’’ behind it in 1665.
2 Hargrave we cannot trace.
3 Said, on authority of George Vertue. to have been born at Embden in the
Low Countries and to have executed certain monuments in England. (Spiers, 34.)
4 Andrew Kerne [Andreas Kerne] a German sculptor who married Stone’s sister;
executed some work in Tmngland. (Spiers, 34.)
5 Robert Flower was not a member of the Masons’ Company if we may judge
by the following item from the Company’s books:— '
Bernard Flower, son of Robert Flower of the Parish of St. Martin's in the
fields, Co. Middlesex, ‘‘ pollisher,” .apprenticed for 6 years from 14 Oct. 1638
to Robert Gardiner.
6 Clutterbuck. History of Hertford. i.. 167 n. Timothy Strong was the grand-
father of Thomas and Edward Strong (see below). -
7 See below. ;
8 Thomas Burman was bound apprentice to Edward Marshall in 1632-33. His
name appears amongst the Livery from 1663 to 1671. John Bushnell, the. sculptor. is
said to have been his pupil. He died on March 17th. 1673/4, aged 56 vears. (Spiers. 27.)
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After the death of John Stone in 1667, Cibber ! became his own master,
and one of his first steps appears to have been to become a Liveryman of the
Leathersellers’ Company in 1668, presumably in order to acquire the freedom of
the city 2 and the right to carry on his trade, as it is doubtful whether a sculptor
would be covered by the Statute for the Rebuilding of London. Why he chose
the Leathersellers when his former master John Stone had been a Liveryman of
the Masons’ Company, we do not know. As a mason-sculptor he executed various
works in London, e.g., on the Fire Monument, at the Royal Exchange, at St.
Paul’s, and in different parts of the country, e.g., at Cambridge, Chatsworth and
Hampton Court. In 1693 he was appointed Sculptor in Ordinary to the King,
but, however distinguished he might be as an artist, it would be a mistake to
think of him as a sculptor working at his profession in his studio; there can be
no question that he employed journeymen and kept a ‘‘ shop '’ as Nicholas Stone
had done before him, but with considerably less financial success, as he was
frequently in monetary difficulties, making various and prolonged visits to the
debtors’ prison at Marshalsea in Southwark. The only definite picture we get
of his shop is at the general search of April, 1678. Cibber [written Sybert in
the Court Book] was then employing five men, of whom two definitely, and
all possibly, were aliens: Salvator Musco, ‘‘ an Italian,”” Henry de Young, ‘‘ a
Dutchman,’’ James Berger, alias Sheppard, Michel Losnitz and Hinrich Brochamp.
Three years later, when he was at work on the statues for Trinity College,
Cambridge, two sums of £5.18.11 and £12.3.3 were spent for the keep of Mr.
Gabriel Cibber and his men,® but there is nothing to show how many journeymen
he employed. On the other hand, so far as we know, his work was limited to
carving and statuary and he undertook no general masonry work. In that respect,
he differed from five other seventeenth century sculptors, Nicholas Stone, Joshua
Marshall, William Stanton, Jasper Latham and Edward Pierce. The only
occasion on which he appears to have forsaken sculpture, so far as we are aware,
was when he acted as architect for the Danish Church in Wellclose Square in 1694.

Edward Pierce [Pearce]" as a sculptor is best known for his portrait
busts, and, so far as we are aware, he did not execute any of the large decorated
tombs which were so fashionable in his day. Nevertheless, he appears to have

! Our chief source of information is Harald Faber, Caius Gabriel Cibber, 1630-

1700, His Life and Work. ) :
- Caius Gabriel Cibber [Cibbert, Cibert] was the son of a Danish cabinet maker
and was born at Flensborg, Slesvig, in 1630. Having probably worked as a boy with
his father, he was sent as a youth of seventeen to Italy, where he studied for several
years. Thence he appears to have travelled to Holland and came into contact with
Peter de Keyser, the sculptor and architect, and brother-in-law of John Stone. Thus
he probably came in touch with John Stone, in whose shop in Long Acre he worked
first as a journeyman and then as foreman. It is not known definitelv when he
reached London, but it was some time before the Restoration. His independent
career as a mason-sculptor lasted from 1667 till his death in 1700. He was the father
of Colley Cibber.

2 In a legal document of 1678 he is described as a citizen and Leatherseller of
the City of London.

0 3 Willis and Clark, Architectural Ilistory of the University of Cambridge, ii.,
542 n.

* See Mrs. Rachel Poole," Edward Pierce the Sculptor, Walpole Society, vol. xi.,
1922-23, and Mrs. Esdaile’s article in The Architect, 2nd September, 1921.

Edward Pierce, born about 1630, was the son of Edward Pierce senior, a painter
of decorative designs for ceilings and a member of the Painter Stainers’ Company.
Nothing is known as to how, or from whom, he learnt his art. He was ‘‘ chosen of
the Livery ’ of the Painter Stainers’ Company in 1668, not having previously been a
member. ~ Mrs. Poole states that he died in March, 1694/5; Mrs. Esdaile that he
died in 1698, a date apparently accepted by the Editors of the Wren Society.
(See frontispiece of vol. x.) We feel doubtful whether he could have died in March,
1694/5, because in an entry in the Masons' Freedom Book under date of Sth July,
1695, when Wm. Ives, a former apprentice of Pierce, was admitted to the freedom,
Edward Pierce is described as  citizen and painter stainer of London,” and not as

‘“ late citizen .and painter stainer of London deceased,” as would normally have heen
the case were he already dead.
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employed four men at his house in 1694,' so that he had quite a substantial
shop, apart from which he was responsible, either independently or in
partnership, for several not inconsiderable masonry contracts.? Of all this
work the only part which seems definitely to have been carving was that at
Hampton Court. In all the other cases he appears to have been the building
contractor for the masoury.

2. Stone Merchants.

Various kinds of stone were used in London in the seventeenth
century. The tomb-makers, if we may judge by Nicholas Stone, used alabaster
(doubtless obtained from Nottinghamshire and Derbyshire), various kinds of
marble (including statuary marble probably procured from Italy and black marble
or Touch, shipped from Amsterdam), and, in a few instances, freestone. For his
domestic work, as distinct from his monuments, Nicholas Stone used black and
white marbles, Purbeck marble, Portland stone, Taynton and Headington stones
from Oxfordshire, Reigate stone from Surrey, Ketton stone from Rutland and
Kentish stone.®? Most of Cibber’s works are in freestone or Portland stone.*

As far as general masonry is concerned, there can be no question that large
amounts of Purbeck stone and Purbeck paving were being imported into London
in the seventeenth century. This stone had become so popular-in the later
sixteenth century as to necessitate special regulations being approved in 1580,°
whilst the ‘‘ search of Purbeck ’’ was so important from a financial point of view
as to be entered separately in the Masons’ Account Book, even though details
were not always given. For the 1650’s, however, particulars are available, and
they show that.a Mr. Henry Wilson ¢ was the principal dealer in Purbeck stone.
In the eleven years from 1650-51 to 1660-61 inclusive, the Company received no
less than £58.17.87 in search fees from Henry Wilson, which, at the rate of

1 See General Search of September, 1694, Appendix C.

2 He worked on the Guildhall 1671-73 (£662) [Guildhall Lib. MS., 184], St.
Lawrence Jewry 1671-81 (£7,586) and St. Matthew, Friday Street, 1682-87 (£710)
[Weaver], built the stone-work of St. Clement Danes 1680-82, i partnership with John
Shorthose (£3,200 [Wren Society, x., 108], erected St. Andrew’s Holborn, 1684, in
partnership with William Stanton (£4,050) [Wren Society, x., 95], held mason's con-
tracts for South side of St. Paul’s from about 1679 to 1690 [Halley, 57, 58]. and did
various items of carving at Hampton Court Gardens in the early 1690°s (£2,003) [Wren
Society, iv., 32.] 3

8 Spiers, 18.

4 Faber, 41. .

5 Letter-Book Z., fol. 57 b, printed in Appendix to paper of Bro. Williams.

6 Henry Wilson was apprenticed to William Wilson (Master in 1625-26) in 1619-
20, was admitted to the freedom on 22nd January, 1626/7, and to the Livery in 1631.
He was Warden in 1642 and 1647 and Master in 1649 and 1655. He died during the
year 1660-61, as is shown in the Account Book. In addition to his business as stone
merchant he was chief mason at London Bridge, in any case in the later years of his
life. The Bridge Accounts show that he held that position from the opening of the
Accounts on October 9th, 1652, until 16th February, 1660-61. his normal remuneration
being 11/- a week plus a quarterly fee of 20/-. The Accounts show that his apprentice
Thos. Knight (free 12th November, 1663) commenced working with him at the Bridge
in the week ending 18th October, 1656, the value of his services at that time being
reckoned as 1s. 6d. per day. At the opening of the Account, a Wm Hamon was one
of the masons at the Bridge at 1s. 6d. per day, and we think it not unlikely that he
was a previous apprentice whom as Wm. Hammond we find as a prominent stone
merchant in 1680. (See below.) On one occasion, at least. Wilson acted as masonry
contractor, succeeding Thomas Kifford, on the latter's death in 1635 or 1636. at the
repair of St. Christopher’s Church, being paid £123 for completing the work. [F.
Freshfield, Accomptes of the Churchwardens of the Paryshe of St. Christofer's in-
London, 1575 to 1662, pp. 80, 82.]

7 The yearly sums were as follows: —

1650-51 : £4. 2. 0 1655-56 : £4.16. 0
1651-52 412. 0 1656-57 : 6.14. 4
1652-53 : 6.11. 0 1657-58 : 6.13. 4
1653-54 : 3.13. 4 1658-59 : 5.16. 8
1654-55: 7.19. 0 1659-60 no entry

1660-61: £8.0. 0
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4d. per 100 ft. charged for the search, is equivalent to 353,300 ft., or something
over 32,000 ft. per annum. During the same period the whole of the remaining
receipts in respect of the search of Purbeck amounted to £6.1.2' equivalent to-
24,350 ft. or some 2,000 ft. per annum. That Mr. Henry Wilson also dealt in
Portland stone is shown by some entries made by Nicholas Stone, junior, in his.
Diary.2 On 13th November, 1646, he writes that Mr. Henry Wilson of Petticoat
Lane had shipped 30 tons of Portland stone to Amsterdam, to his uncle Hendrik
de Keyser, and that he was to have a third part of the profit. Between March
and June, 1647, Stone acted as agent between Wilson and Mr. Harris, church
warden of St. Martin’s in the Fields parish, for the delivery of Portland and
Purbeck stone at the church, his commission apparently being 4d. per foot.®
Mention must also be made of one other activity of Henry Wilson, namely, his
position as Master. Mason at London Bridge, probably an advisory post at this.
period, which he held for several years immediately prior to kLis death.

For general purposes, Portland stone must have been much more important
than Purbeck, and part of a.memorandum on the subject by Sir Roger Pratt,
the architect, dated 10th July, 1663, may be quoted *':—

Mem. concerning Portland stone from M* Gibds quarry.

The king is lord of the soil there. -Each servant pays him 3d.
an acre yearly for quit rent. Each ton of stone which is carried from
there pays 12d. viz. 6d. to the constable of the island and 6d. to the-
steward.

In the time of Inigo Jones, and so now, stone is prohibited to-
be exported from there without the licence of the king’s surveyor under
the pretenses of spoiling the piece there and of enhancing the price of
the stone. ‘

Stone there of 3 several quarries, the one full of shells which
are so sharp and hard that they spoil all tools.- One other of a softer
and browner stone. A third called the king’s quarry which is the
hardest greatest and whitest stone, which is likewise the best.

Stone in the island about 10d. per foot solid put on board ship
in blocks. Portage to London about 8s. per ton® in vessels from
Weymouth, he standing to all hazards. Served unto the freemasons.
ordinarily at 20s. the ton, sometimes 22s. or 24s. Ashlar thick from
7 inches to 10. Delivered in London at 12d. per foot.

.

Masons in Chilmarke Thomas Swite, Richard Masy.
In Portland Christopher Gibbs, Switzer overseer for the king there,
ete.

1 The details are as follows:—Mr. Ben Richardson 6s., Mr. Richardson and.
Mr. Cartwright 7s. 8d., Mr. Switzer £2.3.6, Mr. Drewe, £2.1.0, Mr. Drewe and Mr.
Switzer 16s., Robert Bridges 7s. For [Thomas] Cartwright and |Stephen] Switzer,
see below. [William] Drew, made free 1n 1639-40, an Assistant from 1663 (or earlier)
to 1667, was probably the ‘ Wm, Drew the mason ’ who was paid sums of £50 and £52
about 1664 for work done at Lincoln’s Inn. (Black Books of Lincoln’s Inn, iii.,
42, 52.) Ben. Richardson was an Assistant from 1663 (or earlier) to 1676-7, when.
he died Bridges we cannot trace.

2 Printed in Walpole Society, vol. vii. (Ed. W. L. Spiers).

3 Spiers, 25. We think 4d. per ton is much more probable.

4 Gunther, 219, 221.

5 A loose foolscap sheet headed ‘‘ Greenwich May 1669’ found amongst the-
Winchester Palace MSS. (Wren Society, vii., 25) states that Portland block is calculated.
16 ft. to a ton and Portland ashlar 25 ft. to a ton. ’
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Of Christopher Gibbs we know very little,! except what is stated by Sir Roger
Pratt, but the name Switzer has a definite interest for us. One of the minor
importers of Purbeck stone into London during the-1650’s was named Switzer.?
He, we have no doubt, was Stephen Switzer *; it is possible that he was also
overseer for the king at Portland, but we think it unlikely, both on account of
his stone-dealing activities in London and because in 1664-66 he was the mason
employed at the erection of Clarendon House, Piccadilly.* Ile was also being
paid in the autumn of 1664 for sawing Portland stone at Greenwich.® On the
other hand, there is another reason for thinking that Stephen Switzer had close
connections with Portland, apart from a man of the same unusual name béing the
king's overseer at the quarries there, namely, the fact that he twice took an
apprentice from the Isle of Portland: Thomas Gilbert in 1664 and Nicholas.
Mitchell ¢ in 1668.

Thomas Gilbert ? was probably the largest purveyor of Portland stone:
during the last quarter of the seventeenth century. For many years he was in
partnership with Thomas Wise, junior ®: we find them supplying Portland stone-
to St. Paul's in 1678 ° to Winchester Palace in 1683,1° to St. Paul's in 1685 !!
and to Hampton Court in 1690.2 During all that period Gilbert was a member of
the London Masons’ Company, and Thomas Wise, junior, was a member from
1684 onwards. In the St. Puul’s Accounts of 1685-86 they are at least once-
referred to as ‘‘ Thomas Gilbert, mason, and Thomas Wise, mason.”” ‘1In the
Winchester Contract of 1683 they are described as ‘ Thos Wise jun and Thos.
Gilbert of the Isle of Portland,’’ so presumably were both resident there at that
date, but from 1684 onwards Wise must have resided in London, as he became-
chief mason at London Bridge in that year. We have not traced when the-
partnership ceased, but the St. laul’s Accounts for 1693-94 show the purchases.
of Portland stone as made from Thomas Gilbert alone. On various occasions
Gilbert was paid for repairing the ways, piers, carts and cranes in the Isle of’
Portland, e.g., £36.2.4 in 1685-86 and £29.8.5 in 1692-93, and on one occasion
he was allowed £40 for loss of Portland stone at sea.!® To judge by the accounts.
we examined, Thomas Gilbert, either in partnership with Wise or alone, was by-
far the most important purveyor of Portland stone at St. Paul’s, and some of the-
Beer stone was also purchased from him.  After his death the business was.

1 Christopher Gibbs and Robert Atwell “‘ quarrymen of Portland’ were paid.
considerable sums for Portland stone in 1664 in connection with the Royal Works at.
Greenwich. B.M. Harl. MS., 1618.

2 See above.

3 Stephen Switzer was apprenticed to Guy Glandinning in 1631-32. The date-
of his admission to the freedom of the Company we cannot trace, but hé was admitted.
to the Livery in 1649-50, was Warden in 1660 and 1663-64 and Master in 1665-66..
The word ‘dead’ appears behind his name in the Quarterage Book in 1669.

4 Gunther, 146, 155, 163.

5 B.M. Harl. MS., 1618. ;

6 Son of Robert Mitchell, of the Isle of Portland, mason.

7 Thomas Gilbert, son of Richard Gilbert of the Isle of Portland, Dorset.. -
Yeoman, was apprenticed to Stephen Switzer on 24th June, 1664, was admitted to-
the freedom 29th June, 1671, and to the Livery on 29th October, 1672. The prompt-
ness with which he was admitted to the Livery suggests that he stepped into, rather-
than built up for himself, an established position, which we surmise was that of the-
family stone dealing business at Portland. He died at some date between 12th October,.
1693, and 8th -December, 1696. :

8 See below.

9 St. Paul's Accounts.

10 Wren Society, vii., 32.

11 St Paul’'s Accounts.

12 Wren Society, iv., 44. .

13 Account of re-building . . . St. Paul's . . . A.Q.C., xvii., 113.



32 Transactions of the Quatuor Coronati Lodge.

.doubtless carried on by his sons Thomas Gilbert, junior,! and John Gilbert,?
both Liverymen of the Masons' Company. Thomas Gilbert, senior, was un-
-doubtedly a ‘‘citizen and mason of London’’, though perhaps he can hardly
be described as a London mason in the ordinary sense.

' Some indication of the varieties of stone used in London after the Great
‘Fire, and of their relative importance, can be obtained from the ‘‘ Accounts of
Rebuilding the Cathedral Church of St. Paul’s, London ,® which show that
the amount of stone purchased from the time when the ground was cleared in
1674 until September 29th, 1700 (when the dome still remained to .be erected)
-was as follows:— .

50,332 tons of Portland £28,065.16. 73
freight do. 28,951. 2. 8
25,7533 tons of other stone, viz.
Burford & Headington in Oxfordshire
Beer, Cane [Caen], Rygate, Ketton,
Tadcaster & Guildford 39,101.11. 41

96,118.10.10

‘In addition, marble and Purbeck paving to the value of £3,642.9.8 and 5,587} tons
of “chalk instead of rubble,”” 498} tons of Kentish Hassock and Rubble and
10,884 tons of Rag stone to the value of £4,398.2.11} were purchased.

The most comprehensive information about the persons in London who dealt
sin stone at this period is contained in a list entered in the Court Book of the
Masons’ Company hetween items dated 14th June, 1680, and 6th July, 1680. It
was apparently written towards the end of June, or at the beginning of July,
1680, and commences, without any explanatory heading, as follows:—

Since the 13th day of April, 1678
M Hammond
Tunn
Paving besides step 2400

1 Thomas Gilbert, junior, was bound to Thomas Gilbert, citizen and mason of
TLondon, for seven years on 15th July, 1690. He apparentfy never completed his
apprenticeship, as he was admitted to the Company by patrimony on 8th December,
1696, being described in the books as Thomas Gilbert, eldest son of Thomas Gilbert,
late citizen and mason of London, deceased. He was admitted to the Livery on the
same day. It was probably to this Gilbert, or possibly to his brother John (see below),
-that the Clerk of the Masons’ Company was instructed to write on 15th January,
1701 /2, when the Court ordered letters to be written to Mr. Gilbert and Mr. Tobey at
Portland relating to the badness and undersized character of the stones sent by them.

2 John Gilbert was bound to Thomas Gilbert, citizen and mason of London, for
:seven years from 12th October, 1693. At his father’s death he was apparently turned
.over to Ephraim Beauchamp and at the expiration of his apprenticeship probably
entered the family business at Portland and did not trouble to take up his freedom in
‘London for a good many years, to judge by an entry in the Court Book, which reads: —

17 July, 1713. This day John Gilbert son of Thomas Gilbert late of Portland in
the County of Dorset, mason, deceased, and late apprentice to Mr Ephraim
Beauchamp citizen and mason of London (one of the Assistants) by indenture
bearing date 12 October, 1693 (the said Mr Beauchamp testifying his service)
was admitted into the freedom of this Company by service and sworn and
paid £1.16.0 )

‘On_the same day he paid his steward’s fine (£10) was admitted to the Clothing (£5)

and to the Court of Assistants (£5). On 18th June, 1718, he was elected Renter
- Warden, but ‘‘ being absent and living in the Island of Portland in the County of
Dorset 1t is ordered that the Clerk do write to him and acquaint him with his said
-election and what are the accustomed fines in case of his serving or refusal to serve
the said office.”” A subsequent letter informed John Gilbert that he could not depute
-any person to officiate for him without his first taking the oath of office. Finally, on
22nd August, 1718, he was discharged from the office of Renter Warden on paying a
sfine of £10.

3 Bibl. Lambethana 670, A.Q.C., xvii., 108.
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The complete list is printed in Appendix II.
The statistics of this list raise two questions in our minds:—

(i.) Firstly, do they really relate to a period of 2} years from 13th April,
1678, to June, 1680, or was ‘ 1678’ written in error for 1680, and do all the
entries relate to a period of some ten or eleven weeks commencing 13th April,
1680? It will be noted that whenever dates are indicated, as on some fifteen
occasions, they all fall in April, May or June, which is quite natural if the
table is concerned with the second quarter of 1680, but very remarkable if the
table relates to the 27 months from April, 1678, to June, 1680. We are disposed
to think that the table relates only to the second quarter of 1680 and that 1t
covers a period of some three months.

(ii.) Secondly, where figures are given at the end of a line they appear
to come under the heading ‘‘ Tunn,”’ which is written once at the top of the first
page (43 v.) and once at the top of the second page (44) in the original. Roughly
the figures add up to 65,000, those for Portland totalling about 35,000 and those
for ‘ paving,’ etc., about 30,000. The question immediately arises whether these
figures.can really relate to tons. We are convinced that they cannot, and that
for more reasons than one. (a) In the first place, in view of the fact that
-only 50,000 tons of Portland stone were used at St. Paul's in 25 years, we find
it incredible that 35,000 tons (to the value of about £40,000) should have been
used at other buildings in London in 2% years, let alone three months, at a
period when relatively few buildings were being erected of stone. (b) In the
second place, the transport problem would have been stupendous, as on the
average a bark appears to have carried only some 45 tons,! so that 35,000 tons
‘would represent 700-800 shiploads of stone. (c¢) In’the third place, the Com-
pany received 4d. per ton for its pains in viewing and searching stone.? The
search fees in respect of 35,000 tons would have been £583, equivalent to £260
per annum, if we are concerned with a period of 21 years, or more than £2,000
per annum, if we are concerned with a period of I0 or 11 weeks, quite apart
from fees for the search of ‘ paving.” In 1679 the Company farmed out the
right of search for ill-wrought stone, and the fees arising therefrom, to Mr.
‘William Hammond for £27 for the year.? Though no doubt the farmer of the
search would incur some expenses and would look for some profit, we think it
inconceivable that if the imports of Portland stone were approximately 35,000 tons
in 2} years, let alone three months, producing search fees of £583, .that the
Company should farm out the fees for one year for £27.

Our conclusion is that whilst the small figures probably relate either to
numbers of stones (e.g. grave stones) or to tons (e.y. contents of barks of Portland)
the larger figures relate to feet (cubic feet of Portland or superficial feet of
Paving). As a cubic foot of Portland stone weighs on the average about 136 lbs.,*
-equivalent to 163 ¢. ft. to the ton, 35,000 c. ft. would weigh something over 2,000
tons, which, together with a certain number of barkloads, would seem a fairly
feasible figure for three months’ imports. The figure of some 27,000 or 30,000
for paving for the second quarter of 1680 can best be compared with the figures
for paving during the 1650’s, which, as previously indicated, were some 34,000 ft.
per annum. Thus 27,000 or 30,000 ft. in three months would imply a fourfold
‘increase in the use of Purbeck paving, which would seem not unreasonable.

! The table shows one bark as carrying 42 and four barks as carrying 190 [tons].
2 Bye-Laws of 1677, summarised in Conder, 199.
3 Conder, 201.

.4 The five samples of Portland stone quoted in J. Watson, British and Foreign
Building Stones, 313, weigh 132, 137, 132.3, 137.6 and 142.5 lbs. respectively per cu. ft.
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However the figures be interpreted, they ¢clearly indicate that Mr.
Hammond ! was the chief importer of stone at this period. So far as we have
been able to trace his activities, he does not appear to have been a large building
contractor, and we conclude that he was primarily a stone merchant. In view
of this fact, it is interesting to note, as previously mentioned, that he took the
farm of the right of search for ill-wrought stone in 1679; one would imagine that
the interests of the stone-dealer and the interests of the searcher might easily
conflict. Of the other men named in the list of 1680, we know that Thompson,*
Cartwright®, Shorthose,* Wise,* Pearce," Story,” Young,® and Knight® handled.
more or less considerable contracts for stone work and may therefore have:
imported stone for their own use. About the others we have no information.

L William Hammond was a member of the Yeomanry when the Quarterage Book:
commences in 1663. We are disposed to think that he was the ‘‘ William Hamon ’*
shown in the London Bridge Accounts as working at the Bridge in October, 1652, at.
9/- a week, and that he was probably an apprentice of Henry Wilson, the chief Bridge
mason. He was admitted to the Livery in 1669 and to the Court of Assistants in
1672. He was Warden in 1680 and 1683, and was still a member of the Court in 1687,
as he was one of the Assistants removed by the royal order of that year. (Conder, 233.).

He presumably died before 1696, as his name does not appear in the list of Assistants.

for that year. He held masons’ contracts at St. Anne’s and St. Agnes (1676-87) for-
£130, at Allhallows the Great (1677-87) for £337 and at St. Michael’s, Crooked Lane-
(1684-94) for £2,533. [Weaver.]
2 See below.
3 See below. .
4 John Shorthose (admitted Lo the Livery in 1662-63, Warden in 1676 and 1681,
Master in 1686 and still an Assistant in 1700) was paid £145 (jointly with Thos.

Shadbolt) for mason’s work at Masons’ Hall, 1668-89 [Conder, 190], sums amounting to.

£360 for work at the Guildhall, 1669-74, £1,060 for work on Tleet Bridge 1668-72 and
£1,300 (jointly with Richard Crooke) for work on Ludgate, 1670-73. [Guildhall Library
MS., 184.] He worked on St. Michael Cornhill in 1670-77 [Wren Society. x., 124],.
was the mason contractor for St. Olave's Jewry, 1670-79 (£3,866), for Christchurch,
1677-91 (£6.648 jointly with John Crooke) [Weaver, 15, 19] and for St. Clement Danes,
1680-82" (£3.200 jointly with' Edward Pearce). [Wren Society. x., 108.] He was very:

possibly a son of Thomas Shorthose, Warden in 1656 and 1662 and Master in 1663-4.

and 1664-5. :
5 See below. .
6 See above.
7 See above.
8 The Mr. Young referred to may have been John Young. senior, or Johm

Young. junicr, or Nicholas Young. No doubt one of these three was ‘ Mr. Young:

the Mason ", who was engaged to repair certain .buttresses at Christ’s Hospital,
Newgate Street, in September, 1686. [Wren Soc., xi.. 72.]

John Young, mason, having been ‘* made sinisterly free of y* Weavers '’ was.

taken and presented for disfranchisement, together with his Master, in 1635-36. He-
made his peace with the Masons and agreed to pay £5 for his translation from the
Weavers, £3 being paid on 16th May, 1637, and the balance of 40s. during the year-
1637-38. He was Warden of the Masons’ Company in 1652 and 1655 and Master in
1657.  He was paid for sawing blocks of Portland stone at Greenwich in July, October-
and November, 1664 [B.A. Harl. MS., 1618] and it was probably he who had various.
small rebuilding contracts between 1670-75 in connection with Billingsgate Dock (£500),.
"Bridewell Prison (£500) and Holborn Bridge (£433.11.0 jointly with Thos. Cartwright).
His name appears amongst the Assistants in 1676 and in the General Search of 1678,
but we cannot trace him any later, and he may have heen dead in 1680.

John Young, junior, son of John Young, citizen and mason, was made free by
patrimony on 18th July, 1671; he was admitted to the Livery on 29th October. 1672,
-and to the Court of Assistants on 30th March, 1674. He was Warden in 1686 and’
1687 and Master in 1695, and died in November, 1695, during his year of office.

Nicholas Young (admitted to the Livery in 1662-63, Warden in 1674 and 1679,
Master in 1682 and still an Assislant in 1700). worked at St. Mary at Hill 1670-76
[Wren Society., x., 124] and held the masons’ contracts to the total value of about
£10,000 at St. George Botolph 1671-79, St. Michael's Cornhill 1670-77, St. Martin's
Ludgate 1677-87 and St. Andrew’s Wardrobe 1685-95. [Weaver.]

9 Thomas Knight, late apprentice of Henry Wilson, with whom he commenced
working at London Bridge in October, 1656, was made free 12th November, 1663, was
admitted to the Livery 5th May, 1665, and to the Court during 1674-75. He was-
Warden in 1679-80 and died in 1680 during his year of office. He did a very con-

siderable amount of work between 1867 and 1675 in connection with the re-erection of

- various municipal buildings, more especially the Guildhall and Newpgate, receiving some
£6700 for work he did on his own account and £700 jointly with Joshua Marshall for
work on Temple Bar and £283 jointly with Thos. Shadbolt for work on the Sessions

House. [Gwildhall Lib. MS., 184.] He is sometimes described as mason, sometimes:

as pavier. or mason and pavier.

oy
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3. Owverseers.

In view of the fact that the scale of operations for which any one mason-
contractor was responsible, in the seventeeth century, was generally much smaller
than the works over which prominent medizval master masons had presided, the
need for under-musters or overseers was doubtless smaller in the seventeenth
-century than in the Middle Ages. On the other hand, it was quite common in
the seventeenth century for prominent mason-contractors to undertake two or
more jobs simultaneously, in which case presumably overseers and foremen had
to be appointed,' or the contractors had to take partners so that some responsible
person should be present at each job. We have found more evidence of the
adoption of the partnership solution of the problem than of the overseer solution,
‘but that is probably because contracts and official building accounts, in many
cases at least, indicate the existence of purtnerships, whereas the existence of
overseers or foremen would probably only be disclosed in the contractors’ private
records or accounts, which are not readily available. Some cases of partnerships.
have already been mentioned : Edward Pearce had John Shorthose as partner at
St. Clement Dunes and William Stanton as partner at St. Andrew’s, Holborn.
Thomas Knight had Thomas Shadbolt * as partner at the Sessions House and
was partner of Joshua Marshall® at Temple Bar. A more striking example is
provided by Edward Strong, senior,* who had Christopher Kempster 3 as his
partner at St. Stephen’s, Walbrook, 1672-87, and in the foundation contract at
Winchester Palace in 1682, William Collins as his partner when he rebuilt part
of St. Vedast, Foster Lane in 1695, Thomas Hill® as his partner in 1696,

1 E.g., in 1704, when Benjamin Jackson was doing work at the new greenhouse
at Kensington Palace, he apparently employed a deputy, Palmer by name, as well as
foremen. [Letter of Sir John Vanbrugh, 9th November, 1704, Wren Society, vii., 140.]

2 Thomas Shadbelt, son of Thomas.Shadbolt of the Parish of St. Giles, Cripple-
gate. blacksmith, was apprenticed to Richard Lluellyn 23rd April, 1639, was admitted
to the Livery in 1654-55, was Warden in 1664 and 1666 and Master in 1668. He was
still an Assistant in 1676. Shortly after the Great I'ire he wus responsible for a small
amount of mason’s work alt the Sessions House (£283 jointly with Thos. Knight), at
Billingsgate Dock £100 jointly with. Mr. Flory) [Guildhall Lib. MS., 184) and at Masons’
Hall (£145 jointly with John Shorthose). [Conder, 190.]

8 See below. 4 See below.

5 See below. It may be noted here. however, that in 1682 Kempster was also
engaged as contractor at the building of Tom Tower, Oxford, on which job he had a
certain Thomas Robinson, mason, as his partner. [Carde. 64.]

6 Wren Society, vii., 28.

7 William Collins, son of Jarman Collins of Halstocke, Dorset, husbandman,
apprenticed to Richard Crooke 21st April, 1669, made free 3rd October, 1676,
Warden 1699 and 1700, Master 1704. He apparently lived in the parish of St. Vedast
and for that reason desired to be concerned in the rebuilding of the Church. [Clutter-
buck, i., 168 n.]

8 Thomas Hill was made free of the Masons’ Company by redemption 17th
November, 1670; Warden in 1695, Master in 1699. TFe was the mason employed by
the vestries in fitting up St. Anne's and St. Agnes and St. Michael, Wood Street
[Wren Society, x., 124], but little is known about his early career and his name does
not appear in the General Search of 1678. In 1685-86 he was associated with Thomas
Wise, senior, on work at Chelsea Hospital [4.Q.C., xliii., 114] and at Whitehall [Wren
Society. vii., 91]. Probably he had been working with him for some years, and at
St. Paul’'s amongst other places, as, in partnership with Thomas Wise, junior, he
succeeded on Thomas Wise, senior's death in December, 1685, to the latter’s contract
at St. Paul’s [Halley, 58] and was at work there at the date of the General Search in
September, 1694. [See Appendix C.] From 1698 onwards, in partnership with Thomas
Wise. junior, he had the contract for the S.W. quarter of the Dome of St. Paul's.
[Halley, 38, and Carde, 113.7] On his own account, he did minor work at Kensington
Palace in 1690-92 [Wren Society, vii., 152, 1617 and fairly substantial work at Hampton
Court in 1689-96, to the value of some £7,000, and again in 1699 (£375). [Wren Society,
iv., 22, 25, 27. 60.] A suggestion that Hill should be employed at Kensington Palace
in 1704, instead of Benjamin Jackson. came to nothing, and Sir John Vanbrugh
reported’ Sir Christopher Wren as saying that Hill

““was a whimsical man and a piece of an astrologer and would venture upon
nothing till he had consulted the stars. which probably he had not found
favourably inclined upon this oceasion and therefore had refused the work.”

[Letter of Sir John Vanbrugh to Lord Godolphin, 9th November. 1704, Wren Society,
vil., p. 140.7 Mrs. Esdaile [Temple Chureh Monuments, 88, 777 thinks that he was
probably “responsible for one of the monuments in the Temple Church. There is a
monument by him in the Chapel of St. John's College. Oxford. .[Ibid, 78 n.]
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then Ephraim Beauchamp! as his partner, and subsequently Edward Strong,
junior, as his partner at Greenwich Hospital.?

The cases of Gabriel Stacey employed by- Nicholas Stone as his overseer
on various occasions in the 1630’s, of C. G. Cibber employed by John Stone as
‘his foreman in the 1650's, of Abraham Story probably employed by Joshua
Marshall’s executors as overseer on their St. Paul’s contract in 1678, and of
Palmer employed as deputy by Benjamin Jackson at Kensington Palace in 1704,
have already been mentioned. In view of the fact that first Thomas Strong and
then Edward Strong were probably the biggest mason-contractors at St. Paul’s
it would seem not improbable that the Strongs employed overseers and there is
some evidence which points to two prominent masons, Samuel Fulkes and
Nathaniel Rawlins, serving for some part of their careers as overseers to the
Strongs at St. Paul's. Fulkes is definitely described as ‘“ Overseer of the Masons’
work on the Cathedral Church of St. Paul’s, London,” in an Ely Cathedral
building contract of 1699, according to which he was to view the work of Robert
Grumbold, the contractor.® As his colleagues for this purpose were to be Sir
Christopher Wren and Mr. Banks, the King’s Master Carpenter, it is obvious
that the post which Fulkes held must have been one of considerable standing.
(Actually at this date he held a contract at St. Paul’s.) In the General Search
of 1678 (Appendix A) the first name under the cross heading ** At St. Paul's "’ is:

“ M ffulkes, Haberdasher *’
The fact that no other mason in that group was described as ‘“ M"’’ strongly
suggests that he held the most respomsible post under the contractor.® If at

! Ephraim Beauchamp was made free of the Masons’ Company by redemption
16th October, 1684; Warden in 1697 and 1698; Master in 1701. It is probable that
he came from Burford, Oxfordshire, and that he was the brother-in-law of Edward
Strong, senior (who married Martha Beauchamp, daughter of ldmund and Margery
Beauchamp about 1676) [H. Curtis, Limes Lit. Sup., 20th March, 1919], and the uncle
of Bdward Beauchamp, son of Joseph Beauchamp of Burford, Oxfordshire, carpenter,
who was apprenticed to Edward Strong, Junior, 18th July, 1705. During most of
Beanchamp’s career in London he appears to have worked at St. Paul's, first on his
own account in the spring of 1684 [St. Paul's Acquittance Book] and later as partner
of Christopher Kempster (who also came from Burford), from 1692 to 1696 and from
1698 to 1707. [Extracts from St. Paul's Account Books, Carbe, 113, 114.] TIn_1699
he was assistant or partner of Edward Strong, senior, at Greenwich Hospital. [Wren
Society, vi., 40.] The only reference we have found to his working independently,
otherwise than at St. Paul's in 1684, is to his employment by the vestry to fit up the
Church of St. Dunstan in the East. [Wren Society, x.. 1247 He and [Edward]
Strong were consulted about the condition of the cloisters of Christ's Hospital, Newgate
Street, in May, 1716. [Wren Soc., xi., 79.]

2 See Clutterbuck i., 168 n., and Wren Society. vi.. 40.

3 Ely Chapter Order Book, November 25th, 1699, 229, quoted by Carde, 19.

4 Samuel Fulkes had a long and honourable career as a mason. We first find
him employed as a mason at 2s. 6d. per day on the Duke of York’s Lodgings at White-
hall in Octcber, 1664. [B.M. Harl. MS., 1618.] On 1st September, 1671. he was
admitted to the freedom of the Haberdashers’ Company by redemption [information
kindly supplied by the Clerk of the Company]. In the 1670’s he had small contracts
in connection with the rebuilding of St. Bride’s (£9), St. Mary, Aldermanbury (£14),
St. Swithin’s (£117), and St. Michael's, Queenhithe (£613). [Weaver.] In 1683, in
partnership with William Wise, he took a contract calling for the employment of 28
masons and setters and 14 sawvers and labourers at Winchester Palace. [Wren Society,
vii.,, 86.] In the 1680’s, he was also the contractor for important masonry work at
Allhallows, Bread Street (£1.888), St. Alban's, Wood Street (£1,946), St. Margaret
Pattens (£3,204), and St. Margaret’s, Lothbury (£3,335). [Weaver.] About 1687 or
1688 he became one of the mason contractors at St. Paul's. [Halley, 58.] The General
Search of 1694 shows that he was then employing 16 men at St. Paul’s and three men
at his house in TFetter Lane, and thus his activities were not limited to work at St.
Paul’s. In 1695 he held a masonry contract in partnership with Richard Crooke at
Christ’s Hospital, Newgate Street. [Wren Soc.. xi., 76.1 Barly in the eighteenth
century he was engaged on the North West Tower of St. Panl's. [Halley, 58.1 The
entries in a bank account which he had at Messrs. C. Hoare and Co. from 1695 to 1711
[see below] strongly suggest that during most of that period he was paying in instal-
ments received in respect of contracts, and drawing out money weckly for payment of
wages. Our last record of him is on 18th September, 1711, when he drew £110 to
close his account at Hoare's Bank. His daughter Sarah married Edward Stanton,
the monument mason (see above).
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16th October, 1684; Warden in 1697 and 1698; Master in 1701. 1t is probable that
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Beauchamp about 1676) [H. Curtis, Ztmes Lit. Sup., 20th March, 1919], and the uncle
of Edward Beauchamp, son of Joseph Beauchamp of Burford, Oxfordshire, carpenter,
who was apprenticed to Edward Strong, Junior. 18th July, 1705. During most of
Beauchamp’s career in London he appears to have worked at St. Paul’s. first on his
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of Christopher Kempster (who also came from Burford), from 1692 to 1696 and from
1698 to 1707. [Extracts from St. Paul's Aceount Books, Carée, 113, 114.] In 1699
he was assistant or partner of Edward Strong, senior, at Greenwich Hospital. [Wren
Society, vi., 40.] The only reference we have found to his working independently,
otherwise than at St. Paul's in 1684, is to his employment by the vestry to fit up the
Church of St. Dunstan in the East. [Wren Society, x., 124.] He and [Edward]
Strong were consulted about the condition of the cloisters of Christ’'s Hospital, Newgate
Street, in May, 1716. [Wren Soc., xi., 79.]

2 See Clutterbuck i., 168 n., and Wren Society, vi., 40.

3 Ely Chapter Order Book, November 25th, 1699, 229, quoted by Carée, 19.

4 Samuel Fulkes had a long and honourable career as a mason. We first find
him employed as a mason at 2s. 6d. per day on the Duke of York’s Lodgings at White-
hall in October, 1664. [B.M. Harl. MS., 1618.] On 1Ist September, 1671, he was
admitted to the freedom of the Haberdashers’ Company by redemption [information
kindly supplied by the Clerk of the Company]. In the 1670’s he had small contracts
in connection with the rebuilding of St. Bride’s (£9), St. Mary, Aldermanbury (£14),
St. Swithin’s (£117), and St. Michael’s, Queenhithe (£613). [Weaver.] 1In 1683, in
partnership with William Wise, he took a contract calling for the employment of 28
masons and setters and 14 sawyers and labourers at Winchester Palace. [Wren Society,
vii.,, 36.] In the 168(0’s, he was also the contractor for important masonry work at
Allhallows, Bread Street (£1,888), St. Alban’s, Wood Street (£1,946), St. Margaret
Pattens (£3,204), and St. Margaret’'s, Lothbury (£3,335). [Weaver.] About 1687 or
1688 he became one of the mason contractors at St. Paul's. [Halley, 58.] The General
Search of 1694 shows that he was then employing 16 men at St. Paul’s and three men
at his house in Fotter Lane, and thus his activities were not limited to work at St.
Paul’'s. In 1695 he held a masonry contract in partnership with Richard Crooke at
Christ’s Hospital, Newgate Street. [Wren Soc., xi., 76.1 Farly in the eighteenth
century he was engaged on the North West Tower of St. Paul's. [Halley, 58.7 The
entries in a bank account which he had at Messrs. C. Hoare and Co. from 1695 to 1711
[see below] strongly suggest that during most of that period he was paving in instal-
ments received in respect of contracts, and drawing out money weekly for payvment of
wages. Our last record of him is on 18th September. 1711. when he drew £110 to
close his account at Hoare's Bank. His daughter Sarah married Edward Stanton,
the monument mason (see above).
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times he served as overseer, he was also a contractor on quite a large scale. . That

“towurds the close of his career he had attained a position of considerable standing
is clearly shown by the fact that in December, 1707, he was elected Warden of
the Haberdashers’ Company.!

The other mason who, we surmise, was at one time overseer under Thomas
Strong and Edward Strong, senior, is Nathaniel Rawlins.? His name, but with
no ‘“Mr’ before it, immediately follows that of ‘“ M" Samuel ffulkes”’ in the
list of masons ‘“ At St. Paules’’ in the search of 1678. In the search of 1694,
the name ‘“ M* Rawlins, Haberdasher,”’ occurs among ‘‘ M* Edward Strong’s men
at St. Paul's Church *’; Rawlins being the only employee described as ““ M","" it
may be assumed that he held a post of responsibility; it could hardly be other-
wise, as at one period, prior to that date, he had himself held a contract at
St. Paul’s, and a few years later he was to hold one of the four contracts for
the building of the Dome, so that he must have been a mason of some distinction.
Like Fulkes, he was a member of the Haberdashers’ Company, but does not
appear to have received any promotion in the Company.

As the word ¢ Overseer’’ at the head of this section has been given =
somewhat wide interpretation, so as to permit reference to contractors’ partners,
who might be regarded as taking the place of overseers, we also propose to treat
here of certain saluried masons who may be regarded as superior overseers, namely,
King's Master Masons aud Chief Bridge Masons at London Bridge. Reference
has already been made to three King’s Master Masons at Windsor Castle: William
Suthes [Suthis] (1610-25), about whose career very little is known; Nicholas
Stone (1626-47), whose very varied activities have been described at some length,
and his son John Stone (1660-67), who carried on his father's business as tomb
and monument maker for some years after Nicholas Stone’s death. He was,
however, apparently bedridden’ with palsy whilst holding his appointment, and
so far as we know, did no work whatsoever in connection with his office.
Edward Marshall® was appointed King’s Master Mason for the Tower of

! The extract.from the- Minutes of the Court of Assistants held 3lst December,
1707 [kindly supplied by the Clerk], is as follows:—

““ Then Mr Samuel ffulkes being next in course he was unanimously chosen
Warden by this Court for the year ensuing. And the said Mr ffulk being
.present was called in who very courtiously & civilly accepted the same and
took the accustomed oath for the due execution of the said office and took
his place accordingly.”

On 1st December, 1708, he was sworn on the Court of Assistants.

2 Nathaniel Rawlins worked as a mason at 2/6 per day at Greenwich in July,
1664. [B.M. Harl. 3MS., 1618.] He was admitted tn the freedom of the Haberdashers’
Company by redemption on 28th October, 1670. [Iuformation kindly supplied by the
Clerk.] In ‘ An Account of Rebuilding the Cathedral Church of St. Paul’s, London ”’
[Bibl. Lambethane 670, A.Q.C., xvii., 117] he is referred to as ‘‘ Mason Rawlins " in
connection with a paymént to him of £663.3.0 for repairing damage done by fire to the
West End of the North Aisle of the Choir on 27th February, 1688/9. He is said to
have succeeded Jasper Latham on his St. Paul's contract about 1690. [Halley, 58.]
The St. Paul’s Accounts show that he was paid for contracts there in 1693-94 and 1696-
97. Trom 1698 onwards he held the contract for the erection of one quarter of the
Dome of St. Paul’'s. [Halley, 58, and Carde, 113.]

3 Edward Marshall, late apprentice of John Clarke (probably the John Clarke,
niason-contractor at the building of Lincoln's Inn Chapel in 1619-24 [Black Books of
Lincoln’s Inn, ii., 209, 248]) was made free in January. 1626-27, was admitted to
the Livery in 1630-31 (paying #£4 then and the balance of £5 in 1631-32),
was Warden in 1643 and 1647 and Master in 1650. He carried on business
as a stone-cutter in Ietter Lane and was much emploved as a tomb-maker.
[D.N.B.] He died 10th December, 1675, at the age of 77 years, accordirig to the
Marshall Monument erected in St. Dunstan in the West. [4.Q.C., xlii.,- 85.] By an
indenture of 4th April, 1668, he took a 51 years’ lease of land in Whitefriars near
Whitefriars stairs, on which site he had been living and where he now undertook to
rebuild the houses destroyved by the Great Fire. [(fuildhall Lib. MS., 833.] At what
date he moved to Whitefriars from Fetter Lane we do not know.
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London, etc., in June, 1661, at the usual remuneration of 12d. per diem.! He .
was a stone-cutter and tomb-maker by trade, and thus a competitor of the
Stones for business®as well as for the post of King’'s Master Mason. In a
petition to the Crown in 1660, regarding the office of Master Mason at Windsor,
John Stone refers to Mr. Marshall as a pretender to his (Stone's) father’s place.?
We have not been able to discover much about his activities as King’'s Master
Mason; in May, 1663, he was paid £7.3.10 for mason’s work and materials at
Whitehall, himself signing the month’s accounts as an officer of the Board of
Works. For the same month he was paid £9.17.8 at Hampton Court, being an
allowance of 5s. 8d. per day as Master Mason and fees at the rate of 20 marks

per annum.? .

Joshua Marshall,* son of Edward Marshall, held the dual posts of King's
Master Mason at Windsor > and in the Office of Works® from 1673 until his
death in 1678; like his father, he commenced his business life as a tomh-maker
and monumental mason, but at the time of the Great Fire he was still young
enough to adapt himself to the new conditions, and became a mason-contractor
on a very large scale. For the ten years immediately prior to his death
we have traced his work to the value of some £46,000, including £10,500 for
work at Windsor Castle, and there were doubtless other contracts which we have
not traced, such as those at St. Paul’s in 1676 and 1677.

Thomas Wise was appointed Mason to the King in June, 1678,” and held
this office until his death at the end of 1685.8 Like Joshua Marshall, he was

1 Cal. S.I.D., 1660-1661, p. 74. In a petition in May, 1660 (ibid, p. 13), he
claimed that the office had been granted to him by Charles I. and asked for confirma-
tion of the grant.

2 Spiers, 28.

3 B.M. Harl. MS., 1657.

4 Joshua Marshall was born in 1629 and died 16th April, 1678 (according to the
Marshall Monument); he was admitted to the Livery of the Masons’ Company in
1654-55, was Warden in 1665 and 1668 and Master in 1670 and 1677. Before the Great
Fire he appears to have had a large practice as a tomb-maker. [D.N.B.] He also
set up chimney pieces and supplied various sorts of stone. [Declared Accounts, 3283;
B.AM., Harl. MSS., 1618, 1657, 1658.] After the Fire he executed many large masonry
contracts: repairing and building the steeple of 8t. Clement -Danes. 1669-70
(£2525) [Wren Society, x., 110]; erecting the Pillar in New Fish Street Hill in
memorial of the Fire, 1671-75 (£11,300) [Guildhall Lib. MS., 184], rebuilding six City
churches, St. Mary Aldermsnbury (£3,190), St. Mary Hill (£1,928), St. Stephen’s,
Coleman Street (£2,160), St. Bride’s (£8,964), St. Peter’s Cornhill (£741), St. Swithin’s
(£2.309) [Weaver]; building Temple Bar, jointly with Thomas Knight (£700) [Guildhall
Lib. MS., 184]. He also did substantial work at St. Paul's. He was paid £142 in
July, 1675, in respect of laying foundation walls. [Halley, 54.] In 1678. at the time
of his death, he was working on the Choir, the sum due to him that year being £2,391.
[St. Paul’s Accounts, 1677-78.] He did a large amount of work at Windsor Castle,
being paid £10,545 during the years 1674-78. [Hope, Windsor Castle, i., 312 seq.]

5 Cal. S.P.D., 1673, p. 378. ’

6 Ibid, pp. 599, 600. In his petition to succeed his father ¢ now grown old
in the King’s service ’ he stated that he had been brought up in the art of masonry
for thirty years and had performed many of the greatest public works in London.

7 (Cal. Treasury Books. 1676-1679, p. 1,002. '

8 Thomas Wise was admitted to the freedom of the Masons’ Company by re-
demption on 7th February, 1671/2, to' the Livery on 29th October, 1672, to the Court
in 1675, and was Master in 1681. We do not know definitely from what part of the
country he originally came. but there are three grounds for thinking that it was the
Isle of Portland. In the first place. in November. 1664, he worked at Greenwich as a
partner of Stephen Switzer [B.M. Harl. MS., 1618], who. as previously indicated. was
undoubtedly connected with Portland. In the second place, his son, Thomas Wise,
junior, was certainly associated with Portland, being described with his partner as
“ Thos. Wise jun. and Thos. Gilbert of the Isle of Portland ’ in a Winchester Palace
stone contract of 1683. [Wren Society, vii., 82.] In the third place, the first
apprentice he took, six weeks after his admission by redemption, was Benjamin, son
of Giles Pearce, of the Isle of Portland, mason. He died in December,.1685. In his
nuncupative will, dated 12th December. 1685, he is described as late of Whitefriars,
London, widower. He left three sons. Thomas. Willinm and John. [Information
kindly supplied by Bro. Williams.] William Wise was apprenticed to his father,
12th August, 1673, and admitted to the freedom 5th October, 1680. He was Warden
in 1695 and 1696. He was partner of Sammnel Fulkes in a Winchester Palace masons’

(13
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one of the mason-contractors at St. Paul’s and was alsc responsible for rebuilding
certain city churches. He was employed on two royal works in 1685, viz.,
‘Whitehall Palace! and Chelsea Hospital,2 but so far as we can tell it was in
the capacity of mason-contractor and not of King's Master Mason.

John Oliver, who succeeded. Thomas Wise as Mason to the King in 1686,
was not a mason by training or occupation,* but he was connected with the
building industry on the administrative and architectural side. He was
consulted as surveyor by Christ’s FHospital, Newgate Street, in February, 1671/2,
and it was ‘“ M' Oliver and M" Hooke, surveighors’’ who were invited to draw
a ‘‘platt”’ of the building when extensions were made at the Hospital in 1673.°
He served as Assistant Surveyor under Sir Christopher Wren at St. Paul’s for
which office he received £8.6.8 per month.® e was not a member of the
Mason’s Company, but in 1692-93 subscribed £10 to a fund which the Company
raised with the object of paying off certain debts.” With regard to his
activities as King's Master Mason, the Declared Aeccounts for Hampton Court
under the heading ‘‘ Riding charges of ye officers of ye works’’ show that John
Oliver, Master Mason, was paid for 310 days at 5s. 4d. in the two years 1689-91,
438 days at 5s. 4d. in the three years 1691-94 and 66 days at 5s. 4d. in the two
vears 1694-96.8

On Oliver’s death in 1701, he was succeeded by Benjamin Jackson,® who
held the office until his death in May, 1719. His appointment must have been
announced before the patent was actually granted on 4th December, 1701, because
on 12th November, 1701, the Court of the Masons’ Company passed the following
resolution : —

1t is ordered that M* Thomas Jackson the Ma‘. Mason be presented
with the freedom of this Company and that the Master & Wardens do
attend him herewith. ’

From the resolution we gather that the new Master Mason was a relatively
unknown man, as his Christian name is wrongly given; also that he was
presumably not a member of any London Company at the time of his appoint-
ment. We have been able to discover very little about his early career; we
first find him engaged in work at Hampton Court Gardens in the 1690's,'® and

Contract of 21st November, 1683. [Wren Society, vii., 36.] Our earliest reference
to Thomas Wise is his above-mentioned work at Greenwich in November, 1664. After
the Fire he did paving work at Whitehall in 1669-70 [Declared Accounts. 3283], held
the masons’ contracts for the rebuilding of St. Michael's, Wood Street (£1,019), St.
Bennet’s, Gracechurch (£2,658), and St. Nicholas, Cole Abbey (£3,141) [Weaver], and
was one of the early contractors at St. Paul's: by the end of 1678 he had laid the
foundations of the two South West legs of the Dome and the Great Staircase. [Halley,
58.] He continned to work there until his death. At the end of the year 1685-86,
%’.‘? St. Paul’s Accounts show that £1,197.13.3 were due to the executors of Thomas
ise.
1 Wren Society, vii., 91.
2 Cal. Treasury Books, 1685-89, p. 1446.
.8 Ibid, p. 517. .
4 He is described in D.N.B. as a glass painter, born in 1616.
5 Wren Soc., xi., 64, 65. Hooke and Oliver, described as ‘‘ Surveyors of the
Citty of London ', were also consulted by Gray's Inn in 1673. [[I’ension Boolk of
thray’s Inn, ii., 26.]
6 The entry from the St. Paul’s Accounts for October, 1693, may be quoted as
an example: — ’
“To Mr John Oliver, Assistant Surveyor, for his attendance in the work for
providing materials and keeping an account of the same this month £8.6.8.
7 The Account Book shows the total raised as £74.7.0, of which Mr. Thomas
Hill gave £25, Mr. John Oliver £10, Mr. John Thompson. Mr. Edward Strong, Mr.
.Thomas Gilbert and Mr. Thomas Wise £5 each, whilst the rest was contributed in
15 smaller sums.
8 Wren Society, iv., 22, 25, 28
9 Williams, ‘“ The King’s Master Masons.” 4.0.C., xliii., pp. 114 seq.
10 He was paid £238 in 1689-96, £615 and £746 in 1698-99 and £1,491 in 1700.
{Wren Society, iv., 33, 37, 67.]
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he probably worked there later, as he was petitioning in 1705 for a debt for
work done at ITampton Court.! In his will? he is described as ‘‘ Benjamin
Jackson of the parish of Hampton, C° Middlesex,”” and we are disposed to. think
that he was a I[ampton mason. After his appointment he was paid small sums
for work and materials at St. James’'s Palace in 1702, 1717 and 17182 At
Kensington Palace in 1706-1707 4 he seems to have heen engaged as King’s
Master Mason and not as contractor, for the only entries relating to him in the
Accounts occur under the heading ‘“ Fees, wages and entertainment of the Officers,
Clerks and Artificers belonging to the Office of Works and for travel charges.”” ®
In the same year a certain John Smoote, mason, was paid some £1,500 for
mason’s work and stone at Kensington Palace.®

The fact that Jackson did not have a contract at Kensington Palace on
- this occasion is perhaps accounted for by Sir John Vanbrugh's letter of
9th’ November, 1704, to Lord Godolphin? protesting against Jackson doing
the mason’s work upon the new greenhouse at Kensington, contrary to the.Orders
of the Board of Works issued in 1662-63.® 1In that letter Sir John gives the
following description of Jackson:—

As for Jackson my Lord, Besides this Crime, the highest the nature
of his Office will admit of, I must acquaint your L’dship he, is so
villainous a Fellow and so Scandalous in every part of his Character;
and that in the unanimous opinion of all Sorts of People he is known
to; that he is indeed a disgrace to the Queen's service and to every-
body that is oblig’d to be concern’d with him.

Outside the London area and in his private capacity, Jackson was the
contractor for a large amount of masonry work at Chatsworth in the early
eighteenth century, work which led to litigation with the Duke of Devonshire.”

Reference has already been made to one chief Bridge Mason, ITenry Wilson,
whose activities as a stone-dealer in the 1650’s we have described in some detail.
Actually five masons appear to have occupied the post during the second half of
the seventeenth century. As the remuneration was normally 11/- a week plus a
quarterly fee of 20/- at a time when a mason’s wage in London was 15/- to 16/-
a week, it is quite clear to us that the post was not intended to be a full-time
one, any more than it was in the second half of the fifteenth century when
Thomas Jurdan and Thomas Danyell combined it with that of King's Master
Mason.’ We know how Henry Wilson and two of his successors supple-
mented their incomes, and we have no doubt that the other two derived some
revenue from other sources. Henry Wilson’s successor at the Bridge was George
Dowsewell, who held the post from February, 1660/61, to July, 1672. Apart

1 Treasury Papers, 1702-1707, 343, quoted in A4.Q.C., xliii., 115.
2 Williams, A4.Q.C., xliii., 115.

3 Wren Society, vii., 213, 223, 224.

4 Wren Society, vii., 188.

5 One reads, ‘‘ Benjamin Jackson, Master Mason, £116.15.0""; the otler,
““ Master Mason, Riding charges, £65.6.8."

6 Wren Society, vii., 187, 188, 189. .The following year Smoote was paid £294
for work at St. James’' Palace. [Ibid, 214.] He does not appear to have been a
member of the Masons’ Company.

7 Printed in Wren Society vii., 140, 141.

8 See The Mediceval Mason, 192-194.

9 See Williams, loc. cit.

10 See our paper, ‘‘ London Bridge and its Builders.” A4.Q.C.. vol. xlvii.
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from that fact, we know very little about him.! From August, 1672, to July,
1673, Thomas Cartwright was chief mason at the Bridge and his apprentice
Samuel Ward ? worked there with him. At the same time he was engaged on
various contracts for the erection of municipal buildings and city churches?; it
was perhaps for that reason that he gave up the appointment within a year in
favour of his son. Joseph Cartwright,* who held it for some eleven years from
July, 1673, to June, 1684. As he was only made free by patrimony in June,
1673, it may be that his father took the post temporarily in August, 1672, with
the object of occupying it until his son was qualified to hold it. In June, 1684,
Thomas Wise succeeded Joseph Cartwright, and a Thomas Wise was still Master
Mason at the Bridge at the end of September, 1694. Although there is no
definite evidence in the Bridge Accounts to show whether the Thomas Wise of

1 George Dowsewell’s early career is a complete blank to us; we can find no
trace of him before his name appears in the Bridge Accounts in Kebruary, 1660/1.
When entries in the Quarterage Book begin, in 1663, he was a member of the Court
of Assistants. He was Warden in 1664-5 and Master in 1666-67 during the Great Fire;
his connection with the Bridge enabled him to provide a place of sate keeping for the
Company’s records, etc., and in due course the Company presented him with a pair of
gloves (costing 20/-) in appreciation of ‘* his care in preserving the Company’s writings
and goods in the late dreadful time of fire.”” In 1670 he lent the Company £500 to
finance the rebuilding of Mason’s Hall, so that he must have had some source of
revenue other than his wage and fee at the Bridge, and any profit accruing to him from
the employment of two apprentices in the early 1660’s (John Purser, free 22nd May,
1668, and John Baker, free 5th November, 1668) and four apprentices in the late
1660’s—though presumably not more than three at ounce—his son John Dowsewell
and Richard Curtis each bound 29th November, 1667; Robert Symonds and David
Farmer, each bound 22nd June, 1668. John Dowsewell was made free by patrimony
in January, 1672/3 (died 1675); David Farmer ‘‘late appr. of Geo. Dowsewell ’ was
made free 29th June, 1675; Robert Simonds and Richard Curtis, late apprentices to
George Dowsewell, ‘‘ afterwards turned over to Joshua Marshall ”’ were made free on
28th June, 1677. The Quarterage Book shows that George Dowsewell died in 1672.

2 Samuel Ward, son of John Ward of Burford, Oxfordshire, mason, was
apprenticed to Thomas Cartwright for seven years from 14th January, 1667/8. He
was made free 18th January, 1675/6.

3 Thomas Cartwright was apprenticed to Daniel Chaloner in 1631-32 and turned
over to Christopher Kingsfield in 1637-38. He became a Liveryman at some date
prior to 1663, an Assistant in 1668, Warden in 1671 and Master in 1673 and again in
1694. He was still a member of the Court in 1700, at which date his son, Thomas
Cartwright, junior, was also a member of the Court. (Thomas Cartwright,
junior, was apprenticed to his father 2lst January, 1672/3. He became an
Assistant during 1697-98, was Warden in 1704, 1705 and 1709 and Master in 1710.)
In the years immediately following the Great Fire he did work for the municipality,
Poultry Compter £238, Fleet Ditch £612, Holborn DBridge £433 (jointly with John
Young), Bridewell £600, Moorgate £1,400, Ludgate £116 [Guildhall Lib. MS. 184],
and he is said to have been engaged on the Royal Exchange [Bell, Great Firve of
London, 273]. He was mason-contractor for three of the Parish Churches, St. Bennet
Fink, 1670-81 (£1.,838), St. Mary le Bow, 1670-80 (£3.488) and St. Antholins. 1678-91
(£3.524). [Weaver.] In the search of 26th September. 1694, the entry ‘ Ma[stelr
Cartwrights 7’7 obviously refers to Thomas Cartwright, senior,-who was Master that
vear, but it is not clear how many, if any, of the names which follow, were his
employees. Whether a later entry in the same search ‘‘ At St. Thomas Hospital for
Mr Cartwright ”’ refers to Thomas Cartwright, senior, or Thomas Cartwright, junior,
it is impossible to say with certainty, but we are disposed to think it refers to the
father, and that the same is true regarding the entry in the search of May, 1696, ‘‘ At
St. Thomas Hospital at work for Mr Cartwright.”” A Thomas Cartwright made the
monument to Sir John Witham (November, 1689) in the Temple Church [Mrs. Esdaile,
Temple Church Monwments, 73].  As Thos. Cartwright, sen., would be well over 70
when it was erected, we are inclined to attribute it to Thomas Cartwright, jun.

4 Joseph Cartwright was made free by patrimony 10th June, 1673, and was
admitted to the Livery 29th October, 1674. During his tenure of office at the Bridge
he had three apprentices, Thomas Durham, bound 15th January, 1674/5; Walter
Vincent, bound 20th November, 1676, and Bartholomew Jackson, bound 20th January,
1679/80. Durham and Jackson both worked at the Bridge, but we cannot trace
Vincent's name in the Bridge Accounts. On the other hand, Bostock Knight, who
was apprenticed to Thomas Cartwright on 17th May, 1678, worked at the Bridge, and
we are disposed to think that Joseph Cartwright’s subsidiary employment consisted in
helping his father in the contracting business, and that the two Cartwrights were
closely associated. We can find no reference to him after his name disappeared
from the Bridge Accounts on 21st June, 1684. Very possibly he died about that time.
His son, Thomas Cartwright, was admitted to the Masons’ Company by patrimony,
26th March, 1702. )
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. 1684 and 1685 was Thomas Wise, senior (who died in December, 1685), or
Thomas Wise, junior, the fact that Samuel Peareman, who began to work at the
Bridge in July, 1684, was apprenticed to Thomas Wise, junior, in October, 1684,!
leaves no doubt in our minds that we are concerned solely with Thomas Wise,
junior, at the Bridge. He combined the office for several years with a large
Portland stone business conducted in partnership with Thomas Gilbert, and from
1686 to 1694 with a large contracting business at St. Paul’s, in partuership with
Thonias Hill.?

4. Mason-Contractors.

How widespread the contract system was amongst masons in London in the
first part of the seventeenth century we cannot say with certainty; the ‘* direct
labour *’ system still prevailed to some extent. The Banqueting House at White-
hall was partly erected on that system in 1619-22,° and substantial repair work
at Old St. Paul’s in the 1630’s? and minor repair works at various palaces in
1662 * were also apparently organised on the old system. On the other hand,
the available evidence suggests that the building of Lincoln's Inn chapel in
1619-24,¢ the rebuilding of the Goldsmiths’ Hall in the 1630's,” and
the erection of Clarendon House in the early 1660°s® were donme by con-
tractors.  After the Great Fire, building activity enormously increased and
much more information is available. From this time onwards, in any case, the
““ direct labour "’ system appears to have been almost universally displaced by the
contract system. We find the masonry work in connection with royal,
ecclesiastical and municipal building being let to contractors almost without
exception ®; in all probability private jobs were conducted in the same way. The
rebuilding of Masons’ Hall in 1669-70 is an example of a private job done by
contract.!? :

1'He was not made free until 14th June, 1704, when the entry runs:—

Thomas Pareman, late apprentice of Tho. Wise, citizen & mason of London,’

and one of the Assistants, 7 years indenture dated 7 Oct 1684, admitted
sworn & paid . 1:16.0

2 Thomas Wise, junior, son of Thomas Wise. senior (see above) was living in
the parish of St. Olave, Southwark, in 1685. [Will of Thomas Wise, senior.] To judge
by the description in a Winchester Palace stone contract of 1683 [Wren Society, vii., 32]
he came from the Isle of Portland. In partnership with Thomas Gilbert (see above)
he was selling Portland stone at St. Paul’s as early as 1678 and at Hampton Court as
late as 1690. In 1684 he was made free of the Masons’ Company, presumably by
patrimony, though the entry merely states that Thomas Wise, son of Thomas Wise;
Esq., was made free on’1st July, 1684. He was Master of the Company in 1695. In
1685 he was in all probability working with his father at St. Paul’s, as there is a note
by Thomas Wise, senior, in the dcquittance Book under date 4th July, 1685, authorising
payment of money to his son Thomas Wise. With Thomas Hill (sce above) as a partner
he took over his father’s work at St. Paul’s when Thomas Wise, senior, died, in
December, 1685. Commencing in 1698, Thomas Wise, junior, and Thomas Hill had
the contract for the South West quarter of the Dome [Halley. 58, and Carse, 113.],
so that they worked at St. Paul's more or less continuously for some twenty years.
We have traced two of his apprentices of the period 1684-94 in addition to Peareman,
viz., his son, John Wise, bound 4th December. 1689, and Robert Blake, bound 24th
November, 1690. Like Peareman, they both worked at the Bridge. Their names do
not occur amongst the names of the sixteen masons employed by Wise and Hill at
St. Paul’s at the time of the search in September, 1694 [Appendix E.]

P.R.O. Declared Accounts, No. 3391.

1 PR.O. K.R. Mise. Bks., 1.. 67.

5 B.M. Maxl. AS., 1657.

6 Black Books of Lincoln’s Inn, ii., 209, 248,

7 Prideaux, Memorials of the Goldsmith’s Company. 161 seq.

8 Gunther, 146. 155, 163.

9 Writing of St. Paul’s, Halley (p. 54) says the system of contracts was only
practised by the masons: in other trades and sometimes in the masons’ also, men
were engaged and paid by the Clerk of the Works.

10 Conder, 190.,

=]
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Our knowledge of the contract system at this period turns largely round.
four centres of building activity:—

(i.) Certain buildings for which the Municipality was responsible, e.g.,
the Guildhall, various prisons, gates and the Fire Monument.! The payments to
the eight principal mason-contractors for workmanship and materials amounted
to some £27,000 between 1667 and 1675.

(ii.) City parochial churches,? togethe’r with St. Andrew’s, Holborn and
St. Clement Danes.? The cost of masons’ work and materials between 1670 and
1690 amounted approximately to £150,000, shared umongst 17 or 18 principal
contractors.

(iii.)  St. Paul’s Cathedral.* The sums paid to 14 contractors for masons’
work and stone carving ® amounted to about £143,000 between 1675 and 1700.
To make this figure comparable with that of £150,000 in respect of parochial
churches, £104,000 must be added for stone, making a total of £247,000 for
masons’ work and materials.

(iv.) Certain royal works (Windsor Castle,® Winchester, Whitehall,
Hampton Court and Kensington Palaces and Greenwich Hospital).” A sum of

some £60,000 was shared amongst a dozen principal mason-contractors between
1674 and 1700.

The names of these various mason-contractors, together with the amounts
paid to them and (in brackets) the number of contracts in which they were
concerned, are set out in four columms in the table which follows, those whose
nantes appear in more than one column being entered in the upper part of the
table. Where masons worked as partners, we have equally divided the sums paid
between them ®; in ome case,” where John Thompson worked in partnership with
Wilcox, a carpenter, at St. Vedast’s, Foster Lane, we have credited Thompson
with three-quarters of the £1,272 in question, as the accounts for other churches
suggest that that was about the normal re]ations}ﬁp between payments to masons
and payments to carpenters. '

1 Guildhall Lib. MS., 184. ’ :
2 ““The Bills of the Parochial Churches’’ (Bod. Libh. Rawlinson MS., 387)
printed in summary form in Weaver and in Wren Society, x.
3 Parish records printed in Wren Society, x
1 St. Paul’s Accounts (which served as a basis for Halley) and ““ An Account

of Re- bulldmg the Cathedral Church of St. Paul’s, London ”’ (Bibl. Lambethana 670)
printed in 4.¢Q.C., xvii.

3 Carving stone by masons is entered at some £22,000, of which Mr. Cibber
received £578 and Mr. Gibbons £1,919. We do not inclide Cibber and Gibbons among
the principal mason-contractors.

o 6 Various Declared Accounts in P.R.O., printed in extract in Hope, Windsor
Castle.

7 Various Declared Accounts, Pipe Rolls and Fabric Committee Minute Books
printed in extract in Wren %ometv, iv., vi. and vii.

8 The exceptional treatment of Beauchamp at Greenwich is indicated in a foot-
note to the table.
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List or Loxpon Mason-CoxTrACTORS, 1667-1700.

(The number of contracts is indicated in brackets.)
Municipal Works Parish Churches St. Paul's Royal Works
1667-1675 1670-1690 1674-1700 1674-1700

Joshua Marshall
£11,650 - (2)

Thomas Cartwright
£3,180 6)

John Shorthose

Joshua Marshall
£19,290 (G}

Thomas Cartwright
£11,930 (€))

John Shorthose

Joshua Marshall

Joshua Marshall
£10.545 4)

£2,070 (3 £8,220 3 .
Edward Pearce Edward Pearce Edward Pearce Edward Pearce
£660 1) £11,850 4) £2,004 (68}
James Flory James Flory
£450 2) £2,270 2
John Thompson, John Thompson John Thompson
£22,245 (7 £1,760 (2)
Edward Strong Edward Strong Edward Strong
£17,336 (¢ £11,030 (4)

[Thomas Strongl®
Samuel Fulkes

Thomas Wise, sen.
£6,818 )
Jasper Latham

Thomas Strong
Samuel Fulkes

Thomas Wise, sen.

Jasper Latham

Samuel Fulkes

£11.126 (8) £447 1)
Christopher Christopher Christopher
Kempster Kempster Kempster
£10,870 (4) £608 . (1)

Thomas Wise, sen.
£1,075 1)

£3.234 @) ’
Thomas Hill Thomas Hill
£13.,571 9
Ephraim Beauchamnp | [Ephraim
Beauchamp]{
Thomas Knight Nicholas Young Thomas Wise, jun. John Clarke t
£6,925 (11) £10,555 (4) £13,514 (10)
John Young Abraham Story Nathaniel Rawlins William Wise
£1,217 (3) £4,496 2) . £447 (1)
Richard Crooke John Crooke William Kempster Benjamin Jackson
£660 (2) £3,324 1) £3,092 4)
William Hammond Nicholas Lampen
£3,000 3) £716 (2)
William Stanton
£2,025 1)
John Fitch
£1,665 n

* Three of the seven contracts, value £17,336, credited to Edward Strong, were’
shared by him with his brother Thomas in an unknown proportion.

t Beauchamp is said to have been Edward Strong’s partner for a time at

Greenwich Hospital (Clutterbuck. i.,

168 n.);

a Minute of the Fabric Committee of

4th July, 1699 (Wren Society, vi., 40) authorises him, together with Edward Strong,
jun., to sign the contract signed by Edward Strong, sen., for that year's work, but we
have treated the contract as an Idward Strong contract and have credited Strong
with the £3,044 paid for masons’ work that vear.

I Including £6,127 paid to John Clarke and George Pile, masons, in respect of
contracts at Windsor Castle, 1678-86. [Hope, Windsor Castle, i., 316 seq.] We cannot
trace Pile in London, and surmise that he was a local mason.

(i.) The Municipal Contractors. TIf the exceptionally large payment of
£11,300 to Joshua Marshall in respect of the Fire Monument he excluded, we
are left with 29 somewhat miscellaneous contracts to a total value of £15,700, or
an average of £540 each. The relative smallness of the contracts is one feature
of this group, though it must not be overlooked that the Municipality may have
given out other and larger contracts than those of which we have traced the
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details.!  Another characteristic is that all the contractors were London-trained
masons and all members of the Masons’ Company with the exception of Edward
Pearce, who was a Painter Stainer. In one connection or another, we have.
already referred to several of these contractors, to Joshua Marshall as King's
Master Mason, to Thomas Cartwright as chief Bridge Mason, to Edward Pearce
as ‘‘ shopkeeper '’ and statuary, to John Shorthose, Thomas Knight and John
Young as importers of stone, and in so doing we have drawn attention to their
activities as contractors. About the other two, James Flory2 and Richard
Crooke,® we do not know very much, but it is of interest to note that Flory had
a paving contract at Emmanuel College, Cambridge, in 1676, which suggests that
he was a mason of some standing.

(ii.) The Parish Church Contractors. We are here concerned with far
more substantial contracts, averaging about £2,400 per mason per contract. It
is consequently not surprising that nearly all the big contractors of the 1670’s
and 1680’s are included in the list. Whilst five of them—Joshua Marshall,
Thomas Cartwright, Edward Pearce, John Shorthose and James Flory—also
figure amongst the municipal contractors and seven more have been referred to
in other conmections, viz., Thomas Wise, senior, as King’s Master Mason, Samuel
Fulkes as overseer, William Stanton, Abraham Story and Jasper Latham as
““ shopkeepers,”” William Hammond as a stone-merchant and Nicholas Young as
an importer of stone, there remain six whom we have only casually mentioned.
Of these, four—John Thompson, Thomas Strong, Edward Strong and Christopher
Kempster—were masons of outstanding importance.

Within two years of being made free by service in October, 1667, John
Thompson was admitted to the Livery, so he must already have had a fairly
well established position, which is also borne out by the fact that before the end
of 1670 he had taken masonry contracts for no fewer than three of the city
<churches.* During the next twenty-five or thirty years, he appears to have been
more or less constantly employed as a mason-contractor on city churches, on

1 The Municipality, for example, was responsible with the Mercers’ Company
for the rebuilding of the Royal Exchange. Cartwright is said to have been the con-
tractor. (Bell, Great Fire of London, 273.)

2 James Flory was a member of the Yeomanry throughout the period 1663-1676.
When the Quarterage Book resumes in 1696, his name no longer appears. In 1676
he had a paving contract at Emmanuel College, Cambridge, the entry in the Accounts
being as follows: —

*“12 Sept. 1676. Paid to Mr James Flory, citizen and mason of London, as
advance money and part of his payment beforehand for the paving of the
Chapel with marble according to the articles agreed £50."

5 [Willis and Clark, vol. ii., 707 n.]

He was probably the ‘“ fllury, a Mason ”’ who was paid 10s. for an estimate of the cost
of repairing St. Christopher’s Church in 1666-7. [Freshfield, Account Book of the
Parish of St. Christopher le Stocks, 1662-85. p. 18.] Very possibly he was the son of
‘Thomas Florie, late apprentice of Richard Lluellyn, free 9th August. 1627. admitted
to the Livery 5th November, 1635; Warden 1648 and 1652. Thomas Florie apparently
-died at some date before 1663.

3 Richard Crooke was a member of the Livery prior to 1663. He was Warden
in 1667 and 1672 and Master in 1674. He was paid £1,800 (jointly with John
Shorthose) for work on Ludgate in 1670-73. [Guildhall Librvary MS., 184.] He was
the masonry contractor at the erection of the Mathematical School at Christ’s Hospital,
Newgate Street. in 1683. [Wren Soc.. xi.. 68.] FHe also had a contract at the
Hospital in 1695 in partnership with Samuel Fulkes. [Ibid, 76.] He died before
Midsummer, 1696. He was very possibly the Richard Crooke apprenticed to William
Smith in December, 1628, and made free in 1635-6.

o 4 8t. Christopher’s 1670-75 (£742), St. Vedast’s, Foster Lane, 1670-73 (£1,272
Jointly with Wilcox, the carpenter) and St. Dionis Backchurch 1670-86 (£3,528). ’
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St. Paul’s and on Royal Works,' and in many cases his contracts were of a very
substantial character.

Thomas Strong, Edward Strong and C]lrlstopher Kempster had much in
common: they all began their careers as masons outside London, they all had
quarry connections, they all came from the same part of the country, Oxfordshire,
they all migrated to London during the expansion of building activity after the
Great Fire, they were all admitted to the freedom of the Masons’ Company and
of the City of London by redemption. William Kempster, to whom reference
will be made later, had exactly the same kind of history, and Thomas Wise, senior,
and Thomas Wise, junior, whose activities have previously been described, had
very similiar histories, except that Thomas Wise, senior, worked in London before
the Fire and that the son, certainly, and the father, probably, came from the
Isle of Portland. The Strongs, the Kempsters and the Wises are the post-Fire
examples of the close connection between guarry owners and mason-contractors
which in the fourteenth century was illustrated by the Canons of Corfe and the
Crompes of Bocton and Maidstone.? Knowledge of the Strongs appears to rest
chiefly on Clutterbuck,® who prints in a long footnote a memorandum on the
Strong family written by Edward Strong, senior, in 1716, but the Building
Accounts of the Parochial Churches and of St. Paul’s, the Minute Books of the
Fabric Committee of Greenwich Hospital and the records of the Masons’ Company
help to throw further light upon the Strong family.

Thomas Strong’s® career as a mason-contractor in London was relatlvely
short. Although he was admitted to the freedom by redemption in September,

t John Thompson, late apprentice of Francis Clarke was made free 1st October,
1667, was admitted to the Livery 20th October, 1669, and to the Court of Assistants.
in 1674-75; was Warden in 1683 (in which year he took the farm of the search of
stone) 1684 1685 and 1686 and Master in 1690. He was again Master from November,
. 1695, to June, 1696, *in place of John Young, who died during his year of

office. Thompson died in 1700. [Quarterage Book.] His main jobs as masonry
contractor for parish churches were St. Magnus (£6,313), the Tower of St.
Mary le Bow (£6,172), Allhallows, Lombard Street (£4.399), St. Dionis Backchurch
(£3,528) and St. Bartholomew Exchange (£3,228). He had a small contract at.
Winchester Palace in 1683, by which he undertook to employ 14 setters and masons
and 7 sawyers and labourers from January, 1683/4, to July, 1684. [Wren Society.
vii., 38.] ~He was paid £600 in 1685 for repair work at Lincoli’s Inn Chapel. [Black:
Books of Lincoln’s Inn, iii., 154.] He did work at Hampton Court Gardens between
1689 and 1696 [Wren Socxet\, iv., 31] and at Kensington Palace in 1690 [Wren
Society. vii., 152]. He commeuced work at St. Paul’s about 1688 [Halley, 58]; the
search of 1694 shows that he was employing 13 men there, including William Kempster-
who was in due course to succeed him.

2 See The Medieval Mason, 104, and our article (jointly with N. B. Lewis)-
“ Some Building Activities of John, Lord Cobham,” A.Q.C., xlv., part i.

3 History and Antiquities of the County oj Hefrffo'rd London 1815, vol. 1,
167-169.

4 Thomas Strong, cldest son of Valentine Strong, a mason and quarry owner at.
Taynton. Oxfordshire, was probably born in the early 1630’s. In the 1660’s he
apparently worked on the stables at Cornbury, at Longleat, Wiltshire, and at Trinity
College, Oxford, where Wren was the architect. He was made free by redemption of”
the Masons’ Company and of the City of London on 15th September, 1670. He was.
admitted to the Livery on 30th October, 1671, and to the Court of Assistants on
10th July, 1675. His brother, John Strong, was apprenticed to him on 2nd January.
1671/2, but it was not until August, 1672, that we first trace him as a contractor at-
St. Stephen’s, Walbrook, with Christopher Kempster as assistant or partner. The
Official Accounts attribute this church, as well as St. Bennet’s, begun in 1677, and’
St. Austin’s, begun in 1680, to Edward Strong. These three churches were certainly-
finished by "Edward Btrong several years after Thomas Strong’'s death, but we feel
that Rdward Strong’s memorandum (quoted by Clutterbuck). which states that they-
were begun by Thomas Strong, is correct. Iidward Strong was only born about 1652
and we doubt whether he was in London in the 187(0s. He certainly was not admitted"
to the freedom (by redemption) until April. 1680. Thomas Strong became one of the
mason-contractors at St. Paul's when work began in 1675. and continued there until®
his death in 1681. The documents (of which Bro. Williams has kindly made an
abstract) relating to the probate of his will show that Thomas Strong wrote instruc- -
tions for a will and died before it could be drawn up in proper form. The instructions.:
were proved on 30th June, 1681, and the probability is that he died a few days earlier..
This confirms Fdw. thngs statement that Thomas died about Midsummer, 1681._
Apart from certain legacies, everything was left to his executor. Edward Strong.
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1670, we can trace no masonry contract of his prior to the autumn of 1672, when
he began work at St. Stephen’s, Walbrook. He may have taken contracts which.
have not been traced, but it is probable that his brother Edward would have-
known about them had they been of importance; it is therefore likely that at
first he was solely engaged in selling stone from his quarries at Taynton near
Burford.! Whether he supplied stone to the three parish churches which he-
commenced we do mnot know, but it is highly probable; he certainly sold
considerakle quantities of Burford stone to St. Paul’s, as well as being one of
the contractors for masons’ work. In 1677-78, the value of the stone he sold to
St. Paul's was £336 and the amount he was entitled to as mason-contractor was-
£1,811.2 In April, 1678, the search shows thut he was employing 35 men at
St. Paul’s.® When he died "in 1681, he was succeeded at St. Paul’s and on
his other works by his brother, Edward Strong.

The career of Edward Strong as a mason-contractor was shorter than that.
of Christopher Kempster or Samuel Fulkes; nor is it certain that in any one-
year he was quite so busy as Joshua Marshall at the height of his short career-
as mason-contractor. Yet the name of Edward Strong is undoubtedly far better-
“known than that of any other mason of this period. It has to be recognised
that he enjoyed two great advantages which probably helped to establish his.
fame; in the first place, he succeeded to a first-class connection and well-
deserved reputation built up in the course of ten years' previous residence in
London by his brother, Thomas Strong; in the second place, he had the resources.
of an old family quarrying and masonry business at his back, which very possibly
enabled him to accept larger contracts than his rivals, in an age when contractors.
experienced great difficulty in obtaining reasonably prompt payment of the sums.
due to them. These considerations, together with the unbroken conmnection of
the Strong family with the building of St. Paul’s from the laying of the founda-
tions by Thomas Strong in 1675 to the erection of the lanthorn on the Dome by
Edward Strong, junior, in 1707, probably helped to bring the Strong family in
general, and Edward -Strong in particular, into prominence in his own day.
That such prominence has tended to survive to the present time is probably-
due to his Memorandum on the Strong family having bheen printed in Clutter-.
buck's History of Hertford, which in its turn has been used by writers dealing-
with St. Paul’s and its builders, and has tended to lead, quite wrongly, to-
Edward Strong’s being represented as the Master Mason at the erection of the-
Cathedral. Actually, Edward Strong? was no more than the most prominent
among a number of distinguished mason-contractors who worked in the London area.
in the last three decudes of the seventeenth century and at the commencement of”
the eighteenth. . '

1 Edward Strong states that Thomas Strong after the Fire sold great quantities-.
. of stone to London masons. ,

2 St. Paul's Accounts, 1677-78. For work done in the same year £2.391 were-
due to Joshua Marshall's executors. '

3 See list in Appendix A.

4 Edward Strong, son of Valentine Strong of Tavnton, was born about 1652..
He probably learned the mason’s trade in the family quarries at Taynton or Little -
Barrington. We first trace him in London on 6th April, 1680, when he was made free -
of the Masons’ Company by redemption by Order of the Court of Aldermen dated
30th March, 1680. Tt is to be assumed that he came to London to assist his brother,
Thomas Strong; in any case, at Thomas’s death in 1681 he succeeded to Thomas’s..
contracts and Thomas's apprentice, John Miller (bound 23rd April, 1678). was turned
over to him on 11th May, 1682. 1In 1685. when subscriptions were solicited by the -
Masons’ Company towards defraying the, charges of obtaining a new Charter, he -
promised £5 compared with £10 each promised by Thomas Wise, Abraham Story,
William Stanton, John Thompson, John Shorthose and John Crooke., which suggests
that he was not yet quite of the first standing. As a contractor, he completed the -
masonry of the three churches begun by Thomas Strong and was responsible himself
for St. Mildred’s, Broad Street (£872), St. Magdalen’s, Old Fish Street (£2,776), St.
Clement’s, East Cheap (£2.661), and St. Michael’s Royal (£4,766) [Weaver]. He also-.
held contracts at Winchester Palace about 1683 [Wren Society, vii., 28, 88]. But his-.
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Though Christopher Kempster was admitted to the freedom by redemption
in August, 1670, he does not appear to have taken a masonry contract in London
until August, 1672, when he joined Thomas Strong on St. Stephen’s, Walbrook.
Possibly, as we surmise was the case with Thomas Strong, he employed the two
intervening years in selling his Burford stone in London. From 1672, when he
was already a ‘'man of 45, until 1709, when he was over -80, his career as a
contractor can-be traced in some detail, but the entries in his Day Book ! show
that he must frequently have been in Burford, to which place he finally retired
in his old age. - IIis reputation as a contractor was high, as is shown by Wren's
opinion of him, written in 1681 2:—

I have thought of a very able man, modest, honest and treatable
: . =~ His name Christopher Kempster, he wrought the Town house
at Abbington . . . I have used him on good works, he is very
careful to work true to his design and does strong well banded work
and I can rely upon him.? :

main work for the first fifteen years of his London career was at St. Paul’'s. 1In 1685-
86, for example, the amount due to him for work there was £8,164, compared with
£2,412 due to Edward Pearce, £1,941 due to Jasper Latham and £1,397 due to the
executors of Thomas Wise. In 1693-94, he was being paid for Burford stone he had
sold to St. Paul's, and in addition we have traced in the Accounts of the year sums
of about £2,450 due to him for workmanship, compared with £2,090 due to John
Thompson, £1,240 due to Kempster and Beauchamp, £1,180 due to Rawlins and £1.100
due to Fulkes. The search of September, 1694, shows Kdward Strong as employing
65 masons at St. Paul’s, Kempster and Beauchamp 25, Fulkes 16, Hill and Wise 16,
Thompson 13. In 1696 he took the first mason’s contract at Greenwich Hospital and
continued to work there until 1715 -[Wren Society, vi]. In the first contract, Strong
was definitely in partnership with Thomas Hill [Wren Society, vi., 34], but in the
succeeding contracts he appears to have been alone, though there is an entry in the
Minutes of the Fabric Committee, 4th July, 1699, ** Agreed that Mr Edward Strong
junr and Mr Beauchamp may sign the coutract signed by Fdward Strong senr for this
year’s work.”” In 1701 (December 10th) the reference is to ‘* Mr Strong’s contract.”
and Edward Strong, senior, was undoubtedly the mason responsible in the eyes of the
.committee. 1l'rom 1698 to 1707 he also had the contract for one quarter of the dome
.of St. Paul’s [Halley, 58, and Carée, 113]. From 1705 to 1712, in partnership with
his son, Edward Strong. junior, he was contractor at Blenheim Palace. He and
Beauchamp were consulted about the condition of the cloisters of Christ’s Hospital,
Newgate Street, in May. 1716 [Wren Soc., xi., 79]. He was Warden of the Masons’
«Company in 1694 and Master in 1696. He held the post of Treasurer of the Company
for several years, resigning the office on 26th July, 1716. He died in 1723.

Edward Strong, junior, was apprenticed to his father, Edward Strong, senior,
.on 30th July, 1691; was made free on 18th October, 1698, paying the Steward’s fine
and being called upon the Livery the same day. He was admitted to the Court of
Assistants 26th March, 1702, was Warden in 1712 and 1715 and Master in 1718. He
died in 1741. So far as we are aware, most of his work as mason-contractor was done
.as his father’s assistant or partner at Greenwich and Blenheim and very possibly at.
St. Paul’s, where he was certainly working on his own account in 1708 [St. Paul’s
Accounts, Poley, 25]. THe appears also to have worked on his own account at the
-erection of Marlborough House, as in ‘December, 1712, he was one of ten contractors
who had been employed in the building who signed a declaration denying a report
‘that Wren had made advantage to himself by gratuities from the workmen, i.e., the
-contractors [Wren Society, vii., 228]. The only. other mason signing the declaration .
was Henry Banckes, whom we have failed to trace. Bro. H. W. Sayers informs us
that Edward Strong, citizen and Mason of London, was married at the New St. Paul’s
-on 2nd April, 1699. This would no doubt be Edward Strong, jun.

I See Carée, chap. x.

2 Letter of Christopher Wren to Bishop Fell of Christchurch, Oxford, 26th May,
1681, printed in Caroe, 24. . '

3 Qur chief source of information about Christopher Kempster, apart from
various building accounts and the Masons’ Company’s records, is W. D. Caroe, TWren
and Tom Tower, where use has been made of his Day Book among other sources.

Christopher Kempster, son of William Kempster, was born at Burford, Oxford-
shire, in 1626-27. He owned a quarry there from which stone was being sent to
“London as early as 1668. He was himself in London in January, 1669/70, and was
made free of the Masons’ Company and of the City by redemption on 4th August,
1670. He was admitted to the Livery 30th October. 1671. was Warden in 1687,
1688 and 1689 and Master in 1691 and 1700. TIn London he was engaged on St.
‘Stephen’s. Walbrook, 1672-87 (£4.424 jointly with Thomas Strong and subsequently with
Edward Strong). He was also mason-contractor at St. James, Garlickhithe, 1674-87
«(£2,823), St. Mary, Abchurch, 1681-87 (£1.695), and St. Mary, Somerset, 1686-94
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The other two masons, whose contracts--for the rebuilding of the parish
<hurches were of sufficient. importance to class them as principal contractors,. were
John Fitch and John [ ? Richard] Crooke. So far as we can tell neither was
of any great standing.!

(ili.) The St. Paul’s Contractors. In_the course of this paper we have
already referred in other connections to each of these fourteen contractors in more
or less detail, with the exception of William Kempster, about whom we know
relatively little.? They were never all employed simultaneously as contractors;
for the first three years or so, there were two contractors: (i.) Joshua Marshall
and (ii.) Thomas Strong; then for about ten years, there were normally four
contractors: (i.) Thomas Strong (and his successor Edward Strong), (ii.) Edward
Pearce (successor to Marshall), (iii.) Thomas Wise, senior (and his successors
‘Thomas Wise, junior, and Thomas Hill) and (iv.) Jasper Latham.®* Finally,
for about twenty years from 1688 to 1707, there were generally sixz contractors:
(i.) Edward Strong, (ii.) Edward Pearceé (and his successors Christopher
Kempster ¢ and Ephraim Beauchamp), (iii.) Thomas Wise, junior, and Thomas
Hill, (iv.) Jasper Latham (and his successor Nathaniel Rawlins), (v.) John
Thompson (and his successor William Kempster) and (vi.) Samuel Fulkes.

(£4;140). Outside London at this period he was the mason-contractor for Abingdon-
Town House about 1677. [Accounts quoted by Carée, 87], at Tom Tower, Christchurch,
Oxford, in 1681-82, in partnership with a mason named Thomas Robinson, and he had
contracts at Winchester Palace (one jointly with Edward Strong and one alone) about
1683 [Wren Society, vii., 28, 40]. His connection with St. Paul’s commenced in 1691
or 1692 [Accounts quoted in Carde, 113, suggest 1692] from which time until 1707 he
worked there more or less continuously in partnership with Ephraim Beauchamp, first
on the legs of the Dome and then on the Dome itself. From 1707 to 1709 he worked
there on his own account, chiefly repairing the vaults. He died at the age of 91 in
1715, in Burford, with which place he had always maintained a close connection. By
his will, in which he is described as ‘“ of Upton and Bynith in the parish of Burford,
gent.,” he bequeathed his quarry to his second son John [Carde, 82]. For his brother
William and his son William, see below.

1 John Fitch [Fetch], son of IFabian Fetch, late of Higham Ferrers, Northamp-
tonshire, blacksmith, deceased, was apprenticed to William Joyne 11th September,
1663, was made free 17th January, 1670/1, and admitted to the Livery 29th October,
1674. He had one contract for the masonry work at St. Michael, Bassishaw, 1676-82
{£1,665). It is also possible that he was the same as John Fitch who had the brick-
layers’ contract for St. Anne’s and 8t. Agnes, 1676-87 (£984). He is marked in the
Tivery List of 1700 as deceased.

John Crooke, son of Peter Crooke, of Devizes, Wiltshire, baker, was apprenticed
to Richard Crooke 25th July, 1676, free 8th January, 1683/4, Warden in 1694
-and 1697 and still a member of the Court of Assistants in 1700. In the City Church
Accounts, John Crooke is entered jointly with John Shorthose at Christchurch,
1677-91 (£6,648); the name was either entered in mistake for that of Richard Crooke,
his master and one of the municipal contractors previously referred to, or he pre-
sumably only joined Shorthose as a partner after he was free in 1683/4. John Crooke
was one of the three masons summoned before the Fabric Committee of Greenwich
Hospital in 1696 regarding the masonry contract [Greenwich Hospital (1696), a MS.
in R.I.B.A. Library], but was not successful.

2 William Kempster was probably the brother of Christopher Kempster, who
had a brother working in the quarry at Burford about 1671 [Day Book, Carée, 91].
He was made free of the Masons’ Company by redemption on 11th December, 1677,
‘was Warden in 1700 and 1701 and Master in 1705. He had a son, Christopher, who
was bound to him on 3rd April, 1694, and admitted to the freedom on 22nd October,
1701, and another son, William, who was admitted by patrimony on 17th January,
1714/5. (Christopher Kempster, senior, also had a son called William, born 1678.
died 1717 [Carde, 85]. It was he who erected the monument to his father in Burford
‘Church.) We know but little about William Kempster’s career as a mason. He was
working at St. Paul’s for John Thompson in 1694 [Search of 1694, Appendix C] and
succeeded to Thompson’s contract there [Halley, 58], but whether before Thompson’s
death in 1700 or after his death, we do not know. Tn 1707 he completed the South
‘West Tower [Halley, 59]. He worked on repairs at St. Paul’s in 1709 and 1710 (after
‘which the accounts are missing for four or five years) and received a payment there in
1716. [Extracts from St. Paul’s Accounts quoted by Carde, 115.]

3 The Acquittance Book shows that Ephraim Beauchamp did some work at St.
Paul’s in 1683-84, as he received sums of £100, £25, £30, £35 and £150 between
‘November, 1683, and June, 1684.

4 The Acquittance Book shows that the first part payment for work on St.
Paul’s was made 23rd May, 1691.
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The position may be briefly tabulated as follows:—

TABLE SHOWING DISTRIBUTION 'OF MASONS' CONTRACTS AT ST. P’AUL’S.

YEARS. 1. 11 III. Iv. . V. Vi.
1675 T. Strong | .J. Marshall
to
1677-8
1677-8 | T. Strong | E. Pearce T. Wise sr. | J. Latham
to '81 from 79 to ‘86
to T. Wise jr.
E. Strong & T. Hill
1687 from '81 : from '86
1688 E. Strong | E. Pearce T. Wise jr. | J. Latham J. Thompson | S. Fulkes:
to 91 & T. Hill to 91 (?) to '98 ()
to C. Kempster N. Rawlins W. Kempster
: s & from '91 (?) from '98 (?)
1707 E. Beauchamp]
from '91

The division of the work among' the various contractors can perhaps best
be illustrated from the position in the early eighteenth century, when Edward
Strong was responsible for the North West of the Dome, Kempster and
Beauchamp for the South East of the Dome, Wise and Hill for the South West
of the Dome, Rawlins for the North East of the Dome, Fulkes for the North
West Tower and William Kempster for the South West Tower.! This scheme
implies an equal division of work so far as operations on the Dome were concerned,
but at an earlier period the division of the work had been less equal, as various
figures previously quoted in connection with Edward Strong clearly showed.

We have set out the names of fourteen principal mason-contractors at:
St. Paul's in the table given earlier in this section, but in view of the long
duration and great size of the undertaking and of the contracts connected with it,
it would probably be more correct to think of these masons as firms rather than:
as individuals. Looked at in that way, we are disposed to regard these fourteen
individuals as constituting only nine or ten firms. The partnerships subsisting
between Thomus Wise, junior, and Thomas Iill on the one hand, and Christopher
Kempster and Ephraim Beauchamp -on the other, lasted practically as long as.
these masons worked at St. Paul’s, for 21 years in the first case and 15 years in
the second, so that they were quite different in character from the more or less:
casual partnerships entered into by various masons for the purpose of executing
small contracts, e.y., the joint participation of Christopher Kempster and Edward
Strong in.the foundation contract at Winchester Palace,? of Christopher Kempster
and Thomas Robinson in the Tom Tower contract at Oxford? and of Thomas.
Shadbolt and John Shorthose in the rebuilding of Masons’ Hall, London.*
Thomas Wise, junior, and Thomas Hill, and likewise Christopher Kempster and
Gphraim Beauchamp, should he regarded as constituting two firms of contractors,
Messrs. Wise and Iill and Messrs. Kempster and Beauchamp. :

Edward Strong, succeeding as he did to the work and contracts commenced
by Thomas Stiong., can reasonably be regarded as a continuation of the old
family firm: the same is true of Thomas Wise, junior, and Thomas Hill succeeding
to the work of Thomas Wise, senior.- The one firm might fairly be described as.

1 Halley, 58, 59.

2 Wren Society, vii., 28.
3 Caroe, 64.

4 Conder, 190.
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Messrs. Strong Bros. and the other as DMessrs. Wise, Son and Hill. It is not
clear whether William Kempster should be regarded as the direct successor of
John Thompson; we know that he was working with him at St. Paul’s in 1694,
probably in a responsible post as overseer, and that in due course he took over
Thompson’s work there. We have found no reference to him as an independent
contractor before he worked in that capacity at St. Paul’s, and are inclined to
picture him as acquiring the goodwill and organisation of Thompson’s business
and as carrying on much as before. In that case, Messrs. Thompson must be
thought of as a firm of contractors of which first John Thompson and then
William Kempster was proprietor.

Considering the mason-contractors in this way, Messrs. Strong Bros. were
connected with St. Paul’s for 33 years, Messrs. Wise, Son and Hill for 30 years,
Messrs. Kempster and Beauchamp, Messrs. Thompson and Messrs. Fulkes each
for 20 years, Messrs. Rawlins for some 15 years, Messrs. Jasper Latham for some
ten years and Messrs. Joshua Marshall for some three years. The business origins
of these nine firms show an interesting diversity: three, viz., Messrs. Pearce,
Messrs. Latham and Messrs. Marshall, developed out of tomb-makers’ or
statuaries’ shops; three, viz., Messrs. Strong Bros., Messrs. Wise, Son and Hill,
and Messrs. Kempster and Beauchamp, had quarry origins; the proprietors of
two, viz., Messrs. Fulkes and Messrs. Rawlins grew from quite small beginnings;
the origin of the last, Messrs. Thompson, is less well defined: Thompson began
taking contracts almost as soon as he was out of his apprenticeship, whilst
William Kempster, who joined the firm later, began his working life in a quarry.
It is also worthy of note that, whilst the three ex-tomb-makers and statuaries,
together with Thompson, served their apprenticeships in London, all the other
men received their training in masonry outside London. Thus whilst firms of
" contractors with proprietors of London upbringing worked at St. Paul’s for the
equivalent of some 33 years, firms with proprietors of country training worked
at St. Paul’s for the equivalent of some 128 years. In other words, about four-

" fifths of all masonry contracting work at St. Paul’s was carried out by contractors
of country origin and training. ,

(iv.)) Contractors on Royal Works. Very little need be said about these
dozen men. The first nine on the list, being also St. Paul's contractors, have
already been dealt with at considerable length: it need only be added here that
the £13,500 received by Hill was chiefly in respect of work at ITampton Court
and Kensington Palace in the early 1690’s, and the £11,000 received by Strong
was almost entirely in respect of work at Greenwich Hospital from 1696 to 1699.
With regard to the other four, Benjamin Jackson’s work at Hampton Court prior
to his appointment as King's Master Mason in 1701 was mentioned previously.
John Clark’s money was earned at Windsor Castle from 1678 to 1686
and at Hampton Court from 1689 to 1696. We have come across
his work in no other connection.! Nicholas Lampen worked at Hampton
Court between 1689 und 1696. As on one occasion he supplied
chimney pieces, it is not unmlikely that he was a monumental mason. He
belonged not to the Masons’, but to the Haberdashers’ Company.?  Apart

1 John Clark, late apprentice of Timothy Townsend, was made free 30th March,
1669. was admitted to the Livery on 80th October, 1671. He was Warden in 1693 and
Master in 1697. He was still a member of the Court of Assistants in 1700. He
commenced to work at Windsor about the time of Joshua Marshall’s death and was
paid £6.127 (jointly with George Pile) from 1678 to 1686 [Hope, i., pp. 316-328]. After
1688 he did a small amount of work there on his own account [Ibid, 321]. He worked
on his own account at Hampton Court, 1689-96 (£7.387).

2 Nicholas Lampen [Lampayne], in the Search of 1694. is noted as having a
““son served about three years’ and also has a query after his name * of what
company.”” On 12th July, 1700, Robert Lampen, son of Nicholas Lampen, citizen and
Haberdasher of London, was, according to the late Act of Common Council, admitted

to the freedom of the Masons’ Company and paid his Livery money with his Livery
fine [no amount entered].
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from the fact that William Wise was a pa,rtner of Samuel Fulkes in'a Winchester
Palace contract of 1683, we know nothing about his working career. As he
was a son of Thomas Wise, senior, and rose to be Master of the Masons’
Company, it is not improbable that he was associated with what we have ca.lled
the firm of Messrs. Wise, Son and Hill.} a

The wide-spread adoptlon of the system of contracting in ‘the building
industry in the later seventeenth century raises other problems besides those
associated with the mason-contractors as individuals: the methods of financing
contracts, contemporary opinion about the system of contracts and the different
types of contract actually adopted, call for brief consideration.

The financing of contracts. The theory of the business, as stated in various
contracts, was quite simple: it was for the employer to find the money required
in advance, to a greater or lesser extent. In its extreme form, this type of
condition relieved the contractor of all financial responsibilities. In the Tom
Tower, Christchurch, Contract of 1681 2 the Treasurer of Christchurch undertook
to pay the masons and labourers their wages each week and to pay for the
materials, tackle and utensils delivered from time to time, the sums so paid to
be deducted from the amounts due to the mason-contractors (Kempster and
Robinson), calculated according to the specified rates, at the times when the work
was measured.  According to the Winchester Palace Contracts of 1683,% each
contractor was to have a sum in hand (roughly equivalent to a month’s outlay),
and the balance by equal monthly instalments ‘‘if it appeared that the work
upon measurement amount to so much money.”’ In other cases the times for
the payment of instalments were not laid down so definitely. In the St. Andrew’s.
Holborn Contract of 1684, between the churchwardens and Edward Pearce and
William Stanton, masons,* it was provided that the mason-contractors were to
receive £500 down and the old masons’ materials, and a balance of £3,550 to be
paid by instalments. According to the St. Clement Danes Contract of 13th May,
1681, between the churchwardens and John Shorthose and Edward Pearce,
masons,’ £500 was to be paid on or before 24th June next and the balance by
instalments, a condition of the contract providing when the first, second and final
measurements were to be made. In this particular case the dates of the actual
payments are endorsed on the contract as follows:—

Endorsements. ,

1. June 22, 1680 £500 Paid in part 1lst Measurement.

2. November 19, 1680 221.1.9% In full payment of lst Measurement
made 6 Sept. 1680. -£721.1.93

3. December 14, 1680 500.0.0)
4. April 7, 1681 400.0.0 f In part of 2nd Measurement
5. June 23, 1681 500.0.0
6. April 2, 1682 600.0.0
7. October 6, 1682 350.0.0
3071.1.9%

The endorsements clearly show that Shorthose and Pearce had to wait for 2}
months after the first section of the work was measured on September 6th, 1680,

1 William Wise, son of Thomas Wise, citizen and mason of London, was
apprenticed to the said Thomas Wise, his father, for seven years from 12th August
1673, and admitted to the freedom on 5th October 1680. He was Warden in 1695
and 1696 and Master in 1703.

2 Caroe, 64 seq.

3 Wren Society, vii., 34-40.

.4 Wren Society, x., 95, 96.

5 B.M. Addit. MS. Cha'rt 1605, printed in extract in Wren Society, x., 108, 109.
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until they received the balance payment of £221.1.94 on November 19th, 1680.
The endorsements also show that the contractors received nothing in respect of
work done on the second section from the time the first section was completed on
or before Septen}ber 6th, until the middle of December, when they received £500
in part payment.

We are disposed to think that delay in making part payments and pay-
ments in full on measurements was by no means uncommon and that contractors
must frequently have been heavily out of pocket.! The Acquittance Books
preserved at St. Paul’s, which are in effect receipts signed by the receivers and
then crossed out, readily enable the instalments paid to various contractors to
be traced. Thus, for example, in 1683-84 payments were made to Edward
Pearce and Thomas Wise as follows:—

Edward Pearce Tho.mas ‘Wise

6 Oct. 1683 £66.16.11 16 Oct. 1683 £71.8.6
Dec. 350. 0. 0 21 Dec. 150.0.0
Jan. 1683/4 50. 0. 0 22 Mar. 1683/4 30.0.0

28 Mar. 1684 50. 0. 0 3 Apr. 1684 100.0.0

29 Mar. 50. 0. 0 31 May 50.0.0

19 Apr. 50. 0. 0 21 June 40.0.0

30 May 50. 0. 0 9 Aug. 50.0.0
14 June 100. 0. O 17 Nov. 50.0.0

The first payments, being for odd amounts in each case, would suggest final adjust-
ments of accountg for the financial year ending Michaelmas, 1683, and the figures
taken as a whole might represent instalments so paid as to keep the contractors
fairly well covered. But, to judge by such 4ccounts of St. Paul’s as we have
examined, the position of the contractors was far from being so happy as the
Acquittance Books might suggest. For example, during the year 1677-78 the
sums due to Joshua Marshall and his executors amounted to £2,391.12.1}, the
sum paid by imprest was £1,200, leaving £1,191.12.1} owing to the executors
at the end of the year. For the same period the sums due to Thomas Strong
for workmanship amounted to £1,811.0.11§, the sum paid by imprest was £1,000,
leaving £811.0.11} owing to Strong. The position eight years later can be
summarised in a table:— ‘ '

Name of Sum due Oct. 1685- Sum paid Balance due

contractor. Sept. 1686 on account. 30 Sept. 1686.
Edward Strong £3,164 0.6} £600 £2,564. 0.63
Edward Pearce 2,412, 3.6% 770 1,642. 3.6%
Jasper Latham 1,941.12.93 200 1,741.12.9%
Exors. T. Wise 1,397.13.3 200 - 1,197.13.3

Whatever the theory might be with regard to employers financing building
operations by finding the necessary funds as the building grew, in practice hedvy
indebtedness to mason-coutractors appears to have been the rule rather than the
exception at this period, and St. Paul’s was probably not worse than other
employers.  After 1687, when the proportion of the yield of the coal duty
svailable for St. Paul’s was more than trebled, payments were doubtless speeded
up, but even so at Michaelmas, 1700, there was a debt due of £12,743.16.10%
for work, materials and management (in addition to a loan of £27,850 out-
standing at interest, borrowed on the coal duty).? How much of this £12,700

1 A petition by John Thompson and other ‘ workmen '’ at Winchester, referred
to Sir Christopher Wren in 1687, shows that they had been employed on contracts
at ready money rates, but that £500 was still due to them for work done nearly two
years prevlously (Cal. Treasury Books, 168589, p. 1,330.)

*“Afe. of Re-building the Cathedral Church of St. Paul’s,” Bib. Lambethana,
670, prmted in 4:Q.C., xvii. ,
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Parkers who supplied Reigate and Guildford stome at St. Paul’s® on various
occasions. Other persons to whom fairly substantial payments were made were
William Holland £194.7.0, Henry Newman £150, Robert New £100, William
Dobin £87 and Richard Welsted £66, but we are unable to offer any suggestions.
as to who they were. .

Benjamin Jackson had an account in 1703-1705 with a turnover of a few
hundred pounds paid in in relatively large sums and drawn out principally in
sums of £10 or £20 at weekly or fortnightly intervals. His account thus closely
resembles the Fulkes account in character. On one occasion the Bank lent
Jackson £50 free of interest for a month, but apart from that, the account was
always in credit. ~Ephraim Beauchamp paid £100 by note into the bank on
15th January, 1700/1, and drew out £50 on 4th February and £50 on 3rd March,
1700/1. These were the only transactions he appears to have had at Hoare's
Bank.

It now only remains to consider the third bank, the Bank of England,.
who very kindly permitted us to examine ‘their early Drawing Office Ledgers.
In these the names of Thomas Cartwright, Edward Strong, John Thompson,
Thomas Hill and Benjamin Jackson occur, but without any occupation being
specified or anything to suggest that the accounts relate to masons’ transactions.
After careful examination we incline to think that Cartwright, Thompson, Hill
and Jackson were not identical with the masons of those names in whom ‘we are
interested. On the other hand, Strong was very possibly the prominent con-
tractor, but his account is entirely devoid of interest from our point of view.

) (ii.) In the second place, if funds were mnot forthcoming from the
"employer, building operations might cease. ~ This contingency appears to have
been contemplated in the Winchester Palace Contracts of 1683 2; the brickmakers’
contracts provided that if the instalments were more than a month in arrears,
work should cense until payment was made, and the masons’ contracts provided
that if payments were behindhand the number of men employed was to be reduced
until payment was made. At Greenwich Hospital work was {rom time to time
at a standstill for want of funds. A Minute of the Fabric Committee of 8th
October, 1697, states that ‘‘ considerable sums of money are due to some of the
chief workmen . . . for want whereof the said workmen caunot proceed with
their work.””® The same thing appears to have happened more frequently
between 1716 and 1725.4

(iii.) In the third place, to prevent work from being suspended for want
of ready money, imprests might be issued in favour of the contractors. Such a
course was adopted at Greenwich in 1697 and again on more than one occasion
between 1716 and 1725. 1In the Public Accounts at present, an imprest is an
advance to a sub-accountant or an individual, normally from an authorised vote,
to be accounted for in detail after expenditure; in form it is an order on the
Paymaster General to pay on demand, which is treated like a cheque. In these
early days it seems to have been a [ ?first] claim on future revenue, which could
only be converted into cash by discounting it, and that probably at a fairly high
rate. The system appears to have been closely related to another system adopted,
according to the Minutes of the Fabric Committee of Greenwich Hospital, on
30th April, 1697 5:—

£2000 Tallys sold at £35 per cent. discount to Strong & Grove [the
carpenter] (and at next meeting the Bricklayer admitted to his pro-
portion).

1 St. Pawl’'s Accounts.

2 Wren Society, vii., 28-38.
3 Wren Society, vi., 36.

4 Ibid, 75.

5 Wren Society, vi., 35.
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As we understand this -transaction, £1,400 of .debts due to the contractors were
converted into £2,000 tallies which the contractors could either discount for cash
or hold till paid off. Thus so far as the imprest or tally systems were used,
building was in part carried on by means of credit transactions. The Editors of
the Wren Society note that imprests ‘‘ were granted grudgingly when the con-
tractors could not otherwise be induced to proceed,’’! so that the system must
not be regarded as very usual. )

(iv.) In the fourth place, the contractors might succeed in throwing part
of the burden on to their creditors by partially postponing payment of their
workpeople and suppliers of materials (if any). When the Crown built on the
‘“direct labour’’ system, postponement of wage-payments was by no means
uncommon. A petition to the Privy Council in 1618 refers to workmen on the
King’s works whose pay was.twelve months in arrears and who had pawned their
tools to buy food 2; in 1667 Sir John Denman recommended the crews of the
stone hoys to the care of the Navy Commissioners for victuals, ‘‘ whereof they
have great mneed, being so long unpaid.””? A petition from the artificers
employed at Whitehall and other works in 1642 asserts that great sums were due
for wages, ‘‘ the greater part of which hath been owing for twenty four months
and upwards,”’ and that unless payment were made quickly they were likely to
beg, starve and perish.* How the workmen fared when employed by contractors
we do not know, but there was at least one contemporary architect who advocated
holding back a proportion of their pay, to hinder them from spending their
wages too fast and ‘‘ running to other works as many (upon slight occasions)
do.”” 3 Thus wages might be withheld on principle as well as for lack of funds.

(v.) In the fifth place, contractors might rely, in part at least, upon their
own resources and carry on by means of their own capital, until such time as
they were able to secure. payment for the contracts they had executed. This
would clearly imply that only wealthy firms could take such contracts as were
likely to involve the granting of substantial credit for long periods. Thus when
tenders were invited in August, 1712, for new work at the North West Corner of
Greenwich Hospital, it is hardly surprising to learn that Mr. Strong’s was the
only tender for the masonry.® A further consequence would undoubtedly he a
substantial enhancement of the prices quoted by the contractors to recoup them-
selves for probable delay in payments or possible bad debts. A statement of the
revenue of St. Paul’s in 1702, when a sum of about £8,300 was due to the con-
tractors, urges prompt payment, because ‘‘ when tradesmen canmnot depend on
punctual payments, they are apt to be arbitrary both in their prices and per-
formances.”” 7  That this somewhat speculative big contracting business might
turn out quite well for the contractor in the long run is shown by the fact that
Edward Strong, in the words of Clutterbuck, ‘‘ during a life of laborious industry
raised the fabric of his own fortune and became possessed of many considerable
estates in London, Middlesex and Hertfordshire.”” 8

Contemporary Opinion on the System of Contracting. By the seventeenth
century, as we have shown elsewhere, there developed a divorce between operative
skill and eminence in the designing of buildings, and there appeared a kind of
mason who, unlike the great majority of masons in medieval and modern times,
dealt on a large scale in stone and employed many craftsmen on the contracts he
undertoock.  Though the distinction between architect or surveyor on the one

1 Wren Society, vi., 75.

2 S.P.D., 1611-18, 537.

3 8.P.D., 1667, 324.

4 Hist. MSS. Comm. Fifth Report, p. 63.

5 Sir Balthazar Gerbier, ¢ Advice to all builders . . .’ London, 1633, 58.
6 Wren Society, vi., 66.

T Hist., MSS. Com. Portland MSS., x., 97.

8 Vol. 1., 168.
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hand, and workman or contractor on the other, was not complete,' it was far
enough advanced to produce comment and criticism by the former upon the latter.
Such criticism might arise in two ways: the architect, as designer, had views
about the quality of work done by craftsmen and their ability to understand and
follow his intentions, and secondly, as surveyor and custodian of the employer’s
interests, he had necessarily to be concerned about the prices charged by
contractors and the measurement of work done by them. The contractor,
no doubt, had views about the surveyor, but we know little or nothing about
them. We are better informed about the views of architects, who were more
given to recording them in manuscript? and in print.? There is also extant
at least one record of the opinion of a man who belonged to neither class, that
of Thomas Baker, writing in 1707, on Ralph Simons and Gilbert Wigge, two
Cambridge masons who designed a second court for St. John's College, Cambridge,
and undertook to build it between 1598 and 1602, for £3,400.* This plan
seemed to Baker ‘“a way of building not so allowable in works intended for
posterity,”” and presumably he would have preferred the medieval way of keeping
the work under the control of a custos operis. The result was satisfactory neither
to the College, which obtained only ‘‘a slight and crazy building,’”” nor to the
contractors, who were ruined, and suffered imprisonment in the course of litigation
with the College.?

Architectural opinion in the century was in favour of specialisation, and
builders were advised by Gerbier not to leave plan and execution to the same
man or partners, but to pay an architect or surveyor for designing the house and
to hire craftsmen to carry out his design. Pratt adds that ‘‘ some ingenious
gentleman who has seen much . . . abroad and been somewhat versed on the
best authors’’ should be preferred to'a ‘“ home bred .architect.”’ * 1In any event,
the owner of the house should take general charge of the building operations or
else employ an honest and experienced surveyor to do it for him. As for the
craftsmen, two questions arise: should they supply materials and should thev be
paid for time or by results? With regard to the former, Pratt is clearly of
opinion that the most prudent plan is for a gentleman building his own house to

L See The City and Countrey Purchaser and Builder’s Dictionary . . . by
T. N. ‘* Philomath ", London, 1703, 11-12: 4rchitect is described as ‘‘A Master-workman
in a ‘Building: ’tis also sometimes taken for the Surveyor of a Building, viz. He
that designs the Model, or draws the plot, or Draught of the whole Fabrick; whose
business it is to consider of the whole Manner and Method of the Building and also
the Charge and Expence ”: ¢f. ibid., 130: “ The drawing of Draughts is most com-
monly the Work of a Surveyor, tho’ there be many Master-workmen that will contrive
a Building, and draw a Draught, or Design, thereof, as well as most (and better than
some) Surveyors.’’ '

2 E.g., Sir Roger Pratt, 1620-1684, architect of several houses, including
Clarendon House. His note ~books have been edited by R. T. Gunther: (The
Architecture of Sir Roger Pratt, Oxford, 1928.)

1668 1 E.g., Sir Balthasar Gerbier, Counsel and Advice to all Builders, etc., London,

4 Mayor, ed. Baker, History of St. John's College, Cambridge. See vol. i.,
191-198, 453, 455. i ’

5 The unfortunate result may have been due to: the incapacity of the
contractors, who, according to Baker, were unequal to the undertaking, rather than
to the contracting system itself. Possibly also Baker had much in mind the difference,
of more than £900, between what the College paid them and what it received from its
foundress, the Countess of Shrewsbury. A more modest programme of building, with
payment spread over a longer time, would probably have meant less embarrassment,
then and thereafter, to the College funds.

' 6 Gunther, 60. The author of the City and Countrey Purchaser says (p. 57)
that ‘‘ Gentlemen and others that are Builders are too often prevailed upon and
persuaded by such Workmen as are wedded to their own Wits (tho’ they were never
versed in the Grounds of Architecture . . .) and tied to their own sort of irregular
old way, which is no better than a deformed Custom.” He strongly advises employing
people skilled in the theory and practice of architecture. and local men if possible.

ll:_]]isdworth noting his implication that workmen, as well as surveyors, could be so
skilled.
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buy materials direct from the owners, ‘‘ who are generally men of credit,”’ and
then pay craftsmen for working on them.! If craftsmen supply the material,
‘“ tie them in what conditions you please to serve you with the best things, which

are the dearest, they . . . will . . . be ready at all turns to obtrude
the worst upon you, which are very much cheaper.”” With regard to the second
question, decision was not easy. ‘' If workmen be employed by the day,”’ says

Pratt, ‘‘ they will make but small haste to finish the building.””* On the other
hand, it was a method to which workmen were accustomed and, to some extent
at least, a tendency to delay might be checked by comparison of the amount done
in a given time with the possible or normal output, though that was perhaps
less easy with masonry than with brickwork.

Apart from day work there were two other methods, by the great and by
measure.? Work by the great («n grosso, as it was called in the Middle Ages)
meant a contract similar to that of Simons and Wigge for the second court at
St. John’s College and the disadvantage was that the contractors, if the work
were new or unfamiliar to them, might, through inability in computation, or
perhaps through eagerness to secure the contract, undertake more than they could
profitably perform at the agreed price, and then, as Wren remarks, ‘‘ when they
begin to find it, they shuffle and slight the worke to save themselves.”” * Pratt,
who advocated work by the great, considered it a matter of great difficulty and
importance to draw up the contract and seemed to think that contractors were
always on the alert to deceive the employer to their own profit.> Wren con-
sidered working by measure the best, that is, where the contractor is not paid a
fixed sum for the whole operation but is paid an agreed price.for each rod, or
other unit, of work done.® The difficulty was that measurement was by no
means easy ’ and required a trained expert.®

Contracts in Practice. The contractors employed in the large building
operations with which we are mainly concerned in this paper did not take work
by the great in the ordinary semse, but they undertook, as a rule, with the
exception of St. Paul’s, to provide material and workmanship for particular parts
of buildings designed by others, such as Inigo Jones or Wren. The procedure,
to judge by the Greenwich Hospital Accounts, was that the mason first made a
‘¢ proposal,”’ that is a tender, setting out the prices at which he would undertake
to do the work; this was then considered by the Commission in charge of the
building works. In some instances the tenderer would be invited to reduce the
price.® Sometimes, apparently, the tenderer did not enter the rates in the
proposal: one added to his tender the statement that ‘‘If these prices are
thought too high for y® meritt of y° worke it is humbly left to v®* Committee of
y® Fabrick or y* Surveyor of y° worke to Regulate it as in their wisdom they
Shall think Most reasonable and fitt.”’ ! When the prices had been agreed upon
the contract was ordered to be signed and was entered in the contract book:
thereafter, as the work was measured, it was easy to determine what was due to
the contractor from time to time; much easier, apparently, than to see that he
got what was due to him.

In such contracts as these, the number and rates of pay of the men
employed were not always left to the contractor to determine. The number

1 Gunther, 48; e¢f., 53.

2 1bid, 87.

3 Wren’s remarks given in Carde, 27: c¢f. City and Countrey Purchaser, 53.
4 Wren’s letter of 25th June, 1681, to Bishop Fell, printed in Carde, p. 27.
5 Gunther, 87-88.

6 Wren’s letter, printed in Carde, p. 27.

7 On its complications see City and Countrey Purchaser, 54-35, 280 seq.

8 Carde, 18. ’

9 See e.g., Wren Society, vi., 42.

10 G‘reenwich Hospital, 1696, a MS. in R.I.B.A. Library.
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might be of considerable importance to the surveyor, wishing to see the work
go on without delay or to ensure that various parts of it, such as the external
masonry and the internal brickwork, should advance together. It is therefore
not strange to find the contractors required, in some instances, to have a
stipulated number of men at work. William VVise‘ and Samuel Fu}kes, for
example, agreed to employ constantly at Winchester Palqce from January to July,
1684, or till the work should be finished, no fewer than 28 masons and setters
and 14 sawyers and labourers, and to augment the number if required.! We do
not know how common such a requirement was, but it may have occurred often.
At any rate, it is not at all uncommon to find in building accounts entries of the
number of days' work charged for in connection with particular pieces of work.
In such cases the rates of pay are given and it is worth notice that different rates
of pay for what appear to have been very much the same kinds of work were
sometimes allowed.?  Where contractors were required to have a stipulated
number of men working it was presumably the business of the Clerk of the Call
to see that they were actually, present.

It will appear from the foregoing brief description that the contracts of
Strong, Fulkes, Wise and others of the same rank were in essence for work done
by measure, that is, of the kind considered best by Wren. Pratt’s view, that
master workmen should be restricted to supplying workmanship, was not held,
since substantial quantites of Portland, Burford, Beer, Reigate and other stone
were bought from masons, though it is also clear that a good deal was bought
from quarry owners. The materials bought from contractors were not always
good,? but the choice of stone, as Pratt himself realised, was by no means easy,*
and it may have been very well worth while to use the expert knowledge of such
people as Wise and Kempster in procuring stone and avoiding waste in sawing it.

5. Journeymen.

|

About the seventeenth century journeymen, z.e., the workmen who actually
dressed the stones and laid them, we have, unfortunately, little information.
It would certainly not be safe, for several reasons, to identify the journeymen
with the Yeomen of the Masons’ Company, as set out in the Quarterage Book.
As we have previously explained, some of the yeomen were undoubtedly ‘¢ shop-
keepers ' and some, in all probability, did not work at the masons’ trade at all;
on the other hand, more especially after 1670, many craftsmen who worked as
masons were not members of the Masons’ Company. Thus an unknown number
of names would have to be removed from the official list of Yeomen and an
unknown number would have to be added to it, before anything approaching a
correct list of workmen employed as masons in London could be obtained.

Actually, although the period is so much more remote, more is known
about the journeymen of the Middle Ages than about their successors of the
seventeenth century, which is due primarily to the great growth of the contracting
system. So long as the ‘‘direct labour’ system prevailed on most large. and
many small jobs, the surviving records, such as fabric rolls, building accounts,
‘ particulars,’ etc., supply a mass of detailed information about the organisation
of the operations and about the artisans employed, which enable the leading
economic problems connected with medieval masons to be examined and permit

1 Wren Society, vii., 36.

2 In the S8t. Paul’s Accounts for 1696-97 Edward Strong and Samuel Fulkes
were employed in sawing black marble. Strong charged 3s. 4d. a day for masons’
labour and Fulkes 3s. 0d. a day. '

3 In June, 1699, Goodwin, who supplied Greenwich Hospital with bricks, was
threatened with dismissal because of their badness. (Wren Society, vi., 40.)

4 See Gunther, 48. As to prices, he advises the builder to inquire of ¢ the
most reputed honest workmen '’; p. 49.
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of a falr]y 1e11able picture bemo drawn of thé conditions under which they worked
and lived. For the seventeenth century, the available information relating to the
workmen, 1s far less comprehensive. VVhe1 eas those responsible in the Mlddle Ages
for the erectlon or 1epa1r of cathedrals, abbeys and castles commonly employed
officials who kept accounts'in considerable detail, many of which, in part at least,
have survived, “ shopkeepers > and contractors in the seventeenth century probably
employed no clerks in most cases and were not very likely to put pen to paper
themselves to record details of their transactlons The Account Book and the
Note Book of Nicholas Stome,! the Da/ Book of Christopher Kempster,2 the
Memoir of Edward Strong, senior,®. and the Stanton MS.* . are the only
exceptions with which - we. are acquainted, but unfortunately they tell wus
little or -nothing about the journeymen.‘'employed.  The Bills paid to Artificers

after-the Great Fire and The Bills of Work done at Greenwich Hospital
pleserved in the Guildhall Library,® provide more information: the former
showing for several months in 1666-67 the masons employed on municipal work
by Thomas Jordan and by Thomas Knight respectively, the latter showing for a
period of some five years from 1699 to 1704 the masons employed by Edward
Strong, senior, and Edward Strong, junior, at Greenwich Hospital. -The Office
of Works Accounts for 1662-63, 1664 .and 1666-67,° have preserved the names
of a score of journeymen masons; but apart from these three sets of records, the
London Bridge Accounts™ and chance references in the St. Paul’s Accounts, our
only information about the journeymen is that contained in the records of the
general searches made by order of the Court of the Masons’ Company in 1678,
1694 and 1696 (printed in Appendices A, C and E), which are naturally
restricted to the area over which the Company claimed jurisdiction and
<consequently do not include Greenwich or Hampton Court. = These various sources
of information may now be considered in turn.

(a) We have traced the entries in the Bridge Accounts from October,
1652, to September, 1694, but did not feel justified, for the purpose of this
paper, in following the attendance of each mason week by week, because of
the very large amount of labour involved, but contented ourselves with noting
the first occasion on which each name appeared in the Accounts. During these
42 years, the names of 114 masons occur. (See first Table in Appendix J). On
the assumption that the impression we gathered from turning over the Accounts
is correct, viz., that four or five masons were normally employed at the Bridge,
‘the average stay of each mason at the Bridge during the 42 yearswas about
20 months; actually some stayed for much longer periods and some for much
:shorter periods. We are satisfied, however, that the journeymen employed at
‘the Bridge were not a separate and specialised category of masons; the Bridge
‘provided a fluctuating amount of employment for masons, and journeymen passed
to and from the Bridge from and to other jobs, very much as the Chief Bridge
Masons themselves appear to. have done. This we referred to in a previous
section when discussing the careers of the five Chief Bridge Masons of the period,
1652-94, viz., Henry Wilson, George Dowsewell, Thomas Cartwright, Joseph
Cartwright and Thomas Wise. For our present purpose, these five should be
-excluded from consideration and so too should the apprentices employed, as
apprentices form the subject matter of our last section. 1If, however, an

1 Printed by the Walpole Society, vol. vii., edited by W. L. Spiers.

‘2 Numerous extracts are printed by W. D. Caréde, Wien and Tom Tower. 89-94.
3 Printed in footnote to Clutterbuck, History of . . . Hertford, i., 167.
4 See footnote to ‘‘ Mr Stanton ’ above.

5 MSS. 328 and 233.

6 B.M. Harl. MSS., 1657, 1618 and 1658.

7 Preserved in the Records Office of the Corporation of the City of London.



62 Transactions of the Quatitor Coronati Lodge.

apprentice continued at the Bridge after he was out of his indentures, or returned
to it later, then he should be counted amongst the journeymen. It may also be
that the names of one or two labourers have slipped into our list, as the Accounts
do not always distinguish clearly between, the various categories of workers, and
the system of paying some at least of the masons a fixed wage, approximating in
amount to that of a labourer, with an addition of so much per tide worked,' is
liable to introduce confusion. Where qualified masons received an inclusive wage
during these forty-two years, the predominant rate appears to have been 15s.
a week (or 2s. 6d. per day), though in the 1680's we have found cases of 16s.

(b) The information available about the Office of Works suggests a some-
what similar state of affairs to that prevailing at the Bridge, a small nucleus of
regular journeymen with a numerous fringe of more or less casual workmen,
employed sometimes for a season, but often only for odd weeks according to
requirements. In many cases during the same month a journeyman worked on
two or three different jobs, the fact that Whitehall, Westminster, the Duke of
York’s Lodgings, St. James' Palace and the Queen’s Closet were all close together
rendering such dovetailing of work feasible. The second table in Appendix J
shows how frequently this occurred. Of the twenty-six masons set out by name
in that table, reference has already been made to the distinguished careers which
two of the casual journeymen, Samuel Fulkes and Nathaniel Rawlins; ultimately
carved out for themselves as large contractors. One of the regular workmen rose
at least to the position of taking small contracts, as in 1669 Moxham was paid
£70.7.0" for work at the Convocation House, Westminster Palace.? The wage
commonly paid by the Office of Works to fully qualified masons in 1662-63, 1664
and 1666-67 was 2s. 6d. per day (2s. 4d. in December and January).®

(c) The twenty-one masons employed on municipal work in 1666-67 (set
out in the third table of Appendix J) were not employed directly, but through
Thomas Jordan? and Thomas Knight,” whose names are included among the
twenty-one. They were the contractors who, in respect of certain work, charged
the municipality for the labour supplied, including their own labour, which they-
reckoned at 20d. per diem, as against 30d. charged for qualified masons (24d. in
December and January). Their own 20d. per diem should probably be regarded
as a retaining fee, for both of them were engaged at the same time in doing task
work by contract for the municipality. Were it simply a matter of wages, they
would certainly have claimed more, rather than less, than the normal 30d. paid
to a skilled journeyman.® 1In the table we show the number of days charged
for in respect of the masons employed by Jordan and by Knight on municipal
work, and the very fluctuating number of days cannot but strike the reader.
Whilst the two contractors generally charged the maximum number of days in

L See our paper, ‘° London Bridge and its Builders,” A4.Q.C., vol. xlvii.

2 Declared Accounts,.3283.

. 30One man, Henry Gray, who was paid 2s. 2d. in 1662-63 (2s. in December and.
January), recéived 2s. 4d. in 1664 and 2s. 6d. in 1666-67. The rate paid for houres,
t.e., overtimé, in 1662-63 appears to have been 2d. an hour in December and 3d. an.
hour in April.

-4 Thomas Jordan was probably the son of Thomas Jordan. Warden in 1625 and
Master in 1627, who died about August. 1635. " He was made free by redemption on
8th November, 1632, had two apprentices of the late Thomas Jordan turned over to.
him in 1635, was adnntted to the Livery 5th November, 1635, was Warden in 1649 and
1653 and Master in 1656. He died about January or February, 1666/7, an account
[Guildhall Lib. MS. 184] showing that £20 was paid to his widow by an Order dated
7th February, 1666/7. He was paid £60.13.4 for his work at the Guildkall in 1666-67,
in 'lddltwn to £20 paid to his widow. :

5 See ahove.

6 When in October, 1685, Jasper Latham. was paid for work done at St. Paul's
by himself and three journeymen, Edward Heath, Rowland Rainsford and John White,
he charged 3/- a day in respect of his own labour and 2s. 6d. per day in respect of”
the labour of his-journeymen. (St. Paul's Adecownts, 1685-86.)
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respect of themselves, the journeymen apparently worked far fewer. Tt does not
follow, however, that they were partially unemployed during the months in
question; Jordan on a small scale and Knight on a much larger scale, had
contracts with the municipality which in many cases would involve payment for
work by task. When Jordan and Knight put their men on those jobs, they no
doubt paid their journeymen the usual wages, but in those cases the contractors
charged the municipality so much per yuard, or other unit, for work done, and
the time for which they employed their journeymen was purely their own affair.

(d) The names of the journeymen masons and the masons’ labourers
employed by the Strongs at Greenwich Hospital from 1699 to 1704 are set out in
the last table of Appendix J. The differentiation between journeymen and
labourers is one of money, so far as the entries in most months are concerned,
but in September, 1704, when no names are given, the entry runs as follows:—

15 masons, 9 days @ 2/6 £16.17.6
14 labourers, 13 days @ 20d. £15. 3.4

We have therefore assumed that a wage of 2s. 6d. (or 3s. in a few cases) implies
a journeyman mason and that a wage of 20d. implies a mason’s labourer. The
table contains the names of 49 jourmeymen masons, 43 masons’ labourers and
one man, Ralf Allen, who received a labourer’s wuge in 1700 and 1701 and a.
mason’'s wage in 1704. It may be a case of promotion of an apprentice, or it
may be a case of two different men of the same name.

The Strongs, in addition to doing work by time for the Committee at
Greenwich IIospital, also did much work by task there, so that some at least of
their workmen may have enjoyed more or less regular employment under the
Strongs, although in our table they are shown as being paid cnly for odd days
in odd months. It has also to be remembered, that throughout. this. period
Edward Strong, senior, had a contract for the dome of St. Paul's, so that the
workmen may possibly have been moved from Greenwich to St. Paul’s, and
vice wversa, according to requirements. On the other hand, very satisfactory
dovetailing of employments on these two jobs would be rendered difficult, not.
only by the distance which separated them, but by two considerations to which
attention has been drawn in other connections; firstly, that Edward Strong was
responsible for only one quarter of the dome, so that the progress of the work
there must have been largely dependent on the three contractors responsible for
the other three-quarters, and, secondly, that progress at Greenwich was frequently
hampered by the financial embarrassments of the committee in charge.- Thus,
although the Strongs had two distinct contracts at this period, the fluctuations:
of activity at both of them would appear to have been largely beyond their
control, and we are inclined to think that, apart from a nucleus of regular work-
men, whom they would doubtless strive to retain, they had to engage and dismiss.
workmen pretty frequently, so that there was probably a good deal of casual
employment at Greenwich.

Throughout the period from June, 1699, to March, 1704/5, the wage of
a mason’'s labourer remained fixed at 20d. per day; on the other hand. the
journeyman mason’s wage is shown as 3s. a day in June and August, 1699, and
as 2s. 6d. at all subsequent dates. Whether this represented (i.) a decline in
the mason’s wuage, or (ii.) a change in the character of the work done, or (iii.) a
reduction only in the price charged by the contractor for a day’s workmanship,.
we do not know. In case (i.) it would seem =as if the mason’s wage had
risen suddenly from 30d., or 30d.-32d., which we should regard as the pre-
dominant daily rate in London in the 1690's,' to 36d., only to fall again very

1 See The Mediceval Mason, 236.
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promptly to 30d. In case (ii.) it would ‘imply that the masons had been
employed ' temporarily in June and Awugust,’ 1699, on some especially well paid
work such as sawing marble for paving.! In case (iii.) it would not be so much
a matter of what the journeyman mason received, but what was ctharged in
respect of him, when a contractor set him td' work at day wages for an employer.
Unfortunately, most of our examples of masons’ wages in the later sevénteenth
century are the rates charged by contractors to employers for workmanship
supplied, and there is'always an element of uncertainty as to what part of the
rate so- charged, the workman actually received. . Nowadays, the contractor
commonly charges the employer for so many hours of workmanship at a, rate in
excess of the standard rate of wages, the excess representing compensation for
advancing the money necessary for prompt payment of wages and a contribution
towards the contractor’s overhead charges. This method probably prevailed
during our period. The Master Carpenter at St. Paul’s in 1710, Richard
Jennings, was alleged to have paid his men from 7s. to' 12¢: a iweek instead of
15s. allowed him by the Commissioners. The evidence of 'sorne of the men con-
firmed the allegation, but Jennings retorted that they had received the full rate
at which he had agreed with them. He could not deny that the rates were lower
than those allowed by the Commissioners, but asserted that the work carried out
by him was worth what he got for it and that he followed a common practice:
‘“ masters and undertakers in other trades as well as mine have an advantage by
their men.”  Jennings was also charged with embezzling materials and with
causing his men to appear at the roll-calls at St. Paul's and then sending them

‘to work elsewhere. TTe denied that any fraud was committed, but was discharged
in April, 1711.2 '

There is very little evidence to show what wage policy was adopted by
the mason-contractors. Tn the S¢. Paul’s Accounts for November, 16877, there
1s an entry: ‘‘ John Dudley & Steven Turner, masons, 2 days @ 2/4 each

8d.”” These masons were presumably engaged and paid by the Clerk of the
Works, and 2s. 4d. per day may be regarded as the wage they actually received.
More commonly the entries in the S¢. Paul’s Accounts show that the wages were paid
through a contractor, e.g., in April, 1686, Jasper Latham was paid for Rowland
Rainsford, mason, 154 days @ 2/6 . . . £1.18.9, and for John White, mason,
11 days @ 2/6 . . . £1.7.6. But in most cases the names of the journey-
‘men are not given, e.g., in October, 1693, Nathaniel Rawlins was paid for 86}
days’ work of a mason setting in the iron work at 2/6 per day and for 74 days’
work of a labourer at 18d. per day. Kempster and Beauchamp, John Thompson
and Rawlins each received similar payments in respect of masons’ work at 2/6
per day in 1696-97.

The entries we have quoted from the St. Paul’s Accounts might seem to
_suggest that masons received 2s. 4d. per day when the contractors charged 2s. 6d.
per day, but we feel that there is too little evidence on which to base such a
definite conclusion. The position may, perhaps, be stated thus: if it be true that
2s. 6d. in respect of a day’s work by a journeyman mason was being charged by
municipal contractors in 1666-67, by St. Paul’s contractors in the 1680’s and
1690’s, and by the Strongs at Greenwich in the first decade of the eighteenth
century, it is also true that 2s. 6d. was the amount paid by the Office of Works
to their masons in 1662-63, 1664 and 1666-67 and by the Bridge Wardens to

1 At St. Paul’s in 1696-97 Strong charged 3s. per day and Fulkes 3s. per
day, in respect of masons sawing marble for paving, as compared with the ordinary
<harge of 2s. 6d. (St. Paul’'s Accounts, 1696-97.)

2 Hist. MSS. Com. Portland ’IISS’., x., 109 seq.
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their masons in the 1660’s and 1670’s, with a tendency to pay them as much as
2s. 8d. in the 1680’s. So far as we know in the cases of the Office of Works and
of the Bridge, the 2s. 6d. was paid to the journeymen masons without deduction,
which makes us disposed to think that the mason-contractors cannot have made
any very substantial deduction from the 2s. 6d. they charged.! Om the other
hand, we are faced with the statement of Jennings and the probability that the
contractors would look for some margin to recoup themselves for the long delay in
recovering money paid out for wages and as a contribution towards their overhead
charges or management expenses. TPossibly the deductions made by the contractor
from the wage rates which he charged depended upon the condition of the labour
market and varied according to the state of trade. '

When it is remembered that we are not only very uncertain about the daily
wage actually paid to the journeyman mason of the seventeenth century, but are
almost completely ignorant as to the number of days per annum for which he was
paid, it will be realised that our knowledge of the mason’s annual earnings is
exceedingly slight. In this matter the three lists of masons recorded in the
General Searches of 1678, 1694 and 1696 (Appendices A, C and E) are of but
little help to us, though it is not without interest to note that a dozen of the
masons who worked for the Strongs at Greenwich Hospital between 1699 and 1704
were employed by lidward Strong at St. Paul’s in 1694. What the searches
chiefly show is, firstly, that (apart from St. Paul’s in 1678 and 1694) most
journeymen were employed either by contractors on relatively small jobs, or by
small ‘ shopkeepers,”” and, secondly, that many of the journeymen were
** foreigners.”” It was doubtless the great influx of ‘ foreigners’' after the
Great Fire, and their continued presence in large numbers in London, which
prevented the rise in money wages which the sudden increase in the demand for
building labour might have been expected to bring about. It is true that the
Statute for the Rebuilding of the City provided for the establishment of tribunals
to deal with attempts on the part of the workers to avail themselves of the
emergency to force up wage rates,®> but we very much doubt whether those
tribunals could have made better headway against the powerful flow of economic
forces than did their medieval prototypes established under various Statutes of
Labourers. Scarcity of masons after the Black Death and increased cost of living
in the sixteenth century affected more or less the whole country, and the pressure
to secure higher money wages was irresistible. ~ After the Fire, scarcity of labour
affected London alone, and the removal of local restrictions, together with the
fact that skilled artisans’ money wages in London were about 1s. per day higher
than in the rest of the country, attracted sufficient workpeople to London to
adjust supply to demand, so that 2s. 6d. per day remained the predominant wage
for a good many years and any slight rise that took place did not occur until the

1 In some cases at least, it is possible that the contractor entered in his bill the
wages he actually paid his workmen and added to the sum of his out-of-pocket expenses
a percentage, definitely shown in the bill, for his profit. Francis Smith, the [mason]
contractor for the building of Ditchley, mnear Oxford, in 1720-22, wrote to Lord
Litchfield, its owner, as follows: —

May it please your Lordship, these are the exact sums I have paid. I hope
your Lordship will not think it too much to allow me £5 for every hundred
I have paid, for my trouble, journeys and profit out of my workmen.
(Thesis on the Life and Works of James Gibhs, by H. B. S. Gibbs, AR.IBA.,
p. 39.)

So far as we can tell, the system of showing a percentage addition to out of pocket
-expenses, in respect of profit and management, was not adopted hy the contractors at
Greenwich Hospital, St. Paul’s or the Parish Churches.

2 See above.
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1680's, when, so far as we can tell, the movement was not limited to London.!?
Another force which must have helped to check any rise in wages was the great
increase in the number of apprentices after the Fire, to which referénce is made
in the next section.

6. Apprentices.

The records of the Masons’ Company clearly show that the system ‘of
apprenticeship was common amongst London masons in the seventeenth century,
though after the Great Fire cases occurred of men' working as masons ‘who had
never served an apprenticeship to the trade.® As the great majority of the
apprentices were bound for seven years (eight or more being very exceptional) it
follows that in the ordinary course of events the apprentices bound in 1619-20
(i.e., the first year for which records are availuble) should have taken up their
freedoms seven years later in 1626-27, and so forth. Actually there was a very
heavy leakage and less than half of the apprentices bound at Masons’ Hall were
admitted to the freedom. In the table in Appendix K, we show the number of
apprentices presented year by year from 1619-20 to 1688-89 and the admission
of ex-apprentices to the freedom year by year from 1626-27 to 1695-96. During
the seventy years from 1619-20 to 1688-89, 1,302 apprentices were presented,
but during the seventy vears from 1626-27 to 1695-96, 579 ex-apprentices were
admitted to the freedom. Thus only 44 per cent of the apprentices bound
ultimately took up the freedom. Various reasons can be suggested for this state
of -affairs.  Firstly, some apprentices presumably proved unsuitahle and did not.
survive a probationary period; secondly, some doubtless died or were incapacitated
before their indentures expired; thirdly, some probably failed to take up their
freedom when out of their indentures, either on account of the expense involved
or because they saw no advantage in doing so, this latter consideration applying
more particularly after the Great Fire, when the Statute for .the Rebuilding of
the City permitted such artisans as were not free to work there. Nevertheless,
the special conditions brought about by the Fire cannot have been more than a
secondary influence, for the leakage was very considerable before September, 1666,
when only 48.5 per cent. of the apprentices presented were later admitted to the
freedom, the corresponding figure after the Fire being 39 per cent.

1 See our paper ‘‘ Masons’ Wages in Medisval England,’’ FEconomic History,
January, 1933, and The Medieval Mason, 235. 236. The figures and estimates we
were able to collect are summarised as follows: —

Mason’s duily money wage in summer (without food).

Years. Oxford (Rogers). Cambridge (Rogers). [London (Bridge Afes.).
1603-12 12d. 12d. 16d.
1613-22 12d. 14d. [18d.-20d.]
1623-32 12d. 14d. [20d.-22d.:‘
1633-42 12d. 16d. [22d.-24d.
1643-52 18d. 16d. [24d.-26d.]
1653-62 18d. 16d.-18d. [30d.]
1663-72 . 18d. 18d. 30d.
1673-82 [18d.7 [18d.1 30d.
1683-92 [18d.] [18d.1 30d.-32d.
1693-1702 [18d.] [18d.-24d.7 30d.-32d.

2 See statement in the Masons’ Company’s Charter of 1677 (4.Q.C., xliii., 123)
to this effect, and the case, mentioned above, of Joseph Vincent, ‘‘ an unfreeman and

one that did never serve any apprenticeship to any mason whatsoever.” (Court Book.
12th October, 1699.)
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The table in Appendix K probably reflects more or less the fluctuations in
building activity in London during the centurv, though after the Great Fire the
numerous admissions to the Company by redemption, the increasing employment
of ' foreigners ' and the growing practice of masons joining other companies and
binding their appreutices elsewhere than at Masons’ Hall, make the figures of
apprentices’ presentment: a somewhat unsatisfactory index. ~Whereas the average
number of apprentices bound each year during the 47 years immediately before the
Fire was 16, compared with 44 in the five years 1667-72, it was only 19 for the
seventeen years from 1672 to 1689. when building was still very active.

By the seventeenth century, the old prejudice, if it may be so called,
against employing journeymen’'s apprentices,! had apparently lost some, if not
all of its force. At the Bridge the apprentices we have traced * were all bound
to the Chief Bridge Masons, as in earlier times,® but in the case of the Office of
Works Richard Wade* and John Clarke, who were employed at Greenwich
in April, 1667, were probably both apprentices of Timothy Townsend, who was
employed there at the same time. It is also quite possible that Henry Grey,
whose wage was put up from 2s. 2d. to 2s. 4d. and then to 2s. 6d., was also an
apprentice. On the various municipal works on which they were engaged in
1666-67, Thomas Jordan employed one apprentice, Thomas Nash.® and Thomas
Knight employed several, Henry Gulliford.” Nicholas Weeden,® Timothy Curtis,?
Robert Curtis ' and John Browne.'' Only Gulliford was Knight's own apprentice,
and the masters of the other four do not appear to have been at work on the
same job, a point to which further reference will be made shortly. At Greenwich,
very possibly Ralf Allen, rated first at 20d. and then at 30d., was an apprentice.
There may also have been others, but we have only been able to trace three
masons who were employed there before they took up their freedoms, though in
all probability not before they were out of their apprenticeships.!? On the other
hand, it is noteworthy that Thomas Atkins,'® the apprentice of Edward Strong,
junior, never appears in the Greenwich list.

In judging our success in tracing masons’ apprentices at this period, it
has to be remembered that it is only those bound at Masons’ Hall that we have
any real chance of tracking down; those bound elsewhere are generally beyond
our ken.

The old rule, that no one should set an apprentice to work except in the
presence of his master,!* was clearly no longer enforced, if it still existed.
Reference has already been made to the various apprentices Knight employed on
municipal works in 1667 (though it is just possible that their masters also worked
for Knight, but on task work). The searches of 1678 and 1694, however, in

1 See The Medieval Mason, 161 seq.

2 See above.

3 See our paper, ‘‘ London Bridge and its Builders,” A4.Q.C., xlvii.

4 Richard Wade, bound to Timothy Townsend, 28th June, 1664.

5 John Clarke, late apprentice of Timothy Townsend, free 30th March, 1669.

6 Thomas Nash, apprenticed to Nathaniel Turner, 15th June, 1664.

7 Henry Gulliford, apprenticed to Thomas Knight, 25th June, 1667.

8 Nicholas Weeden, late apprentice of George Dowyer, free 30th October, 1672.

® Timothy Curtis, late apprentice of William London, free 14th January, 1667/8.

10 Robert Curtis, apprenticed to Thomas King, 11th May, 1667.

11 John Browne, apprenticed to Thomas Richardson, 26th October, 1666.

12 Samunel Broomhall, employed July, 1700, at 2/6 per day, apprenticed to
Thomas Broomhall 3rd January, 1692/3, free 30th June, 1702.

John Gresham, employed January, 1701/2. at 2/6 per day, apprenticed to John
Walker 9th January. 1693/4, free 30th June. 1702.

Robert Franklyn, employed March. 1704/5, at 2/6 per day, apprenticed to
William Payne 17th January, 1697/8, free 18th April, 1705.

13 Thomas Atkins, apprenticed to Edward Strong, junior, 4th July, 1700, free
14th July, 1708.

1t London Regulations for the Trade of Masons, 1856, printed in The Mediceval
Mason, 250.
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addition to showing various cases of journeymen and their apprentices employed
together by contractors, show several unmistakable instances of apprentices
being employed though their masters’ were not engaged on the same job. (See
Appendices A and C.) Thus on any one job there might be (i.) apprentices of
the mason-contractor, (ii.) journeymen'’s apprentices accompanied by their masters,
and (iil.) journeymen’s apprentices not accompanied by their masters, the efect
of which would be greatly to augment the number of apprentices employed in
relation to full journeymen. The most striking case of this type which we have
noted was that of Christopher Kempster and Ephraim Beauchamp on their St.
Paul’s contract in 1694; of the 25 masons they employed, no fewer than 11 were
apprentices, made up as follows:—

3 apprentices of Christopher Kempster.

2 apprentices of Ephraim Beauchamp.

2 apprentices of journeymen engaged on the job.

4 apprentices of journeymen not engaged on the job.

The same search showed that of the 13 masons employed by John Thompson,
5 were apprentices, of the 16 masons employed by Thomas Hill and Thomas Wise,
5 were apprentices, and of the 16 masons employed by Fulkes, 5 were apprentices.

The wages paid in respect of apprentices at this period appear to have
varied from 18d. or 20d. per diem to 30d. per diem. The lower figure,
equivalent to a common labourer’s wage, was the maximum provided for
apprentices in their first vear according to the Norwich Masons’ Ordinances of
1677.'  The higher figure, equivalent to a full mason’s wage, was, according to
the London Masons’ Ordinances of 1521,%2 not to be charged in respect of an
apprentice until he had served at least four years. We doubt whether an
apprentice was worth a labourer’s wage in his first year or a full mason’'s wage
in his fifth year, but in any case it was not the apprentice who received the
relatively high wage but his master, who, being responsible for the board, lodging
and clothing of the apprentice, was entitled to any wage earned by him.* The
struggle, if any, regarding the fixing of an apprentice’s wages, lay between the
apprentice’s master on the one hand and his employer on the other. If anything,
the master appears to have been more, rather than less, generously treated than
in the Middle Ages.* Very possibly the development of the system of journey-
men’s apprentices and the relatively high wages paid in respect of them, may
be regarded as a method of partially compensating the more responsible journey-
men for the great rise in the cost of living during the sixteenth and seventeenth
centuries, which the increase in their money wages had certainly not been
sufficient to cover.®

The foregoing analysis of the stone-building industry in seventeenth century
London, which we have attempted, is mecessarily incomplete, partly because
we had not the months of leisure necessary for an exhaustive study of the
voluminous accounts of St. Paul’s and of London Bridge, and partly because
we could find but little evidence, in the way of account books and wage books,
relating to the affairs of small ‘‘ shopkeepers’’ and to the uctivities of journey-

! Text in 4.Q.C., xv., 210

2 Toxt in The Medicval Mason 256 seq.

3 For legal rulings on this pomt see English and FEmpire Digest, xxxiv.,
519, §4354.

1 See The Mediwval Mason, 163.

5 See The Medieval Mason, 238.
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men. The discovery of material unknown to us and the further study of existing
sources may require the modification, on points of detail, of the picture we have
presented, but will not, we trust, necessitate any great changes in the main out-
lines.  Meanwhile, as we bring our account to an end, there is one further
limitation which we think needful to stress: namely, the special character, it
might almost be said the abnormality, of the conditions we have been studying.
We have been dealing not only with a capital city but with a metropolis in
which the Great Fire, and the measures taken after it, gave an artificial stimulus
to the building industry. In the provinces, conditions may have been different.
Without further investigation it is not possible to say how universal were the
tendencies which appear to have characterised the industry in London—the
separation of the functions of architect and master mason, the disappearance of
the ‘‘ direct labour '’ system and the rise of the mason-contractor.

SHORT BIBLIOGRAPHY.
(i.) Sources in Manuscript.

Bank Ledgers (1695-1711): Bank of England and Messrs. C. Hoare and Co.

(‘ity Records: Repertories of the Court of Aldermen; Journals of the Court of
Common Council; Books of Weekly Payments at London Bridge,
1652 to 1694; in the Records Office, Guildhall.

G'reenwich Ilospital : Propositions and Proposals (1696), in R.I.B.A. Library.

Marshall, Edward: Indenture of 1668, Guildhall Library, MS. 833.

Masons’ Company: Account Book, 1619-1706; Court Books, 1677-1694 and 1695-
1722; Quarterage Book, 1663-1700; Freedom Book, 1694-1786.

Office of Works: Accounts for 1662-63, 1664 and 1666-67, B.M. Harl. MSS.
1657, 1618, 1658.

Rebuilding Accounts: Exch. K.R. Accounts 474/30 and 475/1 to 475/8 in Public
Record Office; Guildhall Library MSS. 184 and 323.

St. James’s Palace: Accounts for 1644. B. M. Sloane MS. 1706.

St. Paul’s Cathedral: Accounts for 1632-1642, K.R. Misc. Books i. 67 in
P.R.O.: Acquittance Books 1683-1691 and 1693-1697, and
Accounts for 1677-78, 1685-86, 1693-94 and 1696-97 in St. Paul’s
Cathedral Library.

Strong, Edward: Document, deeds and bills of work, 1699-1720, Guildhall
Library MSS. 233 and 901 (N°°. 38-44).

Whitehall : Banqueting TMouse Account 1619-1622, Declared Accounts N°. 3391
in P.R.O.; Whitehall and Tower of London, 1669-1670, Declared
Accounts N°. 3283. See also under Office of Works.

Winchester Palace: Account for 1682/3-1686, Declared Accounts, N°. 3460.

(ii.) Printed Sources and Secondary Authorities.

Bell, W. G. The Great Fire of London.
Blacl: Books of Lincoln’s Inn.
Bolton, A. T., and Hendry, H. D. (Editors), Hampton Court Palace, 1689-1701
(Wren Society, vol. iv., 1927).
The Royal MHospital for Seamen at Greenwich, 1694-1728 (Wren Society,
vol. vi., 1929).
The Royal Palaces of Winchester, Whitehall, Kensington and St. James's,
1660-1715 (Wren Society, vol. vii., 1930).
The DParochial Churches of Sir Christopher 1Wren, 1666-1718 (Wren
Society, vol. x., 1933).
Designs by Sir Christopher Wren for Westminster Abbey . . . (Wren
Society, vol. xi., 1934).



70 Transactions of the Quatwor Coronali Ludye.

Calendars of State Papers, Domestic.
Calendars of Treasury Boolks.
Carde, W. D. Sir Christopher Wren and Tom Tower, Ozford.
Conder, E. The Hole Craft and Fellowship of Masons:
Clutterbuck, R. History and Antiquities of the County of Hertford (1815).
Ellis, Sir H. (Ed.). Dugdale’s History of St. Paul’s Cathedral (1818).
Esdaile, Mrs. Arundell.
English Monumental Sculpture since the Renaissance:
Temple Church Monuments.
‘“ The Stantons of Holborn *’ (drehewological Jowrnal, vol. 85, 1928).
Faber, H. Caius Gabriel Cibber, 1630-1700. . .
Gerbier, Sir B. Counsel and Advice to all Builders, etc., (1663).
Gunther, R. T. The Architecture of Sir Roger Pratt.
Halley, J. M. W. “The Rebuilding and the Workmen at St. Paul’s Cathedral
from the Accounts’’ (R.I.B.A. Journal, 1914-15).
Historical MSS. Commassion, Portland MSS., vol. x.
Hope, W. H. St. J. Windsor Castle.
Horsley, J. W. ““ An Account of the Rebuilding of the Cathedral Church of
~ St. Paul's” (4.0Q.C., xvii., 1904).
Knoop, D., and Jones, G.P. The Jle(liw»val Mason.
Lloyd, N. History of Knglish Brickworl:.
““ Philomath,”” T. N. 7The City and Countrey Purchaser and Builder’s Dictionary
(1703). ‘
Poley, A. F'. E. St. Paul’s Cathedral, London.
Poole, Rachel. Zdward Pierce the Sculptor (Walpole Sdciety, vol. xi., 1922-23).
Spiers, W. L. Nicholas Stone (Walpole Society, vol. vii., 1919).
Statutes of the Realm.
Weaver, L. ‘“ Complete Building Accounts of the City Churches (Parochial)
designed by Sir Christopher Wren = (.lrcheologia, lxvi., 1915).
Williams, W. J. “ The King's Master Masons "' (A.Q.C"., xliv. 1930).
‘“ Masons of the City of London’’ (4.Q.C"., xlvi., 1932).

APPENDIX A.

GENERAL SEARCH oF APRIL, 1678.
(Masons’ Court Boolk).

Moneyv received of several persons upon Account of a search
made at their several houses vizt. April y* 16%.

M" Hamond, M’ Payne, M" Kempster, MF Strong, M* Fitch,
M* Young sen., M" Cartwright, M* Beadles, M* Wise, M* Sybert,
Mr Story, M* Tulfnell M" Lampan, M* Robt. Towse, M Stephens, ‘
Mr Story, M*® Thorne, M™ Kerne, N Powell, M“ Edgerly, M" Mathews,
Mr Robt. Maxfield, M" Pierce, MF Stanton .......... A 8s. 0d.

April y° 17%,
Mr Mitchell, M* Roberts, M* Waters, M* Norris, M* Wyman
Is. 8d.
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At a search the 16 of April 1678.%
At St Lawrence Church!
Thomas Grew a Northamptonshire man not admitted
Mathew Grlnmay not admitted a Gloucestershire man
At the Old Jeury Church.?
Henry ffrost
At M" Hammonds Church?3
Thomas Stocking
John Browne
William Brand
Elias Dodson not free apprentice with M* Thompson
William Hoare not free apprentice with William King
Richard Miller
James Palfreman
John Walker
William Adams
At St James Garlicke 1Tith*

‘William Nurse paid for quarterage 6s.
Adrian Norman

William Hinde owes 12s.
firancis Collbert not free

Bartho. Wolfe owes ; 10s.

Thos. Hillyard not free
William Porter not free

. At St Michaell Queenehith 3
William Watts free of the Joyners

W™, Anger owes £2
Thomas Yates free of the Stationers

Nicholas Weeden owes . 18s.
George Northen

John Quarterman paid for quarterage 2s.

St Bennet Paules Wharfe ®
John Norris free of the ITaberdashers
John Clayton . _

With M" flitch
John Browne |,

St. Martins Ludgate ’
Timothy Smith
Robert Bushnell
’ At Mr Lathums
William Robinson free of the Barber Chirurgions
James Hardy
Thomas Bronil

* In printing this list we have followed the original in the spelling of proper
names and, so far as possible, in the lay-out.

1 Edward Pearce.

2 ? St. Olave’s: John Shorthose.

3 All Hallows the Great, Thames Street.

4 Christopher Kempster.

5 Thomas [? James] Flory and Samuel Fulkes.
6 Thomas Strong. Either the church of that name, which he began in 1677

(Cluttelb\lck) or his wharf, this being the address of Edward Strong in 1691 when his
501" Wds apprenticed to him. |

7 Nicholas Young.



72 Transactions of the Quatwor Coronati Lodge.

At Arundell House'!
M* Pierce’s servants
John Greeneaway owes : 3s.
John Walker free of the Joyners
Thomas Nayle appr. to Richard Nayle his father
Thomas Cooke clothworker
Lawrence Prestbury
At M~® Syberts
Salvator Musco an Italian
Henry de Young a Dutchman
James Berger als. Sheppard
Michel Losnitz
Hinrich Brochamp
With M* Tuffnell not free of the Company
Abell Daniell his apprentice
John Woodroofe his journeyman a new man
With M*® Tompson
Robert Parnecutt
John Lockett
Richard Hill formerly an appr. in Sussex now turned
over to M* Tompson by a Scrivener
Joseph Katernes not free bound at Joyners Hall
With M* Storey
Peter van Convonbergh

Thomas Humphreys paid for quarterage 1s.
William Grumball appr. to Rob®. Grumball at M* Norris
William Hunt paid for quarterage 1s.

Thomas Neales foreigner from Northampton
Michaell Bagley not free appr. to Anthony B‘lgley West
Mr Thorne paid for quarterage 1s.
John Wade
M* Marke Stephens
William Apsly

M* Robert Smith paid for quarterage 6s.
Nicholas Powell
M* John Stone 1s.

With William Edgerly William Cotton his servant
Edward Bridgeford not free
With M® Mathews
Thomas Stayner
At Mr Stantons yard and house
Henry Tuer
Advitem Quinav
William Turner
Thomas Bladen
Anthony Mavo

M* George Courtney owes £1. ba.
Jacob Perkins .owes Bs.
Samuell Davis owes 5s. | Refractory

John Redding

- 1 Shortly after the demolition of Arundel House a street called Arundel Street

yvas?_li\;\lt. on the site in 1678. (Wheatley and Cunningham, London Puast and Present,
1.,






4 Transactions of the Quatuor Coronati Lodge.

John Rialls
firancis Morley
Richard Allcock
Thomas Lutter
M" Robins in Seething Lane
Simon Westward at M* floreys
M* Well in Shoe Lane
Al* John King in Seacoale Lane
Thomas Cooke Saffron Hill
William Shelton
Samuel West in Clerkenwell
At M Weymans
M De Keazar
M® Goodey
Gregoire de Vaux
April the 22% at St. Pauls with M" Storey
Thomas Keen T
Thomas ffazer
Robert Dickson
Godfrey Wolstenham
William Stringer
John Vile J
Robert Wadley free of the Masons keeps a boy a year
(and not bound)
Christopher Bond
William Hetterley
Thomas Cowles
Joseph Richards
John Eston
Robert Mason
Thomas Shadboult his servant
Richard Richards
William fforte
Edward Hinder appr. to Richard Chester Clothworker
Richard Wakefield
James Herhert
Stephen Turner
23 April 1678
The several foreigners hereunder named appeared at this court and desired they
might be admitted as foreign members of this company and therefore gave their
several bills for payment of their fees to the company and upon payment thereof
are to he admitted & sworne members as by the Charter is.directed.

- foreizne s

William De Keyser Andrew Cannino
Richard Rawlins James Sheppard
Peter Ash Peter Vanconbergh
William Hetterly John Macklewe
Edward Bridgefoote John Ryalls
William Goude James Streater
Nathaniel Rawlins William Shelton
Robert Towsey - John Ryalls jn.
Andrew Kerne William Stringer
Gregoire de Vaux Thomas ffaser
Jacob White Henry Robins
Thomas Bladen William Salvator
Samuel West Nicholas Powell

Christams Cocke
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APPENDIX B.

List or ForErieNERS, 1686.%

(Masons’ Court Book).
29% April 1686
The names of such foreigners of the Masons trade that were summoned to
appear here this day to be sworn of this company

Present
John up Broxup to appear next Court
Edmund Heath sen. excused
Thomas Cole promised to appear next Court
Humphrey Nuney gave a note and was admitted
John White
Thomas Gawthorne gave a note and admitted
Walter Clarkson refused
William Dodge gave a note and admitted
Edmund Heath jr. refused to pay the fees hut willing to be admltted
Peter Abraham gave a note & admitted
John Whiteing did the like
John Lumley did the like
John Duckmanton refused
Thomas Parnham refused
Jonathan Challener gave a note & was admitted
Robert Robinson gave a note & was admitted
William Phillipps gave a note and was admitted
William Miller to appear next Court
Anthony Towsey bound to a freeman
John Verdoe
Jacob Bookey
William Grumball
John Miller to appear next Court
Robert Gibbs to appear next Court
Wilkinson Bourne to appear next Court
Robert Rodway to appear next Court
Andrew Kenner ‘
Nuthaniel Hall
Ellis Ball a Dutchman refused
John Moulton refused
Thomas Liitter to appear next Court M" Stanton testified for him
Joseph Henson to appear next Court
Sam: Andrews to appear next Court
John Blackett to appear next Court
Nicholas Edmden ( ?) to appear
George Menley a German Ad. to pay quarterage but not sworn
Thomas Neale sen
Thomas Neale jr } refused
John Grumball to appear next Court
Thomas Wright
Abell Daniell bound a freeman
Percival Deane
firancis Morley to appear next Court
William Ridle to appear next Court

* Spelling of proper names as in the original.
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James Thomson to appear next Court
William Redding

James Rumsey to appear next Court
Nicholas Abram gave a note & was admitted
Christ. Cox to appear next Court

Michaell Bagley to appear next Court
Richard Lupford to appear next Court

John Bladon to appear next Court

[18™ May, 1686]
Foreigners
Robert Longstaffe promised to send for his indenture promised
to appear next Court
George Apleby produced his indenture and promised to
appear next Court

[16t" December, 1686]

Thomas Neale a foreigner was this day admitted & sworn

by virtue of an order of the Chamberlain made upon the

Act of Parliament for the rebuilding of the city and paid £1

APPENDIX C.

GENERAL SEARCH OF SEPTEMBER, 1694.%
(Masons’ Court Book).

September 26 1694 We marched to view and take an account of freemen &
prentises persuant to an Order of a Court of Assistants

John ffitch and his son John prentice
William Payne

Journeyman Thomas Case prentise with M* Stanbrow free

Nathaniell Rawlins not at home

Thomas Neale and Richard his son two years to serve
John Walker and William Walker out of their time the 30" inst.
and John Gressum his prentice with journeyman William Mitchell
senior served Thomas Shadbolt
Richard Miller Thomas Drake mason mnot free made free
the 9" October 1694
Giles Stretton Journeyman Nich. Robarson Barber Surgeon free
Barthol. Wolfe John Mat journeyman Abraham
Littlear prentice Peter Clift married before he was out of his time
William Woodmans man at work in Fanchurch St. William Martindale
between 30 & 40 years of age not out of his.time
Richard Croutcher & his prentice Henery Mills Bensamine
Bresberry and Edward Bracey journeymen
John Royalls ffariar & his prentice John Harber John Northan
junior journeyman Mason
Thomas Yates & his son Thomas Yates Stationers
Mett Henry Hunt in the street by the Navy office Mason
Thomas Stayner and William Bass his prentice Anthony Stayner his brother
and prentice

*In printing this list we have followed the original in the spelling of proper
names and, so far as possible, in the lay-out.
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Richard Pinberry
William Hagden
William Cutlar served John Rydley not free
William Morton Mason free
William Albrow served Rawlins not free
Thomas Jurden son of Robert Jurden not free
John Bonner & son not bound
James Todd Mason free
Robert Gawthorne mason served John Ray mnot free
Thomas Stott now appr. with Anthony Leonard
William Reminton Mason served Shadbolt
Eguldlah Turnar Turnar Mason
Thomas Anderson Q. whether free
Danl Marks Q
John Ryley
Thomas Neale & son Richard Neale
his prentice massons _
John Cobb a foreigner from Portland or Poals
Thomas Goldsmith and John Shakleworth his prentice gone to sea
and John Tomlins not free about 40 years of age

} foreigners

Widdow Sprats at Ratliff Cros
John Proke served her & is in the country mot free
Robert Jones woodcarver mnot at home
4 Carvers at work in the shop one of them
John fleilder his prentice
One of them bound to M* Newman & is made free of
the Clothworkers
The other two served their times with M" John Miller joyner one
of them being Anthony Nickson
James Portar & his son Haberdashers
M William Stanbrugh & his son and one prentice Nathaniel
Turner to serve till Midsummer next & then out but he is very weak
Charles Martin & prentice William Gray
Journeymen sometimes Peter Overton
Thomas Fatihar |
George Campion
Journeymen Bens. Mabbott served James Pagett not free
John Pursar & prentice Charles
William Holland
Josua Hiam served his time with Pursar & Holland now at
work for M* Danins in the country mnot free
Thomas Browne and Jonathan Beamount his prentice
Journeyman Thomas Randall Mason
Ma*. Cartwrights
William Price Carver
William Read Mason
William Robarson Barber Surgeon
and Will Camell [ % Daniell] his prentice
Journeyman Thomas Green Mason
John Thorne prentices James Austin John Wonsley
Mathew Baker & one prentice Thomas Bennett
Journeyman Peter West served John Fitch Mason
John Bosworth served M* Hamond Merchant Taylor

17
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James Pollard
John Woodruffe
John Turner Mason not made free late appr. to Matt. Baker

Healy Chetley appr. to John Rayne Mason

Thomas Redsterne appr. to Robert Wright DMason

Thomas Dunn appr. to David Printer Southwark

Mr John Thomson’s men

William Kempster Mason

John Magnus Mason

John Barker bound to M* Emmett a Joyner not free

John Goslin bound to the Leathersellers not free

William Page Mason & Obediah Harding his appr.

Stephen Powell son of Peter Powell Mason not free

Walter Newman foreigner

William Cooper Mason

Giles Dance Merchant Taylor

Theophilus Allen son of Peter Allen 'Mason not free

Beniamine Robinson appr. to William Kempster

George Stennell appr. to Lawrence Chase Mason

Mr ffulk’s men

William Bray Haberdasher

Thomas Jones

Bensamine Masson appr. not out of their times but bound to the Haberdasher
Richard Atlock foreigner ‘

Robert Meson not free a journeyman & Thomas Norris his appr.

bound to the Stationers per Edward Platt

Samuel Taylor Mason

‘William Givers a Mason

John Mason John Townsend appr. to M® fiulks

Nicholas Shreeve b

Peter Hills
Thomas Hollinghurst
John Blading
John Jenkins an Imbroderer Q if free

firancis Colton foreigner

Mr Hills & M* Wise’'s men

William Cotten Merchant Taylor Quer. if free

firancis Morley foreigner Robert Bushnell Mason

William Ensor Mason William Collier Mason

James Tyley not free bound to John ffitch a Mason

Henry Wise not free bound to his father a Mason

John Grumball a foreigner John Playdon a foreigner

William Solman foreigner Thomas Coodell a Haberdasher a Carver
William Thompson not free late appr. to M* Hill

Joseph Gate carver free of the Joyners

Robert Paynter appr. to William Collier

‘{;3}&;?;:;3; }appr. to Robert Bushnell

September the 26'™ 1694

At M* Todds' shop in Clerkenwell

one boy not bound

At M* Elisha Allen’s shop at Holbourne Bridge John Steevens free
of the Blacksmiths William Steevens appr. to M* Elisha Allen out of his
time the next Lord Mayors Day

Richard Poole another appr. to M" Allen bound to the Blacksmiths

} foreigners

J- foreigners
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Humphrey Nunny a foreign member lives in Beare and
Raged Staff Court in Drury Lane

Mr Peter King in Litchfield Street Soho Merchant
Taylor

Stephen Smith ]
Robert Rogers
William Cockram '
Richard Hayes 1
Samuell Langstaffe
Matt. ffortner ’
M Strouds in St Martins Lane

one appr. named William

M" Buck in Long Acre foreigner

Robert Easton appr. to him but bound to William Cotton Merchant Taylor
firancis Wood a journeyman foreigner

Mr Adam Jones in Princes Street near Soho free of the Joyners
bound to Thornas Rogers
Edward Davis )
John Symcock J
Mr Robert Smith in Pell Mell
Robert Woodhouse )
William Gregory | appr-
Thomas Pelton journeyman served Peter Powell but not
free Thomas Leadford foretgner
Pearse Deane foreigner served on[e] Towsday
Richard Manners formerly bound to M Smith but did not serve out his time
Mr Raiper foreigner in Albermarle buildings
Robert Thomas ’
William Wood & his son Matt. ]
William Shelton
Edmond Jones
firancis Waster )
Thomas Charlsworth | 2PP*
John Dickins in Windmill Street near pickadilly Labourer
At M* Thompson's
Robert Parncutt Mason
Chase Carver
Mr Richard Mapletoffts men at Wallingford House
John Ray Mason
Anthony Towsey Merchant Taylor
John Cooper bound to the Masons but not made free
Richard Gutteridge Haberdasher
John Northeast foreigner
James Pillford firancis Paulett foreigners

Mr William Kidwell at Westminster Hall Gate free of the

Joyners
Robert Kidwell his apprentice bound at the Joyners
William Colbourne works at M* Nests in the Haymarket bound to M® Bumstead

not yet free

- Journeymen served their times there with him

- apprentices

bound to the Joyner

. Journeymen

Mr Tuffnells at” Westminster
William Smith served his father freeman of the Leathersellers but

not made free
Abell Daniell Q
James ffreeman
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John Browne free of Vintners
Robert Burt not free but was bound to M" Boxe sword cutler
M~ William Maybank at the Horse ferry at Westminster not a freeman
Thomas Chittnall bound at Salters Hall to one Blisset a cheesemonger
John Jewson appr.
M® Pearse in Arrundell Street
Richard Colebarne Waxchandler
William Palmer a foreigner
Richard Hill foreigner
John Hill bound to his father a mason but not made free

APPENDIX D.

Acr orF Common Couxcin, 11 SEpTEMBER, 1694.

(Journals of the Court of Common Council, ii., fos. 14-15 v.)

Whereas the Master, Wardens, Assistants and Comonalty of the arte or
Mistery of Masons of the Citty of London Now are and antiently have been a
brotherhood and long since incorporated and . .- . have obteyned several royall
grants whereby and py their originall constitucion they ought to consist and be
of all persons useing the trade of a Mason within the Citty of London and
libertyes thereof Notwithstanding which many persons who use and excersisé the
trade of Masonry (but more especially since the late dreadfull fire which hapned
in London) procured themselves to be made free of other Companys by Patrimony
redemcion and otherwise contrary to their known duty and to the great prejudice
and hindrance of the Company of Masons to the end they may be without any
regulacion and restriccion in the prise and substantiall mannagement of their work,
by meanes and occasion whereof many and great frauds and deceits have been
practized upon the Cittizens of this Citty and other their Majestyes subjects for
want of that due inspeccion into Artificers exerciseing the said Trade in regard
such artificers are not subject to the goverment of the said Company and the good
and wholesome lawe and ordinances thereof For remedy and reformacion whereof
and to the intent the aforesaid mischeifs may be prevented in time to come And
to the end the said Company may hereafter have free and absolute view search
and oversight of things pertaining to the said trade and to the due workmanship
thereof and punishing all frauds, defects, unskilfull workmanship and other
offences therein Be it enacted established and ordeyned by the right hono®e the
Lord Mayor Aldermen and Comons in this Comon Councell assembled and by
the authority of the same y* all and every person or persons hereafter useing or
exerciseing the Art or mistery of Masonary within the said Citty of London and
libertyes thereof who hath or shall have right and priviledge to be made free by
patrimony or otherwise by virtue of his or their fathers freedome in any other
Company whereof his father was is or shall be free or by service with any free man
of any other Company shall at the next Court of Assistants of the said Company of
Masons after notice thereof to him given by the Clark or Beadle of the said Com-
pany by order of the Master and Wardens of the same Company for the time being
accept and take upon himself the freedome and be made a free-man of the said
Company of Masons in the like manner and forme, as he might or should have
been in such Company whereof his father or Master was so free as aforesaid,
any law Custome or usuage of the said Citty to the contrary thereof in any wise
notwithstanding. ~AND be it further enacted by the authority aforesaid y*' if
any person or persons useing or which shall hereafter use the art or mistery of
Masonary within the Citty of London or libertyes thereof who hath already served
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an Apprenticeship or shall hereafter serve an Apprenticeship in the sd. Trade
and not yet made free of the said Citty, or who shall procure his freedom by
redemcion service or patrimony of any other Company then of the said Company
of Masons and shall use the said art or mistery That then all and every such
person and persons so doeing and offending in all either or any of the said cases
shall forfeit and pay for every such offence the sume of ten. pounds of lawfull
money of England to be recovered by accion of debt bill or plaint to commenced or
prosecuted in the name of the Chamberlain of the Citty of London for the time
being in their Majesties Court to be holden in the Chamber of Guildhall in the
Citty of London before the Lord Mayor and Aldermen of the same Citty for the
recovery thereof And that the said Chamberlen of the said Citty for the time
being in all suits to be prosecuted by virtue of this present Act shall recover the
ordinary costs of suite to be expended in the prosecution of the same But in case
the said Chamberlen shall be nonsuited or a verdict shall pass for the defend® (sic)
in any Accion so to be brought as aforesaid by virtue of this Act that then and
in such case the said Chamberlain shall be from time to time.saved harmeless and
indemnifyed by the Master Wardens assistants and Cominalty of the said art or
mistery of Masons or by such other person or persons who shall be Informers and
cause such accions to be brought whereupon such non suit or verdict shall
happen as aforesaid. AND be it further enacted by the authority aforesaid
that one moiety of all forfeitures to be recovered by virtue of this Act (the
charges of the suite being first deducted) shall be paid to the Chamberlen of the
said Citty for the time being to the use of the Lord Mayor and Comonlty (sic)
and Cittizens of the same Citty and the other Moiety of the same forfeitures to
be paid unto the Master Wardens assistants and Comonalty of the said Company
of Masons for the use of the poore of the said Company. AND be it
further enacted by the authority aforesaid that noe person or persons useing
or exerciseing the said arte or mistery of Masonary shall be from henceforth
admitted by the Chamberlen of the said Citty of London into the freedome
- and libertyes of the said Citty in any other Company then in the said Company
of Masons any law or custome of the said Citty to the contrary notwithstanding.

AN Accouxt oF WHAT COMPANIES WERE SERVED WITH THE COPIES OF THE

Acr or CommoNn CouxciL. (Masons’ Court Book, 1677-94, fo. 169.)

8th of November 1694.

Haberdashers Fishermen
Goldsmiths Innholders
Barber Surgeons Grocers

Cooks Founders
Parish Clerks Embroiderers
Plasterers Mercers
Brewers Wax Chandlers
Coopers Sadlers Clerks
Girdlers Blacksmiths
Weavers Apothecaries
Armourers Stationers
Carpenters Cordwainers
Merchant Taylors Pipe makers
Leathersellers Pin makers
Bricklayers Basket makers
Clothworkers Cutlers

Fishmongers

Plumbers
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Turners Painters

Scriveners Bakers

Watermen Ironmongers

Tallow Chandlers Farriers

Skinners Lorimers

Vintners Curriers

Joiners Glovers

Dyers Fletchers

Salters Stocking frame work knitters

APPENDIX E.

GENERAL SEARCH oF Mav, 1696.*
(Masons’ Court Bool).

A search made the 15th. of May 1696 pursuant to an order of the
14% of January last viz.

L Landed on Hammersley’'s wharf for M* Woolf as followeth viz. of Purbeck

2900 foot & 200 of channell, broke 30 foot & half as bad & deficient

Mr Theobalds one servant John Bosworth, clothworker

John Pigott Barnabystreet Fishmonger no servant

The Widdow Bedford Fishmonger Benjamin Smith if free served Lampion

a carpenter both live in the Mase & keep no servants

David ffarmer hath one servant John Harris who was Glover’s appr.

not free

At St Thomas Hospital at work for M* Cartwright John Wolton Wm.

Read Richard Martin Edward Davenport & James Broomhall but the two

last not free

2 Mr Thorne one apprentice and Emanuel Haslam a free cutler journeyman

Nathaniel Rawlins IHaberdasher four appr. Littler, Copson, flilkes &

Growdon Littler’s time is just expiring ;

< M* Payne one journeyman Thomas Case )

M Beacham four appr. Gilbert, Thirkill, Stockley & Rosamond

Mr Strong three appr. Strong Banks & Banks

John ffitch

Thomas Humphryes one appr. Paul Mills

John Deane two appr. Nicholas Mitchill & Herbert Browne

M* Young one appr. Joseph Musco

Richard Walter one appr. Thomas Lodge & Thomas Nagg journeyman not free

Richard Garbutt one appr. William Sell

Samuel Webb Haberdasher one appr. Thomas Lake and Thomas Herbert

newly out of his time to be made free

Daniell fforest

Elisha Allen one servant William Stevens lately out of his time and John his son

married & not free

Mr William Stanton three apprentices Browne Atkins & Chilman

Robert Barrett in Bedfordbury not free

Mr Jacob Perkins one apprentice Edmund Watts

Mr Samuel ffulkes two apprentices Townsend & Hobby

James Pagett two apprentices Lissiman & Blandford and Matt Wood foreigner

* In printing this list we have followed the original in the spelling of proper
names and, so far as possible, in the lay-out.

1 In margin, Southwark side.

2 In margin, Westminster side.

3 In margin, M°. in this walk recd. 8s. 8d. at 4d. each for search money.
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Edward Buckingham

John Dalben

John Strewton will satisfy the court at their next sitting where he
served his time he lives in Red Lyon fields

M William Woodman only Thomas Yates who has two years to serve
E£dward Chapman two appr. his son & Edward Bury two

foreigners William Gooday & Thomas Duffield his journeymen

M* James Hardy one appr, near out of his time. Robert Rogers
journeyman Q if free & how long

M* John Miller one appr. Prosper Otway

Mr Thomas Buck one appr. Robert Easton who is bound to one Cotton
Merchant Taylor two years to serve

Mr Stroude one appr. John Stroude

M* Peter King foreigner two appr. Langstaffe & Faulkner

bound at Merchant Taylors Company

Adam Jones two appr. Davis & Symcox

M Thompson one appr. Henry Doughty

M~ John Nest one appr. Symon Rawling bound to Richard Colborn
William Thompson & William Palmer his servants  not free

M~ William Cotton

M" Robert Smith one appr. Robert Baynham & Thomas Charlesworth to be
turned over William Cockrill Edward Mitchell & Edward Speere his journeymen the
last was his apprentice & not free

M* William Kidwell Painter Stainer one journeyman Robert Woodhouse
late appr. to M Smith not free

Mr John Tufnell one appr. Edward his son and two journeymen

James Pollard & James ffreeman Q how ffreeman served his time
The Widdow Lampen mno servant

! Mr* Rawlins Abraham his apprentice near out of his time

Mr Kempster one appr.

2 M* Walker one appr. four journeymen Turner \Iltchell Ives and
Sanders all free

Mr Miller one appr.

Mr Stretton his son his appr. & Robinson late appr to Robinson a
Chirugeon his journeyman

Mr Woolfe one appr. & John Matts journeyman

M* Beacham at St Dunstans in the East employs Mark Bradshaw
Humphrasy Hide not free Peter Allen John Robins John Phillipps Josia
Smith not free he was M* Kempster’'s appr.

M* Crouther IIenry Mills lately out of his time & Bracy journeyman
M* Royalls & son ffariers two.journeymen Webb & Hollis

Mr Stayner William Bass & Robert Price to be made free Rowland Carmat &
Edward Steward foreigner his brother & an appr.

M" Ryley his son his appr.

M* Goldsmith Randle & Tomlins his journeymen

M~ Spratt & son Overton their journeyman

M" Jones Halbrone not free & Alson who served Emmitt a Joyner qnd
four other carvers

M Bucknill at the Widdow Youngs work at Mile Iind one appr. and Right
Hustin & Rose not free besides Goodfellow a foreigner

Mr* Martin one appr. & William Young journeyman

M Stanbrough none

! In margin, Whitechapel side.
2 In margin, M°. recd, for search money in this walk 4s. 8d.
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M" Campion two journeymen

AM" Holland one appr.

Mr Purser one appr.

‘Widdow Browne one appr.

Mr Cartwright

M* Robinson one appr. & two journeymen Northam & Cooke
M". Baker omne journeyman Maybott mnot free

APPENDIX F.

LisT oF MEMBERS MADE FREE BY REDEMPTION, 1670-1694.

William Gray, 28 Juhe, 1670.

Christopher Kempster, 4 August, 1670.

Thomas Strong, 15 September, 1670.

Thomas Hill, 17 November, 1670.

William Blay, 17 January, 1670/1.

John Woodroffe, 9 February, 1670/1.

Humphrey Jordan, 9 February, 1670/1.

Henry Pagett, 9 March, 1670/1.

Thomas Wise, 7 February, 1671/2.

" Michael Todd, 1 October, 1672

Daniel Norris, 8 April, 1673.

William Pagett, 28 May, 1673.

Richard Howard, 1 July, 1673.

Henry Drake, 12° August, 1673.

Richard Miller, 28 August, 1673.

Thomas Williams, 17 December, 1673.

[Jane Williams, widow of Thomas Williams made free by redemption
15 September, 1674.]

Peter Allen, 20 January, 1673/4.
Edward King, 3 February, 1673/4.
William Ranton, 13 February, 1673/4.
George Northend, I3 February, 1673/4.
James Dod, 5 March, 1673/4.

John Greenaway, 7 April, 1674,

Esay Williams, 7 April, 1674.

John Reay, 7 April, 1674.

John Browne, 31 July, 1674.

William Brand, 19 February, 1674/5.
Reginald Todd, 16 July, 1675.

John Carter, 29 October, 1675.

John Thorne, 19 November, 1675.
William Kempstei, ‘11 December, 1677.
John Carter, 2 July, 1678.

Thomas Randall, 21 January; 1678/9.
Edward Strong, 6 April, 1680.
Thomas Facer, 11 July, 1682.

? Edward Bridgefoote, ‘‘ admitted & sworn,’”” 11 July. 1682.
Ephraim Beacham, 16 October, 1684.
William West, 16 October, 1684.
Thomas Neale, 11 December, 1686.
Thomas Newton, 14 June, 1687.

John Phillipps, 17 November, 1691.
Robert Latham, 4 May, 1693.
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APPENDIX G.
List or ¢ ForeicN MEMBERS.”’
Richard Richards 13 January, 1690/1.
Thomas White 13 January, 1690/1.
John Stockdale 30 August, 1692.
Thomas Bird 30 August, 1692.
Thomas Stanfield 30 August, 1692.
Elias Allen 30 August, 1692.
Richard Richardson : 30 August, 1692.
Francis Whatcott © 30" August, 1692.
James Pollard 11 :October, 1692.
Mr. Joseph Hansen [cannot trace admission;
first on list of 1696-7.]
APPENDIX H. -
STONE IMPORTED INTO LONDON:'
(Masons’ Court Book)..
[Fe. 43v.] Since the 13" day of April 1678 [91680]

June

Mr Hammond

Paving besides step
Paving

Stepp

four grave stones
nine grave stones
Stepp

Paving

Paving

Paving

Paving

One bark of Portland

Mr Storey
Four barks of Portland

Tunn
- 2400
3300
0100

0100
3000
5000
2500
2400
0042

18,600

- 0190

M" Young since the 13*" of April
1500 .

of Rolls
Apr 17 Portland
June Portland

Mr Settell 16 April

Portland
Portland ;

M* Martin 16 April
Portland Co
M- Egerley 11 May -
Portland

Mr Nobell 12 ‘May
Portland

M* Stretton 11 May

- 0013

0150
4000

2000
2400

2000
3000

- 2500

(ste)
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Portland 2860
M* Thompson 12 May
Several barks of Portlund 3600

Mr Cartwright 28 April

One bark of paving & several barks of Portland
M- Stone

One bark of paving

Mr Shorthose 21 May

Tunn
Portland 3500
M™ Wise 21 May
Portland 4000
Mr Pearce 21 May o
Portland 5000
with grave stones & steps
M* Lampin 1** June
Paving 3100
of step 0150
of paving 5800

besides M* Cartwrights & M® Stones barks
about 20 grave stones
about 400 of step
many barks of Portland
Mr Knight
of several sorts of stone 0250

89
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APPENDIX J.
I[. TasLe oF Masons EmpLoveEp AT LonpoN Bripge, 1652-1694
(with date under which each name first appears).
Oct. 1652 Henry Wilson Oct. 1677 Robert Harison
Jeremy Saltmarsh Thomas Pierce
William Hamon Edward Evans
John Hemings Jan. 1677/8 | George Bradford
Abraham Storey Apr. 1678 Bostock Kent [? Knightl
Dec. 1652 Richard Wilson Jan. 1679/8 | Bartholomew Jackson
June 1654 Henry Hunt Oct. 1680 Benjamin Pears
Sept. 1654 William Skilman | Skelman] Thomas Vaune [Vaughanl]
May 1655 Richard Strafford [Stratford]{May 1681 William Perrey
July 1656 Richard Medon James Clay
Oct. 1656 Thomas Knight June 1681 Joseph Hobday
Feb. 1656/7 | Thomas King May 1682 William Atterbury
June 1658 John Jones Nov. 1682 Peter Allen
William Wilde . Wilcockson Bourne
Feb. 1658/9 | William Kinge Nov. 1683 John Walton
July 1660 Richard Clarke James Porter
Feb. 1660/1 |George Dowsewell Jan. 1683/4 | Charles Cathorn
Thomas Frith Mar. 1683/4 | Edward Davies
Benjamin Richeson June 1684 Thomas Wise
June 1661 John Pursur Thomas Jordan
Oct. 1661 John Baker July 1684 Samuel Parman
Mar. 1662/3 | Abraham Ward Aug. 1684 James Dowding
Apr. 1663 William Ireland John Slater
May 1663 John Whitwell Oct. 1684 Abraham Allobon
May 1666 Thomas Stevens ) Thomas Allen
Sept. 1666 John Dowsewell Dec. 1684 William Rydall
Aug. 1667 William Cooper John Rydall
George Osborne Jan, 1684/5 | Thomas Andurson
Geo. Greene Feb. 1684/5 | Thomas Leveridge
Robert Maye Henry Hunt
Nov. 1667 Richard Curtis Thomas Randall
Dec. 1667 John Curtis Joseph Cates [Keats]
May 1668 Robert Simones [Symonds] [Mar. 1684/5 | William Jaques
May 1669 David Farmer Joseph Cuttest
Sept. 1670 Robert Matts George Burges
. John Matts May 1685 Valentine Strong
Robert Paincoate William Berry
Aug. 1672 Thomas Cartwright John Dane
Sam Ward James Davies
July 1673 Joseph Cartwright Thomas Penny
Oct. 1673 William Goswell July 1685 John Dobbin
Nov. 1673 Richard Quarterman Aug. 1685 Francis Lurcott
Dec. 1673 Sam Horner Daniel Webb
May 1674 John Parrett George Bonny
June 1674 Humphrey Stick Thomas James
Nov. 1674 Thomas Durham Sept. 1685 Benjamin Mason
Jan. 1674/5 |Robert [Richard] Heath Daniel Forest
June 1675 Richard London Thomas Vesey
Mar. 1676 Thomas Goldsmith Apr. 1686 Joseph [? Thomas] Vaughan
Apr. 1676 Thomas Horner Sander. Berry [Buryl
July 1676 Thomas Bostock Thomas Pickett
Oct. 1676 Walter Benson John Porter
Feb. 1676/7 |Henry Pagett Aug. 1686 Sander. Green
July 1677 Henry Parker Sept. 1686 James Daniel
Aug. 1677 James Pagett June 1689 John Wise
William Hore Nov. 1690 Robert Blake
June 1691 Thomas Wise, jun.
Aug. 1694 Richard Thomas
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II. TasLE SHOWING EMPLOYMENT oF MasONS BY THE OFFICE oF WORKS
1662-1663, 1664 and 1666-1667.
1662—1663 1664 1666 —1667
Dec|Jan.] Feb | Mar.|Apl.| May lJune] July|Aug]| Sept. [Oct.| Nov. |[Dec]Jan.|Feb.[Mar|Apl.|May

Thos. Channell | A [AB|AB|AD| A | A | A [a [ac/aBc|ac] a |
Henry Gray A | AB|ABD[ABD|AD{ABDJAC|AC |AC| ABC| C |ADC|AD| A |AD|AD| A |AD
Wm, Moxham AB| AB[ABD|ABD|AD|ABDJAB| A |AE| ABC[AC|ABC| F | F F F|F F
Ricd. Potter ;

[Potten] A AC
Edw. Clawell

[Clowen] A G
James Sheeter AB
Harbert Paine A
James Wood ) A
Thos. Hipdith
John Clarke G G g G G G |G

t Thrift

grenay Shst ¢ [ca|calcaBp|cp|caB
W, Oxome F <
Sam. Fulkes G ¢
Nath. Rawlins a
Wm, Terrell (f
Sam. Ireland C
Robt. Michaell ¢
Wm, Herrell Tl
John Watson = whiteha A
Roger Clinton B=Westminster ) ) ig l}‘ A? AD [ AB| AD
Marke Stephens C=Duke of York’'s Lodgings :
John Wing D=St. James’ Palace D
Marke Johnson E=Queen’s Closet FIF|Flrl| F|F
Tim. Townsend F=Hampton Court G
Richard Wade G=Greenwich G

III. TasLe SHowiNg EMPLOYMENT OF Masons oN Various MuxicirAL WORKS;
NovemBER 1666 To JUNE 1667.
November 1666 |Dec. and Jan. |Feb. and Mar.| April May June
N (4 weeks) (6 weeks) (7 weeks) | (4 weeks)| (5 weeks) (5 weeks)
ames.
Days. Days. Days. Days. Days. Days.
Thos. Jordan* 24 30 24
John Ashworth 23 17 19
John Tasker 16 19 40
Thos. Samson 1
Richard Jordan 2
Thos. Nash 36
Thos. Knight* 6 22 30 30
Nich. Paine 3
Wm. Hutchlinson] 6 22 15 30
Nich. Weeden 17 14 13
Thos. Pridmore 17 8 22
Nath. Turner 14 17
Tim. Curtes 12 15 +
Wm. Burchote 2 11 27
Dan. Roberts 13 25
Thos. Manning 3
John Chirchouse 6
‘Wm. Fisher 2
John Browne 7
Robt. Curtes . 10 22
Henry Gulliforde 11

*Mason-Contractor.
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APPENDIX K.

PRESENTMENT OF APPRENTICES AT Masons’ Harr, 1619-1689, axp ApMIssioN To

FreepoMm orF Ex-APPRENTICES, 1626-1696.

Presentments. Freedoms. Presentments. Freedoms.
Year. No. No. Year. Year. No. No. Year.
1619-20 25 8 1626-27 1654-55 18 4 1661-62
1620-21 24 11 1627-28 1655-56 36 13 1662-63
1621-22 17 6 1628-29 1656-57 31 13 1663-64
1622-23 9 8 1629-30 1657-58 23 11 1664-65
1623-24 6 3 1630-31 1658-59 © 14 6 1665-66
1624-25 8 3 1631-32 1659-60 16 6 1666-67
1625-26 16 2 1632-33 1660-61 21 11 1667-68
1626-27 21 5 1633-34 1661-62 29 16 1668-69
1627-28 20 13 1634-35 1662-63 25 16 1669-70
1628-29 19 9 1635-36 1663-64 21 6 1670-71
1629-30 15 7 1636-37 1664-65 25 7 1671-72
1630-31 10 8 . 1637-38 1665-66 15 9 1672-73
1631-32 11 2 1638-39 1666-67 19 8 1673-74
1632-33 16 5 1639-40 1667-68 52 11 1674-75
1633-34 12 13 1640-41 1668-69 58 17 1675-76
1634-35 15 8 1641-42 1669-70 44 13 1676-7T
1635-36 19 12 1642-43 1670-71 37 30 1677-78
1636-37 5 3 1643-44 1671-72 27 8 1678-79
1637-38 16 4 1644-45 1672-73 19 9 1679-80
1638-39 32 5 1645-46 1673-74 19 7 1680-81
1639-40 14 11 1646-47 1674-75 13 8 1681-82
1640-41 13 6 1647-48 1675-76 25 4 1682-83
1641-42 12 7 1648-49 1676-77 35 6 1683-84
1642-43 7 2 1649-50 1677-78 23 4 1684-85
1643-44 2 3 1650-51 1678-79 17 5 1685-86
1644-45 1 3 1651-52 1679-80 9 11 1686-87
1645-46 12 5 1652-53 1680-81 11 8 1687-88
1646-47 19 5 1653-54 1681-82 12 5 1688-89
1647-48 17 14 1654-55 1682-83 18 3 1689-90
1648-49 8 16 1655-56 1683-84 19 3 1690-91
1649-50 8 17 1656-57 1684-85 28 9 1691-92
1650-51 6 4 1657-58 1685-86 23 15 1692-93
1651-52 i 2 1658-59 1686-87 14 11 1693-94
1652-53 15 5 1659-60 1687-88 26 14 1694-95
1653-54 15 9 1660-61 1688-89 8 8 1695-96

A hearty vote of thanks was unanimously passed to Bro. Knoop for his interesting:
paper, on the proposition of Bro. W. J. Williams, seconded by Bro. H. Poole; com--
ments being offered by or on behalf of Bros. G. W. Bullamore, H. Savers, David
Flather, and C. F. Sykes.

Bro. PooLE writes: —

I am very glad to be able to second the vote of thanks to Bro. Knoop and
his colleague for this valuable addition to their already valuable series of papers:
and T heartily agree with all that our S.W. has said.
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The more I read their book, The Medieval Mason—and I have read it
several times from cover to cover—the more convinced I become of the necessity
of our study of material of that kind (operative documents and so on) for an
understanding, if we are ever to reach one, of the history of the Craft.

But T must confess to a feeling of regret when reading and hearing this
paper. I suppose many of us, when seeing its title, must have felt that we were
at last getting to the most interesting place and period in the pre-Grand Lodge
era: only to find that it contained no reference to the speculative element. One
.could wish that Bro. Knoop was more interested in this aspect of Craft history;
but he has made himself a master in his own line, and no doubt he is wise to
stick to it, and to leave the speculative development to others.

For myself, I can claim little knowledge of the architectural history of
London, and even its topography is not too familiar; but to any student who is
well up in these, Bro. Knoop’s lists might very well lead to most interesting
results. It occurred to me to try and discover the extent to which the men
whose names appear there had been members of Lodges under the Grand Lodge
of 1717. Now, of course, the identification of mere names cannot be certain;
but a rapid count through the lists, commencing with the 1686 list, shows that
out of 587 names, no less than 73 (or almost exactly one in eight) are to be
found in the MS. Lodge Lists of 1723, 1725 and 1730 in the G.L. Minutes.
Allowing for the fact that there are numerous repetitions among the 587 names,
and that the search lists only range from 1686 to 1696—:.e., 27 to 37 years
earlier than the earliest Lodge membership lists—it would seem likely that the
‘proportion of working Masons of late seventeenth century who were members of
Lodges was considerably higher.

My, actual discoveries do not amount to much, but are by no means devoid
of interest. The first thing I noticed was that Edward Strong (presumably the
younger) was a member of the Swan at Greenwich in 1725, just when he was
engaged on a large contract there. Of greater interest are the lists relating to
the Ship behind. the Royal Exchange. Here we find the names of no less than
five of the Masons on Bro. Knoop’s list for the 1694 search:—

William Price, Carver (1730 list)

Thomas Dunn, Mason, app., served 4 years (1730 list)

William Hoare, Mason, free (1723 list)

John Mason, app. to Mr. ffulkes (1723 list, also Swan, Greenwich, 1725)

John Townsend, app. to Mr. ffulkes (1730 list)

1 had to ask our W.M. for the next step, and he immediately suggested ‘“ Bank ’’;
and he was able further to remind me of the very interesting foundation stone
-discovered some five or six years ago in the foundations of the Bank of England,
which bears the names of Thomas Dunn and John Townsend, the principal con-
tractors for the building, as well as that of Lord Montague, G.M. It seems,
then, by no means impossible that the Lodge at the Ship may. have had a
membership of a largely operative character, though working as a speculative
Lodge under the Grand Lodge. And the points I want to make are, first, that
it is only such work as Bro. Knoop is doing that makes such investigation
possible; and, second, that there is a large field open for the patient student
‘with a knowledge of London, in relating the operative Masons of late seventeenth
and early eighteenth centuries with the speculative Lodges, and that results of
the very highest importance might emerge.

‘Bro. Geo. W. BULLAMORE writes: —

I have been greatly interested in this paper. I am not convinced that it
is necessary to correct the statistics relating to imports of stone so that twenty-
seven months become three months and tons are variously looked upon as square
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feet, cubic feet, individual stones or actual tons. The arguments rather overlook
certain facts.

Christopher Wren as the King's surveyor was in charge of the output of
stone from the Isle of Portland, and we can be sure that some preparation and
inspection took place on the island to avoid the carriage of useless material. Tt
is likely, therefore, that the stone was stored during the winter and mostly carried
in the early part of the year. For the three years, therefore, the mention of any
particular cargoes is likely to refer to April, May, or June. All the output, or
nearly all, would come to London, and the 35,000 tons was a figure well within
the capacity of the Portland quarries. Although St. Paul’s only absorbed 50,000
tons of Portland in 25 years, it must be borne in mind that a church one-tenth
the size built in one-tenth the time would use stone at the same rate. For this
period we can reckon it as 5,000 tons at St. Paul’s Cathedral, and as there were
six churches built during the period, as well as Bow Church Steeple, King's Bench
Walk and smaller works, we easily bring the requirements up to 35,000 tons.

As to the transport problem, if the unloading was confined to the three
months in question it would only mean that London would have to deal with
three shiploads of 45 tons daily. With ships arriving outside the months men-
tioned, the strain would be still less. The only fact known to me at present
which seems to throw light on the subject is that when Ramsgate pier was built
about 1750 the Isle of Purbeck arranged for a fleet of fifty sail to carry 15.000
tons of Purbeck stone to the Isle of Thanet. The period covered, June, 1750,
to September, 1752, is also about 27 months. :

The charge of £583" for search would not arise, because the company’s
<charter of 1677 expressly forbade them to interfere with the rebuilding of St.
Paul’s and other churches. Nor would Christopher Wren have paid. Finding
that stone for Greenwich had been charged duty at Portland in 1705, he wrote: —

“If you take upon you to pay the duty for any stone for St. Paul's or
other uses that I give orders for, you shall not have one farthing
allowed you for it ",

To Mr. John Elliott, Bartholomew Comber, Thomas Ouseley,
Benjamin Stone, Henry Atwel, Robert Gibbs
At Portlind. g

I think it likely that the £27 paid by William Hammond for the right of
search in 1679 was of the nature of a compromise, rather than a profit-making
venture.

An additional reason for supposing thut tons are referred to is that the
buying and selling of stone und the company’s search were based on the ton.
With Portland stone measuring about 165 cubic feet to the ton, T imagine that
the method was to calculate the area of a ton of any particular type of building
stone. Twenty square feet of 10 inch ashlar or twenty-five square feet of 8 inch
ashlar or step or fifty square feet of 4 inch paving would equal a ton. Thinner
stone would falsify the weight and the search, therefore, confiscated such stone as
fraudulent.  Such "calculations may have been made for rough stone and a
regulation waste allowed for dressing a surface, but the basis would remain the
ton.

One of the masons mentioned by Bro. Knoop is Edward Marshall. Tt
‘may be of interest to recall that the Filmer brass at East Sutton, Kent (1638),
is signed Bd. Marshall sculpsit. So far as I know, it is the only brass which can
‘be definitely nssociated with a London mason. And, according to Druitt
(Costume on Brasses), the experts agree that the workmanship is Flemish. A
monumental brass in which the metal is engraved by a metal engraver and then
inlaid in a slab of stone by a mason looks a perfectly satisfactory explanation, hut
one would expect the signature to refer to the brass engraving.
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~

Bro. C. F. SykEs writes:—

Once again we are indebted to Bro. Knoop and his collaborator for am
interesting and illuminating paper. The picture they present to us of the manner
in which operative work was conducted in London in the seventeenth century is.
one which demonstrates very clearly the changes which evolved in eraft practice
in the Metropolis during that century.

The girl apprentice mentioned in a footnote is difficult to understand.
As the writers found only this one case, such apprenticeship must have been most
unusual.  Was the girl indentured simply because her master, John Sumner,
would be more secure of her services over a lengthy period? The cases of widows.
as free of the Company are more easy to undertsand, but I presume that as the
girl was lawfully indentured she would have been at liberty to take up the
freedom of the Company if and when she completed her period of apprenticeship.

In the enactment relative to rebuilding the City after the Great Fire it is
interesting to note that the period which ‘foreigners ' had to work in the City
before they could claim the privileges of freemen—seven years—was equal to that
which was the usual period of apprenticeship. Apparently, however, a back
entrance to the freedom was found, as witness the cases of Nathaniel and Richard
Rawlins. '

The writers of the paper point out that Stephen Switzer, mason and
importer of stone in London, is unlikely to be the Switzer, mason and overseer
for the King in Portland. But, they write, Stephen huad close connection with
Portland, for on two occasions he took an apprentice from there. - The name
Switzer is unusual, and I suggest that the two men were related. Stephen in
London, needing an apprentice, would find his relative in Portland of assistance,
or he in Portland, knowing of boys desiring apprenticeship, would recommend
such to Stephen. The boats to and fro between London and Portland formed a
ready means of communication.

While the whole of the paper is most engaging, I am more particularly
grateful to the writers for the additional information I now have concerning the
men mentioned by Ashmole in his diary entry of March, 1682. The ¢ Fellowes ”
of the Lodge which met on March 11th of that year are no longer mere names,
but active personalities.

Five of the nine could claim acquaintanceship over a period of nearly
twenty years, for Thomas Shorthose was Master of the Company in 1663, Thomas
Shadbolt was a warden the same year, Nicholas Young and John Shorthose
were admitted to the Livery in 1662/3, and Will: Stanton was made free of
of the Company in June, 1663. In the Company the careers of Nich. Young
and John Shorthose were singularly alike, as a table prepared from material in
the paper shows.

Th: Wise, Master of the Company in 1681, had a son William, who was
made free of the Company in 1680, and a William Wise was admitted to the
Fellowship at the meeting which Ashmole attended. Again, can Bro. Knoop
enlighten us as to whether this William was the son of Thomas Wise, Master
of the Company in 1681? It seems very probable that there may have been
two fathers, each with a son, all members of this early Speculative Lodge, to
me, a very interesting point.

In the course of the paper we find allusion to all the °Fellowes’ who
Ashmole says were present on March 11th, 1682, with the solitary exception of
““ Wainsford Esq.”’

Gould in a footnote, vol. ii., p. 143, says Rowland Rainsford is probably
meant, who ‘“ late apprentice to Robert Beadles, was admitted a freeman, Jan. 15,
1667/8 . ' '
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In Appendix A. to the paper showing the General Search of April, 1678,
we find a Rowland Raynsford working as one of Thos. Strong’s journeymen at:
St. Paul’s, and the writers mention a Rowland Rainsford employed by Jaspar
Latham as a journeyman at 2/6 a day in 1685 and 1686. It seems to me that
the journeyman of 1678 is very probably the same as he of 1685 and 1686. If
this be so, I do not think that * Wainsford Esq.” can be identified in the manner
Gould suggests.

The following table shows that eight out of the nine ‘Fellowes  named
by Ashmole attained to distinguished rank in the affairs of the Company. Seven
of the eight had been Wardens by the date of the meeting in March, 1682:—

Free On On Court
of Liver of Warden Master
Company y Assistants
*Mr. Th: Wise 1671/2 1672 1675 1681
Mr. Thomas Shorthose 1663 \
Mr. Thomas Shadbolt 1654/5 . 1664 (1)
1666 (2)
Wainsford, Esq.
*Mr. Nich. Young 1662/3 1674 (1) 1682
1679 (2)
*Mr. John Shorthose 1662/3 1676 (1) 1686
1681 (2)
*iMr. William Hammon 1669 1672 1680 (1)
1683 (2)
“Mr. John Thompson 1667 1669 1674/5 1683 (1) 1690
1684 (2)
1685 (3)
*Mr. William Stanton 1663 1668 1674/5 1681 1688
1689

* Contractors whose contracts for Parish Churches alone totalled £52,863.
t Chief importer of stone into London about 1678.

Of Wainsford Esq. alone the writers of the paper give us no
information, and if he were Rowland Rainsford it may be argued that this is
what one might expect. But I do not think he fits in with this company. Six
of them are named as substantial contractors. At Parish Churches alone their
contracts total nearly £53,000. And is it probable that a journeyman would be
associated in a Speculative Lodge with such distinguished Past Masters and
Wardens of the Company?

Again, note the manner in which Ashmole styles those present: Knight,
Capt. and the remainder Mr. with the exception of Wainsford, who of all the
company is styled Esq. There appears to be nothing about the career of
Rowland Rainsford which merits the distinction by which Ashmole designates
Wainsford.

I consider that Wainsford Esq. was more likely a Freemason of the same
category as Ashmole himself—purely speculative. Tt is thought that the mutual
association of Sir William Wilson, Knight (one of the ‘‘ New-accepted Masons ”’
of March 11th), and Ashmole, with Lichfield may have accounted for the
invitation of the latter to the meeting, and Wainsford Esq. may have attended
by invitation, too, if he were not already a member.
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Bro. Kxoop, in reply, writes:—

On behalf of my colleague and myself, I have to thank the various
Brethren for their comments, of some of which we were able to avail ourselves
when making a substantial revision of the rough proofs, prior to the publication
of the advance off-prints in June, 1935. As a consequence, some of the points
raised have been met by the amendment of the text or of footnotes, and call for
no further reply.

We are sorry that Bro. Poole was disappointed; the paper, however, was
one of a series on operative masonry, and we consequently kept to our self-
imposed limits. As to his wish that I should be more interested in the speculative
aspect of Craft history, that wish is in process of being gratified. My inaugural
address to the Lodge in November, 1935, dealt with the connection between
operative and speculative masonry; my Prestonian lecture for 1938 on the
Mason Word is a development of the same subject. In a forthcoming article
on the London Muasons’ Company (Zconomic History, February, 1939), G. P.
Jones and I touch upon the Acception; and we hope, before too long, in col-
laboration with our colleague Douglas Hamer, to make more readily available
some of the MS. sources bearing on the problem.

Bro. Bullamore does not share our views concerning the amount of stone
imported : he may be right, but his arguments do not convince us. He appears
to have overlocked the fact that, whereas the outlay at St. Paul's on mason work
and stone was about, £10,000 per annum from 1675 to 1700, the corresponding
outlay- of all the parochial churches together was only £7,500 per-annum from
1670 to 1690. On the evidence available, we are unable to accept his suggestion
that the parochial churches and other works in 1678-80 used six or seven times
the quantity of stone used at St. Paul's during the same period.

Regarding the points raised by Bro. Sykes and not otherwise disposed of,
we think it quite possible that, though the master of the girl apprentice was a
member of the Masons’ Company, his trade may not have been that of a mason.
The only William Wise we have traced is the son of Thomas Wise, the mason
_contractor. We can throw no light on the identity of Wainsford Esq.”’,
but are inclined to accept the explanation put forward by Bro. Sykes.




FRIDAY, 1st MARCH, 1935.

I Lodge met at Freemasons' Hall at 5 p.m. Present:—Bros.
W. J. Songhurst, P.G.D., W..; Rev. W. K. Firminger, D.D.,,
P.G.Ch., I.P.M.; B. Telepneff, S.W.; G. Ilkington, P.A.G.Sup.W.,
as J.W.:; Lionel Vibert, P.A.G.D.C., P.M., Secretary; F. W.
Golby, P.A.G.D.C., 1.G.: W. J. Williams. P.M.; David Flather,
P.AGD.C., P.M.: H. C. de TLafontaine, P.G.D., P.M.;: Major
C. C. Adams, P.G.D.. Stew.: and Lewis BEdwards, M. 4., P.Pr.G.W.,
Mdsx.

Also the following members of the Correspondence Circle: —Bros. Carl J. Blyh.
J. W. T. Taylor, H.'F."Whyman, P.A.G.8S.B.,, E. J. Marsh, P.G.D., Philip Simon,
A. H. Wolfenden, C. D. Melbourne, P.A.G.Reg., F. Addington Hall, S. N. Smith,
J. P. Rockliff, W. P. J. Gun, C. F. Sykes, Ed. M. Phillips. L. G. Wearing, A.
Thompson, W. Morgan Day, F. Lace. P.A.G.D.C., F. R. Radice. R. Girdlestone Cooper,
Robt. MacIntyre, A. N. Gutteridge, Wm. Lewis, G. C. Parkhurst Baxter, A. F. Cross,
Frank W. Wise, H. S. Paine, Geo. C. Williams, A. E. Gurney, H. W. Martin, Wm.
Smalley, R. H. Clerke, G.St.B.. I': W. Davy, P.A.G.Reg., J. H. Smith, W. Brinkworth,
T. M. Carter. E. Eyles, F. G. Carruthers, A. Krougliakoff, W. J. Walters, T. M.
Scott, and H. S. Lell.

Also the following Visitors:—Bros. T. F. Anderson., P.Dep.G.D.C.; T. S
Dawkins, and H. H. Wyatt, P.M., of St. George’s and Corner Stone Lodge No. 5;
T. H. Beckett, and A. W. Kenyon, W.M., of Old King’s Arms Lodge No. 28: E. W.
Last, P.M., Trinity Lodge No. 5179: L. J. Humphres, P.M.. Tigris Lodge No. 5321;

-

F. Percy, James Speller Lodge No. 3577; J. Charlesworth, I.R., P.M., Epworth Lodge
No. 3789: and J. T. Brownlie. Glasgow Kilwinning Lodge No. 4 (S.C.).

Letters of apology for ron-attendance were reported from Bros. Douglas Knoop,
M.A., JW.; Ree. W. W. Covey-Crump, I.4., P.A.G.Ch., Chap.; R. H. Baxter,
P.A.G.D.C, PAM.;: 8. J. Fenton, P.Pr.G.W., Warwicks.; G. Norman. P.G.D.. P.M.;
J. Stokes, P.G.D., P.Pr.A.G.M., W.Yorks.,, P.M.; G. P. G. Hills, P.A.G.Sup. W,
PM., D.C.; Rev. H. Poole, B.A., P.Pr.G.Ch., Westmorland and Cumberland, P.M.;
Ivor Grantham, M.A., P.Pr.G.W.. Sussex: J. Heron Lepper, P.G.D., Ireland. P.M_;
and J. P. Simpson, P.A.G.Reg., P.M., Treas.

Two Masonic [ibraries and twenty-five Brethren were admitted ta membership
of the Correspondence Circle.

Bro. W. K. I'mmyincer read the following paper:—
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THE MEMBERS OF THE LODGE AT

THE BEAR AND HARROW.
(ST. GEORGE AND CORNER STONE. No. 5.)

BY BRO. THE REV. 1. k

(. FIRMINGER, D.D.

The so-called *“ 1730’ MS. List of Lodges enumerates the members of the
Lodge meeting at the Bear and Harrow, in the Butcher Row, as follows':—

The Rt. Hon". The Lord Visct.
Montague, G.M".

Thos. Batson, Esq., D.G. M.

Weonge Booke, 1F‘s ., G. Wardens

Jas. Smythe, |~ 47 B 3 ’

The Reverend Dr. Desagulier formerly
G.M. i

James Chambers, Esq". formerly G.W.

The Rt. Hon"°. the Earl of Strathmore,
Master "of the Lodge.

Arthur Moore, Esq".

Mr. Wyriott Ormond Wilardens

The Rt. Hon"e. The Lord Tynham.

‘The Rt. Hon™e. The Lord Visc'.
Montjoy.

His Excellency the Baron de Hoppman.

The Hon™. Charles Stanhope, Esq'.

Sir William Gordon of Park, Bar®.

John Ward of Newcastle, Esq.

The Homnble. Coll Pitt Steward.

The Hon"e. Coll°. Digs.

John Selwyn Esq".

John Harvey of Stockton Esq'.

Andrew Wauchop, Esq".

John Webb, Esq’.

Governour Tinker.

Governour Burrington.

John Reid, Esq".

David Threipland, Esq".

Alexr. Holbourn, Esq".

The Reverend Mr. Walter.

The Reverend Mr. Phillips.

Matthew Humberston, Esq.

Francis Gulston, Esq".

1 Trom Q.C.A., x., pp. 177-8.

Vinall Taverner, Esq*.
John Bridges, I'sq". l
Wailliam Blunt, Esq*. Stewards.
Claude Crispigney, Esq® |-

Mr. Henry Tatam.

Reynolds Hooper, Esq.

Mr. Chas. Trinquand.

Mr. Robt. Dyer.

Henry Goring, Esq.

Mr. Quinn.

Mr. George Moody, Sword Bearer.
— Rouse, Esq.

Mr. Cibber, junr.

Mr. Ednal.

Mr. Laguerre.

Mr. E. Forrest.

Mr. John Pitt.

Mr. Leveridge.

Mr. John Ells.

Mr. F. Shepherd.

Mr. Hogarth.

Mr. Smart.

Mr. Cosin.

Mr. Perry.

Mr. Milward.

Mr. Weeks.

Mr. Delane.

Mr. G. Hunt.

Monsr. Nivelon.

Mr. Baugh.

Mr. Thos. Crawford.

Mr. Giffard.

George Lewis de Kilmensegge.2
Monsr. de Crawmer.

1 have italicised the names of -those who

belonged to the University Lodge, which also met at the Bear and Harrow.

Matthew Humberston.
Storford and Enfield.

Son of Edward Humberston.
Fellow-Commoner of St. John's Col., Oxon.

Educated at Bishops

Matric. 1723. Died Jan. 3rd, 1736.

Reynolds Hooper.
Matriculated, aged 15.
Vinal Taverner.
Matric. St. John’s College,
Temple.

Son of Daniel Hooper, of Jamaica.

Magdalen Col., Oxon,

Son of Sir John Taverner, of St. Christopher’s, London.
Oxon. aged 17, 1722.
Died at Kingston near Lewes, Sussex, 1738.

Barrister, Mid.

2 Son of John Adolph Kielmansegge, Master of Horse to George I. by his wife
the Countess of Ieinster, afterwards of Darlington.



The Members of the Lodge at the Bear and Harrow. 103

1. Date or ConstiTUTIiON. PLACES OF MEETING.

UR Brother Gould, in the second volume of his History of
Freemasonry (p. 385), quotes from the Weekly Journal or
British Gazetteer, No. 260, of March 17th, 1730:—

‘“ Latter end of last week a new Lodge was set up at the
Bear and Harrow Tavern in Butcher’s Row, near Temple
Bar, where several gentlemen of fortune were admitted
Free and Accepted Masons. Present—the Grand Master
(Duke of Norfolk), Lord Kingston, late G.M.,! Nat.
Blackerby, D.G.M., and all the other Grand Officers of
the Society.”’

Bro. John Lane, Masonic Records, p. 54, gives under ‘‘ Date of Warrant
or Constitution,”” 26th February or March 25th, 1730, adding that ¢ the latter
Date appears in Lists from 1748 only.”” This new Lodge was represented at
the Quarterly Communication of Grand Lodge held at the Devil Tavern on
Tuesday, April 21st, 1730, and on that occasion paid the sum of two guineas
for its constitution. (€.C.4., x., pp. 121 and 122.) On the Minutes of Grand
Lodge, April 6th, 1736, we find (/bid, p. 265) on the list of Lodges represented
‘“Bear and Harrow Butcher Row near the Crown,” but in the place for the
number of Lodge representatives there is a blank. The Engraved List of 1738
shows against the sign of Bacchus and Grapes ‘‘ Gravill Street Hatton Garden.
First and Third Friday,”” but no date of conmstitution. In Anderson’s list of
London Lodges we have ‘42. Bacchus in Greville Street, Hatton Garden

1730. 1st and 3d Friday.”” The name of this street is not, as Lane
has it, Gravel St., but Greville St., being so named to commemorate Fulk
Greville, Lord Brook, who is also commemorated by Brook St., so familiar to
frequenters of the Church of St. Alban, Holborn. In that vicinity once stood
Brook House and Warwick House.

The number assigned to the Bear and Harrow Lodge in the Engraved List
is No. 63, which in 1728 had been held by the Kings Arms Lodge, Westminster.
(4.9.C., xxxv., p. 144.) .In 1740 it became 56, and in 1792 No. 26. On
December 6th, 1843, it united with St. George's Lodge No. 5. The last named
Lodge had, according to Lane, been an Athol Lodge working at some place now
unknown in London in 1756, and at the Weaver’'s Arms, Spitalfields, in 1759,
when it was No. 55 of the Athol or Antient Lodges: but in that year it
purchased for £4-14-6 the warrant of the Athol No. 3 (Crown, St. Paul’s Church
Yard ?), and so to-day the Bear and Harrow Lodge vigorously survives in the .
Red Apron Lodge ¢ St. George’s and Corner Stone Lodge, No. 5 E.C.”” Stet
fortuna domus.

It is only with the early years of the Lodge under the Moderns that
I have to deal in the present paper. On June 29th, 1737, the Lodge appears
on the Minutes of Grand Lodge as ‘‘ Bacchus, Grevil Street.”” (@.C.4., x.,
p. 289.) The only existing records of the transactions of the Lodge during the
period we are concerned with is a thin volume of irregularly bound sheets of
draft Minutes, and many of the sheets have been ruled over so that the volume
could be used, as indeed it was, as an attendance book. On one page I read:—

27th July, 1737. TUpon a mooting of the Wor. Master, Charles Pawley
Master of this Lodge and others the Members of this Society it was
proposed to remove this Lodge from the Bathus Tavern in Groiviles

1 Tnstalled Friday, December 27th. 1728. Ruled till 29th January, 1730.
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Street to some other . . . House the Golden Lyon in Chancery
Lane or the George in the Butchers Row . . . ballot in favour of
the Golden Lyon, 4 to 1. Present C. Pawley, Hen Burdox, Sen'.
Warden. Thos. Thompson, John Adderley, Thos. Crawford. "

On November 6th, 1738, a motion was passed that the Lodge should move from
the Golden Lyon to ™ the Freeman's Arms in Madox Street.”’

2 Ture Granp MasTer wrHO CoxsSTITUTED HIS LODGE.

We shall perhaps best get into this survey of the history if, although the
subject may at first appear to be irrelevant, we take into consideration the person
of the Grand Muster under whom the Bear and Harrow ILodge had been
constituted. Thomas Howard, 8th Duke of Norfolk, was born on December 11th,
1683, and he was therefore forty-seven years old when he became Grand Master.
He was a son of Thomas Howard of Worksop, who died in 1701. He had
succeeded in the dukedom to his uncle, Henry, a convert to the Church of
England. In course of time the Duke followed his uncle's example in
this respect. Much of his early life, I suspect, must have heen spent in the
North of England. 1In 1709 he was Mayor of the mimic Corporation of
Walton, in the neighbourhood of Preston, which Thomas Durham Whitaker has
described in his history of Richmondshire (vol. ii., p. 428)—a joyous fraternity
of Roman Catholic and Jacobite gentlefolk which 'in 1701 had had the ill-fated
Earl of Derwentwater as its Mayor.! In 1709 Sir Nicholas Shireburn was
“ Mayor's boy '’ to his son-in-law, the Duke of Norfolk, while Charles Towneley of
Towneley 2 11all was Deputy Mayor. The Duke’s brother, Edward, was ‘‘out”
for King James in the rising of 1715, and was tried and acquitted, living to
"succeed to the Dukedom on Thomas' death on December 28th, 1732. One catches
the scent of the suspicion into which the Duke himself fell when we read in the
Stuart Papers of Robert Arbuthnot?® writing from Rouen in March, 1716, to the
Earl of Mar: ‘“ Stanhope caused one to write to the Duke of Norfolk here that
he should have no connection with me, or else that he would repent it.”” That
the Duke ever indulged in Jacobitism of a practical nature 1 very much doubt.
“In 1722 an attempt was made to implicate him in what is known as the Atterbury
plot, but beyond a suggestion that the Duke employed a ‘‘M™, Spelman alias
Gallop " to convey letters to a notorious Jacobite agent, George Jarnigam
[Jerningham 1], nothing of a palpable nature was revealed.” It is to be hoped
that some day hefore long we may be placed .in a position to say what his
interests really were, and to trace the events of a lifetime which must be full of
interest. During the years 1717-1719 the Duke took part in a forlorn attempt to
ease the conditions of Roman Catholics in England. On his recommendation, the
Abbé Strickland went to Rome in 1717 to arrive at an understanding about
the validity of oaths of allegiince to George I., and in the year following the
Abbé was again in England endeavouring to turn over his co-religionists to the

! Appendix No. TIT.

2 After the Pifteen, Richard Towneley, imprisoned at the Marshelsea, was
acquitted.  Aflter the Forty-Five, Col. Francis Towneley was executed (July 30th,
<1746). A brother of the latter esc.lped to France after Cullnrlmn Charles Towneley,
the well-known collector (died January 3rd, 1805), and his cousin Sir Francis Standish.
Bart.. belonged to the Lodge of Fllendslnp The Towneley and Standish families were
Romzm Catholic, and closely connected with the Howaljds.

3 Brother of John .Arbuthnot, M.D. (1667-1735), the well-known satirist and
friend of Swift and "Pope, and about 1725 a member of the Lodge at the Bedford
Head. Covent Garden. (Q.C.A., x., 27.) TRobert appears to have established a
flourishing business at Rouen and to have been the principal Jacobite agent at that
place. Latterly, however, he was ‘“ well in ”’ with Lord Stairs.

4 The Roman Catholic family of Jerningham, of Casey, Norfolk, were in 1764
represented in Masonry by Sir William Jerningham, Bart. (4.Q.C., xx.. p.~247), who
in that year joined the Great Lodge at Swaffham from some other TLodge.

5 State Trials, xvi., col. 342,
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Hanoverian regime.! 1In 1719 the English Government was inclined to accept
the Abbé’s proposals, but required that the conditions should be signed by the
Duke of Norfolk and other peers on behalf of the Roman Catholic nobility and
by Sir John Webb of Odstock, Mr. Charles Howard, and others on behalf of the
gentry. but we are told that ‘‘ although the Duke was willing, the insurmountable

9

resistance of Mr. Charles Hownrd stood in the way of all accommodation.’” 2
A record of the initiation of the Duke of Norfolk has recently been
discovered.  Miscellunea Latomorum, in January last year, gave us the following
extract from the London Kvening Post of Saturday, February 8th, 1729 (Old
Style) : —
On Thursday night last his Grace the Duke of Norfolk, the Rt. Hon.
the Lord Delvin, and several other Persons of Distinction were
received into the most ancient Society of Free and Accepted Masons,
at the Lodge held in the Horn Tavern in Westminster, of which his
_Grace the Duke of Richmond is Master, and upon that occasion there
were present the Right Honourable the Lord Kingston,” Grand
Master, with his General Officers, the Right IHon. the Earl of
[nchijquin,* the Lord Paisley,® Lord Kinsale, and many other
Persons of Note.” 7

We must not pass by Lord Delvin. He, Christopher Nugent, was the
eldest son of Thomas, fourth Earl of Westmeath and Brigadier General in the

U Guilday: The Inglish Catholic Refugees on the Continent. 1558-1795, p. 34,
states that Dr. Thomas Strickland was the fourth son of Sir Thomas Strickland of
Sizergh, and was born about 1679, and educated at Douay and Paris, and  was
one of the first Catholies to rally to the Hanoverian King.”” By the influence of
George T. he hecame Abbot in commendam of St. Pierre de Préaux in Normandy, and
in 1727 Bishop of Namur. e was evidently well acquainted with the Duke of
Richmond. (Vide 4 Duke and his Friends.) In 1718 an anti-Jacobite pamphlet
appeared, characterised by the Barl of Mar as *“scurrilous’ and ‘‘ malicious,” and
attributed by him to Strickland. James IIT. wrote: T believe you are right that
the person called a Jesuit in the other note you sent me must he Dr. Strickland.
whose poor mother [ pity.”” The Bishop was in Tngland again in 1734, and there
is a bad account of his character given by Lord John Hervey in his Memoirs, which
I think may be taken cum grano. Anderson (Constitutions, 1738, p. 129) includes
anong those present at the alleged initiation of the Duke of Lorraine at the Hague
© Strickland nephew to the Bishop of Namur.” A Walter Strickland was
present at the Lodge held ‘“at her Grace the Duchess of Portsmouth’s house ' in
Paris, where the Duke of Richmond presided on September 7th. 1734. Despite the
assistance given 'by Lady Edeline Strickland in her Sizergh Castle. . . . and the
Strickland Family it is still difficult to identify the various Stricklands referred to in
the Calendars of Stuart Papers published by the Historical MSS. Commission. The
Bishon of Namnur died on January 12th, 1740, aged 69. Did he and the Duke of
Norfolk first become acquainted with one another at Douay?

2 {H. Kent Staple Causton: The Howard Papers, p. 345. The following from
Butler: Memoirs of English Catholics, iv., 266-268, relates to this time. and is worthy
of reproduction here, as it mentions the anthor of the Fellow-Craft Song—Charles
Delafave. *“ 1 have determined,’ writes Secretary Craggs to Earl Stanhope, ‘ to put
the thing in execution which T said in my former letter, of tendering the vote to
Howard, and seizing Bishop Gifford and Grey. To which end T have desired Delafaye
to pick out a couple of discreet Justices of the Peace of his acquaintance that will,
as of themselves. take up Howard, without carrying their zeal too far.’”’

3 G.M. December 27th, 1728 to 29th Janunary, 1730.

4 William [0’Brien] 4th Earl of Tnchiquin in 1719. D. 18th July, 1777. G.M.
27th, December, 1725 to 27th February, 1727.

5 James [Hamilton] 7th Earl of Abercorn in 28th September, 1734, F.R.S.
Author of Caleulations and Tables and Attractive Power of TLoadstones. Died 1lth
Januarv, 1744, G.M. 27th February. 1727 to 27th December.

6 Gerald [de Conrsy], Baron Kingsale, son of Almericus. Baron Kingsale, who
commanded a troop of horse on behalf of James II.. and was outlawed in 1691. and
died Febrnary 9th, 1720. On Octoher 4th. 1721, the House of Lords accepted Lord
Gerald’s claim to ¢ the seat of his ancestors.”” The Head of the de Coursy family
was privileged to perform what was spoken of as ‘“ the hat trick,” t.e., wearing his
hat in the presence of the Sovereign.

7 It may be noted here that Charles. the XIth Duke of Norfolk was P.G. Master
of Herefordshire in 1789, but he (educated at Douai) has conformed to the Church
of England.
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French Army.! His uncle, Richard, the third Earl, who died in 1714, was
Warden of the Irish Capuchin Friars in France. Lord Delvin died unmarried
.at Bath a few months before his brother in 1752. As to James [King], 4th Baron
Kingston, his father, who had joined the Roman Church, followed James 1I. to
France, and is said to have been one of his Council at St. Germain. From the
Complete Peerage 1 learn that on January 8th, 1708, James King and his sister
Sophia, being minors, petitioned for naturalisation as ‘‘ born out of his Majesty’s
.allegiance but are good protestants.”” The Roman Catholic parent had been
‘pardoned and licensed to return to the country. On the accession of King
‘George I., he took the oath of Allegiance and sat in the Irish House of ILords,
‘but some years later he was fined for granting protections contrary to the
resolutions of the House and for non-attendance. He died at the Middle Temple
:shortly before his son was appointed Grand Master.

3. G.L. List or MemBErs 1N 1732.

I now come to the list of members of the Bear and Harrow Lodge
preserved for us in the Minute Books of Grand Lodge. The third of the
lists printed in Bro. Songhurst's volume, No. x., of Quatuor Coronatorum
Antigrapha, is headed :—

List of the Names of the Members
of all the regular Lodges as they were
returned in the Year 1730. The Rt. Hon"e,
Thomas Lord Lovell being the
Grand Master

‘T must ask you to observe once again that Lord Lovell was invested by proxy
-on Saturday, March 27th, 1731, and that he made over his office to Viscount
Montague on Wednesday, April 19th, 1732. The list includes lodges constituted
:so late as August and September in 1732. The list includes lodges constituted
(@.C.4., x., pp. 177-78) the first name is ‘ The R*. Hon"® The Lord Visc'.
Montague, G.M*. Lord Montague was installed on Wednesday, April 19th, 1732.
‘It also appears from the Minutes of Lord Montague’s Installation meeting that
‘he was at that time Master of the Lodge at the Golden Spikes at Hampstead,
‘to which is assigned 28th April, 1730, as the date of constitution. It is usual
to speak of this list as the 1730 MS. List, but. clearly the Bear and Harrow List
.must be later than April 19th, 1732, the date when the Viscount became Grand
Master.  Shortly after writing the last sentence, I came across the following
-extract from the Daily Post of Saturday, 19th August, 1732:—

On Wednesday last at a Lodge of Free and Accepted Masons, held at
the Bear and Harrow in Butcher's Row, John Gerrard Von Hopman
(who has been resident for the ITans Towns twenty years at this Court)
with his Secretary were admitted Free and Accepted Masons.

)

"The name of ‘“ His Excellency the Baron de Ioppman ’’ appears in the fourteenth
place on the Lodge List, immediately after that of ‘‘the RY. Ion™. the Lord

1 Bolingbroke writes to James III. from Paris, November 2nd, 1715:— In
-obedience to the Queen’s orders I have talk’d with Nugent, and have agreed with
him that he shall be himself at Avranches on Sunday come sevennight (this 1is
Saturday) and shal have the number of proper persons with him, that he shall there
receive notice to disperse his men and dispose of himself, if this service is not to be
perform’d. and that he shall have notice, if it be to be perform’d, where to proceed
in order to embark. Nugent does not know who is to give him these notices, or
what the service is. In general I told him that it was of the greatest importance.”
On November 11th, James writes from St. Malo to say that he 1s in expectation ‘¢ of
‘those few men of Newgent's (sic) Regiment.”” Stuart Papers, i., pp. 451 and 456.
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Visc!. Montjoy "’ ! and immediately before that of ‘‘ The Hon"* Charles Stanhope
Esq".”’?  So the list is subsequent to August 19th, 1732.

Brother Gould,? cites the following extract from 7he Weelkly Journal or
British Gazetteer, No. 259, March 7th, 1730:—

Thursday mnight at the mnew erected Lodge the Prince William
Tavern, Charing Cross, the following gentlemen were admitted Free
and Accepted Masons—viz., Governor Tinkler,* General Tinkler,
Governor Burrington, Frederick Esq"., a foreign Minister,
Goulston Esq"., Phillip Lassells, Esq"., Major Singleton, M.
Theobalds, Capt. Read, M*. Rice, and 1M®. Baynes, Master of the
house. Present—the Duke of Norfolk, G.M., Lord Kingston, Nat.
Blackerby, D.G.M., Sir W. Saunderson, Sir D. Young, Col
Carpenter, and M*. Batson.

Bro. Gould confessed that he was unable to identify this Lodge at the Prince of
Wales’ Tavern, and this confession serves to illustrate the importance of the task
performed by Bro. J. Lane in the compilation of his A/asonic Records. This
Lodge is shown by Bro. Lane to have removed to the Rose Without Temple Bar.
The so-called 1730 MS. List shows Bros. Francis Gulston, and Governors Tinker
and Burrington and John Reid (Capt. Read?) as members of the Bear and
Harrow Lodge and not of the Rose. The names appear after Bro. Von
Hoppman’s, who, as we have seen, was initiated on August 16th, 1732. There-
fore, the list of Bear and Harrow members is not in their order of seniority.
The list of the Rose (@.C.4., x., p. 148) is perhaps older than that of the Bear
and Harrow, for it contains the name of ‘‘S*. Tho®. Twisden.”” Sir Thomas,
late Baronet of Bradbourne, a graduate of University College, Cxford, succeeded
to the title in January, 1728. He left England in 1730, and died at Granada
in 1737.  The name of Thomas Twisden appears among the members of the
Lodge at Rome in 1735.

4. PERSONALIA.
Our list commences: —

The Rt. Hon™. the Lord Visct. Montague. G.M".
Tho®. Batson Esq"™. D.G.M.

George Rooke.) e .
Ja*. Smythe. ) Esq™. G. Wardens

The Reverend D'. Desagulier formerly G.M".
James Chambers Esq". formerly G.W.

The name M*. George Moody Swordbearer appears very much lower down in the
list. It has occurred to me that the names of the Grand Officers were placed at
the top of the list either (1) because they had been elected to membership on the
occasion of the constitution of the Lodge, or (2), assuming that they were founders

1 Thomas [Stewart]. Born 1709: Viscount. Mountjoy in 1728. G.M. of Ireland
1738: Grand Master of the Antients 1756-60: died August 14th, 1769.

2 The Gentlemon’s Magazine 1736, records the death of Charles Stanhope
“ brothér to the Earl of Chesterfield.”

3 History of Freemasonry, ii., p. 385.

4 A Governor John Tinker was Prov.G.M. of the Bahamas in 1752.

5 It will be remembered that the Lodge which met at the St. Paul’'s Head in
Ludgate Street (constituted at the Mitre, Covent Garden, and removed to the Rummer,
Paternoster Row, in 1728) claimed ‘ that ever since a Sword of State had been carried
‘before the Right Worshipfull Grand Master at the annual Grand Feasts the Master
of this has carried the same except when Brof. Moody carried it in 1732.”” See the
tuling by the D.G. Master (Thos. Batson) on the Minutes of G. Lodge, 7th June, 1733.
The petition of the St. Paul's Head Lodge is among the Rawlinson papers at the
Bodleian, and it is signed by Bro. Rawlinson himself. Moody’s place of business
{sword maker) was at this time close to the Temple.
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of the Lodge, the Lodge was intended to he a sort of ‘‘ Grand Master's’’ Lodge.
The list includes five ** Stewards,”’ whose names appear immediately after that of
Francis Gulston Esq"., viz.:—

Vinall Taverner Esq'.
John Bridges kEsq".!
William Blunt Fsq'.
Claude Crispigney Esq".?
Henry Tatam.*

All these six brethren had served as Stewards at the Festival of April 13th,
1732 (Q.C.4., x., p. 217), when Lord Montague was installed, but so also had: —

Colle. John Pitt.*
George Rcoke Esqg".*®
James Smythe Esq".*
Wyriott Ormond Esq™.”
Arthur Moore Esq*.®

whose names occur in the Bear and Harrow List, together with:—

M". Thomas Griffith, of the Lodge at the Devil Tavern (‘1730 '’ List)
and the Queens Arms in Newgate St. (Zbid.)

Mr. Solomon Mendez, cf the Lodge at Daniel's Coffee llouse in
Lombard Street.

It seems to me, therefore, that ‘“ Steward '~ in the Lodge List means not
Steward of the Lodge, but present Steward at a Grand Festival. Charles
Trinquand,® James Chambers and William Milward had been Stewards at Lord
Lovell's Installation on March 27th, 1731.

After Lord Montague's term of office, the Lodge, which is to-day Old
King’s Arms, No. 28, for a time had the privilege of supplying an abundant
number of Stewurds for the Annual Festival. On March 2nd, 1732, Grand
Lodge accepted the proposal of Col. John Pitt ¢ that the present Stewards, shall
after dinner at the second Grand Festival each of them choore his Successor for
the year ensuing.”” So far as the records enable us to say, only one member of
the Bear and Ilarrow Lodge was appointed as Steward on June Tth, 1733, an

Lt John Bridges. Son of Willinm Bridges, of Covent Garden. Probably a
relation of the Duke of Chandos.  Matriculated Christ Church, Oxon, 22nd April,
1725, aged 17. Master of the University Lodge.

2 Claude Crespigny. Master of the Lodge at the Devil. (1725 List.)

3 Henry Tatham belonged to the Lodge at the Devil. (1725 List.)

4 Col. J. Pitt’s name appears higher up in the list. and Ste\\ard appeans
against it. There is also in the Lodge a ‘* Mr. John Pitt,”” who (Q.C.4 183) is
Master of the Lodge at the Rainbow Coffee House in York Bu)ldnms (I\o“ the
Britannia Lodge, No. 33.)

5 Not mentioned as a Steward since he was G.S. Warden in 1732.

6 James Moore Smythe, a fellow of All Sounls, Oxon, had. under the terms of a
bequest. added the name of Smythe to his own. Lord .\lontague‘s G.J.W.  See
Dict. Nat. Biog. and Bro. W. J. Williams’ articles in 4.Q.C., vol.

7 Wyriott Ormond.  Belonged to the Lodge at Daniel's ‘Coffee Ilouse (Q.C.A.

p. 187) at the Oxford Arms in Ludgate Street [one of Bro. Rawlinson’s] (Ibul, p- 191)

8 Arthur Moore. Not mentioned as ¢ Steward ’ but as J.W. of the Lodge.
Belonged to the University Lodge. (Ibid. p. 183.)

L ° Charles Trinquand. His name appears in the 1725 List as meeting at
tne Sun, St. Paul's Churchyard: (Ibid, p. 29) in the 1730 the Devil Tavern (Ibid,

152). the Half Moon in Cheapside [now the Globe, No. 23] (Ibid. p. 162), and the
I\mg s Head in Fleet Street. ’
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occasion when the Master or Past Master of that Lodge was installed as Grand
Master.!

At the latter end of the list we notice the names of some artists, some
of whom are still of fame:—

Mr. Quin. (James.)

Mr. Cibber, Jun®™. Theophilus Cibber, the son of the more famous
Yolley Cibber, and at this time Patentee of the Drury Lane
Theatre.

N

. Leveridge. Richard Leveridge, the composer of ‘* The Roast Beef
of Old England,” who died in 1758.2

M*. Laguerre. John Laguerre, the son-in-law of Jean Tijou, and

probably an acquaintance of Bro. Desaguliers,® for who has

visited Desaguliers’ Church at Whitchurch and does not

remember Pope’s mordant line:—

““ Where sprawl the saints of Verrio and Laguerre’’'?

Milward, the Actor.
Hogarth, needs no introduction.

By a resolution passed in Grand Lodge on February 19th, 1724, it had
been ruled ‘‘ that no Brother belong to more than one Lodge at one time within
the Bills of Mortality,”” and this rule was re-enforced when on March 17th, 1725,
an exception was made in favour of the French Lodge at Solomon's Temple.
Anderson (Constitutions, 1738, p. 154) notes that ‘' this Regulation is neglected
for several reasons and now—obsolete.”” It is somewhat difficult to see how new
lodges could have been founded, if this regulation had been enforced. In defiance
of experience, Grand Lodge confirmed this regulation on March 24th, 1742. To
some persons a study of cross membership may seem tedious, but there can be
little doubt that the cross memberships are indications of personal friendships and
common aims in Masonry and so are worthy of comsideration by the would-be
historian. So let us notice that:—

John Pollexfen, a member of a distinguished Devonshire family, and a
Warden of the University Lodge, does not belong to the Bear and Harrow Lodge,
but to the Lodge at the Rose Tavern without Temple Bar.* He also belongs to

1 Fotherby Baker belonged to the Old King's Arms Lodge. Martin Clare
of that Lodge appears in the following year, together with Hogarth. (Q.C.A.. x., 240.)
There is, however. a difficulty in determining what happened on March 30th. 1734.
Wm. Graeme and Sir Robert Lawley, both members of Old King's Arms, served in
place of persons who did not attend. Of the twelve chosen on 15th April, eleven
belonged to Old King's Arms. The organisation of the Stewards as an effective body
was the work of Sir Robert Lawley. Fotherby Baker, Clerk to the Haberdashers’
Company in 1743, died 1754.

2 According to Timbs, History of Clubs and Club Life, p. 434.. Teveridge. after
his retirement from the stage, kept the-Salutation Tavern in Tavistock-street. and
there he published his Collection of Songs in 1727. Tt was at this Tavern, on
January 6th, 1721. Stukeley had been made a Mason.

) 3 Desaguliers himself possessed histrionic accomplishments. See 4 Duke and his
Friends. At Whitchurch the Doctor cannot but have made the acquaintance of Handel.

4 The Lodge at the Rose is recruited from Lord Coleraine’s Lodge (now the
Castle Lodge of Harmony, No. 26), which had moved from the Blue Posts. Devereux
Court, Temple Bar. to the Swan in Tottenham High Cross, and thence to the Three Tuns
and Bull Head in Cheapside. These Members are: Thos. Reason, Nicholas Pollexfen,
Richard Taylor, Henry Butler Pacey, Thos. Parsons. Stukeley writes on November
20th, 1741:—* At the Antiquarian Society. A sketch of Mr. Vertue’s of the old
painting lately found on the wall of the Rose Tavern, Temple Bar, 14 feet long, 5 high,
very well done, about 200 years agoe, representing some seige between the Hungarians
and the Turks. The house was Sergeant Maynard’s, and was originall the Tuftons.”
(Vol. iii., p. 8.) The Tuftons—the Earls of Thanet.



110 Transactions of the Quatuvr Coronate lLodge.

the King’s Head in Fleet-street. Bros. Henry Walthoe, Richard Matthews,
Joshua Lewis, Thomas Moore |Smythe ?] bhelong to both the Rose and the
King's Head Lodges: Bros. Milward, Trinquand, Chambers and Thomas
Moore [if Moore-Smythe] belong both to the Bear and Harrow and the
King's Head. Eleven members of the Bear and Harrow Lodge belong to the
University Lodge. John Kemp,' the ‘“ Sir’’ Harry of the Orrery Papers. is
Master of the Rose and member of the University Lodge. The Lodge at the
Oxford Arms combined as its arms those of the University and the City of
Oxford, and although Dr. Richard Rawlinson, the non-juror hishop and
famous collector, was its DMaster at the time of the so-called 1730 MS. list,
it was not a TUniversity Lodge. Of the thirty-four members, twenty-one
were merchants, tradesmen, or mechanicians. Among its members, however, was
Nicholas Hawkesmoor,? the Avchitect and father-in-law of Nathaniel Blackerby,
and three members of the Bear and IHarrow—Ormond, Chambers (if ¢ Chamber '~
is that person) and Cosins, and ‘‘ George Lillo, Jeweller,”” author of Georye
Barnwell ? *

The family name of Viscount Montague was Browne, he being a direct
descendant of that Sir Anthony Browne on whom Henry the VIIIth bestowed the
magnificent Abbey of Battle. On Sir William Fitzwilliam, afterwards Earl of
Southampton, the same monarch bestowed Cowdray, near Midhurst, in Sussex,
and there Sir William set to work to build that splendid house which, although
in ruins, is one of the glories of the land. Sir Anthony and the Earl of
Southampton were half-brothers, their mother being Lady Lucy, daughter of
John Nevill, Marquis of Montacute. The Earl died on an expedition in 1542
against the Scots, and the Cowdray estate passed to his half-brother. Tradition
relates that on the occasion when Sir Anthony was celebrating his house-warming
at Battle Abbey, an enraged monk rushed in, and foretold that the house of
Browne would perish by fire and water. In the summer of 1793 George Samuel,
eighth Viscount Moutague, grandson of our Grand Master, was drowned in the
Falls of the Rhine at Laufenberg, and on September 24th, of the same year, the
lovely house at Cowdray was glutted out by fire at midnight. Battle Abbey had
been sold in 1719 by the sixth Viscount, our Grand Master, to Sir Thomas
Webster, and I believe it to have been the case that Lady Wehster perished by
drowning. The sons of the last Viscount’s sister, Elizabeth May, the wife of
Mr. Stephen Pointz, were drowned while bathing at the seaside. I might add
that only a few years ago the Abbey, which had passed out of the possession of
the family and become a Girls’ School, was destroyed by fire. No doubt the
worthy monk would be ready to ascribe this last disaster as well to the efficacy of
his curse.

The son of the first Sir Anthony was in 1554 created by Queen
Mary Viscount Montague in order that on a mission to Rome he might
represent the English nobility in the announcement that England was about to
return to the Papal obedience. Bishop Thirlby was sent with him to represent.
the Lords spiritual.t The choice in either case was rather strange, for while
the new Viscount had been enriched by plunder of Church lands, Thirlby had
been the one and only occupant of that see of Westminster erected by Henry
VIII. at the expense of the Monastery of St. Peter. When the Act of Supremacy

1 Of the Middle Temple. Died 1738.

2 Hawksmoor designed St. George’s Church, Bloomsbury, and to the living of
St George’s, the Duke of Montague (G. Master, 1722) appointed Bro. Dr. Stukeley in
1747. Hawl\smoor died in 1736.

3 [t is interesting to note that Rawlinson’s list of members of the Lodge at
the Paul's Head, Ludgate, contains among the names not in the G.L. ** 1730 ’ List, the
names of members of the Philo-Musicee et Architecturse Societas—Wm. Gulston. Wm
Jones, Papillon Ball, Court Knevit.

4 Sir FEdward Carne, then officially residing at Rome, represented the laity.
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was read in the House of Lords, after Elizabeth’s accession, Montague was:
one of the only two lay peers who spoke in opposition. The normal
tradition of the family until 1689 was to combine Roman Catholicism
in religion with loyalty to the reigning princes. At the crisis of the
Armada, the Viscount, attended by his sons and grandson—‘‘the young
child very comely ’’—rode into Tilbury with a large body of horsemen to-
support Queen Elizabethi.  Unfortunately, the comely grandson, who succeeded
directly to the first Viscount, became implicated in the Gunpowder plot, and, after-
a year spent in the Tower of London, was released on payment of a severe fine.
During the Civil War, the estates were sequestered, the plate and treasure seized,.
and the house garrisoned. The allegiance to King Charles, the family extended.
_to the dethroned James I1.! Frances, a daughter of the third Viscount, married
Robert Petre, afterwards third Baron Petre, the ancestor of the Grand Master-
who laid the foundation stone of the recently vanished Freemason's Hall.

Now if you will look at the list of members of the Bear and Harrow Lodge-
you will notice the name of John Webb. It would be difficult not to believe-
that this John Webb is the son of the John Webb, Bart., of Odstock, and
brother-in-law to two members of the Lodge, viz., Viscount Montague and Lord'
Teynham. One of John Webb’s sisters, Anna Maria, married James Radcliffe,
3rd Earl of Derwentwater, executed for the part he had played in the '15, and.
brother to that Charles Radcliffe (also in the '15 and executed in '45) with
whom either Masonic history or Masonic fable is so busily concerned. Another-
sister, Mary, married a well-known Mason in his day, James, first Earl of
Waldegrave. Another sister, Barbara, married Anthony, 6th Viscount
Montague—our Grand Master. The Lord Teynham, who belonged to the Bear
and Harrow, and also was Master of the Golden Spikes, was Henry Roper, tenth
Baron Teynham. John Webb's second wife was Lady Anne Roper, daughter-
of the eighth Lord Teynham, and sister to both the ninth and tenth Lords-
Teynham.  TUnlike his father and his successor, the Masonic Lord Teynham had.
not conformed to the Church of England.

In the year 1669 Queén Catherine of Braganza brought to England a.
company of nuns of the Institute of the Blessed Virgin, and this community in
the early years of the eighteenth century established a school for girls at.
Hammersmith. Anna Maria, the future Countess of Derwentwater, Barbara,
the wife of our Viscount Montague,? and one of the sisters of Bro. the Earl of’
Waldegrave, were pupils together at this school. Tradition has it that the Earl’
of Derwentwater, flouted by his wife for want of courage, went forth to take his.
part in the '15 against his better judgment. Whether or no Viscount Montague-
was of the Jacobite persuasion we do not know: but in the Stuart Papers we-

1 Sir Charles Petrie, The Jacobite Movement (p. 292), in a list of ‘‘ Jacobite-
Secretaries of State,”’ gives the Hon. Henry Browne as Secretary of State for England’
in 1689. This Henry, the father of our Grand Master. was the 5th Viscount from
1708-17. T can find no reference to him in the calendars of Stuart Papers.

2 Lady Mary Browne, one of her daughters, on March 30th, 1761, married Sir-
Richard Henry Bedingfield, 4th Bart., of Oxburgh Hall, Norfolk. The only son of"
their marriage was initiated in the Lodge at the Maid’s Head, Norwich, on February-
1st, 1792. He married, June 16th, 1795, Charlotte Georgiana, daughter of Sir William
Jerningham, 6th Bart. of Cortessy Hall, Norfolk. @ George Jerningham, brother of"
this Lady Bedingfield, succeeded to the title of William [Howard], Earl of Stafford,
oxecuted in 1680. The mother of this nobleman and his sister, Lady Bedingfield, was
Frances, daughter of Henry, 11th Visct. Dillon, née Carlotte Lee, da. of Henry, 2nd"
Earl of Lichfield. Vide Appendix N. Bro. Daynes (4.Q.C., xxxix.) mentions Francis
Philip Bedingfield, of Ditchingham, introduced into Masonry by Bro. Robert Partridge,
who himself had been made at a Grand Lodge of Masons of St. Charles of Concord at
Brunswick. Bro. Gordon Hills in his paper on the Royal Lodge (4.Q.C., xxi., p. 107):
records the initiation in that Lodge of Charles Philip Stourton (17th Baron Stourtom
én 1781)‘”whose father, William (the 16th Baron), had been ‘‘late Grand Master im

ermany.
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find his wife sending her contributions to the cause, and Mr. Andrew Lang thinks
she is the lady who sent a watch to Prince Charles.

Our Grand Master, the 6th Viscount Montague, died in 1767. A tomb of
black marble in Easebourne Priory Church commemorates him and his wife.  His
son and successor, Anthony Joseph, on July 7th, 1765, married at St.
George’s, Hanover Square, a somewhat remarkable lady. She was the daughter
of Herbert Mackworth, of the Gnoll, co. Glamorgan. Her brother, Herbert,
created a baronet on September 16th, 1776, was Prov.G.M. for South Wales from
1779 to 1794, and was Grand Warden in 1782." She was a widow at the time
of her marriage to the Viscount, her first husband having been a soldier under
Field Marshal Keith’'s command on the Continent—Alexander [Falconer], 5th
Lord of Halkerton. We then, at this stage, come into contact with both Masonic
and Jacobite tradition. Later on in this paper we shall touch on the initiation of
John [Keith], 3rd Earl of Kintore, who became Grand Master of both England
and Scotland.? A sister of this noble Mason married David, 5th Lord Falconer.
The 3rd Earl died in 1758, and was succeeded by his brother, William, who died
in 1778. The estates—the old Castle of Ilale Forest, given to the family by
Robert I., and Keith Hall—devolved on the attainted Earl Marischal, but the
title passed to Anthony Adrian [Falconer], the nephew of the Frances Mack-
worth’s first husband. The wife of Viscount Anthony Joseph was an ardent
disciple of Selina, Countess of Huntington, and she succeeded in drawing her
husband away from the Roman Catholic obedience. She was the mother of that
last. Viscount who was drowned in the Falls of the Rhine. She married in 1800
Henry Slaughter, M.D., and died in 1823.

5. JacoBITE MEMBERS OF THE LODGE.

The list contains the names of some Jacobites who did more than drink
the toast of the King beyond the Water--not in Lodge, but elsewhere.

It is curious that the most remote ancestor from whom General Gordon
<ould trace his descent was his great-grandfather, David Gordon, who was captured
by the Jacobite Army at Prestonpans in the '45. A claim to descent from Sir
William Gordon of Park has been made, and here in our Bear and Harrow list
we find the name of that baronet. Sir William was attainted for his share in
the '45, and died in exile at Douay in 1751. We find ‘‘ David Threipland
Esq".”” Our Bro. George Norman, in his inaugural address (4.Q.C., x1., p. 244),
spoke of a ‘“Lodge of DMasters met Extraordinary at the Bear in Bath on
‘October 28th, 1735, when Hugh Kennedy, Scots’ Master, David Thriepland,
Scots G.W. and Bro. Lepper, Scots J.W.."" were made and admitted Scots Master
Masons. He goes on to say: ‘‘ There was a David Thriepland, son of the before-
‘mentiohed Sir David Thriepland, who joined in the ill-fated 1745 campaign of
Prince ‘Charles, and lost his life at Preston Pans.”” The story of his death as

1 And o Member of the R.A. Grand Chapter in 1780. Sadler: Dunckerley,
1. 250.

2 His father had been out in the ’15, and in consequence was deprived of the
-office of Knight Mareschal. He married, 21st August, 1729, Mary, daughter of the
Hon. James Erskine, son of Charles, 5th Barl of Mar. He was then brother-in-law to
the famous Jacobite leader, John, 6th Earl-of Mar, known to friends as ‘ Rolling
John.””  The two famous Keith brothers, George, 10th Earl Marischal and James,
were sons of William, the 9th Earl, by Lady Mary Drummond. da. of James, 4th
‘Ear] of Perth, and hoth were attainted after the ’15. The ability of James Keith
‘to be present at Grand Lodge. on March 28th, 1740, despite his attainder, was no
doubt due to the fact that he was at the time a privileged person, he being the envoy
of the Tsar. He was in that yvear appointed Prov.G.M. of Russia, but Gould (Hist.. iii..
24) is in error when he writes that he was appointed by ‘“ his brother, John Keith,
_Earl of Kintore.
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told by Chambers in his [istory of the Itebellion of 17}5-6 (p. 131) is as
follows: — '

‘“ Another single person was less fortunate. This was M*. David Thriep-
land, eldest son of David Thriepland of Fingash, in Perthshire. He
was in delicate health, but animated by great courage and zeal. On
his own horse he pursued a party of dragoons till they came to the
place where Cope was endeavouring to rally his troopers near St.
Clement’s Well. Here, pausing a moment, they became aware that
they were pursued by only a single gentleman, with two servants.
They turned, and cut him down with their swords. Ie was buried
on the spot. ‘I remember when a child,’ says Sir Walter Scott,
‘sitting on his grave, where the long grass grew rank and green,
distinguishing it from the rest of the field.’ ’’

As far as I have been able to make out, Sir David and his son had
found it necessary after the '15 to flee from Scotland. There is a letter from
James IIT. written at Bologna on October 22nd, 1718 (Stuart Papers, vol. vii.),
in which James advises Sir David, since he is ' as firm as rock in his principles
; to accept a license to go home which is offered him by a Whlg
‘One man there is worth ten here.’

The Bear and Harrow list shows the name of ‘‘ Henry Goring Esq™.”” Can
this brother be identified with that friend of Prince Charles who stood by him
till at last the Prince became morally impossible for any self-respecting man to
support? Was he that Henry Goring who on February 28th, 1749, rode out of
Avignon with the Princé, who was, as Sir Charles Petrie puts it, ‘‘ to be lost
for many years to the eyes of Europe and of his father.” (Op. cit., p. 228.)

The Andrew Wauchope on this list is very possibly the Andrew Wauchope
-of Niddries who was attainted for his share in the '45.! But I am not suggesting
that the Lodge was formed for any purpose of promoting the Jacobite cause.
On the contrary, I see no reason for doubting that what is true of British
Masonry to-day was also true of it in the thirties of the eighteenth century, and
that the traditional law which bans the discussion of topics of ecclesiastical and
political debate from our Masonic gatherings was as loyally observed by the
‘brethren of the Bear and ITarrow Lodge as it is by ourselves. There is a story
told of someone in those times who asked a chance acquaintance whether any of his
near relations had suffered execution. That would have a been a grim subject to
tackle in the proximity of Temple Bar. The reply was, ‘I cannot think of
-inyone.””  Someone who heard the question subsequently asked the questioner,
‘““Why did you ask So and So whether any of his relations had been executed }
Could you not see for yourself that he is not a gentleman?’’ Tt is impossible to
speak too severely of the low standard of sexual morality and the gross excesses of
those times, but, on the other hand, we, who live in an age when these deep
-convictions are so often sneered at as ‘ dogmas’, can give all the more credit to men
whose lives are staked on their faith. And we must nrot deny to them the
possession of that grace, which T am inclined to believe is characteristically
British—the grace which impels men, bitterly opposed to one another in Church
or in State, or in their business, to come together and learn and enjoy, without
-disloyalty to conviction, what is lovely and of good report in those who belong to
hostile camps. Foreign non-Mason critics of English Masonry cannot understand
that no ulterior motives of a sectarian or political kind are necessary to account
for the origin of such a Lodge as that at the Bear and Harrow. This is true,
and yet it is also true that ‘“ birds of a feather flock together ’. To-day we have

1 See James Paterson: History and Genealogies of the Family of Wauchope.
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lodges the membership in which, de fucto though not de jure, confined to members:
of schools, universities, professions, etc., etc. When we look at the early list of
members of the Bear and Harrow it is not difficult to recognise the type of
member for which the Lodge made provision.

We have noticed that Lady Barbara Montague is sister to the widow of
James, Earl of Derwentwater, executed in 1716. The Earl’s mother, you will
remember, was the Lady Mary Tudor, daughter of Charles IT. by the dancer
Moll Davies. Lady Mary Tudor, after the death of her first husband in 1706,
married Ilenry Graham, M.P. for Westmorland. He died, and in the following
year Lady Mary married for the third time. Her third husband was James
Rooke, who, as Bro. Moss has recently told us, was the son of Lawrence Rooke,
the astronomer, and elder brother of Admiral Sir George Rooke. TLady Mary
had disappointed her first husband's expectations by her not attaching herself to
the Roman Catholic Church. How long after her second and third marriage
she kept in touch with the relations of her eldest son’s connections by marriage
we do not know, hut one would imagine that his tragic ending in 1716 would
have brought the ladies together in'their common sorrow. That the George
Rooke of the Bear and Harrow, Grand Senior Warden in 1732, is a relation of
the Lady Mary Tudor’s third hushand seems to be a reasonable supposition.

I have referred to James, first Earl of Waldegrave, as a well-known Mason.
He was not a member of the Bear and Harrow Lodge, and in 1732 he was residing-
in Paris in the capacity of British Ambassador, yet, as he is so closely connected
by his marriage with a Miss Webb to Lord Montague, I propose to say something
about his Masonic career. Iis mother was the Lady Henrietta Fitzjames, a.
daughter of James TI by Arabella Churchill, sister of the great Duke of Marl-
borough.! He was thus first cousin to two great Masonic workers (1) the
second Duke of Buckingham, who was the grandson of Charles II. by Louise de
Querouailles, Duchess of Portsmouth, and (2) Francis Duke of Buccleuch, the son
of the Duke of Monmouth, who was the son of Charles II. by Lucy Walter. James:
Waldegrave's father, Henry, Baron Chewton of Waldegrave, a staunch Roman
Catholic and adherent to James TI., died in exile at Paris in 1689. In 1714
James married Mary, the second daughter of Sir John Webb, of Odstock. After
giving birth to four children, this lady died in 1718. 1In 1722 Lord James.
conformed to the Church of England and took his seat in the House of Lords.
His name appears in the so-called 1723 list as a member of the Horn Lodge at
Westminster 2 (@.C".4., x., p. 6), and it also appears in a list of members of the
Goose and Gridiron Lodge, commenced in 1725, and to be found in the E. book
of Lodge Antiquity. It was not till September, 1729, that he was elevated to:
the Earldom of Waldegrave. But he had since 1728 held high diplomatic
appointments. He was Ambassador at Paris in 1725, at Vienna from 1727 to
1730, and Paris again from 1730 to 1740. Saint James FEvening Post for
September 20th, 1735, gives an account of a meeting of ‘‘ the Loge de Bussy ’’
in the Rue de Bussy, at which were present the Duke of Richmond, Dr.
Desaguliers, the Earl of Waldegrave, President Montesquieu,3 the Marquis.

L The first Earl Waldegrave was therefore a nephew of that fine soldier in the-
French service, the Duke of Berwick.
o, & 2 No. 4 of the ‘“ Four Old Lodges,”” now Royal Somerset House and Inverness,.
o. 4.

3 Tn 1728, Montesquieu, who had published in ZLettres Persanes in 1721 (the-
Esprit des Lois did not appear until 1748), accompanied Waldegrave to Vienna. A
written extract from a newspaper, dated May 15th, 1730. is preserved in Dr..
Rawlinson’s scrap book:—

¢ On Tuesday night last, at a Lodge held at the Horn Tavern in Westminster,
when the Duke of Norfolk, Grand Master Nathaniel Blackerby, Esq®, Deputy-
Grand Master. and other Grand Officers, as well as the Duke of Richmond,
Master of the Lodge, Marquis of Beaumont, Lord Mordaunt, Marquis duw.
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Lomuren, Lord Dursley,! the Hon. ————— Fitzwilliam, Messrs. Knight (father
and son), and Dr. Hickman.? One wonders whether without the protection of
the British Ambassador Paris would have been a safe place for Desaguliers.
The following were on this occasion made Masons:—the Duke of Kingston,® the
Comte de Saint-Florentin, Secretary of State,® Lord Chewton, and Messrs.

Quesne, and several other persons of distinction were present; the following
foreign noblemen, Francis Louis de Goussier, Charles Louis President de
Montesquier (sic), Francis Comte de Sade, as also James Campfield, Esq’..
William Cowper of Golden Square Esq'., and Captain John Mercer, were
admitted members of the Ancient and Honourable Society of Freemasons.’’

In Pickle the Spy, Andrew Lang describes how Prince Charles Edward was sheltered in
the Convent of St. Joseph at Paris by Mdlle. Lucion, a lady styled ‘‘ La Grande
Maiue '’ in the Prince's cypher. Since Montesquieu was on friendly terms with the Prince
and also resided in Rue Dominique, in which the Convent was situated, it might be
inferred that the *‘ philosopher’ of the correspondence was Montesquieu. In
Companions of Pickle, Lang identifies the  philosopher ”’ with the Abbé Condilac.
Montesquien and Ramsay both belonged to the Abbé Aloy’s Club de I’Entre-sol, which
strangely enough met at Herault’s residencé in the Place Vendéme. See Vice:
Histoire de Montesquieu, p. 69.

1 Augustus, the eldest son of the distinguished admiral, James, 3rd Earl of
Berkeley, K.G. The Earl was at that time staying at the Chateau d’Aubigny, lent to
him by the Duke of Richmond. He died there in %ugust, 17836. Teder has confounded
Sir George Barclay, the would-be assassin of William III., with the Earl of Berkeley.
and our Bro. Yarker has been deceived by Teder’s error. (A4.Q.C., xx., 23)

2 Alexander Cunningham (afterwards Sir A. Cunningham), Dick and Alan
Lumsden, were at this time passing through Paris on their way to Rome. The former
in his Journal records ‘‘ 1736 August 2nd West to Mr. Alexander our banker: saw
there Dr. Hickman who travelled with the Duke of Kingston and Mr. Digs. That
day we dined with Captain Urquhart, a Scot’s gentleman and in the Spanish Service,
who was to go to M. Horn to meet the FEarl Marshal then at Valencia in Spain.”
Is this Mr. Digs the ‘“ Honve, Colonel Digs’’ who belonged to the Bear and Harrow
Lodge * At Rome, Cunningham was made a mason in the Roman Lodge.

3 Evelyn [Pierpoint], 2nd Duke of Kingston-upon-Hull. His aunt, Mary
Pierpoint, is the well-known letter-writer, Mrs. Wortley Montague, whose sister,
Frances, married the famous Jacobite leader, John [Erskine], Earl of Mar. The
1st Duke of Kingston’s mother was a daughter of Sir John Evelyn. See Evelyn’s
Diary, 1687, June 6th.

4 He became Duc de la Vrilliere. In August, 1724, he had married Amelia de
Plalten, the reputed daughter of George I. Philip [Dormer], 4th Earl of Chesterfield
(Anderson, Constitutions, 1738, p. 112) married Melosina de Schulemburgh, another
natural daughter of George Ist. These facts are calculated to damage the theories
propounded by Teder in his ‘ Feuilles Maconniques ”’ in I’Initiation, vols. 63-71, and
served up by Bro. Yarker in A.Q.C., vol. xx. Teder erroneously states that the
second Duke of Richmond was a Roman Catholic. It is a remarkable fact that the
Duchess of Portsmouth, although so urgent in securing the admission of Charles II.
into the Church of Rome, brought up her son (the first Duke) as an English Church-
man. On the eve of the revocation of the Edict of Nantes, the first Duke was packed
off to France, and was received into the Roman Catholic Church in the presence of
Louis XIV., an oration on that occasion being delivered by Bossuet, but the Duke
did not remain a Roman Catholic, and his son never was one. In order to fasten
Roman Catholicism and Jacobitism on the Lodge de Bussy, Teder writes that ‘‘ We
see him [i.e., Waldegrave] figure under the name of Lord Waldegrave (at Compiegne)
in a list of the Pretender’s agents dawn up by the Free Briton, No. 131, of June
1732,” and he adds in a footnote ‘‘ See also the Gentleman’s Magazine of June of
the same year. In an article entitled The Stratagems of the Pretender and his
Agents, etc., Lord Waldegrave figures in a fine place with Trish Abbé Dunn,
General Dillon, the Scottish merchant, Arbuthnot of Paris, Dr. Arbuthnot, of London, Dr.
Wogan an Irishman established at Paris, Lord Dunbar (Murray) etc.” (I’'Initiation.,
April, 1906). This article in the Gentleman’s Magazine 1s professedly an extract from
the article in the Free Briton, and not an independent source of information! The
article relates to one Tomson, who had been charged with the fraudulent administration
of the Charitable Corporation, and fled to Rome, where he placed his services at the
disposal of James III., but only to receive a reply non tali auwxilio neg defensoribus illis.
The Arbuthnots had been instructed to secure Tomson’s arrest, but (owing to the
Ambassador Waldegrave’s absence from Paris) they had not been able to get the
required authority. This is all Teder had to show for making the British Ambassador
at Paris an agent of the Pretender! Teder refers to the lettres de cachet signed by
St. Florentin for the molestation of Protestants. It was his business to execute the
orders of his Government in which he was merely an official It fell to him, for
instance, to send the Du Barry into exile. Bro. Tuckett (4.Q.C., xxxi.,
p.- 26) quotes from a MS. by S. L. Simonnet, Prieur d’Heurgeville:—¢ March
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Pelham, Armiger, Cotton and Clement. Lord Chewton is the Earl of Walde-
grave’s eldest son, James, born in 1715, who succeeded to the title on April 11th,
1741. Clement was a Swiss pastor employed by the Earl of Waldegrave as
tutor for his children.!

On November 30th, 1745, the Duke of Northumberland wrote to the second
Duke of Richmond: ¢ There is the greatest reason to think that the second son
of the Pretender is taken in the Solesl and passes for your cousin Ratcliffe’s
son.”’ 2 With some French troops and some Irish and Scots in French service,
Charles Radcliffe had embarked at Dunkerque on November 22nd, but the Soleil
was captured off the Dogger Bank by the Sheerness. The person supposed to
be Prince Henry Benedict, the future Cardinal of York, was Charles Radcliffe’s
second son, James Clement Radcliffe.  Perhaps the Duke of Northumberland
was not referring to the fact that Richmond and Radcliffe were cousins by reason
of their descent from Charles II., but to the fact that Richmond was cousin to
Radcliffe’'s wife, the Countess of Newburg. For this relationship I must refer
you to the accompanying table. And here, once again, the Webbs come into
the story. Sir John Webb of Odstock, the father, if the identification can be
accepted, of John Webb of the Bear and Harrow Lodge, had married Barbara,
daughter and eventual heiress of Thomas Belasyse, second Viscount Fauconbridge.
Incidentally, our brother John Webb would be a great grandson of Oliver
Cromwell.® The family ties are bound more closely by the fact that the
mother of this Sir John Webb, who had formerly been the wife of John Bloomer,
of Hatherop in Gloucestershire, was a daughter of Francis Maria [Browne], the
3rd Viscount Montague. A family connection between John Webb and the
Duke of Richmond and Lord Teynham may be traced in this way:—

1742, M. de Bellevue, Seneschal of the Town of Nantes, received very precise instrue-
tions against the Society in question recently, Letters from the Chancellor of the
Cardinal de Fleury, the Controllers General, and the Sieur de Saint-Florentin.’" It
was precisely because Saint Florentin and his father were so colourless in their opinions
that they were able to maintain themselves in office.  They were officials, but not
politicians.

1 Bro. Moss in the second part of his recent paper refers to this Pierre Clement
as the writer of Les Fri-Magons, Hyperdrame, and mentions that Clement, who had
lost his reason, died at Charenton.

2 A Duke and his Friends, p. 476.

3
Oliver Cromwell

|
Mary=Thomas Belasyse. 2nd
Lord Fauconbridge

|
Barbara = Sir John Webb of Odstock
I
John Webb

By an Act passed August 24th, 1653, marriages could alone be solemnised by Justices
of the Peace. Cromwell, says Clarendon. vielded to ‘‘ the importunity and folly of
his daughter. Mary was first of all publicly married by Cromwell’s chaplain, but
afterwards married by a priest of the Church of England, Dr. Hewet. and with the
rites of the Church on November 17th, 1687, at the Chapel Royal. Hampton Court
Palace.”” Dr. Hewet was afterwards executed for a plot 1 which he had been very
little concerned.
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1 His descendant, John Courtney Throckmorton, born 27th July, 1753, became
the 5th Baronet, and was Prov. G. Master of Berkshire in 1817. He was one of the
Committee formed in 1787 ‘‘ to watch over and promote the public interests of Roman
Catholics,”’ and he served on this body with boq% Petre, Lord Stourton and some other
Masons. His son, William, was a very energetic member of the Royal Lodge.
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On the occasion of his installation as Grand Master, 19th April, 1732,
we read: —

““The Lord Viscount Montague our Grand Master being Master of the
Lodge at the Golden Spikes at Hampstead, desired such Brethrer as
pleased to dine with him there on Wednesday the 26th In**. and
accordingly

His Grace the Duke of Norfolk.

His Grace the Duke of Richmond.

The Rt. Hone. the Earl of Strathmore.
The R*. Hon™. the Lord Carpenter.
The R*. THon™. the Lord Teynham.

and above one hundred Brethren more dined with the Grand Master
at the House of B'. Capt. Talbot being the Golden Spikes at
Hampstead, at which time the Grand Master resign'd his Chair as
Master of that Lodge-to the Right HonYe. the Lord Teynham.™
(0.C.4., x., p. 218))

The family name of Lord Teynham was Roper, a name of which Collins
says ‘‘ from Mustard it changed to Rubra Spalthan, Rospear, Rousper, Rooper,
and Roper.”" (Pecrage, vii., p. 71.) Tt will be recollected that Margaret, the
famous daughter of Sir John Moore, executed in the reign of Henry VIII.,
married William Roper, of Eltham. His younger brother, Christopher Roper,'
of Linsted in Kent, married Elizabeth Blore, of Teynham, and Christopher’s
son, John, was created Baron Teynham in 1618.  Christopher, the 5th Karl
(d. 1688), married Elizabeth Frances, da. of TFrancis, the 3rd Viscount
Montague. Three of their sons in time succeeded to the Barony, the third being
Thomas, eighth Baron Roper of Teynham, and father of the Master of the Lodge
at the Golden Spikes. Grand Master Montague and Henry, the Master of the
Golden Spikes Lodge, were first cousins once removed, and, as we have seen, Anne
Roper was the second wife of John Webb Esq®. The tenth Baron Teynham died
in 1781.2

6. TuHE EARLS oF STRATHMORE AND CRAWFORD.

‘We must now pay our attention to the Wor. Master in 1732 of the Lodge
at the Bear and Harrow, John [Lyon}, the fourth Earl of Strathmore, who
on his death in 1712, left four surviving sons by his wife, Lady Elizabeth
Stanhope, daughter of Philip [Dormer], the second Earl of Chesterfield. Each
of the sons in his turn succeeded to the Earldom.

John, the fifth Earl, in 1715 raised a strong regiment of infantry for the
service of James ITI., and fell at Sheriffmuir. His brother, Charles, the sixth Earl
was a lad of sixteen when he entertained King James III. at the ancestral home of
Glamis, where in attestation of his claims, James touched for the King's Ewvil.
It is related that ‘ all the patients on whom he laid his hands recovered.”’
As the sixth Earl, he married a lady of a family distinguished by its historical

! He was taken prisoner by the rebels in Sir Thomas Wyatt’s rebellion.

2 The name of Henry Roper appears in the 17283 MS. List of the Lodge at
the Swan at Lmdgate St. ((.C.4., x., p. 13), which Lodge removed to the Three Tuns,
Newgate St. (Ibid, p. 29). But as tile tenth Lord’s parents were married in 1704,
the identification seems impossible. Lady Elizabeth Stanhope, daughter of the 2nd
Earl of Chesterfield by his wife. Lady Elizabeth (daughter of the first Duke of Ormonde).
married John, 5th Earl of Strathmore, the eldest brother of the Farl, who was
Master ot the Bear and Harrow Lodge.
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connection with the glories of the British Navy—Lady Susan Cochrane,' second
daughter of John, fourth Earl of Dundonald. He died on May 11th, 1728, of
a wound accidentally inflicted in a scuffle, and was succeeded by James, the
future Master of the Bear and Harrow Lodge. James, the seventh Earl, married
in 1731 a daughter of George Oliphant, M.D. We have seen that he was Master
of the Bear and Harrow Lodge in 1732. On May 28th, 1732, while he was in
Scotland he was elected to follow Lord Montague as Grand Master, but as he
was in Scotland, Lord Southwell ‘‘ was so good as to take the Trouble to stand
Proxy for the Earl of Strathmore on the next Grand-Feast-day.’”” So he was
installed by proxy on 7th June, 1733. On Tuesday, 13th December, 1733, he
appeared in his office at the Quarterly Communication at the Devil Tavern
within Temple Bar. His rule was comparatively a brief one, for-on 18th March,
1734 (Q.C. 4., x., p. 238), the Deputy Grand Master announced that the Earl’s
affairs mnecessitated his repairing to Scotland before the termination of his
grand-mastership, and consequently John, Earl of Crawford, was elected, and
on the 30th of the same month installed as Grand Master. Bro. Murray Lyon
has reproduced a Minute of the Mary’s Chapel Lodge, Edinburgh, 7th August,
1733, which shows that Bro. the Earl of Strathmore, while in Scotland, was
masonically employed : — '

Present: the Right Ilonourable James Earle of Strathmore, present
Grand Master of all the Lodges in England, and also chosen Grand
Master for this present meeting. The which day the Right Honourable
John Earle of Crawford, John Earle of Kintore 2 and Alexander Lord
Garles® upon application to the Societie, were admitted entered
apprentices and also received fellow crafts as honorary members.
The same day Patrick Lindsay and Archibald McAulay, Esqueirs,
late Lord Provosts of KEdr., having both formerly been admitted entered
apprentices in this Society, were likeways admitted and received
fellow crafts therein as honorary members thereof.”” (Murray Lyon:
Hustory of the Lodge of Edinburgh, p. 170.)

It would be quite impossible within the limits of the present paper to
sketch even in the briefest fashion the splendid career of the heroic John
[Lindsay], the 20th Earl of Crawford and Lindsay, who succeeded to the Earl
of Strathmore as Grand Master on the 30th March, 1730. He came into the

1 After the death of her first husband, she married her factor, George Forbes,
Master of Horse to Prince Charles in thea ’45. Her ancestor, Lord William Cochrane,
was Warden of Lodge Kilwinning in 1678. One of his daughters married Alexander
[Montgomery]. 9th Earl of Eglinton, and although this Earl of Eglinton took an
active part in the suppression of the Fifteen, there is a good deal of evidence in the
Stuart Papers of his friendly attitude to the Stuarts. The ninth Earl of Eglinton (died
February 18th, 1729) was father of Alexander, the tenth Rarl, Grand Master Mason of
Scotland. In the Addenda on p. 486 of his History of the Lodge of Edinburgh (Mary's
Chapel), Murray Lyon corrects an error made on p. 53, where it was stated that John
[Kennedy] Earl of Cassillis and Alexander 8th Earl of Eglinton had ‘¢ filled the highest
offices in the Lodge Kilwinning while they were apprentices.”” The 10th Earl of Eglinton

¢ Eggleton ”’ in the Minutes] visited Lodge Old King's Arms on May 28th, 1745.
ustave Bord, La Iranc-Maconnerie en France, p. 68, states that the act de deces
of the Chevalier Ramsay, who died at Saint-Germain-Laye, May 6th, 1748, was signed
by Charles Radcliffe and ‘“ Lord Eglentown.”

2 John [Keith] 3rd Earl of Kintore, born 21st May, 1699. Master of the
Lodge of Aberdeen 1726: Grand Master Mason of Scotland 1738: succeeded Lord
Raymond as G.M. of England, April, 1738. .

3 Garlies. Alexander Stewart, son and successor in 1746 to his father, John,
5th Earl of Galloway. His mother was Catherine, daughter of the 9th Earl of
Eglinton; he married first Anne Keith, daughter of William, Earl Marischal, by
whom he had an only daughter, who married Kenneth [Mackenzie], eldest son of the
attainted Earl of Seaforth, and secondly Catherine, youngest daughter of John, 4th
Earl of Dundonald. Grand Master Mason of Scotland, 1757-58. Died September 24th,
1773. Despite his Jacobite relatives, Lord Garlies was certainly not a Jacobite.
See Memorvials of John Murray of Broughton, Sc. Hist. Soc., p. 53.



The Members of the Lodge at the Bear and Harrow. 121

title on the death of his father on January 4th, 1714. We find in Read’s Journal
for December 15th, 1733 :—

On Tuesday last at a Lodge held at the Bear and Harrow in the
Butcher Row without the Temple the Right Hon. the Lord Crawford
was admitted a Free and Accepted Mason.!

7. MasTtEr Masons’ Lobpces.

A Master Masons’ Lodge met at the Bear and Harrow Lodge
in 1733: it bore the number 116 in the 1729 Engraved List, and, according
to Lane’s Records (p. 64), was erased in 1736. In a paper on Master Masons’
Lodges read by Bro. Lane at one of the earliest meetings of the Quatuor
Coronati Lodge he expressed the opinion that this Lodge No. 116 was composed
mainly of members of the Bear and Harrow Lodge. This Master Masons’
Lodge is stated to have been ‘‘erased ’’ in 1736. I am inclined to think that
‘“ absorbed '’ would have been a truer description of this termination.

8. THE DEecLINE OoF THE LODGE.

After the Installation of Viscount Montague the Minutes of Grand
Lodge do mnot record any occasion on which he was present at that august
assembly. Our late Bro. Sir Alfred Robbins appears to me to have drawn an
erroneous impression from this fact when he hints that Lord Montague’s absten-
tion from Grand Lodge was due to religious difficulties.’® We meet with him at
a well attended installation meeting at Hampstead. The ZLondon Fwening Post
of Saturday, April 29th, 1732, describes a bhenefit performance of Farquhar’s
Recruiting Officer, given at the Lincoln’s Inn Field Play House for the benefit
of ““Mr. Milward, a Free Mason,’”’ attended by one hundred Brethren ‘‘ who
attended their Grand Master [Lord Viscount Montacute 2] on foot in procession,
cloathed with white aprons and gloves, from the Bear and Harrow in Butcher
Row,”” and adds that the Earl of Strathmore and Lord Teynham were present.
This does not suggest shyness.

Nevertheless, the first name on the 1732 List of Members of the Lodge which
had removed from the Bear and Harrow has vanished when those draft Minutes
I have spoken of lie before us.

1 Rawlinson’s list of 1733 and Pine's Engraved list of 1734 show a ¢ Scotts
Masons ' Lodge at the Devil Tavern. The Lodge at the Devil Tavern, No. 8 in
1729, ““ the Union Lodge,”” moved to Daniel’s Coffee House without Temple Bar in
1735: the ‘¢ Scot’s Masons '’ Lodge were working at Daniel’s Coffee House in 1736.
The Daily Post, December 30th, 1738, records: ‘‘ We hear that on Saturday last
there was a numerous Meeting of Master Masons at the Bear Tavern in the Strand,
who have agreed to hold a Master Masons Lodge there for the Future every Sunday
night on extraordinary Business.”’ This apparently was a different Tavern. See
Anderson’s list of London Lodges (Constitutions, 1738, p. 188): ““ 78. Bear Tavern in
the Strand,” constituted ‘“ 26 August 1735, 2nd and 4th Tuesday.”’” The Lodge whose
history we are concerned with had left the Bear and Harrow. In 1707 a number of
antiquaries met every Friday evening at the Bear in the Strand. Tn 1708 they made
the Young Devil in Fleet Street their place of assemblage. Their next resort was the
Fountain in Fleet St. In 1717 they formed the members into the Society of Antiquaries.
lIn d}??g-? the Society met at the Mitre in Fleet St., of which John Innocent was
andlord. :
2 English-speaking Freemasonry, p. 134. Our late Bro. G. W. Daynes, in
4.Q.C., xli., describes an inscribed block of stone discovered during the rebuilding
of the Bank of England:—

Mr. THOMAS DUNN \
Mr. JOHN TOWNSEND J MASONS.
ANNO MASONRY. 5732
IA. MONTACUTE. G. MASTER.

\%
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On January 16th, 1735, there are only five members present in Lodge:—
W= Blunt. Master.
Charles Trinquénd.
Chas. Pawley.
James Tomkins.
Henry Burdox.
A Bro. Tomkins from the Lodge at the Half Moon in Cheapside (now the Globe,
No. 23) is admitted as a joining member.
On January 23rd the names of three other members appear:-—

John Balace.
Thomas Crawford.
Richard Long.

On February 20th the officers are:—

Chas. Trinquand. Master.
Chas. Lawley. Senior Warden.
Thomas Crawford. Junior Warden.

On August 20th, 1736, the officers are:— .

Chas. Pawley. DMaster.
John Lee Pell. Senior Warden.
Thomson. Junior Warden.

The Minutes for November 18th, 1737, are remarkable:—
““The Lodge met this Day, R!. Worshipfull took the Chair being

unanimously elected and accordingly chose his Wardens Rob*. Fage
Esq". and M". John Calahan.

‘“ Agreed that the Master hold his seat for three months only.

i<

Brothers King, Calahan and Hancock were admitted members
of the Lodge by consent of all the present members.”

Among the visitors on this occasion there is a name which looks like that of
“ Trinquand. ™’

On November 18th, 1737, we have a longer list of members:—

Thos. Thompson. Master.
Rob'. Fage Esq". 8. Warden.
Timothy Calahan. J. Warden.
John King.!

David Hancock.

Thomas King.

Maunser Bransley.

Joseph Burr.

Henry Burdox.

Charles Pawley.

Isaac Meure Esq.?

James Adderley

On November 6th, 1738, Charles Pawley is Master once again, and his
Wardens are John Banks and Thos. King. After this we have to turn to the
other end of the book where it is used as a temporary attendance book and read
on September 3rd, 1739 [?1734]:—

1A John King served as Steward, Janunary, 1731, and was a member of the
Lodge at the King's Head, Fleet St. ({.C.4., x., p. 180, and see p. 144.)
2 Steward, 1733. (Ibid, p. 231.)
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Present
B*. Oates. Mas".!
Br. Angier. Sen. Warden.
Br. Pawley. Jun. Warden.
B'. Parker.?
B*. Cosin.
Br. Bull.
Bf. Crawford.

One of the impressions which a perusal of this ecrude apology for a Minute
Book leaves on my mind is that the Lodge very largely owed its continued
existence to the labours of Bro. Charles Pawley, whose name does not appear in
any of the Grand Lodge lists-of members. Bro. Thomas Crawford, whose name
appears in the 1732 list of members at the Bear and IHarrow, was, I believe,
the keeper of that Tavern, and the removal of the Lodge to another Tavern may
perhaps have been occasioned by Bro. Crawford’s demission of his post. He,
in 1731, had been one of the founders, and was the first Junior Warden, and
in 1732 Senior Warden, of the Lodge at the Castle, Highgate, which met for
the first time and initiated a candidate on June 19th, and was formally
constituted by Bro. T. Batson, D.G.M., on behalf of Lord Lovell, on June 27th.
A Minute of the Castle Lodge, July 2nd, 1731, runs: ‘‘ Order’d that a sett of
jewells of y° same make and price of those belonging to the University Lodge
are bespoke for y° use of the Lodge, and that Bro. Carpenter, of y* Crown Lodge
on Snow hill, doe prepare y° same, and that Bro. Crawford, the Jun. Warden
doe take care to gett them forewarded.”” The meeting at which this order was
given took place, not at Highgate, but at ‘‘ Brother Crawford’s at y® Bear and
Harrow in Butchers Row.”” (Sadler: Thomas Dunckerley, p. 106.) In the
Daily Journal for May 25th there is an advertisement of tickets for the Annual
Feast which may be procured, among other places, at ‘‘ Crawford's at the Bear
and Harrow without Temple Bar.”’

Among the members on the 1732 list is *“ M". Cosin.”’ James Cosin was
a Steward at Lord Montague’s installation. We find this name Cosin in the
draft Minute Book. Possibly the bearer is the James Cosin who published in
1745 The Names of the IRoman Catholics, Nonjurors, and others, who refus’d to
tale the Oaths to his late Majesty King George, collected by Cosin’s father, when
he was Secretary to the Commissioners for forfeited estates. ‘“ Robert Fage
Esq'.,”” appointed Warden on November 18th, 1737, is perhaps the Member of
Parliament for Steyning in 1734, who succeeded to a baronetcy in 1736, and died
in 1740,

At the Quarterly Communication of Grand Lodge held on November 26th,
1728 (Q.C.4., x., p. 89), a petition was presented ‘‘signed by Gerald Hatley,
Joseph Burr, and Obadiah Wynne,? the Master and Wardens of a Lodge held
for some time past at Bishopsgate Coffee House, declaring their intention and
earnest desire to be constituted as soon as it will meet the convenience of the
Deputy Grand Master to confer that honour upon them, and humbly praying
to be admitted among the regular Lodges at this Quarterly Communication.”
Burr Street in Wapping to this day commemorates the residence of the wealthy
merchant family of Burr, who traded with Holland, and were established in
the parish of St. Botolph’s, Bishopsgate. The ‘‘ Princely '’ Duke of Chandos
married for the third time, April 14th, 1736, the widow of Sir Thomas Duval,

1 Probably James QOates, of the Anchor and Baptist’s Head in Chancery Lane,
who visited the Lodge at the Castle, Highgate, on June 27th, 1731. (Sadler:
Dunckerley, p. 105.)

2 Probably William Parker, Vintner. (Sadler: Op. Cit., p. 105))

3 The name is probably not Wynne, but Wylde.
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M.P. for Harwich. Mrs. Pendarves (Madame Delaney) wrote to Dean Swift:
““ The Duke of Chandos has made a great noise, and poor Duchess is often reproached
with being bred up in Burr Street, Wapping.”” The lady from Wapping is said
to have brought £40,000 to her husband as her dot! There were, in fact, three
closely related families. A sister, Lydia, of Sir Thomas Duvall, married John
Vanhalten (spelt in various ways), a member of a great merchant family residing
once at Devonshire Square, Bishopsgate. Another, Sir Thomas, had bequeathed
property in Essex, which he had inherited from his mother, who was by birth a
Burr, to his cousin, David Burr. The Lodge which presented the petition of
Bishopsgate Coffee House Lodge was in 1727 at the Magpie in Bishopsgate
without. It removed to the Whitehart! in the same neighbourhood, and in
the G. Lodge MS. List of Members you will find ‘‘ M. James Vanhussen’’ and
¢“Mr. John Vanhussen.” (@.C.4.. x., pp. 34 and 170.)

9. Tur Bear anp Harrow TAVERN.

We will now go in search of the spot where once the Bear and Harrow
stood. Most of us will remember Holywell St., the ‘* Booksellers Row,”’ running
parallel with the Strand and leading to St. Clement’s Church. Proceeding
eastwards down Holywell we would, before the buildings in this district were
demolished in order to make room for Aldwych, have found on the north side
of the Church Picket's Street—a street which commemorated an alderman of
that name who in 1802 executed house improvements in this locality. Timbs
in his Cwuriosities of London (p. 767):—‘ From opposite Ship-yard extended an
obtuse-angled triangle of buildings, the eastern line formed by the vestry-room
and almshouse of 8t. Clement’s, and the sides by shops; the whole called the
Butcher-row, from a flesh market granted here by 21 Edward I., at first
shambles, but subsequently houses of wood and plaster; one of these, a five storied
house, temp. James I., was inhabited by Count Beaumont, the French Court
Ambassador : here the Duc de Sully was lodged for one night in 1603, until ‘ the
palace of Arundel’ could be prepared for him. From a Bear and Harrow orgy,
Nat Lee, the dramatic poet, was returning to Duke Street, when he fell, ‘ over-
taken with wine,” in Clare Market, and died. Here was also Clifton’s eating
house, a dining place of D*. Johmson. . . . The almshouses were removed
in 1790. . . . In a house in Butcher Row, east of Clement’'s Inn, by the
confession of Winter, he, with Catesby, Wright, and Guy Fawkes, met, and
there administered the oath of secresy to the conspirators, and afterwards received
the Sacrament in the next room.”’

TENTATIVE LisT oF DMASTERS AND WARDENS.

[The election probably took place half-yearly.]

1730. Not known.
1731. The Earl of Strathmore. ‘
1732. Not known.

1733. do. -
Master. S. Warden. J. Warden.
1734. - Oates ? Angier. Charles Pawley.
1735. Jan. William Blunt. Charles Trinquand. Charles Pawley.
Feb. Charles Trinquand. Charles Pawley. Thomas Crawford.

Aug. Charles Trinquand. Joseph Moore.

.- Stebling.

LA print of this Inn is in A.Q.C., xix. About 1820 the building was
modernised ; but before that it had the date 1480 carved on its front.
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1736. Aug. Charles Pawley. John Lee Pell. Thomas Thompson.
Nov. Charles Pawley. Henry Burdox.
1737. July. Charles Pawley. W. Southerton.
Nov. Thomas Thompson. Robert Fage. Timothy Calahan
( ? Calighan)
1738. Nov. Charles Pawley. John Banks. Thomas King.
1739. Marshfield.
1740. ——— Richardson.
1741. ——— Fremoult.
1742. —— Taylor.
1743. ——— Dowes.
1744, ———— Walters.
——— Howele.
1745, — Dowes.
——— Lynne.
1746. ——— Kaines.
1747. ——— Lynne.
1748. ———— Stephenson.
TENTATIVE NAMES OF DMEMBERS LATER THAN THE 1732 List.
Date
of first
mention.
1734 (?). ——— Angier.
Oates.
Charles Pawley.
Parker.
— Bull.
1735. Richard Tomkins. Joined January 16th.
Ach. Vanderist. Made a Mason February 20th.
James Tomkins.
Robert Fage. Joined March 5th.
John Adderley. do. March 11th.
Daniel French of Hampstead. do. March 19th.
Gowland. do. do.
Herry Hatsole Esq*. do. April 2nd.
M*., John Hale of Bristol. do. do.
1736. Anthony Browne Esq'. Made a Mason June 11th.
M. Brittenfield. do.
M. Watts. do.
John Lee Pell. do.
Henry Burdox.
Marshal. Made a Mason at a ‘‘ private lodge.”’
Spurton. do.
1737. W. Southerton.
Timothy Calahan [Calighan]. Joined November 18th.
John King.
David Hancock.
Isaac Meure Esq'. December 2nd.
Manser Bransley.
Joseph Burr.
1738. John Banks.

Thomas Avis.
James Janeway.
John Shefheld.
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APPENDIX 1.

The present paper is an off-shoot from a larger inquiry T have been
making into the subject of Roman Catholic and Jacobite contributions to Masonic
life in the eighteenth century. Avoiding the temptation to arrive at conclusions,
I have endeavoured simply to collect the facts. The history reveals the fact that
a number of members of the Craft were descendants from Charles II., for,
instance: —

Francis, Duke of Buccleuch, son of the Duke of Monmouth, who is
the son of Charles IT. by Lucy Walter.

Henry, Earl of Deloraine, brother of abave.

Charles [ Beauclerk], 2nd Duke of St. Albans, grandson of Charles II.
by Eleanor Gwynne, was a member of the Queen’s Head at Bath.

Charles, Duke of Richmond, grandson of Charles II. and Louise de
Querouailles, Duchess of Portsmouth.

The following table shows the descent. Several masons of importance
descended from Charles II. by Barbhara Villiers, Duchess of Cleveland. I have
included in this table the descent of the earliest Dukes of Beaufort in order that
the table may be of use on another occasion:—



; Charle:

L
Henry [Somerset] . Sir Edward Lee = Charllotte Fitzroy
1st Duke of Beaufort 5th Bart. of Ditchley. 1¢
Refused oath to William III. | 1st Earl of Litchfield.
d. 1699 d. 1713.
I
Charles = Rebecca, da. of
Marquis of Sir Josiah Child .
Worcester. of Wanstead.
d. 1698.
[ George Henry, = Frances Hales Arthur Dillon
Henry = Mary, da. = Rachel, da. 2nd Earl of L. Count.in France.
ond Duke of B. of Charles of Baptist Noel Init. Queen Head’s Jacobite Earl.
d. 1714. Sackville l 2nd Earl of Lodge at Bath. d. 1757.
Earl of Gainsborough. .od. 1743
Dorset. 1
| | ‘
| ] * George Henry Charlotte = Henry
Henry, = 1 Frances, da. of Charles Noel 3rd Earl of L. 11th Visct.
3rd Duke Sir Jas. Scudamore, 4th Duke Dillon.
of B. who after divorce of B. d. 1787.
d. 1746. = Charles, natural d. 1756.
son of the 1st Duke |
of Grafton. Charles Frances=Wm. Jernin

12th Visct. D.
Assumed the additional name

of Lee.
D.G.M. 1768-74.
d. 1813.
I | |
Henry Henrietta=Watkin Williams . Henry Augustus
5th Duke of Wynn, 4th Bart. 13th Viset. D.
B.
d. 1803.
G.M. 1767-T1.

Henrly Charles
6th Duke of B.
Prov.G.M. Gloucestershire, 1799.
d. 1835.

Henry
7th Duke of B.
Prov.G.M. Gloucestershire, 1845.



s II. ——  Barbara Villiers
| Duchess of Cleveland

Henry F. = _ Isabella, da. of

An‘xie Fitzroy=Thomas Lennard
st Duke of Grafton. | Henry [Bennett], Earl of Sussex.
d. 1690. 1st Earl of Arlington.
Anne=Henry [Roper] 8th
Charles = Henrietta, da. of Baron Teynham
2nd Duke Charles, Marquis :
Init. at the Horn of Worcester, son
Lodge. 1730. of the 1st Duke of
Beaufort.
. I , |
Philip Henry = Catherine Anne=John Webb
9th Baron T. 10th Baron T. da. of
d. 1727. Of the Bear and John
Harrow Lodge. Powell,
of Sandford,
) Oxford.
, Henry . John=Anne Gabrielle
FEUpaL: e - 11th Baron T. ond da. of Francis

Head, Bart., and
Widow of Moses
Mendes.

Frances=Thomas Webb,
Bart of Odstock.
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APPENDIX II.

In the text of my paper I have spoken of the connection between James,
the 1st Earl of Waldegrave, and James II. T need do nothing more than point out
here that the widow of the 2nd Earl, Maria, was the second illegitimate daughter
of Sir Edward Walpole, and that after her husband’s death this lady married,
6th September, 1766, H.R.H. William Henry, Duke of Gloucester and
Edinburgh, 3rd son of H.R.H. Frederick Lewis, Prince of Wales, initiated in
1737. This Duke of Gloucester was initiated into masonry in 1766 in the
Britannic Lodge.!

Bro. Oxford, in his Introduction to 7he History of the Royal Somerset
House and Inverness Lodge, No. }, gives an extract from the ZLeeds Mercury
of January 20th-27th, 1729-30, showing the initiation in that Lodge (the Horn
at Westminster) of ¢ the Earl of Portmore.”>2? Sir David Colyear, Bart., was
the son of Sir Alexander Colyear, who, under the assumed name of Robinson, had
served under William III. in Holland. Created Lord Portmore and Beachness
in the Scotch Peerage in 1669, David Colyear was promoted Earl of Portmore
in 1703. Having served in the Flemish War and in France, he was Commander-
in-Chief in Scotland in 1710, Governor of Gibraltar in 1713, and was a
representative Peer from 1713 to 1715. About the year 1716 his correspondence
with the Jacobite agents is frequent.®> He is always about to join the good
cause, but never does so. In 1696 he had married Catherine, Countess of
Dorchester, daughter of the witty but scurrilous Sir Charles Sedley, and mistress.
of James II. Ie died on January 2nd, 1730, and it must have been within a
few weeks of his father’s death that Charles, his son and successor, became a
Mason. In February, 1732, the second Earl was sent as Envoy to Don Carlos.
on the latter's taking possession of Parma and Placentia: from that year to.
1747 he was one of the Representative Peers for Scotland. He married Juliana,
widow of the 3rd Duke of Leeds, who died May 9th, 1731.%

The mention of the Duke of Marlborough in connection with the Earl of
Waldegrave leads me on to observe that John, 2nd Duke of Montague,5 Grand
Master in 1721, murried Lady Mary Churchill, daughter of the great Duke.

! The visitor to Hampton Court Palace, if he wanders along the river by the
Great Terrace, will come to the Pavilions which look across the river to Thames
Ditton. They were occupied by the Duke of Gloucester. After the death of the
Duchess in 1807, Mr. Law (Hist. of Hampton Court Palace, iii., p. 325) says, they
were assigned to the Duke of Kent, father of Queen Victoria and G.M. of the
Antients, and he ‘‘occasionally resided here till his death in 1820.”” The three
daughters of the 2nd Earl of Waldegrave were very famous beauties, and are known
to us in that respect is a picture by Sir Joshua Reynolds. One of them, Lady
Charlotte Maria, married the fourth Earl of Grafton.

2 ¢« A Lodge of the Antient and Honourable Society of Free and Accepted:
Masons was held last night at the Horn Tavern, Westminster, when were present
the Duke [liic] of Kingston, Grand Master, Thomas Es-ic] Blackerby Esqr., Deputy
Master, Duke of Richmond, Earl of Sunderland, Lord Inchiquin, and many more
Lords and Gentlemen, and five Masons were made, viz., the Earl of Portmore, Stephen
Fox, Roger Holland, and the Hon. W. Forbes, and W. Martin. Dr. Desaguliers.
officiated part of the ceremonies on this occasion.”

3 Stuart Papers (Hist. Records Commission), vol. ii., passim.

4 Lionel Cranfield [Sackville], 1st Duke of Dorset, Viceroy of Ireland in 1732,
married Elizabeth, daughter of Lieut. Gen. Walter Philip Colyear, and his son Charles
is the Earl of Middlesex associated with the Lodge at Florence and the famous.
Sackville Medal. See Bro. J. Heron Lepper’s article in A4.Q.C., xxxviii., p. 310.

5 John, 2nd Duke of Montague, died in 1747, leaving two daughters: —

1. Tsabella, who married (1) William [Montague], 2nd Duke of Manchester
(d. 1739), and (2) Edward Hussey, who assumed the name of
Montague, and was created Earl Beaulieu.

2. Mary, who married Earl of Cardigan, on whom the title of Duke of
Montague was bestowed. '

Our Grand Master, the Duke of Montague, belonged to the branch of the
Montague [De Monte Acuto] family to which ‘ of Boughton ' was attached. His
father, Ralph, had been ambassador at Paris, and very much concerned in the sending of
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On the death of Henrietta, Duchess of Marlborough, October 24th, 1733, the
title of Marlborough passed to Charles, 5th Earl of Sunderland, the second son
of her sister, Anne. Bro. Oxford (Op. Cit., p. 14) shows that this Earl of
Sunderland was made a mason at the Horn Lodge in January, 1730, whereas his
elder brother Robert (died November 27th, 1729) had been so made at Chichester.
Read’s Journal, February 8th, 1733, records: ‘‘ On Tuesday night last several
persons of quality were admitted into the Ancient Society of free and accepted
Masons by the Duke of Sutherland, Master, at his Grace's Lodge in Pall Mall.”
The London residence of our Grand Master the Duke of Montague was a house on
the site now covered by the British Museum, and it has been described as
"“ without comparison the finest building in the whole city of London and county
of Middlesex, Hampton Court alone excepted.”  The living of the adjoining
Church of St. George, the Duke bestowed on Bro. Dr. William Stukeley, M.D.
Masons who are readers of the late Duke of Richmond’s 4 Duke and his
Friends are familiar with the passage which records Dr. Desagulier’s ‘‘ holding
Chapters >’ at Ditton. Ditton Park, Bucks, came into the possession of Ralph,
the 1st Duke of Montague. It had belonged to his grandfather, Sir Ralph
Winwood, and it passed, on the death of his son without issue, to Ralph, Lord
Montague, whose mother was Anne, daughter of Sir Ralph Winwood.!

APPENDIX III.

““T must now make an excursion to the opposite side of the town [Preston],
in order to record a voluntary institution of a very singular nature, but nearly
connected with the history of the County, and, at one period, with the politics
of the nation. At an obscure inn in the neighbouring village of Walton, has
been held from the beginning of the last century, a meeting of noblemen and
gentlemen, styling themselves the mayor and corporation of the ancient borough
of Walton. All the proceedings were conducted with ludicrous formality: and
they had a register, which still remains, together with a mace, a sword of state,
and three large staves covered with silver, on which are inscribed the names of
the successive officers of the Society from the year 1702. The Register does not
commence till three years after. The officers of this whimsical fraternity were
a mayor, deputy mayor, recorder, two bailiffs, two sergeants, a physician, a
jester, a macebearer, a poet laureat, who furnished copies of very bad verses
entered among the records, and lastly a town-clerk. Under this semblance,
however, of sport and jolity, there seems to have been concealed a practical
purpose. The members who appear till about the year 1740 were Catholic and
Jacobite nobility and gentry, and here seem to have been concocted their plans
for the restoration of the exiled family. In the year 1709 the Mayor was the
most noble Thomas Duke of Norfolk; Sir Nicholas Sherburne of Stoneyhurst,?
mayor’s boy; Sir William Pennington, Bart., town’s bailiff. Charles Townely *

. Louise de Quercuailles to England. In April, 1730, the Duke of Richmond, Louise’s

grandson, and the Ambassador’s son ascended Rook’'s Hill. near Goodwood, to make

‘Charles [Calvert], 5th Lord Baltimore, a Mason. This Lord Baltimore is said to have

been present at the initiation of Frederic, Prince of Wales. A curious light on him

is thrown by the letters of Madame Delaney. His mother was a daughter of the 1st

%'“ﬁ] of Lichfield, whose wife was Charlotte Fitzroy, daughter of Charles II. by Barbara
illiers.

1 The bulk of the correspondence of the Dukes of Montague was preserved at
Montague House in Whitehall by the Dukes of Buccleuch and Queensbury. See
Hist. MS. Commission, Report on the MSS. of the Duke of Buccleuch; Preserved at
Montague House, Whitehall, vol. 1., 188Y.

2 The Duke’s father-in-law. Stoneyhurst Hall, rebuilt by S8ir Richard
Shireburne_in 1892, ultimately came into possession of Mr. Thomas Weld, of Lulworth,
and since 1794 has been the home of the famous Jesuit School.

3 Richard Towneley of Towneley, who had married a sister of Lord Widdrington,
was taken a prisoner in the '15, but acquitted. Colonel Francis Towneley was executed
after the 45.



The Members of the Lodge at the Bear and Harrow. 129

of Townely, Esq'., deputy mayor. In 1711 the mayor was the unfortunate
James, Earl of Derwentwater. In 1715 no meeting was held, for a very obvious
reason. In the accounts of 1745 is the following entry:—' P.8. 2.6 for fixing
the plates upon the staves which was taken off on account of the rebels coming
hither, ’ but the word rebels is written upon an erasure, and I suspect on the
word duke. They only became rebels after their defeat. But about this time
T observe a mixture of Whigs, so that as all political confidence must have been
destroyed, everything of a political tendency in the Society must have ceased.
The year 1766 is the last in which the meeting continued to be respectable.
It has since fallen into the hands of inferior tradesmen, who are still possessed
of the insignia of office, and who continue to assemble with the same old
formalities, but with neither the danger nor dignity of their predecessors.’”’
An History of Richmondshire. By Thomas Durham Whitaker, L.L.D., 1823.
Vol. ii., p. 428.

APPENDIX TIV.

A complete history of the Webb family would be a most valuable con-
tribution to the history of Rnglish social life. The earliest member of the
family I have teen able to trace is a Webb who entertained at lis house in
Salisbury King IHenry VII. The Webbs were in Tudor times merchants, and
I am informed that their marks are identifiable in St. Thomas’ Church, Salisbury.
‘The family provided that city with Mayors and Members of Parliament, and in
<course of time advanced their position by marriage with the nobility. During
the Civil War they were conspicuous for their adherence to the Royal Cause.
One branch of the family was Anglican, and the mother of Archbishop Laud was
by birth a Webb, and another member of the Anglican branch was Lord Mayor
of London in 1591.  Collins’ list of nonjurors shows Sir John Webb, the 3rd
Baronet, whom I take to be the father of the John Webb of the Bear and
Harrow Lodge, as possessed of landed property in eleven different counties, as
well as a house in London. Besides the houses at Odstock, the drawing-room of
‘which forms the shell of a still standing farm house, and the mansion at Hatherop,
the family had a large house at Canford, partsof which exist in Canford School. It
appears that much of the Webb property would have passed, on the death of the
6th Baronet in 1797, to his daughter Barbara, who married Anthony [Ashley
Cooper]. 5th Earl of Shaftesbury, had not her father directed that it should be
held in trust during her lifetime and that of her daughter, who married the Hon.
William Francis Spencer Ponsonby (Lord Mauley, 1838). Canford IHouse,
rented to English Discalced Carmelite nuns in 1804, was afterwards occupied
by Lord Wimbourne's family, and is now a Public School. The third Baronet's
-contributions to the cause of the Chevalier St. George are mentioned in the
Stuart Papers. He died at Aachen in 1745 in the same year as his eldest son,
-John.

A cordial vote of thanks was unanimously passed to Bro. Firminger for his
interesting paper, on the proposition of Bro. W. J. Williams. seconded by Bro. G.
‘Elkington; comments being made by or on behalf of Bros. B. Telepneff, C. F. Sykes,
‘G. W. Bullamore, and T. ¥. Anderson, of St. George's and Corner Stone Lodge No. 5.

‘Bro. W. J. WiLLiaMs said : —

It is with pleasure that at your suggestion I rise to make certain comments
on the paper we have for our consideration to-night. Such a paper could
«only have been written by one versed in genealogical lore and in the History of
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the Juacobites during the troublous times which culminated in the 1715 and 1745
Rebellions.

The body of the document and the elaborate footuotes give evidence of a
vast amount of reading and general investigation.

In considering the result it is desirable we should constantly remember the
opening paragraph of Appendix I., viz.:—‘ The present paper is an off-shoot
from a larger inquiry I have been making into the subject of Roman Catholic
and Jacobite contributions to Masonic life in the eighteenth century

The same Appendix gives a genealogy which is included ““in order that
the table may bhe of use on another cccasion .

Therefore we must not regard the present paper as more than an instal-
ment, although it is to some extent complete in itself so far as it adheres to the
careers of the Members of the Iodge held at the Bear and Ilarrow.

The fuct that the main objective of the essay is the Jacobite phase has,
perhaps, somewhat deflected our Brother’s path from a strict adherence to the
announced topic of the paper; but doubtless the Brethren have often found that
an excursion into side issues may be nore generally interesting and instructive
than a rigid and austere regard to absolute relevance. )

It is to be hoped that the massed material now before us will be considered
and where advisable commented on by our Brethren who delight in what are not:
always endless genealogies.

Our Brother has not been content with making mere assertions, but in
the footnotes he has supplied us with ample means of testing the accuracy of his
statements. 1 do not pretend to have verified more than a very few of the
results he has arrived at, but it is due to him to say that where I have checked
the body of the text it has almost invariably stood the test, even in some cuses:
where at first view a doubt arose in my mind.

I remember that our erudite Brother Wonnacott called my attention a.
few years before his death to the fact that muany members of the University
Lodge were also named as members of the Bear and Harrow Lodge, and having
regard to the erasure of the University Lodge in 1736 and the continuance of
the Bear and Tlarrow Lodge he thought it likely that the University Lodge had
become, or, at the time the lists of names was prepared, was in process of being
absorbed by the Bear and Harrow Lodge. Tt was not until 1736 that University
Lodge was recorded as erased, but it is more than likely that the process of
dissolution and absorption which led to erasure had culminated some considerable
time before the actual erasure.

It is significant that both Lodges met at the same Tavern. Hence it was
that the necessity arose for the first time in the Tlistory of Grand Lodge for a
distinction being made so as to avoid confusion between the two Lodges meeting'
at the same place. Thus the University Lodge is the first private Lodge which
had a name of its own as distinguished from the name of the meeting place.

The Warrant of the original Bear and Harrow IL.odge was (according to:
Lane) dated 26th February or 25th March, 1730. That of the University Lodge:
was dated 14th December, 1730.

Eleven names are italicised in the proof as being members of both Lodges.
Probably the Reverend Mr. Walter is identical with the Rev?. William Walters:
in the University list.

The following notes are mainly gathered from Musgrave's bituary and
may be worthy of consideration as supplementing the paper. The particulars:
given by Musgrave are enclosed in square brackets:—

Tho®. Batson lsq. D.G ..

[Tho. Batson, Jurise, of the Middle Temple, who died October, 1740.
London Magazine, 510.]
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This brother seems to have induced Bro. Blackerby, J.P., the Treasurer
of the Charity Fund, to accept Promissory notes for £16:18:0 belonging to that
Fund, instead of the actual cash. When Bro. Blackerby after his resignation
was called on to pay over his halance to a Successor it was not (at any rate in
the first instance) forthcoming in cash so far as that £16:18:0 was concerned.
(See @.C.-., x., 295, 298, 299, 319.)

Gev. Rooke Esq. Grand Warden.

[Son of Sir Geo. Rooke, the Admiral, died 24th Nov., 1739. Tondon
Magazine, 629.  Adnn Fur, 475, Gent. Hag., 606. P.S., 58/502, 575.]

James Chambers Esq. formerly G,
[James Chambers, Banker, died 27th Sep., 1733. Glent. May., 496.]

Arthur Moore.
[Arthur Moore, of Latherlands, died 11th June, 1734. Gent. Mayg., 330.]

John Ward of Newcastle.

He later on became 6th Baron Ward in 1740, and first Viscount Dudley
and Ward in 1763, and was Grand Master in 1740. (See Masonic Personalia,
4.0.C., xl., 238))

The HonMe, Col'. Pitt. Steward.

[Col. John Pitt, uncle of the F. of Londonderry, d. 9th Feb., 1754.
Lond. May., 92.  Gent. Mag., 95.] :

John Selwyn EsqT.

[John, sen™., of Matson, M.P. for Glocester. 6th Nov., 1751. &.1f,
523. L.Af., 524; or John, junt., of Cumberland, M.P. for Whitchurch.
27th June, 1751. L.1/., 284, 332.]

John Webb Esq.

[John Webb, Governor of Upnor Castle, d. Nov., 1733. H.R.C., 43.
L.Af., 586. G.M., 607.]

Perhaps our Brother can tell us whether this is the same person as the
John Webh of whom he gives particulars.

Governor Tinker.

[Jeremiah Tinker, Governor of Cape Coast Castle. Africa, d. April, 1738.
HERC. 15.]

In a footnote it is stated that a Governor John Tinker was Prov.G.M.
of the Bahamas in 1752, but this does not show that he was a Governor in 1732.
Perhaps Jeremiah Tinker is the more likely identification. The paper also refers
to a General Tinkler.

Governor Burrington.

[Governor, North Carolina, died 22nd Feb., 1759. L.}., 108.]

dlert. Holbourn Esq.

[Sir Alex. Holborne, B'., of the Navy. 22nd Feb. (or January in
G.E.C), 1772. S.A/., 109, 111. 4R, 165. G.Af., 195.]

This Baronet may be the same person as the Mason or a relative. If so,
he succeeded to the Baronetcy 26th July, 1758, und after being in a Debtors’
prison, died in mean lodgings called Harrow Dunghill, Southwark. (See The
Complete Baronetage by G.E.C.) ’

John Bridges Esq. .
[Six Clerks Office. 5th Aug.. 1742. .., 443. L.M., 413. S.M., 390.]
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Claude Crispigney Esq.
[Secretary to the South Sea Company, at Camberwell, died 6th Oct., 1782.
aet, 78. (.., 503.]

Mr. Robert Dyer.
[Robert Dyer, Stamp Office.  14th Sep., 1763. («/.J/., 465. L. ., 505.]

The paper refers to certain members who were artists. To these should
apparently be added Mr. Delane.

[ Denis Delane, Actor, died 1st Ap., 1750. Chetwode’s Stage, 130. G.Af.,
188.]

Bro. C. F. SyRES writes:—

Papers of the nature of that to which we have been privileged to listen
are a distinet contribution to the Masonic history of London.

A little further detail as to the neighbourhood concerned may mnot be
devoid of interest.

Butchers’ Row, with houses on both sides, lay to the East of St. Clement’s
Church, between Ship Yard and St. Clement’s Lane on the North. Strype says
that the butchers’ quarter was on the South of the Row. There was a line of
houses on the North side of the Church, and the street between Butchers’ Row
and the junction of Wych Street with Holywell Street was known as Backside
of St. Clement.

The ¢ Bear and Harrow ’ stood on the North side of Butchers’ Row at the
entrance to Bear and Harrow Court, of which Strvpe says: ‘° Bear and Harrow
Court, so called from such a sign, a noted FKating House, at the entrance to it ’’.

The area behind Butchers’ Row on the North was a very congested one,
numerous courts opening out of it into the Row. Bear and Harrow Court was
the eighth counting westwurd from Ship Yard and was at the West end of the
Row near to St. Clement’'s Lane. The court was long and narrow and ran from
Butchers’ Row to Boswell Court. A reference to Ogilby's map of 1677 renders
these topographical particulars quite clear.

The West portion of the area concerned was at one period quite a good
residential neighbourhood. Walford says that St. Clement’s Lane in the reign
of Queen Anne was the BRond St. of London. Boswell Court in the seventeenth
century and early eighteenth century contained many residences of the ‘ quality ’.

There is thus reason why an aristocratic lodge such as that at the Bear
and Harrow established itself there.

Later in the eighteenth century the neighbourhood degenerated and parts
of it, especially the eastern portion, became a sink of iniquity. The district was
improved by the demolition of Butchers’ Row aund construction of Pickett St. in
1802. This latter street, together with thirty courts to the rear of it, was in
turn demolished in the third quarter of the nineteenth century to provide a site
for our present Law Courts.

One writer, whom I have consulted, terms the ‘ Bear and Harrow’ the
‘Bear and Hound’. The former name is that generally accepted, though the
latter is more easy to understand since bear baiting was formerly well known and
practised in this country.

In section 9 the writer of the paper mentions the house of Count Beaumont
in Butchers’ Row. This was a fine old house presenting an interesting exterior
towards the street decorated with roses, crowns, fleur-de-lys and dragoms. Tt
bore the date 1581, so was comparatively new when the Marquis de Rosny
(afterwards Duc de Sully) made his short stay there in 1603.
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The house where Winter and his fellow conspirators met (also alluded to
in section 9) was identified in a book, Gunpowder Treason, as that on the East
side at the entrance to St. Clement's Lane, but the identification appears to be
inconclusive.  Illustrations of this house and Beaumont House appear in 0Old
Time Aldwych by Charles Gordon.

In addition to the Lodge at the Bear and Harrow the neighbourhood has
items of Masonic interest. Mr. Diprose in his Walk round St. Clement Danes,
states that Benjamin Franklin (whose Masonic activities were dealt with by Bro.
Lafontaine a few years ago) lived for a time at 19, Casey St. Peter Cunningham
. in his Handboolk of FLondon, writing of Shire Lane, says: ‘‘ Neere the Globe
in Sheer Lane '’ lived Elias Ashmole the antiquary and here Antony & Wood
records his having dined with Ashmole’.

In 1741 Paul Whitehead and Esquire Casey, the latter surgeon to the
Prince of Wales, orgunised a procession of Mock Masons which passed along the
Strand but was not permitted to go through Temple Bar.

Next year the Scald Miserable Masons assembled in the Strand near
Somerset House and marched eastwards towards the City. These processions
were intended to ridicule and insult the Freemasons who held their annual
procession at the same time. They appear to have received an effectual check in
1744, for the General Advertiser of 3rd May that yvear has: ‘“ Yesterday several
of the Mock Masons were taken up by the Constab]es empowered to impress them
for ITis Majesty's Service and confined till they can be examined by the Justices ’’

Bro. Geo. W. BULLAMORE w1t

This paper has greatly interested me. T believe that Jacobite Freemasonry
was the great channel for the transmission of our secrets when we ceased to be
an operative fraternity. The remnants of the four old T.odges were merely
““ honorary journeymen’’' who had obtained membership of lodges of accepted
masons during the rebuilding of London. They could have known little or
nothing of Freemasonry beyond the word itself. Anderson’s Constitutions of
1723 show that the attempt to control them came from outside. The organisa-
tion then formed underwent modification and eventually gathered to itself
additional degrees of Freemasonry and issued warrants to existing lodges of
Freemasons. It would be in the higher degrees that Jacobite sympathisers would
gather, and the popularity of the initial degrees behind which they worked would
act as an effective screen. Although non-political outwardly, it is possible that
the duty to God, King and country was not modified into civil, moral, and
religious duties and that there was no misnpplehension as to which King was
meant. It is not surprising that the union of the accepted Masons with the
Freemasons wus fostered by Jacobite sympathisers. As the University Lodge
met at the Bear and IHarrow there were three lodges meeting at this tavern
and multiple membership was almost sure to arise. The question whether the
masters’ lodge was erased or absorbed depends really on the continuance of the
third degree. In the history of the Old. King’s Arms Lodge as related by Bro.
Calvert the same conditions appear to have resulted in the absorption of the lower
degrees by the masters’ lodge. The original plan of modern Grand Lodge was
probably a rank and file of apprentices with a governing body of fellows who
were to confer this degree on the masters of the apprentice lodges. It is difficult
to be sure when the third degree became a necessity. and lodges of the third
degree may have petered out in the early days and left the supporting lodge
intact.
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Bro. Firminger identifies the Lodge at the Old Paul’s Head with
that held at the Mitre. I can find no evidence for it and it may be a
guess based on the position in a list. I think it preferable to regard it as
arising from the union of the Queen's Head, Hollis Street, and Legg Tavern
Lodges. 1In the Queen's Head list of 1725 (G.L.) appear the names of William
Jones, William Gulston, and Papillon Ball. These are the first, second and
fourth namses on the Rawlinson list of St. Paul's Head members. Number six
is Richard Cock, which suggests the Richard Cox of the G.L. list. Benjamin
Wellington, Williarma Boulter and William Hart are numbers three, eight and nine
of the Rawlinson list, and are in the 1725 Legg Tavern list, while number ten,
Jno. Powell, may be Tho. Powell of the Legg Tavern.

As Grand Lodge had no authority over independent masens I have thought
it possible that this sword carrying was originally a bribe to Bros. Gulston and
Co. to induce them to come under the modern lodge banner instead of maintain-
ing their right to act as they pleased. Having surre